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About the front cover: Excavation of Mound A at Shiloh
Mounds National Histaric Landmark during the final field
season of the Shilch Maunds Archeological Project (MPS
phatograph by David G. Andersan, October 29, 2003, SEAC
files). SEAC archeologists, students, and academic partners
conducted this complex "HBig Dig” style of archeological
project over several field seasons to mitigate the site's
impending loss to erosional forces of the Tennessee River. In
the foreground center: cinematagrapher Cindy Brummer
films geaarcheologist Sarah Sherwood as she prepares
micromerphalogical samples of Mound A's lower strata. In
the foreground right: SEAC archeclogists and FSU graduate
students Christopher Lydick (on ladder} and Steven Kidd
{(seated) map the stratigraphic sequence of Mound A. At top
of frame: project leader and co-principle investigator John
Cornelison (seated behind wheelbarrow} oversees
excavations atop Mound A

About the back cover: Top left, 1998 SEAC poster by Martin
Pate commemarating fecleral Depression-era archeclagy and
the Southeast Archaeological Conference (image courtesy of
Martin Pate and SEAC). Top right, archeologist Hale G. Smith
[¢) founded the Anthropology Department at Florida State
University in 1950 and encouraged <cllaboration with the
National Park Service {“Piecing together pottery, ” no date;
courtesy of University Archives, Special Collections, Florida
State University). Center, SEAC archeologists Richard Vernon,
Kenneth Wild, and Russell K. Skowrenek surveying the HMS
Fowey in Biscayne National Park during the early 1980s
(SEAC ALC. 641, Index 07-5040). Bottom left, SEAC Chief
Richard D. Faust inspecting an excavation for a park visitor
center in 1975 {NPS photograph, July 4, 1975, SEAC files).
Bottom right, SEAC archeologists pause for a photo en route
to a field assignment during the 1990s (MPS photograph, no
date; SEAC files).
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Foreword

This study is a detailed, carefully written account of the early origins, development, management, and
operation of the Southeast Archeological Center (SEACY). It is the history of that organization, the pro-
grams it has administered, and its dedicated managers and staff who have consistently provided
archeological services in support of the National Park Service’s resource preservation mission, Author
Cameron Binkley deals with policy decisions, their impact, and the challenges that the center has faced
over the years. The narrative appropriately begins with the roots of federal archeology in the 1930s before
moving on to the origins of SEAC at Ocmulgee National Monument. It chronicles the center’s later move
to the campus of Florida State University in Tallahassee and then off campus to Innovation Park. Bringing
his history up to the present, Binkley concludes with a candid account of the recent “outsourcing” study of
the center.

As a research historian in the Park Service’s Southeast Regional Office, Binkley was well positioned to
write this fine history of the Southeast Archeological Center. He had ready access to the relevant historical
files and to former and current Park Service managers and staff, making extensive use of oral history inter-
views to convey the perspectives of these individuals. Their voices lend authority and depth to the
narrative. Indeed one of the strengths of this narrative is that it reflects multiple perspectives.

As part of this history, the author traces and analyzes the often complex and sometimes strained rela-
tonship between the National Park Service and Florida State University (FSU), viewing that relationship
from various perspectives. The result is a balanced discussion that can tell us much about the benefits and
challenges of long-term close partnerships between the Service and academic institutions. Closely tied to
the NPS-FSU relationship is the center’s curation of an extensive collection of artifacts stemming from
major Depression-era excavations that were crucial to the development of early American archeology.
Binkley addresses the transitory politics influencing government officials, agency managers, academic
administrators, and university professors, as well as the nitty-gritty background of the day-to-day grind of
archeological analysis and curation, which is at the heart of the center’s long-term legacy to the world of
science and scholarship.

More broadly, the author traces and analyzes the role of archeology in cultural resource management and
its relationship with historic preservation. The study reveals how Park Service archeology developed along
lines distinct from other cultural resource professions and effectively highlights the critical role that
federal archeology has played in preserving the cultural heritage of the Southeast. Binkley does not shrink
from criticism where warranted - notably discussing the center’s seminal role in launching a federal under-
water archeclogy program and the mishandling of the promising initial efforts to the detriment of both
effective underwater cultural resources management in the Southeast Region and NPS-FSU relations.

One major aspect of the Service’s archeology program has been the consolidation of the professional
expertise and resources in geographically-based centers. The author provides a frank discussion and
assessment of the center concept, concluding that the Southeast Archeological Center has met the needs of
the Service, the public, and the archeology profession. History, he observes, has vindicated the center
concept, revealing that such centers have been an efficient and effective response to the need to pool and
maximize human and financial resources,

This book is solidly rooted in the history of the National Park Service and the broader national trends in
the field of archeology. Cameron Binkley has skillfully placed his story in the context of contemporary

development of public archeology in the United States, including relationships with Congress, other
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federal agencies and public organizations, and in the context of the major themes in the development of
archeology programs within the Park Service. He has contributed greatly to our understanding of the
important role of archeology within the Southeast Region and the National Park Service and the devel-
opment of cultural resource management in the Southeastern United States. Appropriately, the major
audience for this history will be current and future Service managers and staff. Binkley has provided them
with an excellent management tool. However, there is enough historical context and analysis to ensure
that this history will have a broader appeal and usefulness both within and outside the Service.

All of the nearly four hundred units in the National Park Service consistently rely on technical assistance
from Service professionals to ensure that their cultural and natural resources are preserved in accordance
with the Service’s fundamental mission. The federal archeology program has consistently provided lead-
ership, guidance, and technical support to the parks and other federal agencies, states, Native American
communities, and local governments, This book serves as a reminder of the importance of preserving our
cultural heritage and the important role of Service professionals. The voices of National Park Service
archeologists are well represented and the profession of archeology is well served.

Janet A. McDonnell

Bureau Historian
National Park Service
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Introduction

On October 31, 2001, National Park Service arche-
ologist John E. Ehrenhard submitted a research
project proposal to the Project Management Infor-
mation System (PMIS), an electronic project-
funding database. Park Service managers use PMIS
to initiate, adjudicate, and allocate scarce dollars
for projects important to the management and
oversight of the National Park System. This par-
ticular proposal sought to:

Prepare SEAC administrative history, which
will include the development of archeo-
logical, collection management, and cultural
resources management programs of the
Southeast, as they are an integral part of
SEAC and these programs are not docu-

mented by separate administrative histories.!

In Park Service parlance, the acronym SEAC is pro-
nounced “see-ack” and the initials of the
abbreviation come from Southeast Archeological
Center. Ehrenhard was its director from May 1994
until December 2006. In justifying his proposal,
Ehrenhard attempted to explain briefly the signifi-
cance of the archeolagical center, whose origins
can be associated with the massive work-relief
efforts under the Works Progress Administration
and similar bodies during the 1930s that led to the
creation of Qcmulgee National Monument near
Macon, Georgia. Excavations at and near
Ocmulgee provided early archeologists with signit-
icant understanding of prehistoric Mississippian
culture in the Southeast. Because of this signifi-
caiice, the Park Service created SEAC at Ocmulgee
in the 1960s to conduct investigations to provide
Southeastern parks with archeological interpretive,
legal compliance, and planning information, In his
statement, Ehrenhard also noted the importance of
SEAC’s association with Florida State University

and its Department of Anthropology, the center’s
key role as a repository for park archeological col-
lections and documentation, and its services to
regional parks, including under the Native
American Grave Protection and Repatriation Act
(NAGPRA), a sensitive area of law governing the
treatment of aboriginal remains and funerary arti-
facts. A final function of the center was in assisting
state and other federal agencies by advising on
archeological matters. Ehrenthard argued that this
project needed to commence in the short-term
because several key figures central to the estab-
lishment of SEAC, including John W. Griffin, a
prominent Southeastern archeologist and the first
Center Chief, had already passed away while many
others had retired.? In an interview with the author,
Ehrenhard also expressed an additional interest in
documenting SEAC’s history - the center had been
slated for a “Competitive Sourcing Review,” a test
of its operations in comparison to potential com-
mercial providers, If SEAC failed to demonstrate
the required degree of efficiency, much of its work
and staff stood to be outsourced.? With this
backdrop, on May 8, 2002, a regional council of
NPS officials met and approved PMIS Project
Statement 79878, The present study commenced in
the spring of 2003.

Purpose

This study is a work of history. Its intent is simply to
bring historical perspective to long-term trends in
the management and development of federal arche-
ology in the Southeast Region of the National Park
Service. The report focuses primarily upon the
background, creation, evolution, cooperative
activity, and oversight of the Southeast Archeo-
logical Center, which is located in Tallahassee,
Florida, through special arrangement with Florida

1. John Ehrenhard, PMIS Project Statement 79878 entitled Prepare an Administrative History of SEAC (National Park

Service, 2001).
2. lohn Ehrenhard, PMIS Project Statement 79878.

3. John Ehrenhard, Oral Histary Interview by Cameron Binkley, May 28, 2003, National Park Service, 1.
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State University. The Southeast Archeological
Center is an administrative division of the Service’s
Southeast Regional Office (SERQ). The National
Park Service has deployed SEAC for almost forty
years as the primary designated authority respon-
sible for assisting Southeast Region parks to manage
and preserve their archeological resources.?

Using historical theory and methodology, this
report attempts to catalog the key figures, decistons,
and processes that have influenced SEAC from its
inception to the current time. Such information can
help NPS managers, planners, archeologists, and
interested outside parties to gain a basis by which to
measure the long-term effectiveness of the National
Park Service in carrying out its primary responsibil-
ities as required by congressional mandate and
executive order. This effort is important because
historical inquiry can cast light upon important
policy issues of current or future concern. The doc-
ument also serves as a factual record and may
therefore be a utility for Service personnel during
the course of their everyday activities. A historical
work, of course, is necessarily also only a snapshot
of selected moments judiciously chosen by the
author to illustrate or profile specific issues of high
relevance. Thus, however desirable, this report
cannot document every accomplishment or
identify every important individual who has con-
tributed to the work that SEAC, or the Park Service,
has accomplished over the past several decades.
Nor can it report every shortcoming. On either
account, the author apologizes for any significant
omission.

Theory and Definitions

Archeology is a branch of anthropology.” Anthro-
pology can be defined as the scientific and
humanistic study of the present and past biological,
linguistic, social, and cultural variations of the
human species. Commonly, anthropology is
divided into four major subfields, which include
physical or biological anthropology, the study of
the origins and development of human beings; lin-
guistics, the study of human language; cultural
anthropology, the study of human culture or the

means by which human beings sustain life; and
finally archeology, the study of human life based
upon the recovery and study of material remains,
that is fossil relics, artifacts, and monuments made
or used by human beings. A subfield of archeology,
historical archeology, employs historical methods
to aid in locating, identifying, or interpreting arche-
ological artifacts. The primary goal of archeology as
a professional discipline within anthropology is to
use the artifactnal record to explain the nature,
origins, and change of human culture over time.

Federal archeology is “applied archeology™ or
archeology conducted on behalf of the American
people’s interest in the identification, preservation,
scientific excavation, and interpretation of sites,
areas, and objects associated with the material
remains of past human societies. As such, it uses
archeological methods and theory to help manage
cultural resources in the public interest. Public
funding makes public archeology possible because
as a society, American citizens through their legis-
lators have deemed it important to preserve the
nation’s cultural legacy. Beginning with the Antig-
uities Act of 1906, Congress has systematically
enacted a series of increasing authorities that direct
executive branch effort to identify, preserve, and
interpret archeological sites on federally managed
land. Since its own establishment in 1916, the
National Park Service has played a key role in car-
rying out congressional mandates to preserve the
archeological record both within the national park
systemn and to assist other federal, state, and tribal
agerncies in carrying out those same mandates.

The practice of archeology within the National
Park Service builds upon traditional academic
methods to include archeological resources man-
agement. As such, NPS archeologists fulfill a role
similar to that of NPS historians and historic archi-
tects. However, NPS archeology also exhibits some
striking dissimilarities with these professions,
which traditionally compose the field of “historic
preservation.” At times, Service archeologists have
found themselves in competition with their peers in
the historic preservation movement, even viewing

4. NPS Southeast Region states today include; Alabama, Florida, Georgia, Kentucky, Louisiana, Mississippi, North and South
Carolina, and Tennessee as well as Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands. In 1966, this region also included Virginia and
Arkansas. SEAC has also provided archeological assistance beyond the region's parks at various times when requested and

funded as authorized by law or policy.

5.  Federal agencies generally use the spelling “archeology” as opposed to “archaeology,” which is preferred in scholarly
circles. Following Park Service usage, in this report the spelling “archaeology” is retained only as appropriate in citations

and quotations.
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their goals as a threat to archeological prerogatives
and institutional ambitions. An early illustration of
this phenomenon was a predicament in 1934 that
later led the Park Service to hire a young architect-
turned-archeologist by the name of Jean C.
Harrington.

In that year, the National Park Service acquired
most of Jamestown Island in Virginia as part of
Colonial National Monument {now Colonial
National Historical Park). Using labor provided by
the Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC), the Service
began an excavation project that ran from 1934 to
1941. At first, this excavation operated using prac-
tices developed by the Association for the
Preservation of Virginia Antiquities (APVA), the
original conservator of historic Jamestown, and its
lead architect Henry C. Forman. Architects thus
oversaw the Jamestown project with archeologists
working under them. NPS archeologists who were
at Jamestown between 1934 and 1936 included H.
Summerfield Day, Carl F. Miller, Alonzo Pond, and
John Winter. The archeologists dug until reaching
foundation remains, at which time the architects
took over. Project managers believed that this
arrangement worked best since they were dealing
with structural remains. However, professional
rivalries between the architects and archeologists
developed, with ensuing turf battles and even the
threat of violence. Smithsonian archeologist Frank
Setzler visited the site in 1936, noted the problems,
and suggested that the Park Service hire a new
project lead he had recently met - Harrington.6

Harrington, universally known and remembered by
his nickname “Pinky,” held a Bachelor of Science
degree in architectural engineering from the Uni-
versity of Michigan. He first worked for an
architectural firm that failed during the Great

Depression and afterwards pursued three years of
graduate work in anthropology, including archeo-
logical field schools at the University of Chicago. In
January 1936, he left Chicago to participate in an
archeological research project in Yucatan. This
background in architecture and archeology made
him well qualified to direct the Jamestown project.
Indeed, at Setzler’s suggestion in July of that year,
the Park Service offered Harrington the job. In
accepting it, Harrington left off completing his doc-
torate. A long line of federal archeologists would
for one reason or another follow in his tradition,
including a good many senior NFS archeologists
who have served in the ranks of SEAC orin the
Southeast Region. Between 1937 and 1941, Har-
rington conducted a picneering archeological
effort at Jamestown, refining both the techniques
and artifactual knowledge of a budding new field
that combined traditional archeological methods
with those used by historians.” As a result of this
work, and later excavations at Fort Raleigh, North
Carolina, and Fort Necessity, Pennsylvania, Har-
rington emerged as a leading proponent of a new
field in anthropology, which became known, as
described above, as historical archeology. He was
to go on to become Regional Archeologist for the
old “Region One,” which included most East coast
and Southern states, serving in that capacity until
1954, Between then and his retirement in 1963, he
served as regional chief of interpretation. His
accomplishments are generally revered by those
concerned with historic sites archeclogy. His work
helped place the Park Service at the forefront of this
developing field at a time when academic scholars
were focused upon prehistoric archeology.® Indeed,
as prominent archeologist Ivor Noel Hume of
Colonial Williamsburg has said, Harrington was
“the father of historical archaeology in America.”
After the Society for Historical Archaeology was

9

6. Edwin A. Lyon, A New Deal for Southeastern Archaeclogy (Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama Press, 1996), 1, 175, 187-
190; Jean C. Harrington, Search for the Cittie of Ralegh: Archeological Excavations at Fort Raleigh National Historic Site,
North Carolina {(Washington: National Park Service, 1962), iv; Assaciation for the Preservation of Virginia Antiquities web
page http:/Awww.apva.org/history/index.html {accessed July 22, 1999); Colonial National Historical Park web page http//
waww.nps.govicolo/lthanout/JtArch . html (accessed July 22, 1999). On page iv of Harrington's 1962 report, NP$ Director
Conrad L. Wirth wrote that the application of archeology to historic sites began at Jamestown. However, according to
John W. Walker, it is possible that Southwest archeologists investigating old Spanish mission sites, began such work
before 1934. John W. Walker, Comments to the author on the August 19, 2005, draft of Scfence, Politics, and the “Big
Dig.”

7. Other early historical archeologists included: Arthur R. Kelly, who conducted investigations at the Macon Trading Post
between 1935-1936; G. Hubert Smith who excavated at Fort Ridgely for the Smithsonian Institute in Minnesota in 1936;
and John Winter who worked at Jamestown prior to Harrington. Between 1937 and 1939, Winter conducted work at 5t.
Augustine. In 1938, NPS archeologist Thor Borrensen also excavated the Moore’s Creek battle site in South Carolina.
Information supplied by Walker, Comments on the draft of August 19, 2005.

B. Edwin A. Lyon, A New Deal for Southeastern Archaeology, 187-190; lvor Noel Hume, "Pinky’ Harrington: A
Remembrance,” Roanoke Colonies Research Newsletter, vol. 6, no. 1 {November 1998); 1-2.
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finally organized nationally in 1967, it chose to call
its most preeminent award the J. C. Harrington
Medal.

Harrington had a huge impact upon the devel-
opment of archeology, both within and outside the
National Park Service. Similarly, John Wallace
Griffin, who succeeded to Harrington’s position in
1958, was also influential. Although he did not have
a PhD, Griffin had earned a master’s degree in
archeology at the University of Chicago and was
working as an assistant professor for the University
of Florida when hired to replace Harrington.
Before then he had served many years as the first
state archeologist for Florida. In that capacity,
Griffin laid the conceptual, informational, and
institutional foundations of Florida archeology at a
time before any cotlege in the state had a
department of anthropology.10 Griffin is still
remembered for several important works, including
Investigations in Russell Cave (1974), Archaeology of
Everglades National Park: A Synthesis (1988), and
his early pioneering historical archeological work,
Here They Once Stood: The Tragic End of the
Apalachee Missions that was published in 1951 with
Mark Boyd and Hale G. Smith, the latter of whom
founded the Department of Anthropology at
Florida State University. This study defined expec-
tations about the nature of Spanish mission
archeology in Florida.!! Griffin carried forward
Harrington’s torch in the Southeast and was to
become the first Chief of SEAC. His familiarity with
both prehistoric and historic archeology and pre-
vious experience in public service archeology in
Florida made him a perfect match for the position
of Regional Archeologist.

The arrival of Harrington resolved the problematic
relations between historic architects and archeolo-
gists at Jamestown, but that situation also illustrates
a number of points that have proven an enduring
relevance to the practice of archeology in the
National Park Service:

First, public archeology is driven by management
needs. The Park Service emerged as an early leader
in the field of historic archeology because archeo-
logical techniques demonstrated positive utility in
the recovery of key data needed by management for
interpretation and resource protection at historical
or cultural NPS sites. Archeological research in the
Park Service is thus necessitated, defined, and self-
limited by the nature of the resources entrusted to
its care, not by any current fashion, trend in aca-
demia, or personal preference. Eventually, the
formalization of archeological resources protection
culminated with passage of such landmark legis-
lation as the Reservoir Salvage Act of 1960, the
National Historic Preservation Act of 1966
(NHPA), the Archeological and Historic Preser-
vation Act of 1974 (Moss-Bennett), and the
Archaeological Resources Protection Act of 1979
(ARPA). These federal laws require archeological
investigation and clearance of property prior to dis-
turbance by federally sponsored projects or
projects on federal tands, greatly increasing mana-
gerial reliance upon public archeology. From the
1970s onward, such compliance work led to aboom
for archeology, including the methods pioneered
by Harrington at Jamestown. Harrington’s expe-
rience also points out an important difference
between public and academic archeology. In aca-
demia, prestige generally requires hiring applicants
holding PhDs. In the National Park Service, those
able to do the work, with or without a doctoral
degree, have risen to important archeological
positions.

Second, Harrington’s example helps to illustrate
why archeology and historic preservation, despite
being allied fields, are also distinct and at times
rivalrous professions. They compete for authority
over and funding for historic sites. One emphasizes
the existing built environment (or its recon-
struction); the other chiefly focuses upon what lies
beneath. Preservationists use traditional research
techniques, such as library research or comparing
old drawings, apply historical building techniques,

9. Ivor Noel Hume, Roancke fsland: America‘s First Science Center, booklet reprinted from Coloniat Williamsburg: The
Journal of the Colonial Williamsburg Foundation (Spring 1994): 1. John L. Cotter, a WPA archeclogist who began a long
NP5 career in 1940 as Superintendent of Tuzigoot National Monument, is also esteemed as an important early student
and proponent of historical archeology. He was the first president of the Society for Histarical Archaeology {1967), made
important contributions as an excavator at Jamestown in the 1950s, was awarded the SHA's Harrington medal in 1984,
and was even honored by having its third medal named after him - the John L. Cotter Award in Historical Archaeology.

10. “John Wallace Griffin,“ Anthropology Newsletter, vol. 39, no. 8 (November 1993); 40.

11. “lohn W. Griffin, 73, Florida Archeologist,” New Yark Times, September 4, 1993, 26. The book was published by University

of Florida Press.
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and focus upon preserving existing historical struc-
tures. Archeologists, on the other hand, use
historical methods, but rely chiefly upon “exca-
vation.” Thus, traditionally, archeologists have
sought to “preserve” archeological sites by meticu-
lously excavating them. They sought to preserve the
knowledge and artifacts found at sites, but not the
sites themselves, which archeology invariably sacri-
ficed for the sake of data recovery.!? Rivalry
stemming from these professional differences
inspired early archeologists and historic preserva-
tionists to perceive that “historic preservation,”
while not exclusive of archeological sites, was gen-
erally dedicated to preserving historic buildings and
monuments. In recent years, clamor between his-
toric preservationists and public archeologists has
muted as the latter have increasingly focused upon
the in situ preservation of existing and unexcavated
archeological sites, more effective and accountable
management of archeological artifact and museum
collections, and the means to deter both archeo-
logical and historic site looting and vandalism.
Perhaps as well, there is greater sense today among
historic preservationists that historic buildings are
also archeological sites.

Third, Harrington was able to solve problems and
blaze pathways for historic archeology within the
Park Service during the Great Depression because
he was atypical. Especially out West, and as far as
the discipline was concerned, archeology mainly
concerned prehistoric sites. Undoubtedly, one
reason for the professional rivalries revealed by the
Jamestown excavation was the enduring perception
that archeology was only about “dead Indians.”
During the 1930s, academic archeologists remained
focused upon ancient aboriginal sites, as they had
since before passage of the Antiquities Act. Even-
tually, their successful lobbying drove considerable
government-sponsored work-relief projects.
Archeologists obtained funding to launch unprece-
dented large-scale excavations of several well-
known sites. Working with the Smithsonian Insti-
tution, the Park Service emerged as the lead agency
responsible for managing these work-relief projects
even though they generally involved non-park
excavations. After World War I1, the archeological

community remained concerned with the fate of
prehistoric sites as federal reservoir-construction
projects began to threaten to inundate huge swaths
of archeologically fertile valleys and river basins.
Again, the Park Service became a major participant
in these projects driven by external archeological
constituencies generally unrelated to parks and his-
toric archeology, much less historic preservation.
Yet, these programs brought the Park Service con-
siderable funding and responsibility for “salvage
archeology,” which as a matter of course gave NPS
archeology responsibilities for projects far beyond
the scope of most park superintendents or even the
Service’s regional directorate.

NPS archeology has evinced strong professional
differences with the disciplines of historic preser-
vation even as historical archeology significantly
contributed to the Service’s ability to manage his-
torical sites. Simultaneously, NPS archeology
possessed strong external constituencies that
exerted outside political influence, support, and
direction. It is not surprising, therefore, that NPS
archeology has developed something of a split
identity, Management is geared to focus upon
parks, that is, the preservation and interpretation of
their resources. Historical archeology beginning
with Harrington emerged in the Park Service to
solve specific management concerns, which it does
very well, However, for much of its early history,
external funding drove NPS archeclogy toward the
excavation, although often haphazardly, of prehis-
toric sites, where the intent, if not the outcome, was
to generate knowledge drawn from archeology.
After academic archeology was infused by the
teachings of Lewis Binford in the late 1960s, who
sought to deduce the “laws” of archeology, some
NPS archeologists became more concerned with
the need to select their excavations using scientific
or research-based criteria instead of being ever
driven by the exigencies of relief and salvage-style
work. They also sought to develop park-based
archeology, piggybacking on the far more extensive
funding for salvage archeology and were wary of
any who might jeopardize those funds that grad-
ually became available. In the 1970s, NPS
archeologists helped to originate the very term

12. This process excludes site stabilization, which has also become an important function of NPS archeology. And modern
methods of archeology are less destructive of sites than previously. To the extent that public archeology focuses more on
site stabilization, preservation, survey, and compliance mitigation, that is conservation archeology, the more it has in turn
evalved away from academic archeology, which retains a primary focus upon excavation and the publication of
important new findings or interpretations, and the more it has become similar to historic preservation.
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“cultural resources management” to distinguish
themselves from historic preservationists and to put
themselves on a par with natural resource man-
agers. Eventually, occasionally frustrated Service
managers classified this fundamental attitude
simply as the “keep archeology separate” school.!?

In 1976, after years of subtle and not so subtle orga-
nizational insurgency, several prominent NPS
archeologists, including the Midwest Archeological
Center’s Chief F. A, Calabrese, and the Service’s
own Chief Anthropologist, Douglas H. Scovill,
openly criticized the perceived dominance of his-
toric preservation within the Park Service. Their
concerns, expressed at the 41 Annual Meeting of
the Society for American Archaeology in 5t. Louis,
Missouri, boitled down to the desire of archeolo-
gists to follow a research agenda consistent with
management support needs, but nevertheless dic-
tated by the state of knowledge. They sought to
shift from “a dominant concept of ‘specific-site
salvage archeology’,” in Scovill's words, “to a phi-
losophy of conservation archeology within the
framework of cultural [read “archeological’]
resources management concepts.” They were espe-
cially unhappy about the evaluation of
archeological sites being determined on the basis of
criteria established by the National Register of His-
toric Places, a pre-eminent fixture of the NHPA,
Scovill called for archeologists “to examine our
place in the historic preservation movement
because its current structure and philosophy is not
meeting our needs.”'? Essentially, he was asserting a
basic archeological impulse to avoid being pre-
empted by historic preservationists. Associate

Director Ernest Allen Connally had a fit - how Cala-
brese and Scovill escaped with their careers intact is
the story for another day. Later on, however,

former Chief Historian and Assistant Director
Robert Utley gave Scovill credit for reversing this
openly separatist course and making a significant
effort to bring the disciplines of cultural resource
management closer together and into a better reta-
tionship with NPS management.’>

Those who have sought to develop archeological
resources management within the Park Service
have had to contend with and harness powerful
forces. NPS archeology has evolved along lines dis-
tinct from other cultural professions, disciplines
more thoroughly integrated and perhaps better
understood by NPS management. Nevertheless,
archeologists have long enjoyed greater leverage
than these disciplines. Since the time of Pinky Har-
rington, NPS archeology has followed a separate
path. In due course, that path led to the creation of
several formal archeological research centers,
including the Southwest Archaeological Center, the
Midwest Archeological Center, the Southeast
Archeological Center, the Chaco Archeological
Center, and a Denver Service Center group in
Maryland. Trials and tribulations ensued, but the
center concept has endured.!® Professional and
political dynamics inherent in public archeology
were important determinants leading to the cre-
ation of such centralized facilities that are, as
FEhrenhard attested, “virtually unique among the
nation’s land managing agencies.”!’ Nevertheless,
no such archeological center could exist inde-
pendent of the concurrent interest of NPS

13. The quote "keep archeology separate” was used in 1983 by an anonymous author, possibly Howard H. Chapman,

14.

15.

Chairman of a Regional Office Reorganization Task Force, in a memorandum to the Director to summarize how NPS
archeologists divided into two schools of thought, one wanting to keep archeologists separate from fellow historians
and architects and the other being more open to integration. In his own comments to the Director, Chapman observed “a
notable tendency on the part of archeologists to want te maintain their identity,” suggesting that the separatist school
was prevalent. See Howard H. Chapman, Memorandum to the Director, National Park Service, July 20, 1983, and attached
memorandum entitled "Interviews - Summary of Responses, Existing, Archeological Centers (SEAC, WAC, MWAC, SWAC,
Cummings, Logan},” in “Archeology Centers: Admin. History and Reorganizations” folder, Michele Aubry files,
Archeology and Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC.

Douglas H. Scovill, Chief Anthropologist, “Regional Center: Opportunities for Federal-Institutional Partnership in Cultural

Resources Management,” paper presented at the 41 Annual Meeting of the Society for American Archaeology held at
5t, Louis, Missouri, May 6-8, 1976, abstract and page 2, and noted attached to paper by “EAC” addressed to Mr, Rogers,
September 14, 1976, and similar note addressed to Mr. Utley by Connally, August 27, 1976, in Ernest Allen Connally
Papers, “Archeology Program 1975-76,” Box 2, Harpers Ferry Center. The basic frustration of many archeologists was that
what was deemed important or significant by Nationa! Register standards was not necessarily what was important from
the perspective of deriving understanding from research. A relatively unimportant site by National Register standards,
therefore, might contribute significantly to new understanding. Because federal policy was driven by standards of
significance derived from the National Register, it was a source of great concern to archeologists.

Richard W. Sellars and Melody Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley on the History of Historic Preservation in the
National Park Service: 1947-1980 {Santa Fe: NPS Southwest Cultural Resources Center Professional Papers No. 16, 1988),
12.
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FIGURE 1. National Park Service Archeologist J. C. "Pinky" Harrington excavates a building foundation at Jamestown during
the 1930s. NPS photograph, no date; courtesy of Colonial National Historical Park

management. The centers are not freestanding aca-
demic-style “think-tanks™ with a writ to pursue
their own intellectual fancies. That has never been a
possibility. Instead, by pooling scarce resources, the
centers provide at least a minimum of the essential
and complex “applied” archeological services
required to manage and comply with the laws gov-
erning modern parks and, when required, to
support non-park areas as well. That is not to say
that NPS management of the centers has been
flawless. Certainly, the present study of the
Southeast Archeological Center demonstrates some
cause to reflect upon the history and future course
of NPS policy. SEAC has been in existence for
nearly forty years. As an organization, indeed, an

institution, SEAC’s origins, development, major dif-
ficulties and achievements, and ultimate survival
offer a case study - and a testament - to both the
vitality and the failings of archeological exception-
alism within the National Park Service. In the end,
of course, there can be no doubt about the crucial
role that federal archeology has played in pre-
serving the cultural heritage of the Southeast.

Methodology and Organization

It will be apparent to the reader that this study has
made extensive use of oral history interviews. It is
possible to gather information from oral history
interviews that would not be available without
them. This is vital, of course, regarding events not

16. The Southwest Archaeological Center was later renamed the Western Archeological and Conservation Center. The Chaco
Canyon Archeological Center, focused strictly upon the archeology of Chaco Canyon and its surrounding region, is now
defunct as it was deliberately planned with a finite lifespan. The Park Service also disbanded the group in Maryland. At
various times, the Service has considered establishing other archeological centers, including, for example, a
"Northeastern Archeological Center” as well as a center associated with Hopewell Cultural National Historical Park

focused upon the study of Eastern Woodland Indians.

17. John Ehrenhard, Speech given at the University of Umeo, Sweden, October 2001, in possession of the author. The three
existing NPS archeological centers, in order of their creation are: the Western Archeological and Conservation Center
(1955), located in Tucson, Arizona, the Southeast Archeological Center (1966), located in Tallahassee, Florida, and the
Midwest Archeological Center (1969), located in Lincoln, Nebraska.

National Park Service 7



otherwise documented in known written records,
but the interactive nature of an interview, as well as
follow-up questions and answers, allows the his-
torian to conduct a more penetrating analysis than
might otherwise be the case. However, while such
interviews can tease out important overarching
insights and provide significant information about
conflict and change over time, living memory also
has problematic qualities. People, for example, tend
not to remember specific dates or more obscure
names, often falsely remember events out of his-
torical sequence, and rarely achieve complete
objectivity concemning their own participation in
those events, tending to discount the negative or to
overemphasize the positive. Nevertheless, the
strength of this report is the strong narrative voice
provided by its interviewees whose recall of signif-
icant events, conflicts, background information,
and behind-the-scenes commentary deeply inform
this study.

The author conducted and documented six specific
oral history interviews for this study. The oral inter-
views are on file with the Southeast Archeological
Center, the Southeast Regional Office, Harpers
Ferry Center Archives, and the National Center for
Cultural Resources. The interviews include:

m John E. Ehrenhard, Director of the Southeast
Archeological Center (1994 - 2006} and head of
its Technical Assistance and Partnerships
division

m Richard “Pete” D. Faust, retired Chief of the
Southeast Archeological Center (1972 - 1994)

®  George R. Fischer, retired NPS, SEAC, and
Washington office staff archeologist (1962 -
1988)

m Patricia C. Griffin, anthropologist, author of
Mullet on the Beach: The Minorcans of Florida,
1768-1788, and widow of John Griffin, first
Chief of SEAC (1967 - 1971), to whom she was
married for 48 years

m ] Anthony “Tony” Paredes, professor emeritus
and former Chair of the Florida State
University Anthropology Department (1970 -
1977, July - October 1980, 1984 - 1990), and
former Chief of Ethnography and Indian
Affairs, NPS SERO (1998 - 2006)

o0
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B  George S. Smith, SEAC Associate Director for
Investigations and Evaluation (1989 - present)

Additionally, this study draws upon similar oral
history interviews previously conducted by other
historians. Prominent among these were two inter-
views of Ernest Allen Connally, former Chief of the
defunct Office of Archeology and Historic Preser-
vation, by Charles B. Hosmer Jr. (1981) and James
Arthur Glass (1986). Other exceptionally useful
interviews include one with former NPS Chief His-
torian and Assistant Director Robert M. Utley by
Melody Webb and Richard West Sellars {1985), of
former NPS archeologist Wilfred D. Logan by
Midwest Archeological Center archeologist
Thomas D. Thiessen (1992), and a recent interview
of former NPS Director Roger Kennedy by NPS
Bureau Historian Janet McDonnell (2004). The
study is also informed by a series of author dia-
logues or conversations with several other
individuals who participated in the history of SEAC
or who were contemporary observers. The author
also conducted a lengthy interview with John
Jameson Jr., who was involved in the Interagency
Archeological Services (IAS) division and in many
of SEAC’s major archeological outreach efforts.
Retired NPS research archeologist John W. Walker
was similarly interviewed. Walker began his NPS
career at Ocmulgee National Monument in
December 1938, participated in the excavations
that led to the creation of SEAC, and served with
SEAC until he retired in 1990. Other significant
informants include Allen Bohnert, former SEAC
curator and Chief of Museum Services, Southeast
Region; retired NPS archeologist Zorro Bradley,
whao helped to establish SEAC; Sylvia Flowers,
former long-time Chief Ranger of Ocmulgee
National Monument; Paul Hartwig, Associate
Regional Director for Cultural Resources and Stew-
ardship and an old hand in the Southeast Regional
Office; George B. Hartzog Jr., former Director of
the National Park Service; Alan Marsh, Cultural
Resource Specialist at Andersonville National His-
toric Site and author of Ocmulgee National
Monument Administrative History; retired NPS
archeologist Jackson Moore, a participant in the
“Big Dig” at Ocmulgee National Monument in the
1960s; and Robert C. Wilson, SEAC’s current Head
of Archeological Collections and Information Man-
agement. Many other informants are listed in the
footnotes or acknowledgements.




Despite the importance of these informants, this
history also relies heavily upon documentary
records, which have proven of sufficient abundance
to provide considerable insight into the devel-
opment of SEAC and federal archeology. The study
attempts to use these documents to complement
and substantiate the comments or recollections of
living informants whenever possible. Primary
source documents for this study were obtained
from: SEAC, which maintains an excellent set of
official records; the historic National Park Service
coliection at Harpers Ferry Center; the Archeology
and Ethnography Program records of the National
Center for Cultural Resources in Washington, DC;
records of Ocmulgee National Monument, which
proved useful despite a regrettable purge of the
park’s files at some past point; records of the
Southeast Regional Office, which were useful to
some extent although files had also been lost due to
repeated reorganizations and relocations; and per-
sonal papers and records provided by the
interviewees themselves.

This study is organized chronologically with signif-
icant topics treated as they arise logically in the
narrative. Some overlapping is unavoidable, but an
effort was made to minimize this problem and to
include all significant topics in the index. In some
cases, the reader will achieve greater compre-
hension of a given subject by consulting the index.
There are six major chapters. After a basic review of
the early history of federal archeology in Chapter
One, Chapter Two moves on to reconstruct the
origins and creation of the Southeast Archeological
Center at Ocmulgee National Monument in 1966.
Chapter Three covers SEAC’s operations at
Ocmulgee. Notable events covered in this section
relate to SEAC’s management of the monument as
well as its effort to orchestrate and negotiate the
center’s move to the campus of Florida State Uni-
versity (FSU) in 1972. Chapter Four covers roughly

two decades of SEAC’s history while located on the
FSU campus. Besides relations with the FSU
Anthropology Department, Chapter Four concerns
itself with the management of SEAC’s vast archeo-
logical collection, two national-level administrative
reorganizations that impacted the center, and the
origins of underwater archeology in the National
Park Service. Chapter Five concerns history that is
more recent. It addresses SEAC’s move off campus
to Innovation Park, new directions undertaken by
Director John Ehrenhard, and the impact of the
“competitive sourcing” or “outsourcing” study con-
ducted upon SEAC between 2002 and 2003. While
each section offers analysis and conciusions, these
are summarized and reviewed in Chapter Six’s con-
cluding essay on the future of federal archeology in
the Southeast.

To facilitate management use of the history as an
encyclopedic reference, this report also includes
several important appendices. Appendix A provides
a factual chronology listing major events in the
history of the Southeast Archeological Center. A
brief annotated listing of several primary legislative
authorities for NPS Archeology follows in
Appendix B. Appendix C lists and briefly describes
the major cooperative agreements in effect on
January 1, 2005. Appendix D provides a brief
summary of the oral history interviews conducted
for this study as well as a biographical sketch of
each participant. Appendix E provides a summary
of the state of SEAC’s archeological cotlection as of
2005 while Appendix F lists selected FSU
Anthopology Department masters theses based
upon those collections. Appendix G provides two
fact sheets that provide detailed information on
SEAC’s services. Finally, a selected bibliography
includes major sources used in this study while an
index has been supplied and cross-referenced to
help the reader track specific topics scattered in the
text.
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Chapter One: Federal
Archeology in the Southeast

Region (1906-1960)

Federal involvement in efforts to document and
preserve the physical remains or archeological evi-
dence of past inhabitants of the United States began
in the West. At the end of the nineteenth century,
the United States entered into a period of reform
that historians have labeled the Progressive Era.
Middle-class citizens, concerned by problems
stemming from rapid industrialization and popu-
lation growth, urbanization, and cultural change,
launched a wide-ranging social and political reform
movement. Nationalism and renewed respect for
traditional American symbols generated restrictive
anti-immigrant laws, but also helped mobilize
support for the preservation ethos emerging from
within popular culture and from such professional
fields as forestry. Conservation measures were then
successfully applied to preserve forests and scenic
wonders, first in the West, but later all across the
nation.

Similarly, patriotic organizations began to advocate
the preservation of buildings and artifacts that sym-
bolized the virtuous American past. Private citizens
and the scholarly community also began to rec-
ognize the threat posed by the looting of prehistoric
aboriginal sites by so-called “pot-hunters,” espe-
cially at Casa Grande in Arizona, the first site to
receive federal protection in 1892, and later at Mesa
Verde in southwest Colorado. Lacking safeguards,
these archeological treasures were ripe fruit to be
picked by any amateur archeologist, entrepreneur,
casual tourist, or deliberate vandal who was
increasingly able to visit such places due to

improvements in transportation. The situation
resulted in the destruction of archeological sites,
the loss of their value to science, and the decrease
in their utility to boost local tourism. A variety of
scholars, civic groups, and politicians soon began to
work for better federal protection for these sites,
once generally referred to as “antiquities.”

“American Antiquities” and the

National Park Service

In 1906, a long campaign by reformers resulted in
the passage of lowa Rep. John F. Lacey’s “Act For
the Preservation of American Antiquities.”l The
Antiquities Act authorized the President of the
United States to proclaim “historic landmarks, his-
toric and prehistoric structures, and other objects
of historic or scientific interest” as national monu-
ments. Similar to national parks established by
Congress, but without the same level of protection,
national monuments were nevertheless “set aside”
and protected from encroachment. The Antiquities
Act created an important lever for preserving
public lands in that it eschewed the difficult legis-
lative process and for the first time authorized the
president to decree national monuments and to set
aside federal land for the purposes of preservation
(or accept others through donation). One
drawback of the Antiquities Act, however, was that
it placed more than one agency in charge of the
administration of the monuments. The secretary of
the department having jurisdiction over the land on
which the antiquity was located retained control of
the monument. Naturally, this division resulted in

1, For a definitive account of the campaign to establish the first national preservation legislation, in which archeologists
such as Edgar Lee Hewett of the American Anthropaological Association played a key role, see Ronald F. Lee, The
Antiquities Act of 1906 {Washington, DC: National Park Service, 1970).
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uneven administration and maintenance of the
monuments by the Departments of Interior, War,
and Agriculture. Some monuments received
improvements while others continued to deteri-
orate or suffer from vandalism.?

By 1910, twelve national parks and thirteen national
monuments existed. ]. Horace McFarland, pres-
ident of the American Civic Association, led a group
of enthusiasts to take action in lobbying for the for-
mation of one governing bureau to administer the
parks. At the same time, the Secretary of the
Interior produced a proposal for a park bureau.
Congress remained uninterested but controversy
among conservationists over how to manage the
national parks and monuments continued and grew
more heated.? Some conservationists wanted to
utilize the parks by harnessing water through dam
construction, while others sought strict preser-
vation of park natural resources.* Progress in the
effort to create a new agency was made when the
Interior Department hired Stephen T. Mather. A
wealthy, well-connected businessman, Mather
came to Washington in January 1915 as special
assistant to Interior Secretary Franklin K. Lane for
national park concerns.

In 1913, a climactic national debate took place over
the damming of Hetch Hetchy, a scenic valley
within Yosemite National Park. San Francisco
sought to intrude on the park to meet the city’s
water and power demands. After opponents failed
to stop the dam, support galvanized for the creation
of a national service to protect the nation’s parks
and monuments. Mather, working closely with his
assistant, Horace M. Albright, continuously pro-
moted the economic usefulness of parks as tourist
destinations. Mather even hired a publicist and
convinced several western railroads to fund an
elaborately illustrated publication, The National
Parks Portfolio, which was sent to congressmen and

others of influence. Through such efforts, Mather
and Albright successfully campaigned to increase
the popularity of national parks and to convince
Congress to establish a single agency to govern
them, President Woodrow Wilson approved the
legislation that formed the National Park Service
within the Department of the Interior on August 25,
1916. Secretary Franklin K. Lane then appointed
Mather to be the first NPS Director.

The legislation that created the National Park
Service also authorized it “to conserve the scenery
and the natural and historic objects and the wild life
[of parks] and to provide for the enjoyment of the
same in such manner and by such means as will
leave them unimpaired for the enjoyment of future
generations.” The phrase “historic objects” pro-
vided the Park Service with the latent authority to
involve itself in the preservation of culturally signif-
icant sites as well as those it sought to protect for
essentially aesthetic reasons. Under this rubric, Sec-
retary Lane transferred Casa Grande Ruin
Reservation to the National Park Service in 1918.
Casa Grande Ruin, the first cultural site to be set
aside on federal land, was established under the
auspices of the General Land Office, which had no
interest in tending to such an oddity.” Likewise, the
Park Service inherited several national monuments
of archeological character created under authority
of the 1906 Antiquities Act, such as El Morroin
New Mexico, an ancient petroglyph site. Of course,
the Park Service also inherited Mesa Verde
National Park, which Congress had authorized
simultaneously with the Antiquities Act. All these
sites were protected to preserve some of the
extensive, world-class archeological ruins of
sophisticated ancient American Indian societies
that were threatened by looting, vandalism, and
general neglect. By the 1930s, the Park Service con-
trolled numerous archeological sites, mainly in the
West.5

Harlan D. Unrau and G. Frank Williss, Administrative History: Expansion aof the National Park Service in the 1930s

2.

(washington: National Park Service, 1983), 14-18.

3. Several good accounts treat the creation of the National Park Service. See, for example, Horace M. Albright and Marian
Albright Schenck, Creating the National Fark Service; The Missing Years (Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1999), or
Hal K. Rothman, America‘s National Monuments: The Politics of Preservation (Chicago: University of lllinois Press, 1989).

4. Barry Mackintosh, The National Park Service: Shaping the Syster, 2nd ed. (Washington, DC: National Park Service, 1991},
18-19.

5. See A. Berle Clemensen, Casa Grande Ruins National Monument, Arizana: A Centennial History of the First Prehistoric
Reserve, 1892 -1992 (Washington, DC: National Park Service, 1992}, for further information.

6. MacKintosh, The National Park Service: Shaping the System, 13-14. In March 1923, President Warren G. Harding
proclaimed the establishment of Mound City Group Natignal Manument, Ohio, the first aboriginal NPS archeological site
east of the Mississippi River. Ocmulgee National Monument followed in December 1936, but no similar park was
established in the East until Russell Cave National Monument was proclaimed in May 1961.
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While NPS responsibility for historical and archeo-
logical sites grew, many remained within the
Departments of War and Agriculture. The Park
Service sought possession of these areas, but the
onset of US. involvement in World War I and the
illness of Mather delayed the growth and consoli-
dation of the new system. Eventually, however,
Mather and Albright, who was appointed Assistant
NPS Director in 1919, began to develop clearly
defined park standards and policies, took steps to
acquire national monuments neglected by other
agencies, and sought to create new parks as well.
Albright particularly sought to expand the agency’s
work in historic preservation and pushed to
transfer War Department parks and monuments to
the NPS. In 1923, President Warren G. Harding
outlined a major reorganization proposal of the
executive departments that included recommenda-
tions to transfer nine military parks to the
Department of the Interior. The War Department
approved of the notion to transfer parks under its
jurisdiction, largely as a cost-cutting move.
However, the transfer proposal somehow became,
in Albright’s words, “lost in the shuffle” and was
ignored by the Joint Comunittee on Reorganization.

-l

The transfer proposal received further consider-
ation during the administration of Herbert Hoover.
In 1928, Secretary of the Interior Hubert Work
backed a bill, drafted by Interior and War
Department staff and sent to Congress, which pro-
posed the transfer of all War Department military
parks, national monuments, and national parks to
the Department of the Interior. Congress, however,
quarreled over the bill. Opponents argued about
the different goals of the two agencies, including
potential loss of respect if military cemeteries were
managed by a civilian agency also responsible for
public leisure. In 1929, the Park Service, now
directed by Albright, finally began to make progress
on the issue. After his inauguration, President
Hoover appointed John W. Good and Ray L.
Wilbur to be Secretaries of War and Interior,
respectively. Both happened to be old Albright
acquaintances. Hoover sent several messages to
Congress about reorganizing the executive branch,
but his administration quickly became preoccupied
by the Great Depression. With the election of
Franklin D. Roosevelt in 1932, Albright’s initiative

finally succeeded. When invited on an excursion by
President Roosevelt in April 1933, Albright jumped
at the chance to convince the new president of the
need to consolidate administration of parks and
monuments. Roosevelt concurred and permitted
Albright to present the necessary materials to the
chief of staff of the reorganization activities. On
August 10, 1933, Roosevelt signed Executive Order
6166 to consolidate administrative functions of
public buildings, reservations, national parks,
national monuments, and some national cemeteries
in the Department of the Interior.®

The principal impact of the federal reorganization
of 1933 was that it firmly oriented the Park Service
toward the protection and preservation of historic
and archeological sites, as well as areas important
for their scenic beauty. Moreover, the reorgani-
zation provided the Service with a much desired
basis on which to expand its involvement in the
eastern and southern portions of the nation where
historic and prehistoric sites were relatively more
common. Finally, these administrative arrange-
ments expanding the role of the Park Service in the
area of historic preservation helped spur passage of
the Historic Sites Act (HSA) of 1935,

The HSA solidified and expanded the legislative
authority for NPS historic preservation activities by
defining “a national policy to preserve for public
use historic sties, buildings and objects of national
significance for the inspiration and benefit of the
people of the United States.” It gave the Secretary of
the Interior responsibility for conducting a federal
historic preservation program, including survey,
research, and documentation efforts for historical
and archeological properties of national signifi-
cance, Perhaps most important, the law authorized
the secretary to designate national historic sites,
acquire historical and archeological properties,
preserve significant resources, maintain museums,
administer sites for public use, and enter into coop-
erative agreements. The secretary could designate
national historic sites without congressional
approval, although Congress had to approve funds
for tand acquisition. To some extent, the HSA pro-
vided a way to create new parks without having to
go through the congressional process. To assist the
secretary, the law established the Advisory Board

7. Unrau and Willis, Administrative History: Expansion of the National Park Service, 22-50.
8. Unrau and Willis, Administrative History: Expansion of the National Park Service, 50-59. The consclidation was not
absolute, however. Arlington National Cemetery, for example, is still managed by the U.S. Army.
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on National Parks, Historic Sites, Buildings, and
Monuments. The Park Service became the primary
agency responsible for carrying out the provisions
of the new law, and this authority ensured its
involvement in the development of “New Deal”
archeology.9

The New Deal Brings the “Big Dig”
to the Southeast

During the Great Depression, the Roosevelt admin-
istration sought to combat widespread
unemployment and economic malaise through
massive spending programs that put out-of-work
Americans into productive jobs created under the
auspices of a number of special work-relief pro-
grams. The first of these efforts was the famous
Civilian Conservation Corps or CCC (originally
known as the Emergency Conservation Work orga-
nization), authorized by Congress and established
within weeks of Roosevelt's inauguration in March
1933. Another was the Federal Emergency Relief
Administration (FERA), established in August 1933.
The Civil Works Administration {CWA) followed

in November 1933, The CWA was a short-lived
program designed to meet the unemployment chal-
lenge of the bleak winter of 1933-1934. Shortly
thereafter, Congress passed legislation preventing
Roosevelt from creating additional relief agencies
without approval, and the CWA was abolished.
Under authority of the Emergency Relief Appropri-
ation Act of 1935, Roosevelt then created the
Works Progress Administration (WPA), which
would oversee a number of programs in the area of
conservation. Conservation was an important
element of Depression-era work-relief programs
because Congress prohibited government spending
when it competed in areas where private sector
business opportunities existed. As a result, public
lands, both federal and state, enjoyed a brief peried
of spectacular activity as CCC, FERA, CWA, and
WPA workers constructed roads, bridges, trails,

campgrounds, drainages, and other erosion control
works throughout the nation’s forests, parks, and
seashores, and on other public lands.'?

Work-relief, a great and long-lasting benefit to the
nation, also launched an unparalleled period of
archeological excavations as New Deal archeo-
logical programs sprouted up in areas of the
country with a warm winter climate suitable for sus-
tained outdoor work. These programs were
arranged through cooperative agreements between
the relief agencies, the National Park Service, and
the Smithsonian Institution. While agencies like the
WPA established operating procedures, the Park
Service or the Smithsonian handled technical
review of the projects.!!

As detailed by Edwin E. Lyon, New Deal arche-
ology began in the South at Marksville, Louisiana,
in 1933, Marksville was the site of several Indian
mounds that officials planned to convert into a
swimming pool and recreation area using FERA
funds until locals interested in archeology con-
vinced the city council to allow excavation and
restoration of the mounds under the direction of
the Smithsonian Institution. Using FERA funds,
Smithsonian archeologists oversaw a crew of one
hundred laborers who excavated and restored the
site. Their preliminary data indicated that the
builders of the site possessed culture-phase charac-
teristics similar to those of the “Hopewell” culture
found at Mound City Group National Monument
in Ohio. The conclusion that Hopewell culture
extended into the Southeast demonstrated the
potential for relief archeology, and CWA archeo-
logical efforts soon followed justified specifically
on this experience.12 The first of eleven CWA
projects began on December 20, 1933, at
“Ocmulgee Old Fields” near Macon, Georgia.
Work at Peachtree Mound in North Carolina and
Shiloh Mounds located in Shiloh National Military

9. Thomas Alan Sullivan, compiler, Laws Relating to the National Park Service, Supplement I, July 1933 through April 1944
{Washington: Gavernment Printing Office, 1944), 203-207; Barry Mackintosh, The Historic Sites Survey and National
Historic Landmarks Program: A History (Washington: National Park Service, 1985), 1-12; Mackintosh, The National Parks:
Shaping the System, 49-53; Ronald F. Lee, Family Tree of the National Park System (Philadelphia: Eastern National Park

and Monument Association, 1972), 44-52.

10. See John C. Paige, The Civilian Conservation Corps and the National Park Service, 1933-1942: An Administrative History
{Washington, DC: National Park Service, 1985), and Unrau and Willis, Administrative History: Expansion of the National
Park Service, for more information on conservation-related work-relief programs of the National Park Service during the

1930s.

11. Arthur R. Kelly, “Archaeclogy in the National Park Service,” American Antiguity, no. 4 (April 1940): 274.
12. Lyon, A New Deal for Southeastern Archaeclogy, 1-4; and F. M. Setzler, introduction to Archaeology of the Funeral
Mound Ocmulgee National Monument, by Charles H. Fairbanks (Washington, DC: National Park Service Archaeological

Series 3}, 1-2.
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Park in Tennessee began the day after.!? Projects
also took place in Florida and California.

A key component of relief archeology was the need
to employ large numbers of workers who were not
professional archeologists. The capacity of
American archeology to engage in the management
of such large-scale operations using manual
laborers developed in conjunction with the require-
ments of relief archeology as first demonstrated at
Marksville. Prior to 1933, a paucity of funds, espe-
cially in the South, had previously limited the
possibility for such activity.!* Another key aspect of
relief archeology was the role of the Smithsonian
Institution, which created the first archeological
program using CWA funds and employed some
1,500 workers.1?

In 1934, Smithsonian archeologists, increasingly
concerned about the worsening condition of the
nation’s archeological patrimony, initiated a
nationwide survey to inventory and determine the
extent of archeological site destruction. The Smith-
sonian issued a report discussing 585 such sites,
including 180 in the Southeast that required
attention. It concluded that the 1906 Antiquities
Act was failing to achieve its stated aims of pre-
serving American antiquities, that new legislation
was needed to improve the care of archeological
resources, that the care of archeological sites on
federal land should be improved through their des-
ignation as national monuments, and that non-
federal sites should be acquired.!® Along with the
1933 government reorganization that expanded
Park Service involvement in preserving battlefields
and other historic sites, the Smithsonian survey
helped build momentum for the Historic Sites Act
of 1935,

One of the most important work-relief programs of
the New Deal-era was President Roosevelt’s plan to
develop the Tennessee River along the valley
running through Tennessee, Northern Alabama,
and Western Kentucky. To administer this massive
development project, Roosevelt established the

Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA). In 1934 arche-
ologists responded to the imminent threat the TVA
posed to numercous archeological sites, many of
which faced inundation by large-scale water
impoundments, by obtaining funds, first through
the CWA, then later through the WA, The WPA
chose William §. Webb, a professor at the Uni-
versity of Kentucky, to direct its archeological
programs under the TVA. “Major Webb” as he was
known by his WPA colleagues, was actually a phys-
icist. In the words of John W. Walker, who knew
him as a student, Webb was “an ardent amateur” in
the fields of archeology and anthropology and
widely published. He applied his CWA and WPA
funding to what was probably the most important
work-relief archeological project of the 1930s. TVA
archeology began in January 1934, a month later
than the projects at Ocmulgee and Shiloh. Despite a
lack of centralized WPA administration and friction
between competing archeologists of the three
states, TVA archeology proved crucial to the rescue
of data and artifacts. Moreover, large-scale arche-
ology conducted by the WPA and other New Deal
agencies created important precedents for post-
World War Il archeological programs. These later
etforts were needed to grapple with similar massive
construction projects by the U.S. Army Corps of
Engineers and the Bureau of Reclamation, espe-
cially in the West and along the upper Missouri
River valley.!”

In the meantime, however, important CWA-spon-
sored excavations were taking place near Macon,
Georgia. These excavations, fondly remembered by
a later generation of archeologists as the “Big Dig,”
came to play a major role in the history of the
Southeast Archeological Center. The Macon site
consists of two distinct “Indian Mound” groups,
the Macon Plateau and Lamar sites, which are
about three miles apart and near the Ocmulgee
River. Work on the Macon Plateau began on
December 20, 1933, and at Lamar on January 2,
1934. Human occupation of the Macon Plateau
dates back some 12,000 years to the Paleo Indian
period, although the site’s mound structures were

13. Walker, Comments on the draft of August 19, 2005.
14. Lyon, A New Deal for Southeastern Archaeology, 28.

15. Thomas D. Thiessen, Emergency Archeology in the Missouri River Basin: The Role of the Missouri Basin Project and the
Midwest Archeotogical Center in the Interagency Archeological Salvage Program, 1946-1975, Midwest Archeological
Center Special Report No. 2 {Lincoln: National Park Service, 1999), 1.

16. Lyon, A New Deal for Southeastern Archaeology, 173.

17. Lyon, A New Deal for Southeastern Archaeology, 23-27; Charles R. McGimsey Ill, Public Archeology (New York: Seminar
Press, 1972), 104; Walker, Comments on the draft of August 19, 2005.
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built between 200 and 1200 AD. The site was also
inhabited by Creek Indians in historic times, ending
about 1715.'8

In the early 1920s, the site’s mound groups caught
the attention of a prominent local attorney and
retired general named Walter Harris. In 1929,
Harris successfully solicited the interest of the
Smithsonian’s Bureau of American Ethnology,
which sent a representative to evaluate the mounds.
Once the Smithsonian had designated the site
important, local organizations then mobilized to
purchase and preserve it. They also sought work-
relief funds to conduct excavations. In December
1933, with the help of Rep. Carl Vinson, Macon
authorities succeeded in obtaining CWA funds to
begin site excavation. The Smithsonian appointed
Arthur R. Kelly, a Harvard-trained anthropologist,
to direct the project, which grew with local support
under CWA, FERA, and then WPA auspices into
the largest archeological field party of the time.'” In
1937, cutbacks in WPA funding forced Kelly to
scale back these excavations. He immediately
retooled his strategy and launched a series of less
extensive stratigraphic surveys that sampled sites
around the area. Such creativity ensured that Kelly
was to play an important role in the field of federal
archeology.20

Prompted by sudden national attention, Macon
leaders asked the National Park Service to consider
the area’s significance. Rep. Vinson submitted legis-
lation in February 1934 requesting that the
government purchase 2,000 acres for “Ocmulgee
National Park.” After amendments were attached
specifying the park be purchased with local funds,
President Roosevelt signed an act authorizing the
creation of Ocmulgee National Monument on June
14, 1934. The park’s actual establishment was con-
tingent upon land acquisition. The Service had no
“Chief Archeologist” at the time, so it sent its first
Chief Historian, Verne E. Chatelain, to Macon to
select the lands to be purchased. Chatelain and

other NPS officials then spent several months
wrangling with locals and working out deed issues
until sufficient lands, about 678 acres, could be pur-
chased. With this accomplishment, on December
23, 1936, President Roosevelt issued a presidential
proclamation formally establishing the new park.
The Park Service continued to employ various relief
agency employees for excavation work at the new
monument, adding some two hundred CCC
workers in 193721

In 1938, the Park Service reorganized its Branch of
Historic Sites and Buildings into the Branch of His-
toric Sites with two separate subdivisions, the
Historic Sites Division and the Archeological Sites
Division, both under Chief Historian Ronald F.
Lee. Arthur Kelly had been successful in his efforts
managing the large-scale archeological projects
near Macon, and the Service offered him the job of
“Chief, Archeological Sites Division.” Kelly
accepted the position, making him in essence the
first “chief archeologist” of the National Park
Service with responsibility for all NPS archeology
in the states and territories.?? These responsibilities
included researching and surveying archeological
sites nationwide and coordinating with other
agencies, work he was already accustomed to
doing. Kelly soon promoted a nationat archeo-
logical survey to produce a list of nationally
significant archeological sites. He focused his
attention, however, on a regional survey of the
Southeast as a test case that would also have the
benefit of promoting the alignment of WPA archeo-
logical survey work with the methodological
requirements of the HSA as administered by the
NPS. Kelly hoped that WPA funds could be
obtained to conduct a regionwide survey that could
stimulate archeological efforts in the area for
decades. To that end he negotiated an inter-bureau
agreement with the Smithsonian on survey
planning and coordination of federal archeological
work. Kelly’s Southeast survey also promoted NPS
cooperation with several Southern universities,

18. walker, Comments on the draft of August 19, 2005.

19. Marsh, Ocmulgee National Monument: An Administrative History, 7-8, 20.

20. Lyon, A New Deal for Sautheastern Archaeology, 182-183. Note, the term “Big Dig" is somewhat inaccurate in that there
were actually a series of excavations at or in the vicinity of the Macon area in the 1930s and the term was prebably not
used by archealogists at the time. Instead, later archeologists used “Big Dig” to refer back to the Macon excavations,
which remain some of the most expansive ever conducted by federal archeology.

21. Marsh, Ocmulgee National Monument: An Administrative History, 8-17, 22.

22, Mark Williams, ed., In His Own Words: An Interview with Dr. Arthur Kelly [by Marilyn Pennington, 1973], Lamar Institute
Publication 44 (Athens: Lamar Institute, University of Georgia, 1997), 18. Kelly was probably not known as the " Chief
Archealogist,” however, because he reported to the director of the Branch of Historic Sites who was also the Chief

Historian.
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FIGURE 2. Relief-era archeology at "Ocmulgee Old Fields" near Macon, Georgia, led in 1936 to the creation of Ocmulgee
National Monument. NPS photograph, no date; courtesy of Ocmulgee National Monument

namely the Universities of Alabama, Kentucky,
Tennessee, Georgia, and Louisiana State.?3

While Kelly sought to build inter-institutional affili-
ations for his archeological program, he made plans
to use Ocmulgee National Monument as the site for
aregional archeological museum. This museum was
to house archeological collections while also pro-
viding administrative space where archeologists
could work while surveying, locating, testing, and
excavating sites primarily in central Georgia. In
other words, Kelly sought to establish a nascent
archeological center at the monument. As early as
January 1934, John T. West had been assigned to
catalog Ocmulgee-related artifacts. He was still in
that position in early 1938, when Ocmulgee arche-
ologists under Kelly organized a laboratory in the
Macon Municipal Auditorium. After Charles H.
Fairbanks arrived in Macon late in 1938, he took
charge of this temporary lab, which had 35
employees processing collections from the

Ocmulgee excavations.”* Park Service plans, of
course, envisioned a permanent structure from the
beginning of NPS tenure of the site. Locals led by
Walter Harris, and Georgia politicians, successfully
pushed for a WPA allotment in the NPS budget to
construct the facility, which became the Museum
and Administration Building or visitor center of
Ocmulgee National Monument.?> By 1939,
Ocmulgee’s collections had grown to over a million
objects and the lab became a central depository for
collections from excavations conducted
throughout the Southeast region.?® The artifact lab-
oratory was transferred to the basement of the
Ocmulgee visitor center in May 1940. Unfortu-
nately, the Park Service had only received sufficient
funds to complete 65 percent of the structure by
1941 when the project was postponed because of
World War I1.%7

With Kelly in Washington in 1938, the Branch of
Historic Sites decided to stop non-construction-

23. Lyon, A New Deal for Southeastern Archaeology, 173-174, 176; See also: Arthur R. Kelly, “Archaeology in the National
Park Service,” American Antiquity, no. 4 (April 1940): 276-277.

24. Walker, Comments on the draft of August 19, 2005.

25. Marsh, Ocmulgee National Monument: An Administrative History, 32.

26. Lyon, A New Deal for Southeastern Archaeology, 181.

27. Marsh, Ocmulgee National Monument: An Administrative History, 32.
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FIGURE 3. Photograph depicting the vertical excavation of a burial mound at Ocmulgee by archeologists working under NPS
auspices in the 1930s. Its caption reads: “The mound is a mosaic structure, really five mounds in one, each new layer built on a
preceding layer. Note the striking banding of colorful clay streamers superimposed on a sand fill, dumped in place during
construction.” Negative number 86-224/36B, no date; NPS Historic Photograph Collection, Harpers Ferry Center

related excavations at Ocmulgee until material col-
lected between 1936 and 1938 was properly
examined and processed, mainly by WPA workers.
Even though Kelly and others published several
reports on their research, more archeology was
being accomplished than was being written up. All
archeological and construction work at the mon-
ument ended with American entry into World War
IT and the nationwide termination of the
Depression-era work-relief 1'.)r0,c:;ramr_~:.28

During the Great Depression, federal archeology,
especially in the Southeast, made critical contribu-
tions to the development of archeological theory
and method. Foremost, of course, relief-agency
funding and manpower made possible research that
was previously impossible for lack of funds. An
enormous reservoir of potential data dug up by
relief archeology provided analytical potential that
is still being mined, although the criticism was
leveled early on that more was dug up at the time
than could be meaningfully evaluated, the emphasis
having been placed upon jobs creation rather than
scientific need or merit. Still, Depression-era arche-
ology made undeniable contributions to the
scholarship on the prehistory of the Southeast and
also helped to launch the careers of numerous
archeologists who would become distinguished in

their field. Importantly, the National Park Service
exercised a major and increasingly significant role
in New Deal archeology. In the field of historical
archeology, for example, Park Service activities
prompted significant and original advances. As
noted in the introduction, when rivalry between
historical architects and archeologists working
together in NPS-supported excavations at
Jamestown produced friction, the Park Service
placed Jean C. Harrington, an NPS architect inter-
ested in archeology, in charge. Harrington spent
many vears at Jamestown and later conducted
important excavations at Fort Raleigh National
Historic Site. Harrington demonstrated “thata
great quantity of historical knowledge can be
obtained by careful, painstaking archeological
research, no matter how recent the site.”?? Other
NPS archeologists, including John L. Cotter and
John W. Griffin, followed in his steps. Prior to the
New Deal, American archeologists shunned work
on historic as opposed to prehistoric sites, deeming
the recent past the domain of historians. After the
New Deal and the arrival of federal support for his-
torical archeology, that attitude slowly began to
change.

In a broad sense, federal funding during the New
Deal allowed numerous archeologists a chance to

28. Marsh, Ocmulgee National Monument: An Administrative History, 23-24.
29. Quoted in J. C. Harrington, “Partnership at Jamestown: Archeology and History Work Hand in Hand,” The Regional
Review, vol. V, no. 2 and no. 3 (August-September 1940): 3-8.
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FIGURE 4. Workers classify and number artifacts in the visitor center of Ocmulgee National Monument in 1939 after the end of
major archeological excavations at the site. Photograph by "Werner" for NPS, June 1939; NPS Historic Photograph Collection,

Harpers Ferry Center

cut their teeth. According to Lyon, by 1941 these
archeologists had developed a basic chronology,
geographic distribution, and sophisticated typol-
ogies to classify pottery types. In the process, they
had begun sorting through the complex cultural
interrelationships that would make possible a syn-
thesis of a Southeastern aboriginal prehistory. The
same group had also organized itself intellectually
on a regional basis by founding the Southeastern
Archaeological Conference in 1938. The Con-
ference provided a professional framework to help
further work in the field. Departing from an older
generation’s methods and theories, this new gener-
ation of archeologists rose to dominate the post-
war field of Southeastern archeology. The creation
of the Southeastern Archaeological Conference,
underwritten as it was by much work-relief arche-
ology, was a major accomplishment and marks a

fundamental shift in the history of archeology in the

region. ol

“Salvage” Archeology

Relief-era archeology proved significant even with
regard to its own postmortem. In 1944, J. Alden
Mason, president of the Society for American
Archaeology, created a Planning Committee to
investigate the work of WPA-era period arche-
ology. He took this action in response to the
suggestion of several influential archeologists, espe-
cially Frederick Johnson of the Robert S. Peabody
Foundation for Archaeology at Phillips Academy.
The committee’s goal was to identify problems with
large-scale federal archeology as experienced
during the 1930s so that such problems could be
avoided in any similar future undertaking.’! The
committee’s investigation raised several important
concerns. Namely, it found that federal archeo-
logical efforts were plagued by a lack of strong
central program direction, insufficiently trained
supervisory personnel, administrative ineptitude,

30. Lyon, A New Deal for Southeastern Archaeology, 191-200.

31. Lyon, A New Deal for Southeastern Archaeology, 201; Fred Wendorf and Raymond H. Thompson, “The Committee for the
Recovery of Archaeological Remains: Three Decades of Service to the Archaeological Profession,” American Antiquity 67

(2): 318-320
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serious publication lag, as well as the scattering or
loss of data and the failure to report on some com-
pleted excavations at all. 32

The National Research Council also appointed a
committee to review WPA efforts. Among the
prominent archeologists on this committee was
William §. Webb, who had headed WPA archeo-
logical efforts for the Tennessee Valley Authority.
Webb’s committee found similar shortcomings in
WPA archeology and recommended that the
National Park Service take a major role in safe-
guarding the nation's archeological sites for the
future.3? By 1944, such recommendations had
stirred interest in the profession among those con-
cerned with proposed post-war reclamation
activities stemming largely from passage of the
Flood Control Act, which authorized massive dam
construction projects all across the country. Asthe
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers began to initiate such
projects, Julian Steward, a Smithsonian anthropol-
ogist, cajoled his colleagues to develop plans ora
program to cope with the archeological challenge
posed by these massive engineering projects. Some
cite this event as the origin of “cultural resource
management,” although the flowering of this spe-
cialty came much later.*® At any rate, Steward’s
colleagues paid attention to the various reservoir
proposals that were circulating in Washington and
made their own concerns known to the National
Research Council, the Society for American
Archaeology, the American Anthropological Asso-
ciation, and the American Council of Learned
Societies. These organizations in turn raised the
problem with various federal agencies.®

in April 1945, a group of archeologists drawn from
the organizations noted above met and organized

the Committee for the Recovery of Archaeological
Remains (CRAR). Originally, these members were ].
O. Brew, Fred Johnson, A. V. Kidder, and William
Webb. As previously discussed, archeology had
been a component of New Deal work relief, One
element of work relief archeology included the
survey and excavation of sites threatened by recla-
mation and electrification projects in Alabama,
Kentucky, and Tennessee resulting from TVA
activity during the 1930s and early 1940s. Post-
World War II planning by the Bureau of Recla-
mation and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers,
however, spelled disaster on a much broader scale.
These agencies planned to construct new dams,
especially within the Missouri River Basin, that
would destroy huge numbers of archeological sites.
The CRAR thus sought to make government bodies
aware of the need for post-war emergency or
“salvage” archeoclogy, as it became known.?® The
CRAR soon called for legislative mandates to
provide adequate conservation of archeological
resources, although these would take many years,
and began to establish liaisons with the Smithsonian
and the National Research Council >’

At the urging of the CRAR, the Smithsonian Insti-
tution, and others with a general interest in
archeological research, the federal government
established a special mechanism to manage salvage
archeology in conjunction with post-war water
resource development projects undertaken by the
Corps of Engineers and Bureau of Reclamation.
This effort, dating to the summer of 1945, became
identified as the Interagency Archeological Salvage
Program (IASP). The program was designed to
survey, inventory, evaluate, and excavate, on a
selective basis, archeological sites threatened by
federal reservoir development.’® Under provisions

32. Lyon, A New Deal for Southeastern Archaeology, 201-202; Thiessen, Emergency Archeclogy in the Missouri River Basin, 2.
Lyon points out that neither the Smithsonian Institution nor the National Park Service had the resources to supervise
effectively work-relief archeclogy. The WPA did respond to criticism by appointing anthropologist Vincenzo Petrullo as a
national consultant in February 1938, a move backed by Arthur Kelly and the Park Service, Petrullo, however, faced
significant opposition from field archeologists who resented attempts to gain control aver their projects. See Lyon, A
New Deal for Southeastern Archaeology, 67-68; 202. Such tension between administrators and field archeologists would
remain an important theme in the history of Southeastern archeclogy.

33. Thiessen, Emergency Archeoclogy in the Missouri River Basin, 2-3.
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of the HSA, the National Park Service assumed a
prominent role in the coordination of LASP efforts
especially because its own administrative structure
essentially mirrored that of the construction
agencies, a development stemming from NPS man-
agement of conservation-related relief work in the
1930s.

The basis of NPS involvement in the IASP was a .
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)} signed in
August 1945 between NPS Director Newton B,
Drury and Smithsonian Secretary Alexander
Wetmore that was approved in October by Sec-
retary of the Interior Harold Ickes. The MOU
spelled out the basis for WPS-Smithsonian cooper-
ation in the conduct of salvage archeclogy and
clearly distinguished the division of labor between
the two parties. According to the memorandum, the
Park Service assumed the major role of coordi-
nating with universities, museums, and the
Smithsonian, whose archeologists did much of the
early field work. The Park Service also drew plans,
established programs, and handled funds. This
critical agreement was later revised in 1961 and
again in 1964. Initially, however, the salvage
program was administered by NPS using the same
institutional organization as had been used for its
involvement in work-relief archeology. That is,
archeology was assigned to the Branch of Historic
Sites under the aegis of the Chief Historian, first
Ronald F. Lee and then Herbert E. Kahler. In 1948,
administration of NPS salvage work was handed
over to archeologist, John M. Corbett, as discussed
further below.?? A forceful figure, Corbett was to
exert tremendous influence over the course of Park
Service archeology. Indeed, Corbett capitalized
upon the NPS-Smithsonian agreement to build a
thoroughgoing NPS archeological program, a
pragram that became the foremost archeological
research arm of the federal government. In
summary, after 1945, the Park Service became
actively committed to “out-house” archeology, as it
was sometimes humorously called.* The Drury-
Wetmore MOU thus marks a fundamental transfor-
mation in the attitude of the Park Service toward its
role in federal archeology.

The foremost component of the IASP was the River
Basin Surveys (RBS) and the major program within
the RBS was the Missouri Basin Project (MBP),
which was set up in Lincoln, Nebraska, in 1946
under the direction of Waldo R. Wedel. The MBP
was responsible for the survey and recovery of
archeological remains threatened by over one
hundred dam projects in the Missouri River Basin.
The RBS was administered by the Smithsonian, in
consultation with the National Park Service, for the
purpose of conducting its research under the [ASP
arrangement. Smithsonian archeological teams set
up offices in the river basins where major reservoir
construction activities were to take place. Over time
most of these offices shut down. The major
exception was the MBP in Lincoln, which con-
tinued in existence until 1969 when its facilities and
personnel were transferred to the National Park
Service.?! The other major aspect of the IASP
involved investigations that were conducted by
cooperating partrers, generally university
researchers, who shared the cost of their research
with the federal government. Beginning in 1930,
RBS salvage archeological work conducted outside
of the Missouri River Basin was transferred to uni-
versity partners through short-term projects
funded through the Park Service. Apparently, as a
result, the need for the Smithsonian to maintain its
own local operations was undercut and these
offices were closed by 1952.42

Smithsonian involvement in the archeoclogical
salvage program became ever more tenuous as time
went by. One reason, perhaps, was intra-profes-
sional rivalry. In the 19505 and early 1960s, there
were few archeologists with PhD degrees. NPS and
Smithsonian RBS field statfs were thus mainly com-
posed of non-PhD archeologists. Some senior
Smithsonian archeologists apparently never related
well to the “working” archeologists in the RBS.
Moreover, by the late 1960s archeology was
becoming a more prominent academic field. As
PhD candidates became available to fill positions,
these were preferred, a trend that increased profes-
sional tension between the Washington, DC-based
Smithsonian and NPS program leaders and their
respective field staffs, the latter of whom tended

39. Lehmer, “Intreduction to Middle Missouri Archeology,” 1-

40. McGimsey lll, Public Archeology, 104-105.

41. National Museum of Natural History, “River Basin Surveys (1946-1969), Records,” http:/www.nmnh si.edu/maa/guide/

_r2.htm

42. Thiessen, Emergency Archeology in the Missouri River Basin, 9-10, 14-16, 18. According to Thiessen, the Korean War

probably also contributed to the cutbacks.
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FIGURE 5. Following World War I, the Park Service expanded its role in federal archeology by joining with the Smithsonian
Institution and contracting with academic partners to conduct a "salvage" program. This photo, taken at a conference in
Florida in August 1947, depicts several figures key in the history of Southeastern afcheoloey. Left to right: John M. Goggin

(Yale University), Charles Brookfield (National Audubon Society), Al Manucy (National Par

Service), John W. Griffin (Florida

Park Service), Hale G. Smith (Florida Park Service), Wesley Hurt (Alabama Museum of Natural History), Charles H. Fairbanks
(National Park Service), Dr. Antonio J. Waring Jr. (Savannah, Georgia), and Dr. Gordon R. Willey (Bureau of Ethnology,
Smithsonian Institution). Photograph by Patricia C. Griffin and used by permission

not to have terminal degree credentials. Finally, as
academic archeology blossomed, many Smith-
sonian archeologists began to favor “research-
oriented” rather than “salvage-oriented” projects.
As a result, even Smithsonian archeologists like
Waldo Wedel, the first MBP director, and Robert
Stephens, lobbied to phase out the RBS field
offices.? Publication was another source of friction
between the MBP and Smithsonian archeologists in
Washington. Whatever the merits of its publishing
record, the MBP was often criticized for slowness
in the publication of results and also for the quality
of those results. After the MBP found itself in com-
petition with the Park Service for funds and
projects, criticism of its performance from adminis-
trators both inside and outside of the Smithsonian
increased. Some wanted the MBP terminated and its
facilities and staff transferred to the Park Service.4*
In 1968, the Secretary of the Smithsonian appointed

a committee to review its commitment to the MBP.
This committee did indeed recommend that the
Smithsonian transfer its salvage responsibility to the
Park Service because MBP work was already funded
by that agency and was contributing to the com-
pletion of the Service’s statutory responsibility.’ In
other words, the MBP was redundant.

Thomas D. Thiessen pointed out that the biggest
problem with the MBP was its vague administrative
relationships. The MBP had great autonomy from
the Smithsonian, but conducted work for the Park
Service, a separate agency. Hence, as the Smith-
sonian review committee determined, “the River
Basin Surveys has [sic|, in effect, two masters but
without clear lines of authority to either.”%0 In 1969,
Warren Caldwell, as RBS Director and Chief of the
MBP, attempted to preserve the MBP by advo-
cating future directions for MBP research in salvage

43. Jackson W. Moore, Letters to Cameron Binkley, March 29 and May 15, 2003, National Park Service.

44. Thiessen, Emergency Archeology in the Missouri River Basin, 25, 35-41.

45. Wilfred D. Logan and F. A. Calabrese, “National Park Service Archeological Programs: An Historical Overview"” (paper in
Proceedings of the First Conference on Scientific Research in the National Parks, Washington, DC, 1976), 57-63, 59-60.

46. Quoted in Thiessen, Emergency Archeology in the Missouri River Basin, 40.
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and in other areas. However, he failed to account
for the declining role of salvage archeoclogy (after
completion of the largest dams), the firmer legal
basis of NP’S involvement in those activities, and the
attitudes of his Washington colleagues who were
generally dissatisfied with MBP work. Not only
were Caldwell’s plans poorly formulated, but he
alienated erstwhile supporters, including John
Corbett. Corbett had long promoted opportunities
to expand the NPS role in archeology and was
better poised to do so than was Caldwell with
regard to the Smithsonian. Caldwell’s gambit thus
hastened the Smithsonian’s decision to cut off
funds to the MBP. He left the RBS on January 25,
1969, after accepting a faculty position with the
University of Nebraska. The Smithsonian and the
Park Service then worked out an arrangement,
which took effect on June 30, 1969, whereby most
of the MBP’s staff and equipment were transferred
to the Park Service to become the Midwest Archeo-
logical Center.*”

The Antiquities Act of 1906 and the Historic Sites
Act of 1935 provided general authority for NPS
involvement in the reservoir salvage operations of
the post-war period. However, by the 1950s the
Park Service had become extensively involved in
this activity, which nevertheless remained vol-
untary for the Bureau of Reclamation, the Corps of
Engineers, and the Bureau of Public Roads, which
began to participate later.

To provide specific legal authority and to ensure
the cooperation of construction agencies and other
parties operating under a federal permit, Congress
passed the Reservoir Salvage Act in June 1960. This
act codified the then-existing salvage programs,
which strengthened their legal basis, and made the
Secretary of the Interior responsible. It also estab-
lished a procedure to ensure better coordination of
archeological salvage investigations with those
planning the construction of dams. Importantly, the
bill authorized the Park Service to accept funds
from any public or private party seeking to con-

struct such a dam but required as a condition of its
permit or by law the recovery of historical or arche-
ological data. The Park Service could also use such
funds to contract with qualified institutions.* The
Reservoir Salvage Act, though limited, was an
important precedent as the first legislation recog-
nizing that archeological sites are important for
their data content. Additionally, the act designated
a specific source of funding to collect such data.
Meanwhile, concern with the loss of archeological
sites resulting from roadway construction also led
Congress to pass with the Federal-Aid Highway Act
of 1956 a measure to prohibit the use of historic
lands unless there was no feasible alternative.** Two
years later, Congress also authorized states to use
federal highway construction grants for archeo-
logical and paleontological salvage in compliance
with the Antiquities Act. This legislation set a pre-
cedent in designating a specific source of funds for
such work and would have an important, if indirect,
bearing on the origins of SEAC.?®

One of the important contributions of salvage
archeology was that it helped to create an under-
lying culture, or at least broad acquiescence, within
government that recognized the scholarly impor-
tance and the public obligation to conduct
archeological research to help mitigate the negative
impact of major federal development projects.
Through salvage archeology, the federal gov-
ernment began to accept some degree of
responsibility for its own impact on heritage
resources. By the 1960s, two generations of offi-
cials, university scholars, and state and local
organizations interested in archeological preser-
vation had experienced what was possible through
federal archeology. The emergence of archeology
as a significant scholarly field, while undercutting
Smithsonian interest in the MBP, also promoted
further general awareness of the continued need for
federally sponsered archeological research.

The Southeast Archeological Center arose in the
early 1960s from the context of significant NPS

47. Moare, Letters to Cameron Binkley, March 29 and May 15, 2003. In retrospect, Caldwell might have better served his
interests and those of his staff by seeking to merge his organization with the Park Service. The factors making that case

were evident at the time.

48. McGimsey Ill, Public Archeology, 117; and U.S. Code, Congressional, and Administrative News, vol. 2 (Legislative History),
86th Congress, 2nd Session (Minneapolis and New York: West Publishing Company and Edward Thompson Company,

1960), 2403-2405.

49. Passed as Public Law No. 91-605 in 1956, the Federal-Aid Highway Act's prohibition on the needless destruction of historic
sites or natural beauty areas is the basis for Section 4 {f), 49 U.5.C, Section 303.

50. Public Law Na, 85-767, August 27, 1958, 72 Statute 913,
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FIGURE 6. This photograph depicts a typical salvage excavation. The dig in progress was at a site along the Cheyenne River in
South Dakota prior to completion of the Angostura Reservoir in 1949. Negative number 39FA65-152 [Missouri River Basin
Surveys], no date; NPS Historic Photograph Collection, Harpers Ferry Center

involvement in salvage archeology. NPS archeology
was clearly moored in a world beyond the parks
and driven by general concerns of the profession.
This background, the basis of archeological excep-
tionalism, is important in understanding both how
SEAC and archeological resource management
developed in the Park Service. That is not to say
that no park research was conducted in the
Southeast between the end of World War Il and the
creation of SEAC. Under Regional Archeologist
Pinky Harrington, a scattering of small-scale arche-
ological projects were conducted in the Southeast
Region while one large-scale project continued at
Jamestown under John Cotter. Park projects during
this period included excavations of major portions
of the town and fortifications of Fort Frederica
(successively by Charles H. Fairbanks, Joel L.
Shiner, and Jackson W. Moore), test excavations at
Cumberland Gap and several structure excavations

at Appomattox Courthouse (both by Moore),
archeological surveys and excavations along the
Natchez Trace Parkway (by Jesse Jennings and then
by Cotter), and an investigation of the Natchez
Trace mound group (by John Corbett and Cotter,
reported in Archeology of the Bynum Mounds, Mis-
sissippi, 1951, NPS Archeological Research
Series).SI

Still, funding for park archeology to support park
interpretive and planning purposes was limited.
Over time, some archeologists thus attempted to
link their interests with the public’s increasing
concern for historic preservation that was an
expression of the overall environmental movement.
By the late 1960s and early 1970s, archeologists
working mainly in the West had begun to seek
funding for salvage archeology using provisions of
the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 and

51. Walker, Comments on the draft of August 19, 2005.
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the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969.
Archeologists also pushed for more expansive
salvage legislation, especially the Archeological and
Historic Preservation Act, finally passed in 1974
after many years of effort. These merging interests
eventually led the disciplines of archeology and his-
toric preservation to be known by a single term -
“Cultural Resource(s} Management.”52 Some
archeologists, including within the Park Service,
would also become increasingly concerned with

issues of professional methodology that they saw in
conflict with the interests of historic preservation.
In the long run, however, environmentalists, his-
toric preservationists, and archeologists all sought
to institutionalize consideration of their values in
the planning stage of federally sponsored projects,
not just prior to their execution, so that a project’s
impact on significant cultural or natural resources
could be better mitigated or even avoided entirely.

52. Thomas King, Bill Lipe, and Thomas R. Wheaton, eds., History of CRM {Internet mailing list, 1999), American Cultural
Resources Association (ACRA), http:Mists. nonprofit.net/listproc/archives/acra-l/ (accessed November 3, 2003}). The NPS-
sponsored conferences held at the Airlie House in 1974 are often cited as the point where the professional disciplines of
archeology and historic preservation were first grouped together beneath the now familiar rubric of Cultural Resources

Management.
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Chapter Two: Origins of the
Southeast Archeological Center

(1961-1966)

The National Park Service began a new archeo-
logical project at Ocmulgee National Monument in
the interim between the passage of the Federal-Aid
Highway and Reserveir Salvage Acts and the new
cultural resource laws, On September 8, 1961,
Director Conrad L. Wirth, bowing to political
pressure from Georgia officials, agreed to allow
construction of an interstate freeway through the
monument.' The highway, Interstate 16 from
Macon to Savannah, was going to separate the
Ocmulgee River from the park’s major temple
mounds and would likely damage or destroy a
number of important prehistoric and historic sites.
The director’s decision, however regrettable, also
set in motion events that would lead to the creation
of the Southeast Archeological Center.

2

Another “Big Dig” at Ocmulgee
National Monument

The Park Service had failed to take an early stance
against the highway expansion proposal as it
evolved in the late 1950s. Most Macon civic and
business leaders, including Rep. Carl Vinson, the
same congressman who had sponsored creation of

the park some twenty-five years previously, sup-
ported the project. Locals hoped a more direct
route to Savannah would increase Macon’s business
opportunities and buy the town a new bridge. NPS
Regional Director Elbert Cox and Ocmulgee
National Monument Superintendent Louis R.
Caywood, despite being an archeologist himself,
reacted slowly. Cox, in fact, chose acquiescence on
the grounds that there was already so much devel-
opment in the area that “it is a little hard to become
exercised about one more intrusion in the picture.”3
Caywood was replaced as superintendent by Albert
L. Dillahunty in January 1961. According to John W.
Walker, who was then serving as a staff archeologist
at the park, Dillahunty was quickly “embroiled in
controversy.”4

The Society for American Archaeology also pro-
tested the planned highway and this had the effect
of forcing the Park Service to take a stand against
the project. The new NPS position was immediately
unpopular to both Macon locals and the influential
Vinson. Facing an untenable political situation, the
Park Service even offered to sacrifice the McDougal
or Dunlap Mounds, two of the site’s smaller con-

1. Marsh, Ocrnulgee National Manument: An Administrative History, 47-48.

2. Construction badly damaged the sites known as Gledhill }, 1, and 11, and the New Pond site, all of which were discovered
during the “Big Dig” excavation and first reparted by John W. Walker in "Known Archeclogical Sites in the Vicinity of
Macon, Georgia,” (National Park Service, 1971). Other sites damaged included the Adkins Mound and Shellrock Cave.
Levee construction in the 1940s had earlier caused damage to Archaic, Woodland, Mississippian, and historic Creek
villages and campsites across the river, including Mile Track, Napier, Mossy Ozk, and Horseshoe Bend. Sylvia Flowers,
“Ocmulgee National Monument,” http/fwww.nps.gov/ocmu/History. htm#BM20th_Century/ (accessed November 4,
2003). Other negative impacts included: devastation of the ancient cultural landscape, prevention of traditional use of
the park by native people whose ancestors settled the area because of its proximity to the waterway, and serious

hydrological changes within the river floodplain.

3.  Quoted in Marsh, Ocmulfgee National Monument: An Administrative History, 45.
4. John W. Walker, “A Brief History of Ocmulgee Archaeology,” in David J. Hally, ed., Ocmuigee Archaeology, 1936-1986
(Athens: University of Georgia Press, 1994), 29, 32. Caywood transferred to the Southwest Archaeolegical Center at

Globe, Arizona. He retired from that position in 1969.
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FIGURE 7. Local workers conduct a salvage excavation at Ocmulgee National Monument prior to construction of Interstate
Highway 16, which now runs between Macon and Savannah, Georgia. The Georgia Department of Transportation funded the
project, which happened to be during the rainy season, 1961-1962. NPS photograph, undated; SEAC file 004-053-101

structions, rather than have the road separate the
river from all of the mounds. These efforts to
reroute the highway proved unsuccessful, but the
Park Service did succeed in getting the route moved
nearer to the river than the mounds and obtained a
commitment from the Bureau of Public Roads to
conduct “a thorough” archeological survey and
salvage effort prior to the beginning of construction.
John W. Walker prepared a paper justifying the need
and extent of an archeological dig along the pro-
posed route. The state’s highway department, using
federal funds available through provisions of the
1958 highway bill, then agreed to pay costs up to
$600,000 for data recovery. Because of political
pressure, work on the dig began immediately, which
happened to be December 5, 1961. Winter being the
rainy season in Georgia, the project was somewhat
hampered by flooding. An average of fifty-four local
laborers were hired to staff four field crews.’

By agreement, an advisory committee was estab-
lished to oversee the excavation, which included

John O. Brew, James A. Ford, Frank H. H.

Roberts Jr., George 1. Quimby, and Stephen Wil-
liams. Chief Archeologist John Corbett assigned
Wilfred D. Logan to head the project and to
organize the team’s “Supervisory Field Archeolo-
gists.” These were: Jackson W. Moore, John E.
Ingmanson, C. Fred Bohannon, Charles B. Voll, and
Walker, who transferred to the team from his post
at the park. Corbett, Assistant Chief Archeologist
Carrol Burroughs in Washington, DC, and John W.
Griffin, the Regional Archeologist stationed in
Richmond, Virginia, provided guidance for the
project.® Logan came down with hepatitis, so
Moore supervised the field work, signing off on
actions and reports in the absence of the above
named “Acting Chiefs.” In letters to the author,
Moore clearly recalled the oddity of being head-
quartered at a park, but not being subordinate to a
superintendent for the first time in his career.
Instead, the field crew was assigned to the Regional
Office and reported to Corbett, Burroughs, or
Griffin, depending on which was in the field at the

5. Walker, "A Brief History of Ocmulgee Archaeology,” 32; and Moore, Letters to Cameron Binkley, March 29 and May 15,

2003.

6. Marsh, Ocmulgee National Monument: An Administrative History, 48; and John W. Walker, “A Brief History of Ocmulgee
Archaeology,” in David J. Hally, ed., Ocmulgee Archaeology, 1936-1986 (Athens: University of Georgia Press, 1994), 32.
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time. Under these archeologists worked 54 laborers
hired locally. Unofficially, team members referred
to the project as the “Big Dig” in reference to the
massive relief-era digs around Ocmulgee that had
employed hundreds of laborers and were among
the largest excavations ever undertaken in the
United States. While the new Ocmulgee project was
not as vast it certainly was a big dig. Grasping for an
official designation, however, Moore referred to
the team as the “Archeological Research Unit.”
Apparently, Corbett sanctioned the designation,
which was later applied to NPS archeological oper-
ations under Moore at Fort Smith and under
Bohannon at a reservoir salvage project near Pine
Bluff, Arkansas. The Archeological Research Unit
worked from the same building as park staff and set
itself up in the basement of the Ocmulgee visitor
center, the purpose for which it was originally
designed.” The unit was not a part of the park in an
administrative sense - it was set up to do a salvage
operation in advance of highway construction.
However, after completion of the Big Dig, the des-
ignation “Archeological Research Unit” was
applied to all team members who continued to
conduct work in the Southeast Region.® In form, if
not name, therefore, the establishment of the
Archeological Research Unit marks the beginning
of an NPS “Southeast archeological center.”

Big Dig archeologists were not able to excavate the
entire highway corridor inside the park; theirs was
not a work-relief project. The Archeological
Research Unit was also hampered by bad weather
and a near-term deadline of June 30, 1962. Still,
team members did uncover evidence of earlier set-
tlement. Especially important, according to John
W. Walker “was a stratified projectile point
sequence that began with fluted points and con-
tained both Early and Middle Archaic types not
previously found in situ within the park.” Also
recovered was evidence for Paleo Indian, Late
Archaic, Woodland, Early (Macon Plateau) and
Late (I.amar) Mississippian, and Historic (Creek)
occupations. However, the team only began to find
significant stratified data, that is, artifacts having
good provenance, until near the end of the project

FIGURE 8. The 1961-1962 salvage project conducted at
Ocmulgee National Monument is affectionately remembered
as the “Big Dig” in reference to Depression-era excavations
at the site. Those digs remain some of the largest and most
important excavations conducted in American archeology.
NPS photograph, undated; SEAC file 04-053-30

and only reached the Paleo-Indian level on its last
day. The Ocmulgee Advisory Committee included
some prominent archeologists, most of whom had
done work in the Southeast (the exception being
Brew). With the exception of Ford, however, none
had actually done work at the monument. The
committee met first in late November 1961 at
Ocmulgee. Little of the significant data discussed
above had been recovered when the committee met
again on April 28, 1962. The members thus recom-
mended not to extend the project beyond its
deadline, even though remaining funds would have
allowed the more important archeological data to
be recovered.” When the roadway itself was con-
structed, local artifact collectors gathered many
items from the road fill, including at least one Clovis
spear point dating to the last Ice Age.!"

7.  Moore, Letters to Cameron Binkley, March 29 and May 15, 2003; and Walker, “A Brief History of Ocmulgee Archaeology,”

32.
8. Walker, Comments on the draft of August 19, 2005.

. Walker, “A Brief History of Ocmulgee Archaeology,” 32; and Walker, Comments on the draft of August 19, 2005.
10. John W. Walker, Discussion with Cameron Binkley, May 29, 2003, National Park Service; and Sylvia Flowers, “Ocmulgee
National Monument,” http://www.nps.gov/ocmu/History.htm#BM20th_Century/ (accessed November 4, 2003).

National Park Service 29



FIGURE 9. Experts inspect excavations at Ocmulgee National Monument during the “Big Dig.” NPS photograph, no date; SEAC
file 04-053-97

John M. Corbett and the Research
Center ldea

The idea of an NPS archeological center in the
Southeast Region was not new. After all, the Park
Service designed and constructed the Ocmulgee
museum and visitor center in the 1930s with the
view that it would become a research center, at least
for central Georgia archeology. Apparently, some
thought was also given to creating such a center at
the Effigy Mounds site in lowa. The Park Service
also established its first genuine regional archeo-
logical center at Globe, Arizona, in 1954. This was
the Southwest Archaeological Center (SWAC), later
to become the Western Archeological and Conser-
vation Center. SWAC grew out of its expertise in
ruins stabilization, not archeological research per
se. Today, it focuses upon museum and collection
conservation and management in the West and
Southwest. The early Ocmulgee and later SWAC
facilities were important precedents preceding the
creation of SEAC.

In 1948, as noted before, John M. Corbett was pro-
moted from an archeological field project on the
Natchez Trace Parkway to manage NPS
involvement in salvage archeology. Corbett, who
held a doctorate in anthropology from Columbia
University, assumed an administrative position -
coordinating NPS involvement in the Smith-
sonian’s River Basin Surveys. In 1950, he also
became responsible for park area research when
promoted to be head archeologist within the
Division of History and Archeology in the NPS
Washington office.!! The Smithsonian program,
along with the early Ocmulgee and later SWAC
examples, apparently influenced Corbett’s thinking
about how to organize NPS archeology and seems
to be the model for NPS plans to create regional
archeological research centers. The strength of the
RBS was in how it conducted a full spectrum of
projects using staff headquartered at central
venues, especially the Missouri Basin Program
office in Lincoln, Nebraska. This staff also aspired,
although it often failed, to produce university-level
research and scholarly publication, a goal senior
NPS officials increasingly sanctioned.!? The RBS, of

11. Logan and Calabrese, “National Park Service Archeological Programs,” 59. Dates differ as to when Corbett joined the
Service; and Walker, Comments on the draft of August 19, 2005.
12. Richard D. Faust, Oral History Interview by Cameron Binkley, May 29, 2003, National Park Service, 7-8.
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course, did not belong to the Park Service and could
not serve the needs of NPS management.!® On the
other hand, an in-house research capability along
the lines of an MBP would allow the Park Service to
plan research for reasons that served its own spe-
cific needs while still allowing for salvage work.

In 1958, according to the New York Times, NPS
Director Conrad L. Wirth established the Branch of
Archeology (parallel to the Branch of History) in
the Division of Interpretation to help manage new
archeological work arising from increased water
control and pipeline construction projects. He also
intended the new branch to manage the archeo-
logical needs of “Mission 66,” a congressionally
approved multi-million dollar spending program
intended to beef up park infrastructure needs by
the fiftieth anniversary of the National Park Service
in 1966.1* With this reorganization, Corbett, who
held a PhD at a time when many NPS archeologists
did not, no longer reported to the Chief Historian,
but to Assistant Director and Chief of Interpre-
tation Ronald Lee, to whom they both reported.
Corbett, therefore, is remembered as the Service’s
first “Chief Archeologist.” In this position, Corbett
significantly expanded NPS archeological activity
far beyond what anyone had foreseen in the imme-
diate post-war years. Indeed, Corbett exercised
more influence in the 1960s than any “chief” arche-
ologist before or after him. 13 Corbett was an ex-
Army captain and a veteran of World War II who
had returned to duty during the Korean War.!® He
had good relations with the “old-line” NPS regional
directors and superintendents. Before the rise of
the various centers, most NPS field archeologists
reported to a regional director. However, Corbett
was well-placed and well-liked. He could influence,
therefore, a regional director’s hiring decision. NPS
field archeologists held Corbett in high esteem both

for his professionalism and this institutional
influence.!”

According to Wilfred Logan, “Corbett’s influence
on federal archeology became immense. John was a
man of vast energy and imposing appearance. From
the beginning, he saw clearly the needs of the
Service in archeology. He gave his career and his
life, in effect, to see that these needs were filled.”18
Corbett negotiated contracts, involved university
partners, and guided the evolution of a national
archeological research program for which the Park
Service itself initially held little interest. Following
passage of the Reservoir Salvage Act in 1960,
Corbett continued to seek opportunities to expand
the bureau’s role in archeology. In 1962, he
launched an annual publication that promoted NPS
archeology by summarizing and evaluating the
Service’s archeological operations, progress, and
accomplishments for each previous fiscal year.!”
The breadth of work revealed by these reports is
impressive even if the scale of activity was less than
desired. In his 1963 report, Corbett especially noted
a developing trend whereby “the ratio of National
Park Service archeology to reservoir archeclogy
again improved - 46.5% of total funds available
were expended in Service areas or on Service arche-
ological activities as compared to 42.7% in the
previous year. This reflects the fact that we are con-
tinuing to catch up on and keep abreast of the
reservoir salvage program, and thus devote more
time and funds to Service areas.”?¢

Corbett did not plan to divert funds from archeo-
logical efforts launched by Bureau of Reclamation
or Corps of Engineers hydrological construction
projects. NPS archeology had buttered its bread
with such work for a long time. Indeed, according
to a 1996 NPS study, 68 percent of archeological
funding in the Southeast Region in fiscal year 1966

13. Although it did supply archeologists to the Park Service to assist in park projects from time to time. See Table 6 in
Thiessen, Emergency Archeclogy in the Missouri River Basin, 57.
14. "U.5. Sets Up a Unit for Archaeology: Director Named for Branch of Park Service that will Find and Save Data,” New York

Times, October 20, 1958, 12.

15. Moore, Letters to Cameron Binkley, March 29 and May 15, 2003. Corbett, for example, had only one tier ¢f management
between himself and the Director whereas three tiers of hierarchy separate the current Chief Archeclogist from the

Director.

16. "J. M. Corbett Dies, Park Archeologist,” Washington Post, December 7, 1975, Section 13, 10.
17. wilfred D. Logan, Oral History Interview by Thomas D. Thiessen, February 5, 1992, in “Archeology Centers -
Administeative History & Reorganizations,” Michelle Aubry files, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC,

17-18.

18. Logan and Calabrese, “National Park Service Archeclogical Programs: An Historical Overview,” 59,
19. John Corbett, Letter to John Walker, September 25, 1962, personal files of John W, Walker,
20. MNational Park Service, “Review and Analysis of the Archeological Programs, F. Y. 1963 (Washington, DC; National Park

Service, 1963}, 1.
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was devoted to archeological contracts for survey
and salvage operations tied to reservoir con-
struction projects while most of the rest went to
administering and planning such work.?! [nstead,
Corbett sought to leverage the Service’s salvage role
to develop a park-focused archeological capability.
He hoped to establish a nucleus of staff that could
eventually operate as a bigger in-park program.
Funding was the primary limitation on this capa-
bility so Corbett went after bodies first, the
archeologists themselves. Indeed, the principal
reason that the research center idea probably
appealed to Corbett was that there were simply too
few archeologists in the Park Service. In June 1966,
according to Corbett’s “Review and Analysis” for
the 1966 fiscal year, there were just forty-one NP5
archeologists serving in archeological positions,
thirteen as staff, four at the Southwest Archaeo-
logical Center, and twenty-four in various parks.
Only five of these positions were outside the
Southwest and only two were in the Southeast.
Twenty-three other archeologists held non-archeo-
logical positions, mostly as curators and
superintendents. Among the senior positions (GS-
11 and above), most had some salvage component
while most of the junior positions {G5-5 to G5-9)
involved interpretation and visitor services, not
research.®2 During this same period, the Park
Service was experiencing a period of rapid growth.
Between 1952 and 1972, a hundred permanent park
unit additions were made to the National Park
System.? While Mission 66 increased the archeo-
logical work load, Congress did not match rapid
system growth with equivalent increases in park
staffing. Indeed, Corbett had five fewer archeolo-
gists on duty in 1966 than in 196324

To address imbalances in park research and staffing
needs, Corbett sought to leverage his scholarly cre-
dentials to build tight relations among academic
archeologists and their institutions. His close asso-
ciates included Jesse D. Jennings at the University
of Utah, Preston Holder at the University of
Nebraska, Emil W. Haury at the University of

Arizona, and Gordon R. Willey at Harvard Uni-
versity. Most importantly, Corbett was able to
influence the NPS budget through his liaison with
the Committee for the Recovery of Archaeological
Remains. The CRAR was an extremely effective
instrument for obtaining salvage funds from Con-
gress. Such funds may have been insufficient, but
they were at a solid and predictable level and they
kept increasing. While Corbett contracted out most
of these funds to the Smithsonian and the univer-
sities, some were used to keep and increase his
corps of NPS field archeologists. Where it was pos-
sible, this cadre also looked after the parks.25

Decades after these events, NPS senior archeologist
Calvin Cummings explained the basis of the
research center by stating that “the National Park
Service can not afford the 380 (or so} positions to
place one archeologist in every park area. And even
if this were possible, the type of duties and func-
tions accomplished by a Park Archeologist do not
encompass most of the NP5 service wide (or even
region wide) archeological needs.” In other words,
if professional NPS archeologists were to have any
voice or impact, they would need a better mech-
anism than expecting to have capable
representatives stationed at the parks themselves.
According to Cummings, the archeological center
idea involved concentrating the talent of “a small
group of anywhere from 6 to 20 archeologists
located in a Center.” While actual staffing levels
would vary by need, Cummings argued that the
center “achieves a critical mass necessary to
provide archeological services to 40 to 80 parks.
John Corbett’s annual reports in the 1960s doc-
ument a struggle to juggle numerous funding
sources just to keep his existing program going.
Moreover, as noted by Cummings above, park-
based archeologists tended to serve as interpretive
rangers or “bodies,” and not as resource managers
or researchers.?’ Corbett, who did not have suffi-
cient funding to place an archeologist at every park
that needed one, could not have accomplished his

»26

21, David M. Brewer, John E. Cornelison Jr., and Bennie C. Keel, Regionwide Archeological Survey Plan (Tallahassee, Florida:

National Park Service, 1996), 54.

22. National Park Service, “Review and Analysis of Archeology Program, Fiscal Year 1966 (Washington, DC: Division of
Archeology, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, 1966), 43, 45.

23. Barry Mackintosh, The National Parks: Shaping the System {Washington, DC: National Park Service, 1991), 65.

24. National Park Service, “Review and Analysis of the Archeological Programs, FY. 1963 (Washington, DC: National Park
Service, 1963), 23-24; National Park Service, “Review and Analysis of Archeology Program, Fiscal Year 1966,” 43, 45.

25. Faust, Oral History Interview, 7-8.

26. Cal Cummings, Memorandum to Dan Lenihan, March 18, 1996, in " Archealogy Centers: Admin. History and
Rearganizations” folder, Michele Aubry files, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC.
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research goals even if that had been remotely
possible.?®

What support existed could be maximized by the
efficiencies of a central research center, the notion
for which is more clearly associated with John
Corbett than with any other person.2 During
Corbett’s tenure as Chief Archeologist, he was sub-
stantially involved in creating both the Southeast
Archeological Center and the Midwest Archeo-
logical Center (MWAC). Corbett, Zorro Bradley,
who was Deputy Chief Archeologist, and Wilfred
Logan, who became Chief of MWAC, also pro-
moted the establishment of a research center at
Chaco Canyon National Monument. Indeed,
Corbett had even hoped to be its first chief. 0
Corbett’s retirement made that impossible, but
through his efforts the Park Service and the Uni-
versity of New Mexico, which had along-standing
interest in Chaco research, did establish the
Division of Cultural Research or “Chaco Center”
under the direction of Robert H. Lister in 1971.3!

At any rate, by 1963, the National Academy of Sci-
ences Advisory Committee on Research in the
National Parks had completed a major study, The
Robbins Report, named after its chairman, W. J.
Robbins. The Robbins Report strongly supported the
creation of genuine research laboratories or centers
within the National Park Service when these could
be justified because of the importance of a park or
the type of research. It recommended that these
facilities serve not only park staff but scientists from
universities and independent research organiza-
tions. It even advocated the creation of such

research centers, “whenever possible, outside the
limits of a park in some instances supporied,
administered and used jointly with other agencies
or 0rgau‘1izatior13.”32 Thus, clearly, professional con-
sensus and practical bureaucratic rationales were
beginning to coalesce within the federal government
around the notion of creating research centers
within the Park Service in the 1960s.

Creation of the Southeast
Archeological Center

The opportunity to conduct salvage excavation at
Ocmulgee National Monument arose at the same
time that Corbett was pushing the creation of a
Chaco Canyon research center. For Corbett, a
research center at Ocmulgee made similar sense to
foster further archeological understanding of the
considerable material unearthed at or near
Ocmulgee during the relief-era excavations of the
1930s. He was particularly interested in promoting
work related to Lamar, which is a detached unit of
Ocmulgee. This material had been in storage for
years and had entered a “dormant” status, such that
conducting new research upon it was a difficult
problem of reorganizing material and re-associating
supporting documentation. According to former
SEAC Chief Richard “Pete” D. Faust, re-energizing
the Lamar-relief-era research was indeed part of
Corbett’s justification for moving archeclogists to
Ocmulgee, which he had already begun to call a
“center.”?

Corbett deliberately sought to use the Ocmulgee
project to expand in-park archeology in the
Southeast. Possibly, Griffin put the notion to

27. John W. Walker said the same in describing his own account as a staff archeologist at Ocmulgee prior to the Big Dig.

Walker, Discussion with Cameron Binkley, May 29, 2003.

28. Cummings also noted that NP$ management, at some point, folded park discipline classifications into a general "025"
series instead of maintaining a separate “193* Park Archeologist series. This move de-emphazised the incentive for park
staff to hold archeologist credentials and when trained archeologists moved on, they were often replaced with a park
ranger, not an archeologist. See Cal Cummings, Memorandum to Dan Lenihan, March 18, 1996, in “Archeology Centers:
Admin. History and Reorganizations” folder, Michele Aubry files, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington,

BC.

29. Moare, Letters to Cameron Binkley, March 29 and May 15, 2003; Faust, Oral History Interview, 3-4. See, also Thiessen,
Emergency Archeology in the Missouri River Basin, 48, for Corbett’s role in creating MWAC,
30. Moore, Letters to Cameron Binkley, March 29 and May 15, 2003; Logan, Oral History Interview by Thomas D. Thigssen, 14-

15.

31. Natjonal Park Service, “A Brief Histary of Chaco Culture National Historical Park,” httpJiwww.nps.govicheu/briefhis.htm/
{accessed November S, 2003). The center conducted multi-disciplinary research, archeological surveys, and limited
excavations that the Park Service curtailed after 1981 to accommodate Native American concerns and because of the
wealth of data that already existed or that could be acquired from new non-destructive technologies, such as ground-
penetrating radar. The focus of the Chaco Center was exclusive to the study of the Chacoan cultural complex. It was

based on the campus of the University of New Mexico.

32. Naticonal Academy of Sciences, National Academy of Sciences Advisary Committee on Research in the National Parks: The
Robbins Report (Washington, DC: National Academy of Sciences, 1963). See Recommendation No. 13.

33. Faust, Oral History Interview, &.
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FIGURE 10. John M. Corbett, first Chief Archeologist of the National Park Service, far right, consulting with archeologists (I-r)
John W. Walker, Jackson W. Moore, and J. Earl Ingmanson at Ocmulgee National Monument in 1962. NPS photograph, 1962;

SEAC file 04-053-52

Corbett of using the Archeological Research Unit as
the basis to create a Southern archeological
“center.” Griffin had the most to gain by promoting
archeology in the region. Regardless of whose idea
it was first, both Griffin and Corbett supported it
enthusiastically.

Ocmulgee was a logical location to place an archeo-
logical team that could do park work on a regional
basis. Again, the Ocmulgee facility was originally
designed as a research center and was also centrally
located in the region. Moreover, it even had a
surplus of space. Georgia was transferring federal
funds to the Park Service for a major salvage exca-
vation project at a park. Normally, such funds were
expended on lands controlled by the Bureau of
Reclamation or the Army Corps of Engineers. At
Ocmulgee in 1961 and 1962, a confluence of
interests came together that encouraged Corbett
and Griffin to try and leverage the situation to
further a park-based program. Once the Archeo-
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logical Research Unit was in existence,
transforming it into a center was a short step only
obstructed, of course, by the significant issue of
how to fund its operations over the long term.
Eventually, Corbett and Griffin would have to keep
the center going with subsequent funding made
available through other park or salvage projects in
the region. The main point, however, is that the Big
Dig was envisioned as the genesis of a southeastern
archeological research center. As John W. Walker
wrote in his “Brief History of Ocmulgee Archae-
ology,” when the dig ended, “it was hoped that the
Archeological Research Unit could continue oper-
ation by having the archaeologists carry out needed
field work on parks throughout the Southeast
Region and return to Ocmulgee for analysis and
report writing as [Charles H.] Fairbanks had done
in the 1950s.”3*

That goal was hard to achieve, however. Officially,
the Archeological Research Unit ceased to exist on



FIGURE 11. John W. Walker excavates a fence at Appomattox Courthouse, late 1962, while assigned to the “Archeological
Research Unit” (ARU) based at Ocmulgee National Monument. NPS archeologists hoped that the ARU would conduct
archeology at national parks across the Southeast, because then, as now, there were few park-based archeologists. NPS
photograph, no date; courtesy of John W. Walker

June 30, 1962. At that point, Charles Voll trans-
ferred back to the Southwest Archaeological
Center. There was an attempt, however, to keep the
unit going by reassigning the former Big Dig arche-
ologists to other Park Service archeological projects
in the Southeast Region. Jackson W. Moore went to
Fort Smith, Arkansas, which was in the region at
that time, although not yet a park. Fred Bohannon
also went to work in Arkansas but on a river basin
project. John W. Walker went to Appomattox
Courthouse, Virginia, which was still within Region
One, while Ingmanson, with Griffin, went to
Russell Cave in Alabama. Both Walker and Ing-
manson, however, came back to Ocmulgee to
complete their reports between October and
December 1962. Walker then accepted a promotion
to the Washington office to oversee thematic arche-
ological studies prepared under contract for the
National Historic Sites Survey.*> Griffin returned to
the Regional Office, then located in Richmond, Vir-
ginia, but also did more extended work at Russell

Cave National Monument. Ingmanson was the only
Big Dig archeologist to remain at Ocmulgee
although he, too, left in September 1965.% Ing-
manson was apparently trying to report on
excavations done at the park during the 1930s.
Reporting on Ocmulgee’s collections was one of
Corbett’s main arguments for justifying the estab-
lishment of a research center at the monument.
Apparently, when Griffin’s funding for the work at
Fort Smith ran out, Moore took a position outside
the region and did not return to Ocmulgee.’’

Between 1963 and 1966, John Corbett struggled but
ultimately succeeded in securing and shifting
funding to allow the creation of a permanently and
professionally staffed research organization based
at Ocmulgee National Monument. Funding was
available because by then the parks were receiving
small amounts for archeological work, as evidenced
by Walker’s work at Appomattox and Moore’s at
Fort Smith. Corbett’s success, however, probably

34. Walker, “A Brief History of Ocmulgee Archaeology,” 32.

35. National Park Service, “Review and Analysis of the Archeological Programs, F.Y. 1963,” 22, 25; and Walker, Comments on

the draft of August 19, 2005.

36. Walker, “A Brief History of Ocmulgee Archaeology,” 29-30, 32-33.
37. Moore, Letters to Cameron Binkley, March 29 and May 15, 2003.
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followed simply from his ability to convince
Southeast Regional officials to go along with his
plan to transfer two existing Regional Office posi-
tions to Ocmulgee. They agreed and the Regional
Archeologist position (held by Griffin) and a
regional staff archeologist position were assigned to
the monument. Later, a research archeologist
position was created as were two curator positions
and one for a secretary.’® Corbett managed the new
archeological center as a “field dependency™ of the
Washington office, that is, it reported to him
directly.® John W. Walker then gave up his position
as a National Survey archeologist and returned to
Ocmulgee late in October 1966. His major responsi-
bility was to oversee park-related archeological
research.* With the arrival of its first staff members,
the former Archeological Research Unit was duly
re-designated the “Southeast Archeological
Center.”!

Corbett assigned Walker to be Acting Center Chief
until John Griffin could assume his duties as
SEAC’s first chief in mid-June 1967. Just as SEAC
was created, Griffin took advantage of an oppor-
tunity to further his professional expertise by
beginning a PhD program at the University of
Chicago. Director George B. Hartzog Jr. had
approved the training at NP'S expense and Griffin
was to report to Ocmulgee in June 1967.% Griffin
was the fogical choice to head the new center
despite his initial absence: He was both prominent
in Floridian archeology and Pinky Harrington was
his mentor in the Park Service.*> Moreover, by the
time Griffin appeared again in the Southeast,
Corbett had been able to get Griffin’s Regional
Archeologist position, which had reported to the
Regional Director, transferred to the research
center at Ocmulgee. This action created the Center
Chief position and placed that position under

Corbett’s line authority. The fact that Griffin was
working on a PhD was probably another plus in his
favor.

Corbett also chose Pete Faust, who had served two
years on his staff in the Division of Archeology, to
transfer to the new archeological center. Faust
actually arrived at Ocmulgee before Walker, on
October 17, 1966, to assume the position of Chief,
Archeological Research, which essentially meant
that he managed contracting for the River Basin
Salvage Program. Faust coordinated with the U.S.
Army Corps of Engineers, obtained archeological
services, wrote contracts, usually with universities,
and developed out-year budgets. Previously, he had
also spent a year as Acting Superintendent of the
Mound City Group (Hopewell Culture National
Historical Park), then in the old Northeast Region,
and was perhaps already seeking a leadership role
in NPS archeology. Soon after Griffin arrived at
Ocmulgee, he secured funding to hire a curator, Lee
Hanson, who was actually an archeologist with
curatorial training. Hanson then began the consid-
erable work of improving curation of the
monument’s archeological collections, which had
endured a long period of neglect, 4

The historical factors that gave rise to the Southeast
Archeological Center are clear. They include:
strong traditional Park Service involvement in
relief-era and salvage archeology, Chief Archeol-
ogist John Corbett’s interest in promoting a park-
based archeological program in the Southeast, the
need for an organizational model that maximized
the efficiency of a bare-bones park archeological
program, and a confluence of archeological, com-
mercial, and political forces centered around
Ocmulgee National Monument that brought these
factors to the fore between 1961 and 1966.
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40. Walker, "A Brief History of Ocmulgee Archaeology,” 33.
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Chapter Three: SEAC and
Ocmulgee National Monument

(1966-1972)

At the same time that Corbett and Griffin were
working to create SEAC, Congress was debating
how to address significant threats to the nation’s
cultural patrimony unleashed by massive federal
highway expansion projects, urban renewal efforts,
and sprawl that was gutting historic buildings,
neighborhoods, and archeological sites at an
increasing rate across the land. In October 1966,
Congress passed the National Historic Preservation
Act (NHPA). The NHPA became the cornerstone
of national efforts to protect historically and cul-
turally significant properties. It mandated the
creation and maintenance of a National Register of
Historic Places, and provided for the designation of
State Historic Preservation Officers (SHPOs) and
State Historic Preservation Programs to conduct
comprehensive statewide surveys of historic prop-
erties important in U.S, history, architecture,
archeology, engineering, and culture. The act also
provided matching funds to the states and the
National Trust for Historic Preservation to pre-
serve historic properties and promote historic
preservation. In addition, Section 106 of the act
requires that prior to funding or licensing any
undertaking, all federal agencies must “take into
account” the effect of such undertaking on the
integrity of any district, site, building, structure, or
object listed or eligible to be listed in the National
Register. The effect of the law was broad and far-
reaching and required a major shift in the federal
government’s attitude toward the management of
historic resources.! In complying with the NHPA,
the profession of archeology played an important

role, which it characteristically strove to define on
its own terms.

George B. Hartzog Jr., who served as NP'S Director
from 1964 to 1972, strove hard to secure the promi-
nence of the Park Service in implementing the
NHPA. Hartzog was a member of the Rains Com-
mittee that had pushed for the new federal historic
preservation legislation. He was a major backer of
that legislation, at least in the beginning. To
implement the NHPA, Hartzog enlisted the advice
of a Special Committee on Historic Preservation to
which he appointed historian Ronald F. Lee, a
senior NPS official. On Lee’s recommendation,
Hartzog then added J. O. Brew, director of
Harvard’s Peabody Museum and a prominent
archeologist, and Ernest Allen Connally, a pro-
fessor of the history of architecture at the
University of Tllinois. The Lee-Brew-Connally
committee produced a report that recommended a
major reorganization of NPS professional services.
Hartzog took the committee’s recommendations
seriously. The Service needed to reorganize to
address the requirements of the NHPA that did not
match with its traditional emphases. The Park
Service had tended to shun involvement in historic
preservation unless it involved structures, objects,
or sites of national significance or which were
directly tied to the purposes for which a park was
established. Yet, the NHPA linked the Park Service
to state and local authorities and preservation
interests across the land through the mechanism of
the National Register and through other require-

1. SeeJames A. Glass, The Beginnings of a New National Historic Preservation Program, 1957-1969 {Nashville: American
Assaciation for State and Local History, 199@), for a detailed account of the NPS's role in the movement that led to the

NHPA.
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FIGURE 12. Park Service Director George B. Hartzog Jr. (r) with Ernest Allen Connally, whom he appointed to administer the

Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation. OAHP was intended to be a “European-style monuments agency” within the
Park Service. “Hartzog and Staff” folder, Photo numbered 73-424-7CW, no date; NPS Historic Photograph Collection, Harpers
Ferry Center

ments of the act. According to historian James A.
Glass, some of the values and ideas inherent in the
so-called “New Preservation” thus had to be
imposed upon the rank and file of traditional NPS
managers not previously accustomed to serving
these constituencies. Moreover, the new emphases
of preservation included historic architecture,
important landmarks, and urban conservation. The
Service also lacked updated skills in restoration.
Lee recognized the need to link the NPS more
closely with the outside preservation movement
and recommended to Hartzog that he hire Connally
to oversee the needed organizational makeover.
Connally had good ties to and specific background
in historic and architectural preservation. Hartzog
offered Connally the job.? Connally accepted the
position with the proviso that he would have an
explicit mandate to reorganize the bureau’s historic
preservation-related professions to obtain an
optimum benefit relative to the goals of the NHPA.
Indeed, Connally sought nothing short of the cre-
ation of a “European-style monuments” agency
within the Park Service, something like the French
Monuments Service, which being entirely separate

from that country’s natural parks, had a compa-
rably stronger interest in cultural resource
management than NPS authorities.’

Connally accepted the position in September 1966,
although he waited to join the Park Service until
June 1967 to discharge academic obligations.
Immediately, however, Connally began working up
an outline of the new NPS organization Hartzog
had chartered him to create.? It was called the Office
of Archeology and Historic Preservation, or OAHP.
OAHP would for the first time administratively
combine and integrate NPS professional services in
the fields of historic resource preservation at the
national level. These fields included the disciplines
of history, historic architecture, and archeology
(museum curation was added later). Archeology
was a component from the beginning of OAHP
because ].O. Brew, who had great pull with Director
Hartzog, had strongly argued that it was a preser-
vation discipline, dealing as it did with cultural
resources.’ The gradual emergence of “conser-
vation archeology” would make this ever more true.

2. Glass, Beginnings of a New National Historic Preservation Program, 29-30.

w

Sellars and Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley, 10-11.

4.  Glass, Beginnings of a New National Historic Preservation Program, 30.
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FIGURE 13. The Museum and Administration Building at Ocmulgee National Monument. In October 1968, Director Hartzog
authorized the Southeast Archeological Center to assume responsibility for park management under line authority of OAHP.
This experimental arrangement was later abandoned. SEAC operated from the basement of this building, whose construction
began in 1938. Negative Number 67-OCM-3, no date; NPS Historic Photograph Collection, Harpers Ferry Center

As a practical matter, however, Connally struggled
to create a new organizational arrangement within
the Park Service based not upon function, but aca-
demic research practice. He sought to organize the
three primary history-related preservation disci-
plines into separate divisions, similar to university
departments. These were then grouped within an
overarching interdisciplinary organization. He
intended this body to oversee preservation projects
from their start to their finish, a task that might
begin with historic or archeological research and
might end with restoration by a historical architect.

Connally’s secondary goal was to uplift the stan-
dards of cultural professionals through advanced
training and education, closer association with aca-
demic institutions, and the provision of greater
responsibility within NPS.% He also generally sup-

ported Hartzog’s policy for “key personnel in those
disciplines in which a PhD degree is a normal reg-
uisite in academic circles to have the same doctoral
credentials.”” On all of these counts, Connally’s
goals were worthy, more so than his actual
influence for his policies also engendered much
friction within the National Park Service, especially
among archeologists. That friction was to bear
greatly upon the Southeast Archeological Center.

Washington Absorbs Ocmulgee

SEAC’s location at Ocmulgee National Monument
complicated its early administration. The site
offered several advantages as the base for a regional
archeological team, given its central location and
storage and laboratory facilities. In retrospect, the
location generated several problems. One per-
sistent problem was the confusion that resulted by

5. Ernest Allen Connally, Oral History Interview by James Arthur Glass, June 9, 1986, 64-65, in Ernest Allen Connally Papers,

Box 5, Harpers Ferry Center.

6. Sellars and Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley, 88; Faust, Oral History Interview, 6-7.

7. Ernest Allen Connally, Memoradum to the Director, March 5, 1970, in Ernest Allen Connally Papers, “Personnel OAHP,”
Box 1, Harpers Ferry Center. Connally later claimed that while he promoted greater professionalization, Director Hartzog
sometimes pushed the issue too far, alienating otherwise competent staff. Hartzog was under pressure from the
Smithsonian Institution whose chief, S. Dillon Ripley, denigrated NPS professionals, especially archeologists, for their lack
of scholarly credentials. As a result, Hartzog pushed the issue on NPS archeologists. See Connally, Oral History Interview

by James Arthur Glass, 97-102.
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having the “regional” archeological team conduct
its operations from an isolated but major archeo-
logically oriented park from which the team was
actually separate. Superintendents and staff at other
parks were not always able to recognize that the
center was a regional resource and not simply a
supplement to the staff of Ocmulgee.8 The fact that
SEAC was formed in conjunction with the Big Dig
project, that Ocmulgee salvage was really SEAC’s
first project, and that there appeared to be a conti-
nuity in staffing (Walker, Griffin, and Bohannon)
abetted this confusion from the start. Moreover, a
major justification for SEAC’s perpetuation was the
need to work off the backlog of relief-era artifacts
left over from the original Ocmulgee excavations.
Third, SEAC was administered from Washington,
not a regional office, which probably also con-
tributed to some inherent administrative confusion
regarding SEAC's role. For example, any disagree-
ments between superintendents and the center
would have to involve both the Regional Director
and the Washington office to resolve. Finally, this
confusion reached its apex on September 4, 1968.
Pursuant to a memorandum of that date, Director
Hartzog ordered that the management of Ocmulgee
National Monument be integrated with the man-
agement of SEAC.Y This directive became effective
on October 1, 1968. At the same time, Hartzog
transferred authority over the monument’s adminis-
tration to the Division of Archeology under
OAHP.!? This episode requires a little discussion.

Hartzog’s enthusiasm for the National Historic
Preservation Act apparently led him to take an
interest in the management of the significant
archival, museum, and archeological collections of
the National Park Service. Hartzog established a
new set of NPS priorities soon after assuming the
directorship in January 1964. One of these priorities
related to park interpretation and the need to
reorient museum work, ! Hartzog’s interest even-
tually expanded to include archeology, and by
October 1967, he was in correspondence with Supt.
Bohannon, recently promoted from the fieldwork
on the Natchez Trace Parkway, regarding the

nature of Gcmulgee’s curatorial efforts. In response
to a query from Hartzog, Bohannon wrote that
Ocmulgee did not have a “formal archival program”
or records of “trans-NPS significance.” However,
much Ocmulgee material related to Southeastern
archeology, and was an “extremely significant part
of the archeological program of the National Park
Service.” Hartzog was interested in learning about
how the park managed its extensive archeological
collection. Bohannon explained that the collection
was jointly managed by SEAC, himself, and the park
archeologist, although it was scheduled to be
managed by a permanent curator assigned to
SEAC.}? Obviously, this memorandum indicates
that SEAC had already moved toward involvement
in the management of Ocmulgee’s archeological
collections. Hartzog's interest in the state of their
care was likely prompted by Chief Archeologist
Corbett, or his staff. Undoubtedly, the Big Dig and
the creation of SEAC had well acquainted Corbett
and Deputy Chief Archeologist Zorro Bradley with
some long-standing problems in curating the mon-
ument’s collections. On top of that, their new staff
archeologist was George R. Fischer, who had just
completed a tour at Ocmulgee. According to
Bradley, “there was never any question in Corbett’s
mind, or mine, that the Ocmulgee collection would
be moved to SEAC as soon as possible to get the col-
lection out from under the menument’s
supervision.”!3 All they needed was an opportunity.
When opportunity struck, however, it was more
than they had bargained for.

At some point after the director’s informational
exchange with Supt. Bohannon, Hartzog made a
personal trip to the monument and inspected its
facilities. He came away unhappy. According to
former Chief Historian Robert M. Utley, Hartzog
found “the collections in great disarray in the
basement.”'# Hartzog’s specific concern may have
been the ground and rain water leaks into the col-
lection and lab storage areas that had been a
problem at the monument for many years.
Dampness had caused some of the metal storage
cabinets to rust and threatened the preservation of

8. Faust, Oral History Interview, 9,

9. John W. Griffin, Letter to Jlohn Corbett, January 5, 1970, in A6435 folder, SEAC files.
10, “Activities* {Division of Archeology, NPS, September and October 1968), in "Archeclogy” Box H22, Harpers Ferry Center.
11. Ralph H. Lewis, Museum Curatorship in the National Park Service, 1904-1982 {Washington, DC: Curatorial Services

Divison, National Park Service, 1993), 163.

12. Charles F. Bohannon, Letter to the Director, October 12, 1367, in "Reading File -July 1, 1967 - June 30, 1968, Ocmulgee

National Monument files.

13. Zorro Bradley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, April 15 and 24, 2004, National Park Service.
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FIGURE 14. Archeological collections at Ocmulgee National

Monument were stored below ground in metal artifact
storage cases and in cardboard boxes. NPS photograph, no
date; SEAC file 05-053-109

records and historic metal objects.!® Bradley
recalled on his own first visit to Ocmulgee being
“appalled at stacks of rotting cardboard boxes
spilling sherds and other artifacts out onto the
floor. Inadequate shelving and lack of proper work-
space in the basement was apparent.”® Back in
Washington, Hartzog “created a great crisis,” in
Utley’s words, by setting the staff into a frenzy of
activity. Further inquiry revealed that “some 90
percent” of NPS artifacts were uncataloged, that
the situation was bad everywhere, not just at
Ocmulgee, and that the Park Service had no idea
what it had. Hartzog was on good terms with Julia
Butler Hansen, Chair of the House Appropriations
Committee. He explained the situation to her and
had his staff develop budget proposals to do some-
thing about upgrading the collections.
Unfortunately, although senior NPS managers had
become aware of serious shortcomings in the state
of the management of NPS archeological collec-

tions, this activity did not result in any significant
new funding.!”

Director Hartzog did like to “tinker” with organiza-
tional arrangements, however. He not only
authorized Connally to create OAHP, but he made
numerous other adjustments to the Park Service’s
administrative structure, as is evident by looking at
organization charts during his tenure. Although
Utley had only a vague recall of Hartzog’ interest in
Ocmulgee, he felt that the director was concerned
with the management of the monument’s collec-
tions. Hartzog apparently thought that
improvement in the situation might follow a change
of leadership and organization.!® He therefore spe-
cifically directed the merger of SEAC and
Ocmulgee. After all, with a cadre of archeologists
stationed at Ocmulgee, many of whom had done
work there and knew more about the site than
anyone else, why not let them run the park?'? Such
thinking would have fit neatly with Hartzog’s
overall goal of improving NPS interpretive efforts.
As John W. Walker noted, archeological investiga-
tions at the park could have been reasonably
devised, perhaps in conjunction with exhibits, to
accommodate an ongoing public interpretation
progr.eun.20 At any rate, an NPS press release puta
favorable spin on the matter by announcing that the
planned administrative changes would “put more
emphasis on archeological research” while pro-
viding “a reduction in administrative work.”?!

Despite perceived benefits, the attempt to integrate
the management of SEAC and Ocmulgee National
Monument was not successful. De facto results
were problematic. First, the decision further con-
fused the role of SEAC as a regional resource by

14. Sellars and Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley, 22. Former SEAC Chief Richard Faust did not recall this specific
incident, but acknowledged that Hartzog “was much exercised about the situation at OCMU [Ocmulgee].” Hartzog even
“braced” Faust at one point during an archeological conference in the late 1960s or early 1970s and “delivered to [him]
and those nearby a short lecture about our problems preserving ‘important baseline data.”” Hartzog continued,
according to Faust, “with a homily about how, when he was a boy back in Smoke, South Carolina, if the roof leaked
someone just got the tar bucket and fixed the problem.” Richard D. Faust, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, April 5, 2004,

National Park Service.

15. Richard D. Faust, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, April 5, 2004, National Park Service. Most of SEAC’s collections were ceramic
or lithic objects not especially susceptible to moisture damage, but the records relating to these objects were, of course,

composed of paper.

16. Bradley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, April 15 and 24, 2004.

17. Sellars and Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley, 22; and Robert Utley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, March 23 and 26,

2004, National Park Service.

18. Utley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, March 23 and 26, 2004. Hartzog, in conversation with the author, did not recall these

distant events.

19. This “brainstorm,” according to Faust, may have been Connally’s idea. Faust, Oral History Interview, 11.

20. Walker, Discussion with Cameron Binkley, May 29, 2003.

21. NPS Press Release, October 1, 1968, for release October 4, 1968, SEAC files, quoted in Marsh, Ocmulgee National

Monument: An Administrative History, 50.
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actually placing SEAC in charge of the region’s
main archeological park. The question now
became: was Ocmulgee a park or a research center?
And, if a research center, was it a regional center or
one dedicated mainly to Ocmulgee? Afterall, alarge
percentage of Ocmulgee’s collections related to
Georgia, Many could be forgiven for having some
misunderstanding about SEAC’s mission. Another
problem with the arrangement was that Region One
Director . Leonard Volz lost authority over the
park, its interpretation, and its budget and was
probably not enthusiastic about the plan. Indeed,
this episode likely helped undermine his support
for OAHP. Possibly, the merger idea was Connally’s
to begin with, but the end result put Connally in
charge of Ocmulgee and he and Volz did not get
along. According to Utley, Volz was an “old-line”
NPS manager and not prone to favor an NP5-out-
sider, especially an urbane sophisticate like
Connally. Connally’s administrative innovations
only further soured many rank and file NPS admin-
istrators, some of whom, like Volz, feared or
resented OAHP and the rising power of “the
historians.”%?

Another failing of the merger was the assumption
that SEAC archeologists were interested in inter-
preting Ocmulgee. In time, public archeology
would embrace this function as an element of the
profession, especially at SEAC, but that was years in
the future. In the 1960s, this new task distracted
center archeologists from their primary responsi-
bility of planning and executing regionwide
archeological projects. Although Washington may
have approved the merger, which seemingly pro-
vided greater professional control over the
archeological collections, SEAC staff probably
resented it. Certainly, Chief John Griffin, who con-
sidered research his main duty, was not enthusiastic
about shouldering additional administrative
responsibilities. While he surely regarded interpre-
tation and park management as valuable, these
traditional NPS functions were not the most
important activities to him. Despite their interest in
managing Ocmulgee’s collections, it is not likely
that Corbett, his staff, or anyone at SEAC, sought

control over the park’s interpretative and adminis-
trative functions.??

Chief Griffin apparently sought to downplay the
impact of the director’s order. He did not want to
overshadow Bohannon at the park. Bchannon, of
course, was upset. He complained to the Southeast
Regional Director about constraints being forced
upon park management by the anticipated loss of
his own position. Bohannon even directed park
staff to shorten the monument’s hours as he
expected his own paosition to be abolished. His
duties were to be assumed by the park archeologist.
Bohannon’s position was not actually eliminated,
but four months after the official merger in October
1968, he found the park’s administration uncertain
and personally unsatisfactory.?* Bohannon only
grew more frustrated the longer the arrangement
prevailed. According to Pete Faust, Bohannon
finaily confronted Director Hartzog in person
while both attended a superintendents’ conference.
In Faust’s words, Bohannon “braced the director in
no uncertain terms, told him what he thought of the
idea,” and “had a transfer fairly quickly after that
[September 1969].”% Thus, the main reason that
SEAC’s experimental administration of Ocmulgee
failed was that it interfered with the normal and
self-perceived roles and responsibilities of the
respective staffs of the center and monument.
Understandably, Bohannon was engulfed by a per-
sonal crisis over the threat to his own position while
Chief Griffin approached his increased authority at
Ocmulgee without marked enthusiasm. In fact,
instead of focusing upon Ocmulgee’s management,
Griffin soon turned his effort to removing SEAC
from the monument all together.

At about the time Bohannon transferred out, Wash-
ington handed administration of Ocmulgee back to
Regional Director Volz. According to Volz, “the
format, content, and quality of the interpretive
program” was to remain “under the professional
direction of the professional personnel at the
Archeological Center.” Volz also maintained that
the new arrangement created “a total unit that dem-
onstrates, at high standards, the Service’s

22. Sellars and Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley, 8-9, 79-80. Possibly, Connally originated and sold the idea of
merging SEAC and Ocmulgee to Hartzog as a means to improve interpretation at a park that had almost entirely missed

out on Mission 66,

23. Faust, Oral History Interview, 12-13; Utley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, March 23 and 26, 2004.
24. Gcmulgee Superintendent, Letter to Regional Director, Southeast Region, February 7, 1969, in “Reading File -July 1, 1968

- June 30, 1969, Ocmulgee National Monument files.
25. Faust, Oral History Interview, 12.
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capabilities in research through interpretauion.”26

However, given the potential for conflict between
respective SEAC and Ocmulgee chiefs, Volz
replaced Bohannon with a “management assistant,
W. Pingree Crawford, in December 1969. Crawford
reported to the superintendent at Kennesaw
National Battlefield Park. This awkward
arrangement remained in place until March 1971
when Crawford was appointed superintendent of
Ocmulgee.” By then, planning for SEAC’s exodus
from Ocmulgee to new quarters was well underway
and it was presumably safe to relieve Kennesaw
Mountain from administrative authority over the
monument. Thus, the Park Service’s first and
apparently only attempt to combine the man-
agement of a national park with that of an
archeological research center came to a quiet and
uncelebrated conclusion.

»

SEAC Considers Leaving Ocmulgee

Director Hartzog’s memorandum of September 4,
1968, primarily dealt, in the words of SEAC Chief
John Griffin, “with the now discarded idea of the
center running the Monument.”?8 That same mem-
orandum, however, also directed Ernest Connally
to:

initiate steps promptly to relate Ocmulgee
National Monument to an appropriate
University as a research station for the
University. Steps should also be taken to
relate Ocmulgee to the University with a
Research Center on the University campus.?”

The first notion enunciated in the phrase above,
that Ocmulgee should serve as the “research
station” of a university, seems to have meant an
arrangement by which a suitable university would
agree to administer Ocmulgee’s archeological col-
lections as a storage facility and laboratory both for

itself and for the Park Service. Undoubtedly, the
Director was fishing for a way to bring a greater
curatorial capacity to those collections in the
absence of new funding. However, in a “Catch-22"
situation, no university would be interested,
according to John Griffin, unless the Park Service
provided that funding.” The more promising idea
in Hartzog’s memorandum was the notion “to
relate Ocmulgee to the university with a Research
Center on the University campus.” Hartzog did not
explicitly authorize the wholesale relocation of
SEAC, which, after all, was now in charge of the
monument. However, the possibility of moving the
center is what clearly drew the focus and hope of
the center’s staff and supporters.

The idea of associating government professionals
with academic professionals, as previously noted,
was a public policy concern in the late 1960s. In
1963, The Robbins Report had extolled the virtues of
locating government laboratories and centers on
university campuses where it made sense, and
explicitly encouraged such efforts within the
National Park system.*! The Federal Council for
Science and Technology published a similar report
in 1968.%2 The notion was that government profes-
sionals could improve job performance within their
own disciplines by maintaining a closer association
with academic professionals. Of course, Connally,
with Hartzog’s blessing, had made increasing the
professionalism of the Park Service a major goal of
OAHP. Chief Archeologist John Corbett happily
supported this Connally initiative (though he dis-
puted others) because it supported his own efforts
to create an effective archeological organization
that was still struggling to escape the shadow of
more established cultural professions within the
Park Service.** Connally credited Corbett for his

26. . Leonard Volz, Regional Director, to George B. Hartzog, Director, “Operating Procedures-Ocmulgee National
Monument,” August 20, 1969, quoted in Marsh, Ocmulgee National Monument: An Administrative History, 43-50.

27. Historic Listing of National Park Service Officials (Washington, DC: National Park Service, 1991), http/hwww.cr.nps.gov/
history/online_books/tolson/histlist14.htmi#g (accessed February 6, 2004).

28. The memo is quoted and discussed in the correspondence of John W. Griffin, but the author has not located an actual

copy. See Griffin, Letter to John Corbett, January 5, 1970.

29. The memo is quoted in John W. Griffin, “Proposal for the Relocation of the Southeast Archeological Center,” January 20,

1970, in A6435 folder, SEAC files.

30. Griffin claimed no university was interested in this proposition untess the Park Service entirely paid for the Ocmulgee-
based center. Griffin, Letter to John Corbett, January 5, 197¢.

31. National Academy of Sciences The Robbins Report, Recommendation No. 13.

32. lohn W. Griffin, “Proposal for the Relocation of the Southeast Archeological Center,” 1970, 2, in A6435 folder, SEAC files.
The Federal Council for Science and Technology was an office established by Executive Order 10807, March 13, 1959, on
recommendation of the President’s Science Advisory Committee. It promoted scientific and technological cooperation

among federal agencies until abolished in 1976.
33. Faust, Qral History Interview, 10.
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suppart on this issue years after the archeclogist’s
death.*

Eventually, it became clear that SEAC’s adminis-
tration of the monument was a bad idea. By the time
Ocmulgee Superintendent Bohannon transferred
out in October 1969, Corbett and Griffin were
engaged in an active dialogue with officials at two
major universities regarding the possibility of com-
pletely relocating SEAC to one of their respective
campuses. These were the only two schools that
appeared to harbor the requisite academic depart-
ments, geographic conveniences, and staff interest
to merit serious consideration. They were the Uni-
versity of Georgia (UGA) in Athens and Florida
State University (FSU) in Tallahassee.*® Officials of
both universities were interested in SEAC’s plans
and each tried to influence the outcome of the NPS
decision.

How the Director’s “initial memo” to associate
QOcmulgee, that is, the SEAC-administered national
monument, with a university, became authority to
move the organization entirely is unclear. Griffin,
however, had strong motives and desire to extricate
SEAC completely from Macon. The monument’s
isolated location made it difficult both personally
and professionally for Griffin and his staff to
conduct operations. SEAC’s close association with
Ocmulgee, which included staff responsibility for
the park’s interpretative program, also complicated
the center’s mission and regional role. The decision
to combine the two organizations had left a legacy
of uncertainty regarding the disposition and
purpose of the archeological center. Administrative
delays and indecision had also caused frustration
on the university affiliation question. In January
1970, Griffin complained to Corbett that the morale
of SEAC’s staff was “quite low.” He noted that “we
have gone through several years of indecision” and
declared that “a statement of what we are, and are
not, going to do would help.”®

What troubled Griffin about the Macon area was its
social climate. In the 1960s, Macon was a small rural
and conservative Southern city. There were few
amenities. Macon practiced discrimination by
maintaining separate schools for blacks and whites.
After public school desegregation was imposed by
court order, the city integrated its students but
retained a separate system for males and females to
help prevent miscegenation. Macon was also one of
the last public school systems to require com-
pulsory military education for boys, which was an
issue for the Griffin family. In general, SEAC staff
found the academic caliber of the Macon school
system deficient. John Griffin, a native Floridian,
had also cut his teeth on Florida archeology, and his
parents even lived near Daytona. Thus, for personal
reasons, the Griffins wanted to move back to
Florida. Eventually, John Griffin sent his wife,
Patricia, and their children to Tallahassee while he
remained in Macon. Patricia, a trained social
worker, found a position on the faculty of FSU as an
instructor. Certainly, this situation ensured that
John Griffin was predisposed in favor of moving
SEAC to Florida. In fact, according to Patricia
Griffin, her husband and his close friend Hale G.
Smith, the founder and Chairman of FSU’s Anthro-
pology Department, actually first conceived of
moving SEAC to Tallahassee for this reason,
although it is not known when they first discussed
the idea.?” Griffin’s inclination to move SEAC to
Florida, his past association with Florida arche-
ology, his family situation, and close friendship with
Smith, complicated his dealings with Washington.
Nevertheless, Director Hartzog had explicitly
ordered SEAC to relate the archeological center to
a suitable university. That is what made thinking
about moving the center possible in the first place.

Hartzog intended his October 1968 memorandum
to bring improvements in the status and profession-
alism of SEAC’s staff but instead it brought further
frustration. SEAC was struggling to define itself

34. Ernest Allen Connally, Letter to Thomas D. Theissen, August 31, 1292, MWAC files, National Park Service.

35. In January 1972, near the end of the selection process and after a draft memorandum between FSU and SEAC had
already been signed, Charles H. Fairbanks of the University of Florida, expressed interest in entering the UGA-FSU
competition for SEAC. This belated expression of interest came as a surprise to Richard Faust, SEAC’s Acting Director, who
certainly did not initiate it. SEAC was by then only a few days away from signing the MOU with FSU. Moreover, Faust felt
that the University of Florida’s Anthropology Department was not strong in archeology, which is probably why Griffin
ruled it out from the beginning.” Richard D. Faust, Letter to Charles H. Fairbanks, January 31, 1972, in A6435 folder, SEAC
files; and Richard D. Faust, Letter to Chief Archeologist. WASO, January 31, 1972, in AB435 folder, SEAC files.

36. Griffin, Letter to John Corbett, January 5, 1970.
37. Patricia C. Griffin, Oral History Interview, 10-13.
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FIGURE 15. John W. Griffin, first Chief of the Southeast
Archeological Center, at mid-career. Photograph by Ken
Barrett Jr. courtesy of Patricia C. Griffin and used by
permission

amid resource constraints, confusing directives,
bureaucratic indecision, and conflicting personal
goals. By 1970, which Griffin called the “Year of

Decision,” he was ready to act, one way or another.

It was also illustrative to him that the NPS
Southwest Archaeological Center had recently
negotiated an arrangement with the University of
Arizona that allowed that unit to move out of its
remote Globe, Arizona, location.>®

Regardless of how the decision to move SEAC
evolved, the University of Georgia established an
early lead over Florida State University in winning

NPS approval for some kind of partnership
arrangement.>? In October 1968, shortly after
receiving the Hartzog directive, Connally and
Corbett traveled to Athens, Georgia, and the NPS
Region One headquarters, located in Richmond,
Virginia, to meet with officials from UGA “on
potential research relations with the center at
Ocmulgee.” OAHP staff archeologist George R.
Fischer also attended the meeting in Richmond.*
Fischer was to play a pivotal role in the devel-
opment of SEAC.

The University Competition for SEAC

The University of Georgia gained early NPS
attention as a likely institution with which to asso-
ciate SEAC. John W. Walker favored UGA as a
candidate for SEAC’s move because Athens was
closer than Tallahassee to the Regional Office,
which was then located in Atlanta, and was more
centrally located in the region.*! Far more
important, however, UGA had a thoroughgoing
salvage archeology program and did contract work
for SEAC. Joseph Caldwell, who had an interest in
NPS archeology, and the influential Arthur R. Kelly,
who had administered NPS relief-era work in
Georgia, and even worked for the Park Service for
several years, were both on the university’s faculty.
The Park Service was thus quite familiar with the
institution’s academic capabilities, scholarly
resources, and business operations.“ The most
important reason for NPS interest in the University
of Georgia, however, was that Kelly hoped to see
SEAC affiliate with it and he had good political ties.
His neighbor, in fact, was the influential Georgia
Senator Richard B. Russell.*? Indeed, Kelly called
the effort to move the center and all its collections
to Florida “a vast mistake.”*

Politics certainly played an important role in the
Park Service’s initial preference for selecting UGA
as SEAC’s partner, although the influence of Sen.
Russell did not turn out to be a decisive factor.

38. Griffin, Letter to John Corbett, January 5, 1970.

39. The fact that NPS originally planned to affiliate SEAC with UGA is clear from comments and context provided in a letter
by John Griffin to John Corbett in which Griffin makes a concerted effort to argue the merits of his case that FSU was the
better choice. Although he did “not expect this letter to alter your [Corbett’s] thinking,” he still thought “we are missing
our best bet for university affiliation by limiting our thinking to Georgia.” Griffin, Letter to John Corbett, January 5,

1970.

40. Activities (Division of Archeology, NPS, September and October 1968), in “Archeology” Box H22, Harpers Ferry Center.

41. Walker, Discussion with Cameron Binkley, May 29, 2003. Others argued that Tallahassee was more central to the region,
but in either case, the transportation situation was not the deciding factor in choosing between FSU and UGA.

42. Activities (Division of Archeology, NPS, February 1968), 2, in “Archeology” Box H22, Harpers Ferry Center.

43. Faust, Oral History Interview, 13-14; Walker, Discussion with Cameron Binkley, May 29, 2003.

44, Williams, ed., In His Own Words: An Interview with Dr. Arthur Kelly, 29.
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SEAC, which only consisted of three archeologists
and a secretary, was a very small concern after all
for a U.S. Senator from a state the size of Georgia.
Still, the Park Service wisely anticipated potential
political obstacles to the proposed relocation of
SEAC and thought these obstacles could derail such
plans if not properly addressed. For example, NPS
officials were aware and very concerned that local
political and business leaders might object if they
transferred artifacts from Georgia out of state when
SEAC moved. Indeed, in January and February
1970, there erupted a specific controversy
regarding just such an issue. Informed by an
amateur archeologist in early January 1972, John W.
Walker visited an archeological site near Hawkins-
ville, Georgia, which he found to contain a Weeden
Island burial mound. This type of site had not been
previously reported on Georgia’s Atlantic drainage.
When the site became threatened by looters,
Walker, assisted by amateur archeologists and UGA
students, conducted an emergency excavation
recovering 55 Swift Creek, Weeden Island, and
Napier vessels from an east side pottery deposit.
Influential citizens of Hawkinsville claimed ... this
material was too important to allow it ...” to leave
the state and that the site should be made a
National Park.*> Sensitivity to the disposition of
SEAC’s collections, in addition to the cost and
storage issues, influenced how John Griffin
developed his proposal to move SEAC. As dis-
cussed further below, Griffin originally proposed
that Ocmulgee’s archeological collections be per-
manently “retained as a Research Station of the
Southeast Archeological Center” and kept at
Ocmulgee under the care of a curator.*®

A second potential political obstacle to moving
SEAC out of Macon, Georgia, was the fact that the
center was located in the congressional district of
Rep. Jack Flint, who happened to be the ranking
majority member of the House appropriations sub-
committee responsible for NPS affairs. Presumably,
an “ok” from the congressman would be needed to

ensure that any plan to move the center could be
realized. With Hartzog’s blessing, OAHP chief
Connally devised a plan to win the congressman’s
support. Conveniently, a movement was just
beginning to bring Creek people back to Georgia,
their ancestral homeland. The Ocmulgee site was
infused with sacred meaning for them. The Macon
Chamber of Commerce seized upon the notion of
“The Return of the Creeks,” as it was called, and
began drumming up a plan to bring groups of native
youth back to “the old traditional hunting
grounds.” The U.S. Army was supposedly going to
allow free passage on military aircraft so they could
travel there to hold folk festivals. Apprised of the
situation, Connally went to Rep. Flint and
expressed strong NPS enthusiasm for facilitating
the plan by helping to set the Creeks up at
Ocmulgee. When Flint expressed his approval of
the notion, Connally added that, to make it pos-
sible, the Park Service would have to place the
Creeks in the basement of the Ocmulgee visitor
center, thus displacing the four SEAC staff
members who would otherwise be in the way.
There is no record of whether or not they discussed
the movement of the collections. Connally then
asked for Flint’s permission to move the staff out
and the congressman replied “you have it.”47 With
that simple quid pro quo, the way was clear to move
the center.

Meanwhile, by September 1969, Griffin was in
serious consultation with FSU Anthropology
Department Chairman Hale Smith and higher level
FSU officials about the possibility of establishing a
formal association between SEAC and Florida State
University. Smith was enthusiastic and claimed
SEAC would have “100% backing of the Uni-
versity.” In October, Griffin, Corbett, and various
FSU officials met to inspect available facilities on
the campus and at the university’s research station
at Alligator Point harbor, which the university pro-
moted because of the NPS interest in coastal and
underwater archeology.*® By this time, George

45. Walker, Comments on the draft of August 19, 2005.

46. Griffin, “Proposal for the Relocation of the Southeast Archeological Center,” 1970. Also, Director Hartzog had not
explicitly authorized movement of the collections from Ocmulgee, only the establishment of an NPS research center on a

university campus.

47. Ernest Allen Connally, Interview by Charles B. Hosmer Jr., July 1981, in Ernest Allen Connally Papers, Box 5, Harpers Ferry
Center, 121-122. See also, “The Creeks Return,” promotional brochure jointly produced by the National Park Service, the
Macon Chamber of Commerce, the Ocmulgee Auxilary Corporation, and the Creek Indians, October 1972 (SERO Library).
The brochure was printed by Southern Press, Inc., of Macon, Georgia. Enthusiasm for this initiative would later wane but
the “Creek Indian Week” event, held at Omulgee National Monument October 2-8, 1972 can be regarded as the
forerunner to the successful Ocmulgee Indian Celebration later held every September and promoted as a top attraction

in the Southeast.
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FIGURE 16. First archeological dive sponsored by OAHP took place at Montezuma Well, a detached unit of Montezuma Castle
National Monument, September-October 1968. Pictured are George Fischer, Marian Riggs, Roberto Christobar, and Calvin
Cummings. NPS Historic Photograph Collection, Harpers Ferry Center

Fischer was also separately consulting with FSU
officials on that matter.

Fischer was a pioneer in the field of submerged
archeology. In the late 1960s, he began the earliest
efforts to start up a federal underwater archeology
program under OAHP auspices. In early 1968,
Fischer and colleague Marion J. Riggs began a
formal study of NPS and DOI responsibilities for

submerged cultural resources, the potential for new

park research, and the possibilities for the devel-
opment of an NPS underwater archeological
program. Underlying NPS interest in this work was
new technology that was making submerged arche-
ological sites both more accessible for scholarly
purposes and more threatened due to public use of
similar technology. Fischer and Riggs also found
that significant potential existed to expand archeo-
logical studies on submerged NPS lands and that

few institutions possessed the capacity to undertake
such investigations.*” As a result, OAHP’s Division
of Archeology supported Fischer and Riggs in
obtaining diving training. In the fall of 1968, they
led a trial NPS underwater archeological investi-
gation at Montezuma Well, a remote NPS unit near
Flagstaff, Arizona. Calvin Cummings, who was both
a diver and an archeologist stationed at Tuzigoot
National Monument in the Verde Valley, also par-
ticipated. While the results of this dive were
negligible, Fischer found the experience useful and
soon began to develop plans for a more extensive
program.

In this task, Deputy Chief Archeologist Zorro
Bradley was an ally. Both took advantage of
Hartzog's memorandum directing SEAC to
establish a research center on a university campus
to help foster the development of an NPS sub-

48. Hale G. Smith, Letter to John Griffin, September 10, 1969, in A6435 folder, SEAC files; and Don Fuqua, Letter to George B.

Hartzog, December 17, 1969, in A6435 folder, SEAC files.

49. See George R. Fischer and Marion J. Riggs, “Prospectus for Underwater Archeology” (Washington, DC: Division of
Archeology, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, National Park Service, 1969).
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FIGURE 17. Underwater archeological survey of Montezuma Well, 1969. L-r: G. Fischer, R. Christobar, M. Riggs, and C.
Cummings. NPS Historic Photograph Collection, Harpers Ferry Center

merged archeological function. As a glance through
the back issues of the Division of Archeology’s
monthly newsletters for the period reveals, Fischer
was engaged in consulting with various institutions
about their potential to co-sponsor or partner with
the Park Service to conduct underwater archeology
projects. He was looking for an institution with
both archeological and programmatic expertise and
the necessary facilities and proximity to major sub-
merged NPS resources to help expand Service
involvement in this field. Fischer’s aggressive pro-
motion of underwater archeology was to generate
friction within NPS management, but Director
Hartzog explicitly directed Connally to broaden
NPS involvement.’’ When the prospect of moving
SEAC became serious, Fischer jumped at the
chance to merge Service interest in underwater
archeology with the establishment of a university-
based NPS archeological center. The economies
thereby achieved would be considerable.

By late 1969, Fischer was investigating the possi-
bility of setting up an underwater archeology unit in
Florida, which was in geographic proximity to the
most extensive submerged U.S. archeological
resources both in NPS park sites and otherwise.”
The state of Florida had also recently hired its own
underwater archeologist to address the rising issues
associated with the recovery of Spanish gold from
sunken vessels in Floridian waters.>> Eventually,
Fischer would have to find a new home for his
nascent underwater archeology unit. Washington,
DC, was hardly the best venue for a field-based
operation, but more significantly, Fischer was
becoming associated with Chief Archeologist
Corbett and his deputy Bradley, who, as later
detailed, were opposing some of OAHP Chief Con-

1

nally’s goals.

At any rate, it was about this point that the notion of
co-locating SEAC and an underwater archeology
unit at FSU emerged. FSU had available facilities for

50. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation Chief, Memorandum to Deputy Director, Operations (Approved and
signed by George B. Hartzog Jr.), January 26, 1971, in A6435 folder, SEAC files.

51. National Park Service, “1969 Minutes of the Committee for the Recovery of Archaeological Remains” (Washington, DC:
National Park Service, 1969), 91-94; National Park Service, “Review and Analysis of Archeology Program, Fiscal Year 1969
(Washington, DC: Division of Archeology, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, 1969), 50.

52. J. Anthony Paredes, Oral History Interview by Cameron Binkley, March 11, 2004, National Park Service, 13.
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both functions and there would be some savings in
personnel and administration obtained by merging
this effort with SEAC. Fischer was probably already
lobbying for SEAC to move to Tallahassee from
Washington. John Griffin certainly saw the syn-
ergism and moved to convince John Corbett “that
we are missing our best bet for university affiliation
by limiting our thinking to Georgia.” The Wash-
ington office still favored UGA because of fear
about the political implications of moving SEAC
out of state. Griffin asserted that the Park Service
had overestimated Arthur Kelly’s influence with
Sen. Russell and that Joseph Caldwell would not
stand in the way. He argued that the decision to
move SEAC should not “be decided on the basis of
political grounds” and instead should be made
“upon the basis of the best place to solve our

problems and begin working more effectively.”>?

Shortly thereafter, John Griffin wrote the proposal
to move SEAC to Tallahassee, which he formally
submitted on January 20, 1970. Although the Park
Service informally favored the University of
Georgia, Griffin did not; his professional and social
ties to Florida were very strong. However, he did
not hide these connections and stated that they did
not compromise his impartiality.* Still, Griffin was
also not above some lobbying on behalf of his per-
sonal choice. For example, he encouraged Robert
Johnson, FSU Graduate Dean and Director of
Research, to meet and introduce himself to Ernest
Connally shortly after Griffin made his proposal to
affiliate SEAC with FSU.”> Despite his professed
impartiality, Griffin claimed that the FSU selection
made sense on the basis of its inherent merit.’®

Griffin did conduct at least a cursory evaluation of
those institutions with sufficient merit to warrant
official consideration, but in the end argued persua-
sively for Florida State University in Tallahassee.
Officially, he made his selection upon the basis of
four specific factors: (1) the academic strength of
the department in Southeastern archeology, (2) the
availability and suitability of space, (3) NPS interest
in the university’s existing and potential programs,
and (4) the geographic suitability of the university
with regard to SEAC’s travel needs. Griffin deter-

FIGURE 18. Robert M. Johnson, Dean of Graduate Studies and
Research, Florida State University, who supported the move
of SEAC to Florida. Undated photograph;, courtesy of
University Archives, Special Collections, Florida State
University Libraries, Tallahassee, Florida

mined that FSU’s Department of Anthropology was
superior on all accounts. UGA’s program was about
as strong in Southeastern archeology, but it lacked
experts in zooarchaeology and human osteology.
While both schools had a relatively large percentage
of their anthropology departments dedicated to
archeology, which distanced both from most other
candidates, Griffin asserted that “Florida State is an
expanding, viable, institution which has taken the
lead in graduate studies in the Florida State system
of universities.” He also found the staff of FSU “to
be the most enthusiastic about the possibilities.”
Other important factors were FSU’s strong “cross-
disciplinary master’s program aimed at turning out
persons versed in environmental and ecological
matters.”>’

Besides the academic considerations, the avail-
ability and suitability of space available on campus

53. Griffin, Letter to John Corbett, January 5, 1970.
54. Griffin, Letter to John Corbett, January 5, 1970.

55. John W. Griffin, Letter to Robert Johnson, February 24, 1970, in A6435 folder, SEAC files.

56. Griffin, Letter to John Corbett, January 5, 1970.

57. Griffin, “Proposal for the Relocation of the Southeast Archeological Center,” 1970, 3-4.
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FIGURE 19. SEAC organization chart, ca. 1971, showing SEAC's existing organizational structure and the one proposed to be
established after the center’s move to a university campus. Note the presence of both an underwater archeology unit and the
maintenance of a remote Ocmulgee-based “research station” that was intended to oversee the monument's archeological
collections in situ. Ocmulgee National Monument park files

to allow SEAC to conduct and expand its opera- Department of UGA, on the other hand, was
tions over time was considered a vital element in divided among different, old, and considerably sep-
Griffin’s proposal to move SEAC to FSU. Florida arated buildings. Another important consideration,

State had recently constructed a new social sciences  as noted before, was that FSU already possessed
building. The Anthropology Department occupied  underwater facilities on the Gulf of Mexico directly
the ground floor, possessed a fully equipped labo- south of Tallahassee, which included buildings,
ratory, and was willing to make space available for docks, tanks, and space for the use of an NPS arche-
SEAC within this setting. The Anthropology ological facility.’®
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Finally, Griffin proposed specifically that SEAC’s
archeological collections be maintained at
Ocmulgee as a remote “Research Station” of the
center. Griffin had abandoned the idea in the
Director’s memorandum that sought to link the
onsite collections of Ocmulgee to a specific uni-
versity as “a formal field station” of that institution.
No university was interested in this idea because
university archeology was at the time driven by
salvage contracting and, of course, the problem-ori-
ented research of faculty members, which was no
longer focused upon the collections at Ocmulgee.
Griffin proposed instead to leave these collections
under “resident curatorial care.” SEAC would con-
tinue to plan and contract out appropriate research
as needed from FSU.>® This notion was cost- and
space-effective but it was the one element of
Griffin’s proposal that would face the most
revision.

Politics and Resignation

Even as John Griffin drafted his formal proposal to
move SEAC to Tallahassee, senior officials of
Florida State and its congressional allies began to
lobby Director Hartzog for the move. Indeed,
someone at FSU apparently had good ties to a high-
ranking official in the Department of the Interior,
Assistant Secretary Nathaniel P. Reed, whose
influence would help convince reluctant NPS offi-
cials to overcome political opposition to moving
SEAC out of Georgia.®® Griffin and Hale Smith also
worked up a draft Memorandum of Understanding
based upon the agreement previously negotiated
between the University of Arizona and SWAC. The
draft MOU recognized the official NPS policy “to
align its research endeavors more closely to those of
the professional research institutions” and asserted
the “mutually advantageous™ arrangement that
would result from relocating SEAC to FSU. The
draft MOU also asserted that FSU agreed “to make
arrangements to furnish to the National Park
Service necessary space for its Southeast Archeo-
logical Center to carry on its activities, including

underwater archeology, on the campus of the
Florida State University.” However, the provision
was left contingent upon additional “contracts or
agreements as may be negotiated between the two
parties.” The lack of specificity on this point would
later become a problem. Mainly, it did not specify
the requirement for the university to provide space
for SEAC’s archeological collections. Another
important point about the draft MOU is the fre-
quent reference to “underwater archeology,” which
suggests the influential role that George Fischer and
Zorro Bradley had played in the NPS5-FSU consul-
tations. Beyond these arrangements and the general
sharing of resources and facilities between the
parties, the draft MOU also spelled out a final item
of importance. The item was what the university
sought to gain through the agreement. Certainly,
FSU expected graduate students to find opportu-
nities at SEAC, but FSU’s main expectation was that
the MOU would provide the Anthropology
Department with archeological contracts in salvage,
survey, excavation, and site stabilization, as well as
in investigations under the Interagency Archeo-
logical Salvage Program, and, of course, through
underwater archeology projects relating to South-
eastern national parks.®! These contracts would not
have to be bid competitively and thus represented a
major potential income source for the university.

There was another reason for Florida State’s enthu-
siasm for bringing the National Park Service to its
campus. The Department of Anthropology had lost
some important staff members, including Charles
H. Fairbanks around 1963, who went to the Uni-
versity of Florida.%? Fairbanks, incidentally, had
started as an NPS archeologist based at Ocmulgee
National Monument in the 1950s, published several
important articles about it, including the well-
known Archeology of the Funeral Mound (NPS,
1956), but later resigned to teach at Florida State.53
After moving to the University of Florida, Fair-
banks helped to expand that school’s anthropology
department, which became within a few years a

S8. Griffin, “Proposal for the Relocation of the Southeast Archeological Center,” 1970, 3-4.

59. Griffin, “Proposal for the Relocation of the Southeast Archeological Center,” 1970, 2.

60. Don Fuqua, Letter to George B. Hartzog, December 17, 1969, in A6435 folder, SEAC files; and Director Ernest Allen
Connally, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, Letter to George B. Hartzog, Director, National Park Service,

January 19, 1972, in A6435 folder, SEAC files.

61. National Park Service, "Memorandum [Draft] of Agreement between the National Park Service and Florida State

University,” 1969, in A6435 folder, SEAC files.

62. See Charles H. Fairbanks, Archeological Excavations in the Funeral Mound, Ocmulgee National Monument, Ga.
Archeological Research Series No. 3 {National Park Service, Government Printing Office, Washington, DC, 1956). Revised
and published as Archeology of the Funeral Mound: Ocmulgee National Monument (Tuscaloosa: University of Alabama

Press, 2003).
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major PhD-granting institution. With staff transi-
tions and the University of Florida beginning to
train its first PhD students, Hale Smith probably felt
an urgency to advance the interests of his own FSU
Anthropology Department.

By the time that Smith was working to bring SEAC
to Florida State, however, accrediting officials had
already determined that the FSU Anthropology
Department lacked suitable credentials to confer
doctoral degrees. Smith kept this distressing infor-
mation under wraps for a while, perhaps hoping to
avoid inspiration for further faculty defections. J.
Anthony Paredes, as a junior faculty member, was
not aware of FSU’s negative ratings until some time
after the fact.* He and other faculty members, such
as George Percy, operated on the assumpticn that
they could transform the FSU Anthropology
Department into a major academic, PhD-granting
ciepau'tn'lent.65

From Smith’s perspective, an alliance with the
National Park Service would help to counter-
balance the department’s recent setbacks,
especially the negative review of its proposed doc-
toral program.®® Smith was probably motivated to
achieve a cooperative agreement with SEAC for this
reason alone, despite its other genuine advantages
to FSU. For some faculty members, however, espe-
ciatly those not in the loop regarding the
department’s negative rating, the issue was cast in a
different light. Despite Smith’s enthusiasm and
promise to the Park Service of “100% backing,” he
had to overcome opposition within the Anthro-
pology Department to the cooperative relationship.

The first source of opposition was concern over
how the department’s intellectual character might
be influenced by a close association with the Park
Service and its salvage archeoiogical efforts. Some
anthropologists may have feared that the intel-
lectual direction of the department would be
channeled away from the academic track leading to
a doctoral program, They were afraid of becoming a

“salvage archeology-dominated department.”
Beyond this concern was that archeology already
dominated the department and so a cooperative
relationship with SEAC would serve only to further
impede efforts to build a program more balanced in
the four main fields of anthropology {archeology,
linguistics, ethnology, and physical or biological
anthropology). Paredes felt that Florida State had
potential to become known for work in physical
anthropology and ethnology. It even had an interest
in linguistics, which was not an interest of Hale
Smith. The decision to cooperate with SEAC thus
appeared to some faculty members to be a move
toward greater domination by archeology and a
move away from the department’s effort to create a
doctoral program in scientific anthropelogy.8” That
program would not be built for another twenty-five
years, but that had nothing to do with SEAC.

In the end, however, Hale Smith overcame the
faculty opposition, probably because the potential
financial support that SEAC could bring to the
department’s students, PhD candidates or oth-
erwise, was a welcome prospect, as was the thought,
presumably held by faculty members, of easily
obtaining contract work. The most significant
problem Smith had to overcome was practical and
far more immediate: where was the department to
find sufficient space to house SEAC on campus?
Perhaps because it was not adequately spelled out
in the original MOU, this issue turned outtobe a
major source of friction between FSU and the Park
Service. Indeed, it was an issue that endured for
years.

In the meantime, FSU President Stanley Marshall
wrote Director Hartzog on December 3, 1969, to
express approval of the draft MOU. Having eval-
uated John Griffin’s proposal and arguments to
move SEAC to FSU, Ernest Connally replied
politely, but not favorably, on the director’s behalf
on February 3, 1970. He did agree to allow further
negotiations. Connally was not in favor of FSU.68
On March 24, 1970, Griffin wrote Corbett that the

63. Other works by Fairbanks relating to Ocmulgee include: “The Lamar Palisade,” in Proceedings of the Society for Georgia
Archaeology, vol. 3 (1940): 1; “The Macon Earthlodge,” in American Antiquity, vol. 12, no. 2 {1946); 94-108; and “Creek
and Pre-Creek,” in James B. Griffin, ed., Archaeology of the Eastern United States {University of Chicago Press, 1952}, 285-
300. After leaving NPS, Fairbanks became known for publications in colonial and plantation archeolegy.

64. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 4.

65. Percy, ironically, did not complete his dissertation, but did later go on to head Florida‘s state historic preservation

program.
66. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 11,
67. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 8,
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General Counsel of FSU had given preliminary
approval of the MOU, but suggested that “the space
agreement be negotiated separately.” By April 22,
the Park Service's own solicitor had approved the
MOU. Griffin was encouraged by these develop-
ments, but by early May there was still no indication
that the Washington office had made any change in
its commitment to select UGA for the relocation.
Moreover, the decision was apparently postponed
during a debate about whether moving SEAC
would “constitute a new activity” or “merely the
same activity in another setting.” Funding issues
related to the move were cleared when the latter
interpretation was adopted. Similarly, no decision
had yet been made to move the archeological col-
lection from Ocmulgee.69 At the time, Griffin was
researching the “shuddering” prices of standard
steel storage cabinets and “casting around for
alternate solutions to part of our storage
problems.”70 Throughout the rest of the year, Con-
nally dragged his feet regarding SEAC’s possible
relocation to FSU. He was either convinced that it
was politically impossible to move the center out of
state or he simply did not want the center moved to
Florida. In January 1971, Hale Smith met Connally
at a symposium in Gainesville and tried to extract
his commitment to establish either an underwater
archeological center at FSU, or to move SEAC
there. Connally rebuffed Smith bluntly saying “that
there was no chance of our moving SEAC out of
Georgia and no hope for our establishing an addi-
tional center at Florida State.” He added “that there
were many places where we would like to have
archeological centers but there was simply not
enough of us to go around.””!

In addition to the political problems stirred up in
Georgia by Arthur Kelly and by Macon locals con-
cerned about artifact removals, Connally had
become aware in the latter half of 1970 that the

Division of Archives, History, and Records Man-
agement in Florida’s Department of State had
recently acquired a new archeological laboratory
with underwater equipment. In fact, this organi-
zation had even made “impressive recent recoveries
of gold and other objects.” The director of this
division, Robert Williams, was very concerned that
if the Park Service encouraged Florida State Uni-
versity to develop similar facilities it would create
unnecessary duplication and competition for state
funds.”® Williams was politically powerful, being a
former state politician and an active voice in the
historic preservation movement. In fact, he was the
Florida State Historic Preservation QOtficer (SHPO)
and had worked closely with Connally in devel-
oping the national standards for that program.”
Certainly, Williams had cause to be apprehensive
about the interest of the Park Service in establishing
an underwater program at Florida State. As a
pioneer in underwater archeology, George Fischer
was already involved in non-NPS maritime issues in
Florida. As early as 1968, for example, Fischer and
Marion Riggs had spent two weeks in the Florida
Keys participating in 4 Smithsonian Institution
project investigating a sunken Spanish galleon of
the 1733 “plate” fleet.” The arrival of a federal
underwater archeology program centered in
Florida could easily influence what was happening
in the state.” To forestall further momentum in that
direction, Williams assured Connally that Florida’s
underwater archeological lab, boats, and other
equipment would be available for use by the Park
Service for its own underwater archeological
projects. Not surprisingly, Connally noted Wil-
liams’s concern, and wrote forcefully to the Deputy
Director on January 26, 1971:

Our underwater archeclogical program is
specifically directed to units of the National
Park System. At the current and predictable

68. Stanley Marshail, Letter to George B. Hartzog Jr, December 3, 1969; Ernest Allen Connally, Letter to Dr. Stanley Marshall,

February 3, 1970; both in A6435 folder, SEAC files.

69. lohn W. Griffin, Letter to Dean Robert Jahnson, March 24, 1970; John W. Griffin, Letter to Dean Robert Johnson, April 22,
1970: John W. Griffin, Letter to Dean Robert Johnson, May 5, 1970; all in A6435 folder, SEAC files.

70. lohn W. Griffin, Letter to Dr. Hale G. Smith, May 18, 1970, in AB435 folder, SEAC files.

71. Chief Ernest Allen Connally, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, Memorandum to Deputy Director, Operations
(Approved and signed by George B. Hartzog Jr), January 26, 1971, in A6435 folder, SEAC files.

72. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation Chief, Memorandum to Deputy Director, Operations (Approved and
signed by George B. Hartzog Jr.), January 26, 1971, in A6435 folder, SEAC files.

73. George R. Fischer, Oral History Interview by Cameron Binkley, May 28, 2003, National Park Service, 13.

74, National Park Service, “Activities; Division of Archealogy, July 1968,” 1968, in General Collection, “Archeology Prograrms,”

Box H22, Harpers Ferry Center.

75. Indeed, this issue would eventually bring stress between NPS managers and SEAC archeologists as the former grew
increasingly concerned by the jurisdictional friction that underwater archeology caused between the state of Florida and

the federal government.
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level of activity I see no justification for the
establishment of an archeological center in
Florida and recommend that no
commitment be made favoring such
establishment. Instead I recommend that we
avail ourselves of the use of the archeological
facilities of the Division of Archives, History
and Records Management as needed.”

George Hartzog himself signed and approved Con-
nally’s recommendation, originally conveyed to the
Deputy Director.”” Connally was firmly against
moving SEAC to Florida, and the Director con-
curred, This memorandum was a major
disappointment to John Griffin. He may well have
fought it. Pete Faust, who succeeded Griffin as
SEAC Chief, clearly recalled that “there was some
fussing going on between the Washington office
and John about something . .. along about *71.”7%
Undoubtedly, that fussing was over Griffin’s
unhappily received proposal to move SEAC to FSU,
which Connally steadfastly opposed. If Griffin con-
tinued to lobby for the proposal, it might easily have
antagonized Connally, who still had line authority
over the archeological center. Indeed, according to
Patricia Griffin, “when they made the decision that
they were going to move, because they were com-
mitted, pretty much, to FSU, he [Connally|
indirectly sent the message to John that he was not

going to be the director [chief]. They were going to
lateral him somewhere in the country.””” In other
words, Connally threatened to re-assign Griffin in
retaliation for undercutting his preference not to
move SEAC to FSU. If true, and the account cannot
be confirmed, it explains why John Griffin sud-
denly resigned in August 197180 Exactly at that
moment a position opened for a “Director” of the
St. Augustine Historical Association. Given the cir-
cumstance, with his wife and family already in
Florida, Griffin had to make a tough decision.
Either he did not expect SEAC to move to Florida,
or he did not expect to move with it. Thus John
Griffin, a respected and able archeologist, chose to
Jeave the Park Service.®!

From George Fischer’s perspective in Washington,
Griffin’s resignation was a major disappointment
because he had encouraged Fischer’s work in
underwater archeology and felt it would help to
build the center.82 Despite this setback, however,
Fischer still had much hope for that enterprise.
Although Hartzog approved Connally’s January 26
memorandum nixing any move of SEAC to Florida
State, he also inscribed a note in the margin
expressing his view that “we should broaden our
concern and program” in underwater archeology.

76. Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation Chief, Letter to Deputy Director, Memorandum (Approved and signed by
George B. Hartzog Ir), January 26, 1971, in AB435 folder, SEAC files. ’
77. Director Hartzog scratched out “Deputy” next to "Director” on the signature line in the memorandum and signed his

own hame.
78. Faust, Oral History Interview, 14-15,
79. Patricia C. Griffin, Oral History Interview, 13.

80.

81.

82.
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“Lateral” assignment is an occassional tactic used by government officials to direct within grade transfers of personnel
from one spot to another. The tactic can be to the incumbent’s advantage or disadvantage, but when the latter itis
sometimes the supervisor’s intent to force a disfavored employee to resign or retire. The information postulating Griffin's
imminent re-assignment cannot be confirmed and while Patricia Griffin is a highly credible source, she has no direct
knowledge that Connally made this threat. Connally spoke well of Griffin in a letter to NPS archeologist Thomas Thiessen
on August 31, 1992 (SERO and MWAC files), although his remarks were likely tempered by his knowledge that Thiessen
was conducting an NP5 historical study. For some reason, John Griffin perceived his position threatened and thus initiated
a job search. Yet, he had no reason to leave the Service once SEAC's move to Florida was likely. Given Connally's difficult
relationship with archeology (as discussed throughout this chapter), his resistance to moving SEAC to Florida, and his
documented involvement in “retiring” Chief Archeologist Corbett, it is credible that he made such a threat.

Another issue that may have caused trouble between Griffin and Washington was the drive by OAHP to increase NPS
professional qualifications. Gritfin had returned to school under NPS-sponsorship to further work on his doctorate, but
never actually completed it. (He did receive an honorary PhD near the end of his life.) His arrival as Chief of SEAC was
even delayed while he completed work at the University of Chicago on his PhD at NP5 expense. Connally may have
appointed Griffin as head of SEAC with the assumption that he would soon have a terminal credential. After Griffin's PhD
failed to materialize, it may have soured Griffin’s relations with his superiors in Washington. Jackson W. Moore recalled
that Griffin was under pressure “to complete that degree!” Moore, Letters to Cameron Binkley, March 29 and May 15,
2003. Still, according to George Fischer, Griffin had time to finish his PhD dissertation when he resigned. His impression
was that Griffin was discouraged by the state of affairs of SEAC in Macon, lack of progress toward moving SEACto
Florida, and general discontent with bureaucratic work. Fischer, Oral History Interview, 21-22. However, John W. Walker
noted that Pete Faust, who did not hold a PhD either, was assigned as Acting Chief, a title he held for some time, under
the assumption that the next Center Chief would be required to hold a doctorate. Walker, Comments on the draft of
August 19, 2005.

Fischer, Oral History Interview, 21-22.
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FIGURE 20. Wilbur A. “Sonny” Cockrell, Florida State
Underwater Archeologist, holding recovered human skull.
Cockrell worked for Florida’s Division of Archives, History and
Records Management, which feared NPS competition in
underwater archeology. Photograph labeled “Sonny
Cockrell,” no date; courtesy of the State Library of Florida

Fischer took this as Hartzog’s official directive to
“Go for it!”83

The record shows that Connally resisted efforts to
move SEAC to Tallahassee. His explanation was
that there were significant political complications
to taking the center and its collections out of
Georgia and resistance on the part of Florida’s
SHPO. A further reason, which also lends credence
to Patricia Griffin’s account of her husband’s resig-
nation as SEAC chief, was Connally’s intent to raise
NPS standards. Although there is no direct link,
Connally opposed appearances of favoritism. For
example, he opposed awarding contracts on the
basis of personal connections rather than through
competitive bids. UGA and its allies may well have
complained that this was the case regarding
Griffin’s close ties to Hale Smith and Florida State.

Connally did later argue that one of his goals in
improving the performance of the NPS archeo-
logical programs was to eliminate the “favoritism”
complaint in contracting that was often enough
leveled, fairly or not. Finally, some have offered that
Connally, whose primary interest was preservation,
simply was not driven to expend more funds than
necessary on the development of archeological
centers.4

The Tipping Point - Choosing Florida
State

During the summer of 1971, two important events
occurred. First, as noted before, Ernest Connally
learned about the effort by Macon interests to bring
Creek Indians back to Ocmulgee. The area’s repre-
sentative, Congressman Jack Flynt, supported this
initiative, which allowed Connally to secure his
approval for relocating SEAC in Florida. Second,
and of key importance given Connally’s refusal to
support SEAC’s move to Tallahassee, Florida State
was able to exert considerable political influence on
the Department of the Interior through Nathaniel
P. Reed. Reed had joined the Nixon Administration
while serving as Special Assistant to the Governor
of Florida for the Environment, a position he
secured after first serving on the Florida Board of
Antiquities in the early 1960s. Reed served as
Assistant Secretary of the Interior for Fish and
Wildlife and Parks from 1971 through 1976. In
1972, the National Park Foundation awarded the
Cornelius Amory Pugsley National Medal Award to
Reed for his outstanding achievement in the pro-
motion of public parks. Reed, who was just 39 years
old that year, reportedly preferred to ignore agency
chiefs, and often went directly to agency offices for
information or advice and to express his wishes.®
In other words, he was engaged in park matters.
Director Hartzog had actually recommended Reed
to Interior Secretary Rogers C. B. Morton for the
position when he turned down the offer himself.%
When Reed left the Department, he returned to
Florida to immerse himself in environmental and
philanthropic issues, and was especially interested
in the Everglades. He was probably quite predis-

83. Fischer, Oral History Interview, 5.

84. Bradley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, April 15 and 24, 2004.

85. American Academy of Park and Recreation Administration, “Nathaniel P. Reed: Cornelius Amory Pugsley National Medal
Award, 1972, Biography of Reed, posted on web site maintained by the Department of Recreation, Park and Tourism
Sciences at Texas A&M University as a service to American Academy of Park and Recreation Administration. See http://
www.rpts.tamu.edu/pugsley/Reed.htm (accessed April 2005).

86. George B. Hartzog Jr., Battling for the National Parks (New York: Moyer Bell Limited, 1988), 189-190.
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FIGURE 21. Nathaniel P. Reed, Assistant Secretary of the
Interior for Fish and Wildlife and Parks, 1972. Courtesy of the
American Academy of Park and Recreation Administration
and the National Parks Foundation

posed to assist FSU in its quest to acquire SEAC.
According to John W. Walker, he was also a good
friend of Stanley J. Olsen, a noted zooarcheologist
on the staff of the Department of Anthropology at
Florida State.%”

From January through September of 1971, Florida
State pressed its connections. The National Park
Service continued to delay action on any move,
however, possibly because of fiscal constraints, but
probably because of Connally’s resistance. Then
suddenly, in mid-September, Associate Park
Service Director J. E. N. Jensen wrote Assistant Sec-
retary Reed that the decision had been made - in
favor of Florida State University. “We have con-
cluded,” he wrote, “that Florida State is the best
university at which SEAC might be located. Its pro-
grams in archeology and anthropology most closely
parallel our own; it has the strongest department,
good library and other resources.” He noted that
the Park Service had moved “to formulate a sub-

stitute for SEAC at Macon” involving the Creek
Indians, and that an understanding had been
reached with Robert Williams regarding an NPS
commitment not to jeopardize the State of Florida’s
underwater archeology program as a result of any
relocation of SEAC to Florida.®® On September 14,
Secretary Morton wrote Dean Robert Johnson.
Morton noted the fiscal limitations of making any
move and specifically explained that the Park
Service could not duplicate the underwater archeo-
logical research facilities that the State of Florida’s
Division of Archives, History, and Records Man-
agement had recently developed. The point of the
letter, however, was to inform Dean Johnson that
the department had authorized Ernest Connally
and OAHP to proceed to discuss “other practical
considerations and the mutual benefits which
might be expected by such a transfer” of SEAC.* In
other words, the Secretary had directed deliberate
NPS negotiations to reach an understanding with
FSU, overruling Connally’s previous objections.

In January 1972, Connally wrote Director Hartzog
about the status of NPS efforts to relocate SEAC.
His memorandum updated the earlier memo of
January 1971 in which he recommended against
moving SEAC to Tallahassee. This memo, however,
represented a complete change of view. Connally
began by detailing a meeting held in December
1971 at Ocmulgee where Claude Cox, Chief of the
Creek Nation, proposed to establish a trading post
in the basement of the Ocmulgee visitor center by
April 15,1972. All parties backed the proposal,
including local Macon political representatives and
NPS officials from the Southeast Region. In
addition, Connally noted that Rep. Flynt’s congres-
sional district was being reapportioned due to the
1970 U.S. Census. Presumably, since Flynt would
not be running to represent Macon, this even
further reduced potential political opposition to the
move. Connally also explained that negotiations
with the University of Georgia “were fruitless” and
praised the “stronger, more prestigious Department
of Anthropology” at Florida State, but it seems his
last point was the most important - that “Assistant
Secretary Nathaniel Reed has expressed interest in
relocating SEAC in Tallahassee and can be given
due credit for the move.””?

87. Walker, Discussion with Cameron Binkley, May 29, 2003.

88. J.E.N.Jensen, Memorandum to Assistant Secretary for Fish and Wildlife and Parks, September 16, 1971, in A6435 folder,

SEAC files.

89. Secretary of the Interior, Letter to Robert M. Johnson, September 14, 1971, in A6435 folder, SEAC files.
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Reed’s interest in SEAC’s move to FSU may
explain, to some degree, why the issue about how
much space the university would provide was not
resolved prior to SEAC’s move. If FSU officials
knew that the Park Service had determined that
Florida State was the best choice for SEAC, they
may have been stiffer in their negotiations than they
would have been if that choice was still in doubt.
Reed had close ties to Florida and the news, which
he knew by mid-September 1971, had ample time to
leak out. At any rate, Pete Faust, who had become
Acting Chief of SEAC after Griffin’s resignation in
August 1971, arrived in Tallahassee in January 1972
to obtain specific information from FSU officials
about the availability and cost of space and also to
attend a meeting of the Society for Historical
Archaeology. At almost the same time, Connally
was informing Washington officials that SEAC
would move to Tallahassee. Indeed, he even sent a
draft Memorandum of Understanding to FSU,
unbeknownst to Faust. For these reasons, the Park
Service chose to expedite signing the NPS-FSU
accord prior to reaching a clear understanding on
how much space was to be made available for the

center on campus.91

While attending the conference in Tallahassee,
Zorro Bradley and George Fischer engaged Faust
about the move. According to Faust, the question of
space and how to approach that topic with regard
to Florida State emerged as a “marked philo-
sophical difference” between Fischer and Bradley
on the one hand and Faust on the other. Faust
believed his mission was to obtain the necessary
cost and space data from FSU officials, namely
Smith and Johnson, even though these steadfastly
refused to provide solid information throughout his
visit. They, again, were still fighting to convince
reluctant members of the Anthropology
Department to give up lab space or share graduate
students with SEAC. George Percy was mentioned
several times as an obstacle on both counts.”?

Faust, along with SEAC curator Donald Crusoe,
had developed several detailed alternative plans to
utilize various amounts of space at FSU. The plan

FIGURE 22. The "Creek Trading Post" in the basement of the
visitor center at Ocmulgee National Monument. By helping
arrange "the return of the Creeks," the Park Service obtained
local political acquiescence to move SEAC out of Macon,
Georgia. NPS photograph, undated; Ocmulgee National
Monument park files

Faust felt most realistic involved continued use of
Ocmulgee for “dead” storage of little used material,
the dispersal of some material to interested univer-
sities, temporary storage for active collections on or
near the FSU campus in a low cost facility plus
office and some lab space in the Anthropology
Department’s quarters at Bellamy Hall. This plan
indicates that the Park Service had modified
Griffin’s original proposal to leave the major
portion of SEAC’s collection at Ocmulgee as the
center’s “research station.” Instead, Faust now
wanted some 9,000 square feet of space, but only a
portion of that needed to be in Bellamy Hall. Faust
argued that it was critical to obtain FSU’s
agreement to provide at least a minimum allotment
of space to maintain SEAC’s programs and to allow
for future growth. “Otherwise,” he told Fischer and
Bradley, “there would be no point in moving to
FSU.” They disagreed. Faust quoted Fischer as
stating that it was most important “to agree to
agree” and that “the details could be worked out
later.” During a meeting with Smith and the
Anthropology Department’s new chair, Robert
Dailey, Faust became upset with Fischer, who par-
ticipated in the meeting due to his involvement in

90. Director Ernest Allen Connally, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, Memorandum to George B. Hartzog,
Director, National Park Service, January 19, 1972, in A6435 folder, SEAC files.

91. Acting Chief Richard D. Faust, Southeast Archeological Center, Memorandum to Chief Archeologist, January 19, 1972, in
A6435 folder, SEAC files. This is a detailed multi-page trip report.

92. Faust, Memorandum to Chief Archeologist, January 19, 1972,
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FIGURE 23. A group of Creek Indians pose at Ocmulgee
National Monument with Supt. W. Pingree Crawford, ca.
1972. NPS photograph, undated; Ocmulgee National
Monument park files

underwater archeology. Faust informed Smith and
Dailey that he needed the cost and space numbers
because the center now planned to move part or all
of its archeological collections, the largest South-
eastern archeological collection in existence. As he
had already stated to Faust privately, Fischer then
reportedly stated to Smith and Dailey that the most
important thing was to sign the basic document
agreeing to agree. He also let them know that the
Park Service had already mailed an MOU for FSU
to sign. Faust had little hope to solve the space
problem after Fischer’s remarks, which he felt
undercut his mission. Still, Smith and Dailey
seemed hamstrung by their own bureaucracy and
urged Faust to try and get Connally or some other
high-ranking NPS official to visit the campus to
discuss with the faculty the advantages that SEAC
could bring to the campus, probably in hopes of
building FSU support for the initiative.”>

The incident as reported by Faust might have a
certain bias but it seems clear that the Park Service
was not of one mind in its consultations with FSU

officials. The university was interested in hosting
SEAC for the potential contracts, the prestige, and
the underwater archeological expertise that would
be brought to its campus, but there was a major dis-
agreement within the department, at least in
practical terms, over how much space could be pro-
vided to SEAC. Certainly, the university also
wanted to maximize the amount it could charge the
government for overhead costs and for leased
space. With NPS officials not working from the
same score, or with political pressure compelling a
near-term agreement, Florida State was able to
waffle on the space question. Faust got nowhere on
his visit. A “reliable source” later informed him that
FSU had only two rooms to provide SEAC at that
time and both were for office use only. Faust
believed that campus officials were being cagey
about the availability of space because they
expected NPS to build its own structure as an
annex to Bellamy Hall, an idea that was “completely
new” to him and, if true, would indeed require
high-level intervention.”*

High level intervention, of course, had already
occurred. On April 12, 1972, despite no clear
understanding about the space issue, the National
Park Service signed a Memorandum of Under-
standing with Florida State University that finalized
SEAC’s relocation to Tallahassee. The agreement
was signed by FSU President Stanley Marshall and
Southeast Regional Director David D. Thomson Jr.,
whose office had just assumed line authority over
SEAC (a topic discussed further below).”> Louis
Polatty, executive vice-president of the Tallahassee
Area Chamber of Commerce, and Robert Johnson,
the university’s graduate studies dean, also
attended the meeting. In his remarks, President
Marshall emphasized the benefits of the
arrangement to Floridians by saying “an academic
interest in the past peoples and cultures of the
Southeastern region of the United States has long
been a fact at Florida State. The working rela-
tionship just established between the National Park
Service’s Archeological Center provides additional
opportunities to explore the rich historical heritage
of our area.” The Tallahassee Democrat clarified
Marshall’s remarks by noting that the new rela-
tionship built upon the Service’s responsibility
under law to conduct salvage excavations and that
Florida State’s interest in the Southeast was a key

93. Faust, Memorandum to Chief Archeologist, January 19, 1972.
94. Faust, Memorandum to Chief Archeologist, January 19, 1972.
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factor motivating the government’s choice to move
SEAC to Fleorida and to authorize the unusual
accord. “Academically,” Marshall added, “itis a
boon to our Anthropology Department.” He
expected the Service to benefit from FSU archeo-
logical expertise and for the university to benefit
from SEAC’s vast archeological collections.
Regarding curation contracts, the latter would
prove to be true. “Working together,” he con-
cluded, “the university and the park service can
continue to unlock the secrets of the past, a task to
which both have been committed independently,
for 2 number of years.”%

While FSU did not push the plan for a government-
funded annex to house SEAC on campus, it did
succeed in acquiring NPS commitment to move
SEAC in the absence of an adequately negotiated
space agreement. The high-level interest of
Assistant Secretary Reed, Director Hartzog’s imme-
diate supervisor, explains what prodded Connally’s
change of heart. For its part, Florida State, despite
some division within the Anthropology
Department, had reason enough to secure
agreement at an early date. Certainly, Hale Smith,
battling against the sinking prestige of the Anthro-
pology Department, was only too eager to do so
even if his long-time friend John Griffin was no
longer SEAC’s chief. Moreover, despite Acting
Chief Faust’s misgivings about the lack of a guar-
antee of adequate space to house the center’s
collections, SEAC staffers were probably relieved to
learn that they would soon be moving out of
Macon. Also, as a matter of record, the final SEAC-
FSU accord mysteriously dropped underwater
archeology as a specific provision for cooperation
between the parties, although it was implied in the
general provisions. Griffin had included the pro-
vision in his drafts of the accord and the topic was
discussed on several occasions with FSU staff. NPS
officials probably struck out underwater arche-
ology to appease Florida state officials, but its
sudden absence from the NPS-FSU agreement was
also somewhat portentous.

SEAC Moves to Tallahassee

The relocation of SEAC to Tallahassee took place in
two phases. The staff and office equipment moved
in june 1972 with the collections following some six
months later. The two-phased move was likely a
result of the serious complications in finding ade-
quate space, both for the archeological collections
and for the staff, but also perhaps because the
arrangements to lease space had to be made
through the General Services Administration
(GSA), which added another layer of bureaucracy
to the process. Faust made preliminary inquiries
about available space near the campus. Then, in
early May, he requested that GSA lease a building
with 8,100 square feet, to be located within a
restricted perimeter of the FSU campus.®” The
major reason for this was simply that Florida State
was unwilling to provide or did not have space
immediately available to house SEAC’s staff or its
collections. SEAC’s move to Tallahassee and its
affiliation with a university had been mandated by
national level policy and decision-making but
whether or not SEAC, at least its collections,
actually ended up on campus was apparently still in
doubt. The effect of seeking off campus space,
however, may have helped to sharpen Florida
State’s focus. It probably began to dawn on FSU
administrators that if SEAC ended up leasing space
off campus, that would not be to the advantage of
the university. Certainly, fewer funds would be
available for contracts if SEAC began to lease with
some other entity.98

Whatever it suggests about relations between NPS
and FSU, SEAC did initially set up operationsin
Tallahassee in temporary quarters. The arrival of
the Creeks in Macon may have imposed some
urgency. Unfortunately, this meant that SEAC
would have to pick up and move once again when
FSU finally provided on-campus space, at teast for
staff offices. Fortunately, temporary facilities were
available in Tallahassee to SEAC at no cost. The
NPS Florida-Caribbean District Office, a sub-
regional management arm of the Southeast
Regional Office that oversaw NPS units in Florida,
made sufficient temporary office space available to

95. National Park Service, Memorandum of Agreement between the National Park Service and Florida State University, April
121972, SEAC files. A photograph of the signing ceremony was taken, but it was not published, and regrettably has since

been lost.

96. "FSU, Park Service loin Hands,” Tallahassee Demnocrat, April 13, 1972.

97. Richard D. Faust, Memorandum to Director, Southeast Region, May 5, 1972, in A6435 folder, SEAC files.

98. For example, Faust received space and cost information from a private photography company that was leasing studio
space. David A, Avant Jr,, Letter to R. P. Faust, March 16, 1972, in A6435 folder, SEAC files,
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SEAC to allow the move.?? The staff moved into
these offices in June.

While preparing to relocate, Pete Faust computed
that SEAC possessed some two hundred tons of
archeological material.'%° However the lab and
storage space question was to be resolved, through
successful negotiation with FSU or by lease
arrangement elsewhere, space would probably be
limited and/or expensive. SEAC thus developed
and began to execute plans for the “disposition of
collections in excess of center needs.” These plans
included the negotiation of a $2,500 contract with
the University of Georgia to provide for the study
and indefinite loan of some 30,000 lbs. of material
{48 storage cases) from Chatham County, Georgia.
The center would retain only a 10 percent sample
share of the collection. This contract eliminated
some fifteen tons of material for which SEAC was
responsible. SEAC also sought to return materials
that it held for parks that were no longer within the
Southeast Region. Eighty cartons were returned to
Colonial National Historical Park and Arkansas
Post National Memorial and some ethnological
items were returned to the NPS Branch of
Museums in Washington, DC. Materials that had
been thoroughly studied were returned to
Ocmulgee’s own park collection. SEAC also sought
out universities to disperse reservoir salvage
material. For example, all material from reservoir
surveys in South Carolina was transferred to the
Institute of Archeoclogy and Anthropology at the
University of South Carolina.'% Just prior to
moving the collections and obtaining the needed
space from FSU, center Curator Donald Crusoe
was promoting the dispersion of the center’s excess
collections to any university with an interest, 102
SEAC’s archeological collections were “huge” and
everything that staff could do to reduce their size

made obtaining space from the university easier. Of
course, the smaller the collection, the easier it was
going to be to manage. This emphasis in managing
the collections continued after the move. In 1974,
FSU Research Associate Thomas J. Padgett noted
that sporadic care over the preceding forty years
meant that “some parts of the collections have been
found to be of no worth to scientific investigations
due to poor data collection techniques, improper
treatment, or loss of materials.” Thus, a significant
early concern of FSU curators was to assess and cull
from SEAC’s active collections extraneous material
that no longer retained much value 103

As one would expect, SEAC was able to place
greater pressure upon FSU to find space after the
staff actually took up residence in Tallahassee. At
meetings with FSU officials in August 1972, SEAC
made proposals for obtaining space from the uni-
versity that finally met “noticeable enthusiasm.”
Indeed, the university directed the Department of
Anthropology “to work toward identifying space
adequate for [SEAC’s] needs.” Meanwhile, the
center continued to negotiate with the Department
of Anthropology regarding proposals for its
involvement in curatorial maintenance and
research contracts. The parties achieved a major
understanding that leasing charges were only to be
made for administrative space and that charges
were not to be made for space that was considered
“shared used” or where contract work was done by
FSU for SEAC. This breakthrough was important.
The parties also apparently obtained an under-
standing that the cost of renovation of the office
space in Bellamy Hall could be absorbed by the
center over a period of years, perhaps through the
proposed contracts for curatorial maintenance or
through overhead charges on research contracts.!®
FSU did agree to absorb the upfront costs.!%3

99.  Acting Chief Richard Faust, SEAC, Memo to Research Archeologist Walker, et al., May 8, 1972, in AB435 folder, SEAC files;
and Faust, Oral History Interview, 16. The Florida-Caribbean District Office was directed by Joe Brown.
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FIGURE 24. Thomas J. Padgett helping curate SEAC's artifact collections in Bellamy Hall under contract to the Park Service. NPS
photograph, no date; SEAC file 05-00-86

In August 1972, after a long period of debate within
the Anthropology Department and between it and
the FSU administration, the university made a
sudden push to find space for SEAC’s collections.
As it turns out, finding that space was less an issue
than who was occupying it. Florida State had a rela-
tively large physical plant for anthropology,
including a brand-new building at the time - the
university had just acquired an archeological
research facility on the coast at Alligator Point. The
facility had previously served as a marine lab. There
was storage space available at this off-campus
venue. The department also had laboratory space
available on campus, although this space was being
used by Stanley Olsen, George Percy, and others.
Hale Smith had envisioned providing some of this
area to the Park Service under lease, a plan that
required a reluctant faculty to relinquish some
space. After signing its MOU with the Park Service,
however, FSU did move to accommodate SEAC.
The loss of faculty lab space may thus have gen-
erated some degree of resentment. Eventually, to

make room for SEAC, a large part of the
department’s archeological collection was packed
up and sent to the former marine lab on the coast.
That facility then suffered a space cramp. SEAC
also displaced the department’s ethnographic col-
lections, but the university relocated much of this to
another site on campus.'% In the fall of 1972, SEAC
staff finally moved from their temporary offices to
the Bellamy Hall building.

As important as the space, SEAC also obtained sub-
stantial university assistance to curate NPS
archeological collections. Direct FSU curation con-
tinued until 1981 and represented a significant
transformation in SEAC’s program responsibilities.
Salvage contracting and park research continued
essentially as at Ocmulgee (with the addition of
underwater archeology). Curatorial activities,
however, to the extent that they had existed, were
substantially modified as a result of the move.
Maintenance, curation, research, analysis,
reporting, and appropriate disposition of the col-

106. J. Anthony Parades, Oral History Interview by Cameron Binkley, March 11, 2004, National Park Service Center, 10-15.
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lections was now done though contracting.197
According to Padgett in 1974, “the program was
conceived as the most economical approach to the
problem of providing proper care for the Center’s
massive archeological collections.”!08

The Park Service and Florida State made this
arrangement possible by accepting certain compro-
mises. As with many agreements, neither party was
completely satisfied. For FSU, the MOU chiefly
meant large no-bid curatorial contracts and asso-
ciated overhead. To obtain these contracts,
however, the Anthropology Department had to rec-
ognize SEAC’s collections as “shared use” and
provide no cost storage, which displaced its own
collections and limited space available to faculty.
For the Park Service it meant obtaining cost-
effective curation (including a reduced overhead
rate), access to students, and university resources.
However, SEAC’s allocation of space was insuffi-
cient while its negotiations with campus
administrators over space had only just begun. Pro-
fessionally, of course, the new arrangement also
seemed to acknowledge “the fact that there are
functions which the University can more efficiently
discharge.”lo9 Nevertheless, the arrangement ful-
filled the intent of Director Hartzog’s
memorandum seeking to upgrade the management
and long-term care of SEAC’s archeological collec-
tions by placing them, one way or another, under
university oversight. At FSU, professional standards
could be applied better and maintained more con-
sistently over longer periods than had been the case
at Ocmulgee. Unquestionably, association with
FSU improved the physical environment for both
SEAC and its collections, which were to be moved
into a new building whose immediate former
occupant had been the Department of Anthro-
pology. The fact that the department relocated its
own archeological collections to make room for
those of SEAC suggests that FSU provided the best
facilities it had available to house the NPS collec-
tions. Unfortunately, the fact that the department

was forced to give up its own space to accom-
modate SEAC’s needs presaged future stress
between the Park Service and the university on the
issue of on-campus housing.

The Rebellion against Ernest Allen
Connally

When Ernest Allen Connally took the reins of pro-
fessional services relating to cultural resources in
the National Park Service, they came with a
mandate from Director George B. Hartzog Jr. “I
intend,” Hartzog said before a meeting of the
Society of Architectural Historians in 1967:

that the Office of Archeology and Historic
Preservation will be viewed in the Federal
Government - and out - as the equivalent of
the European monuments offices with which
you are all familiar. I intend it to be as
effective and as prestigious as its European
counterparts. I intend it to be a scholarly
institution drawing strength from such
groups as the Society of Architectural
Historians and the College Art Association.
Our distinguished Secretary of the Interior,
Stewart L. Udall, supports me in these
objectives.”!!

The mandate to create a monuments-style organi-
zation similar to those in the United Kingdom or
France, where cultural and natural resources were
managed by separate government bureaus, was a
major recommendation of the committee com-
posed of Connally, J. O. Brew, and Ronald F. Lee
that had advised Hartzog on how to implement the
National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA). As
recounted by James A. Glass, Congress had
bestowed responsibility for the NHPA upon the
Park Service after Hartzog’s energetic promotion of
the idea.!!! Connally, a preeminent architectural
historian, was a chief backer of the plan to create
the Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation
or OAHP. However, according to Robert Utley,
Connally was reluctant to leave his tenured aca-
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demic position to lead the new organization until
Hartzog gave him explicit permission to create a
“bureau within a bureau” and to set it up along dis-
ciplinary lines.! 12 This understanding was the basis
of OQAHP. While the Park Service had previously
had an important role in leading such early pro-
grams as the Historic American Buildings Survey
and had actively sought authority over historic War
Department battlefields, agency bureaucracy
remained focused nonetheless upon big natural
parks and continued to be organized and managed
to provide outdoor recreational opportunities. In
other words, the Park Service had remained rela-
tively uninterested in the preservation and research
of cultural sites. OAHP marked a major reorien-
tation of NPS policy.!!? Cultural education, historic
preservation, and research were secondary or even
tertiary considerations of NPS management until
Hartzog authorized the creation of OAHP.

Park archeology fits this basic premise. Despite the
pioneering historical archeology of Pinky Har-
rington, John Cotter, and others, and the exemplary
work by Charles Fairbanks at Ocmulgee, archeo-
logical research within the parks by the Park Service
was limited. Much NPS archeology was externally
oriented, especially work done within the Southeast
and the Midwest regions. This external orientation
grew out of funding derived from Depression-era
work-relief and later reservoir salvage programs. As
a result, NPS archeologists cultivated strong links
with academia and the Smithsonian Institution and
through these ties were able to wield some inde-
pendent power in Congress. Thus, although the
Park Service was relatively weak regarding park
archeology, it was relatively strong in terms of
external projects. Chief Archeologist John Corbett,
of course, was seeking to leverage that external
strength to promote the development of an archeo-
logical program for the parks themselves.

These unusual factors allowed archeology to
develop as a strong, separate, and somewhat dis-
tinct professional enclave within the Park Service
that was set apart from the development of the dis-

ciplines of history and historical architecture.
Archeology was also set apart from these other dis-
ciplines, because its primary modus operandi is
research that necessarily leads to the destruction of
the site excavated. Indeed, use of the term “salvage”
was emphasized by archeologists in their early
dealings with government construction agencies
who it was hoped would be less leery that archeolo-
gists were interested in “conserving” sites and thus
interfering in their operations. Archeologists cer-
tainly hoped to identify and protect sites in situ as
possible and to prevent looting, but in the end what
archeologists “preserved” was the knowledge and
artifacts obtained from sites. Preservation of the site
itself was thereafter immaterial. This key distinction
set archeologists apart from early preservationists
who valued and sought to save sites for their his-
torical or architectural signiﬁcance.m

Under Corbett’s leadership, Service archeologists
developed an even stronger sense of their own
identity, taking especially to his promotion of the
“center” idea. NPS management had not previously
allowed such concentrations of resource profes-
sionals, instead tending to scatter archeologists and
historians at various administrative levels. The
practice of concentrating and segregating archeolo-
gists both suited their dispositions and further
strengthened their professional and structural
parochialism within the Park Service. At the same
time, archeologists generally maintained good rela-
tions with the park staff. Like them, archeologists
were field-oriented and many did not have terminal
degrees of the type that, according to Utley, pro-
moted something of a class division between
Connally’s PhD-educated cultural program leaders
in Washington and NPS superintendents,! 15 This
independent mindset predisposed many NP5
archeologists, including those at SEAC, to oppose
Connally’s plans. Indeed, archeology played a
major role in the Servicewide rebellion that forced
Director Hartzog to downgrade the authority of
QAHP. Principal figures in SEAC’s early history
participated in this rebellion and understanding the
history of the center requires understanding the

112. Sellars and Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley, 10-11.
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FIGURE 25. Ernest Allen Connally gave up a tenured position at the University of lllinois, Urbana, to organize and direct OAHP.
Connally was an expert on the history and principles of architecture and a leading voice for historic preservation, but many
archeologists opposed his initiatives. Negative number 72-457, 1972; NPS Historic Photograph Collection, Harpers Ferry Center

broader context of this struggle and how it played
out.

What Connally specifically set about to do was to
integrate and elevate the profile and influence of
the primary disciplines of the field now called “cul-
tural resources management” within the Park
Service, that is archeology, history, and historical
architecture (museum management was added
later). He sought to make OAHP responsible “for
all historic external preservation programs of the
Park Service and all historic preservation projects
within the National Park System from their
beginning in the research stage through the final
construction-supervision stage.“l 16 In other words,
OAHP research, conducted as appropriate by one
or more of the three disciplines, initiated every res-
toration project and every restoration was
completed under the supervision of those same
professions. One important handicap for Connally
was that Director Hartzog probably interpreted
OAHP’s mission in a different light. In discussion
with the author, Hartzog reiterated his strong

support for OAHP, criticized later directors who
failed to have “equal fervor,” but also stated his
view that OAHP “was not intended to be a line
management-type operation with responsibility
from beginning to end.”!17

Together, Hartzog and Connally made important
strides in reorienting the Park Service to meet the
terms of the NHPA and they should rightfully be
credited for that significant accomplishment.!!®
However, the NHPA, while including archeology,
was fundamentally driven by potent social and
political forces whose interests were closely tied to
preserving the historic and architectural qualities of
the modern urban environment. Whatever the
impact of the NHPA, NPS archeologists like
Corbett and the many external archeologists whose
influence brought salvage dollars to the Park
Service, did not consider it of seminal importance
to their profession. Certainly, prominent archeolo-
gists outside the service, like ].O. Brew and Emil
Haury, supported Hartzog’s effort to raise the
prominence of the Park Service in the management

116. Sellars and Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley, 10-11.
117. George B. Hartzog Jr., Discussions with Cameron Binkley, November 22 and 29, 2005, National Park Service.
118. Again, see Glass, Beginnings of a New National Historic Preservation Program.
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of national cultural resources. Hartzog later
strongly credited these archeologists for their early
help in the establishment of OAHP.1!? Nevertheless,
this support did not imply a willingness by NPS§
archeologists to be integrated within OAHP or gov-
erned by the strictures of the NHPA. In another
vein, according to Utley, OAHP raised the profile of
the cultural professions in NPS decision-making,
which inherently challenged older traditions and
bureaucratic attitudes. Connally’s intention and his
perceived authority cut against the grain of regional
directors and superintendents who felt their
influence diminished by his drive to oversee his-
toric preservation projects from start to finigh.120

Moreover, unlike the historians, few archeologists
showed much interest in becoming part of the NPS
bureaucracy. A few, such as Bohannon at Ocmulgee
and Bradley at Russell Cave National Monument,
did take up the management of archeological sites,
or else worried over the state of collections man-
agement. The dismal experiment of placing SEAC
in charge of Ocmulgee, however, is illustrative of
the general attitude toward administration taken by
NPS archeologists. John Griffin had no liking for it.
Most NIP'S archeologists seemed content to pursue
their professional interests. The monthly reports of
the Division of Archeology tend to agree - they are
filled with accounts of professional conferences
attended, salvage activities underway, publications
in progress, and who was analyzing which col-
lection. They give only cursory indication that NPS
archeologists were part of the Park Service or had
any significant exposure to other disciplines.
Fieldwork and publication did not require interdis-
ciplinary organization or administrative experience.

The detachment of NPS archeologists from the
NPS bureaucracy was a political liability, but they
probably had less to lose than other professional
groups, For example the influence of NPS biolo-
gists, as recounted by historian Richard W, Sellars,
had declined so far by the 1960s since their inno-
vative work of the 1930s that the Park Service failed
to support the historic Wilderness Act of 1964.
Biologists, increasingly concerned with ecology and
habitat protection faced an NP5 management

structure skewed strongly towards recreation and
park development.!?! The basic concerns of NPS
archeologists, on the other hand, could be met by
adequate excavation of threatened sites. Archeolo-
gists could thus generally evade serious conflict
with pro-development NPS management philoso-
phies while other groups, such as biologists, could
not.

At any rate, Connally’s objective to integrate arche-
ology with historic preservation predisposed NPS
archeologists to oppose him, and they did. Con-
nally readily acknowledged this opposition and the
perception of archeclogists to OAHP:

I had always worked very hard to try to
maintain good relations with the
archeological community and maintain
credibility with them, and to keep them
assured that we counted archeology as a part
of historic preservation and that it wasn’t
improperly subservient to the historians.
Archeologists were terribly separatist and
terribly sensitive about what they perceived
to be a subsidiary or minor role assigned by
the Park Service to archeology, and that
everything went to history.!

Nevertheless, Corbett and his staff archeologists,
especially Deputy Chief Archeologist Zorro
Bradley, reacted negatively to Connally, whom they
perceived as undermining their efforts to promote a
significant NPS capability in archeology from
salvage work. These did support some of Con-
nally’s goals, especially associating the
archeological centers with universities. Bradley,
however, maintains that Connally actually sought
“to level the playing field” by trying to shift funds
from archeology’s much larger accounts to historic
preservation.'*? Whether Connally had a truly
hostile attitude toward archeclogy or NPS archeol-
ogists simply perceived him as hostile because of
their own parochial inclinations is unclear, but
several accounts agree that Connally was at odds
with the body of NPS archeologists.'?? Connally did
understand how powerful archeology was and gave
“Archeology” equal billing alongside “Historic Pres-
ervation” in the very title of his new organization,

119. Hartzog, Discussions with Cameron Binkley, November 22 and 29, 2005.
120. Sellars and Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley, 79-80; Utley, e-mail to Cameron Binktey, March 23 and 26, 2004.
121. See Sellars, Preserving Nature in the National Parks. This wark offers a comprehensive review of the history of NPS

management of natural resources.

122. Connally, Oral History Interview by Charles B. Hasmer Jr, July, 1981, 245.

123. Bradley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, April 15 and 24, 2004.
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but these superficialities failed to elicit a high degree
of support from an archeological community suspi-
cious of its subordination to an historic architect.!?>

Much of the strife within OAHP probably hap-
pened beneath the busy director’s level of attention.
Decades later, Hartzog gave “high marks” to the
archeologists and remembered Corbett as “a first-
class guy.” Nevertheless, he, too, acknowledged
that “rumblings” about the integration of arche-
ology and historic preservation continued despite
the support for OAHP by such prominent author-
ities as Brew and Haury. Moreover, Hartzog
generally agreed with Utley that NPS archeology
had a distinct orientation due to its strong external
ties, that archeologists were “site-oriented” (as
opposed to document-oriented historians), and
that any conflict between Connally and archeology
was derived from these professional divisions.126

In Bradley’s view, Connally was against the estab-
lishment of additional archeological centers despite
his avowed commitment to professionalize the
Service and his encouragement of Corbett to
acquire the Missouri Basin Project (MBP).127
Bradley’s perspective resonates with Connally’s
comments to Hale Smith about the Park Service not
needing an underwater archeological facility in
Florida and that “there was simply not enough of us
to go around” to allow SEAC to move to Florida
State.128 However, when directed to do so after
Assistant Secretary Nathaniel Reed expressed his
interest, Connally easily overcame political resis-

tance by Georgia to moving SEAC to Florida, so this
argument may have been a “strawman.” Perhaps
Connally’s overall focus on promoting historic
preservation did have something to do with his
resistance to moving SEAC to FSU. Indeed, if it is
true that Connally gave higher priority to preser-
vation than archeology, an argument that he would
have denied, it certainly would have tested the rela-
tions between OAHP and the body of Service
archeologists.

What is clearly known is that the archeologists
rebelled against OAHP. One major aspect of their
“insurrection” was antagonism by the staff archeol-
ogists in Washington to Connally and even Director
Hartzog. As a result, Chief Archeologist Corbett
was fired. Bradley, and Fischer to some extent, also
attempted to stir up field opposition to Connally’s
organizational schemes and eventually alienated
themselves.!2? Bradley got into trouble for resisting
the often unappreciated directive that all positions
“in which a Ph.D. degree is a normal requisite in
academic circles [must] have the same doctoral cre-
dentials.” 139 As previously mentioned, this initiative
might have resulted from pressure applied on
Hartzog by competition with the Smithsonian Insti-
tution. James Bradley, Assistant Secretary of the
Smithsonian, was particularly critical of the Park
Service for having research programs administered
by staff who lacked doctoral degrees.!3! There is
little doubt that Connally strongly backed this
policy, if he was not its originator. Zorro Bradley
was so brazen in his opposition that, at Fischer’s

124. Bradley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, April 15 and 24, 2004; Connally, Oral History Interview by Charles B. Hosmer Jr., July
1981, 92; Sellars and Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley, 11, 81. Connally had some legitimate concerns in
attempting to reform NPS archeology, and he did shield the institution from retribution by senior NPS management
when, as discussed in the introduction, open separatist attacks erupted in 1976. See Associate Director Professional
Services (Ernest Allen Connally), Memorandum to Acting Deputy Director (John E. Cook), April 7, 1976, in “IAS” folder,
History of Archeology files, Archeology Program, National Center for Cultural Resources. Nevertheless, Connally’s

relations with NPS archeology remained strained.

125. The incongruity of the title was protested by some who found it “terminological awkward and inadequate in the sense
of that it does not connote properly the scope and purpose of this Office.” This commentator recommended an
alternative - the “Office of Cultural Research and Preservation.” Publications Editor, Division of Archeology, Letter to
Chief, Office of Archeclogy and Historic Preservation, April 3, 1968, in Ernest Allen Connally Papers, “OAHP Personnel
and Organization,” Box 1, Harpers Ferry Center. The problem with the title was that it juxtaposed “archeology.” a
professional discipline with “historic preservation,” an activity.

126. Hartzog, Discussion with Cameron Binkley, November 22 and 29, 2005.

127. Bradley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, April 15 and 24, 2004, Logan, Oral History Interview by Thomas D. Thiessen, 33.

128. Chief Ernest Allen Connally, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, Memorandum to Deputy Director, Operations
(Approved and signed by George B. Hartzog), January 26, 1971, in A6435 folder, SEAC files.

129. Sellars and Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley, 81; Utley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, March 23 and 26, 2004;

Bradley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, April 15 and 24, 2004.

130. Quote from a memorandum of record sent by Connally to Hartzog with a list of decisions that the Director had agreed to
authorize. The memo also covered important staff selection decisions, largely related to archeological issues. Ernest Allen
Connally, Memoradum to the Director, March 5, 1970, in Ernest Allen Connally Papers, “Personnel OAHP,” Box 1, Harpers

Ferry Center.
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. Bradley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, April 15 and 24, 2004. There is no relationship between the two Bradleys.



FIGURE 26. NPS archeologist Zorro Bradley holding an old Eskimo platter retrieved from a dig site on Punuk Island (5t.
Lawrence Island), July 27, 1973. Photo by Robert Belous for NPS; Negative number 2160-19-2794, July 27, 1973, in “Archeology
Personnel-Bering Sea” file; NPS Historic Photograph Collection, Harpers Ferry Center

suggestion, he applied for a PhD degree from
Millard Fillmore Institute and was awarded one for
ten dollars. At one staff meeting Bradley held up his
new “certificate” and told the director that while his
new policy directed staff to have a PhD he had not
said from where the degree had to come!! 32 Because
of such antics, the agency returned Bradley to the
field, in fact, to Alaska, where he later resurrected
his career.!??

The Hartzog/Connally policy giving strong pref-
erence to individuals with PhDs was a further slap
in the face to many NPS archeologists who lacked
that degree, including John Griffin. The impact of
this policy upon Griffin’s decision to resign as Chief
of SEAC has already been discussed, although,
again, the main source of friction between Griffin
and Connally was likely Griffin’s effort to move

SEAC to Florida.'** Whatever its merit, the NPS
policy preferencing employees with doctoral
degrees undermined much support for Connally
among field archeologists. Support eroded further
when Connally promoted Rex L. Wilson to be
Chief Archeologist. Wilson was willing to work
within the structure of OAHP.'*> Connally hired
him as Chief Archeologist because he had removed
John Corbett from that position. Connally carried
out this task in August 1971 by reassigning Corbett
to be Special Assistant to the Director, OAHP.
Hartzog refused to allow Corbett to become
Departmental Consulting Archeologist, however,
for fear that the function, a Departmental responsi-
bility, might be more easily removed from the Park
Service.!?® Corbett was thus left with little to do and
soon retired. According to Utley, Connally had
found that Corbett, and Bradley as well, could not

132. Bradley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, April 15 and 24, 2004. Faust resented the requirement as well, but it did not prevent
him from eventually assuming full responsibility for SEAC. Faust, Oral History Interview, 16.

133. Sellars and Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley, 81.

134. Faust clearly recalled Griffin fussing with Washington over the issue, as did Jackson W. Moore. Faust, Oral History
Interview, 14-15; and Moore, Letters to Cameron Binkley, March 29 and May 15, 2003.

135. Incidentally, Wilson was also pressured to complete a doctoral degree. Like Griffin, the Park Service sent Wilson back to
school at NPS expense, but he, too, failed to complete his program. Later, Wilson left the Park Service for the Heritage
Conservation and Recreation Service. Bradley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, April 15 and 24, 2004; and Robert Utley, e-mail
to Cameron Binkley, March 23 and 26, 2004, National Park Service; Sellars and Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley,

81.
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“loyally cooperate” because of their opposition to
the interdisciplinary integration of archeology into
OAHP.'Y

As it turned out, by the fall of 1971, opposition to
OAHP was much more widespread than among the
ranks of NPS Washington office and field archeolo-
gists and had bubbled into areas of concern to the
profession in general. Service archeologists were
still well connected to their academic colleagues
due to NPS sponsorship of salvage work. The Park
Service had gradually overtaken the Smithsonian as
the most important government agency with a legis-
latively mandated responsibility for archeology.
The major archeological professional associations,
such as the American Anthropological Association,
the Society for American Archaeology, and even
prominent members of the CRAR who supported
OAHP, remained engaged with NPS policies. Of
course, they worried about funding, but it was
probably as important that the Park Service was
poised to play a major role in setting the direction
on leading issues of national concern to
archeologists.

Some in the archeological community complained
that the Park Service was dragging its feet on
improving park archeology. They complained
about confusion in the relations among the parks,
the regions, and the service centers. Calls were
made to revitalize and restructure the NPS archeo-
togical program to improve its ability to coordinate
with other federal, state, and private agencies.138 In
a major manifestation of professional frustration
with NPS management and politics concerning the

archeological program, Charles R. McGimsey 111, a
noted archeologist and Director of the Arkansas
Archeological Survey, launched an effort to remove
the archeology program from OAHP altogether.139
McGimsey hoped to establish archeology as a sep-
arate entity administratively parallel to and not
subordinate to OAHP. Such separation was nec-
essary, he argued, because OAHP’s major emphasis
was preservation and interpretation while the
archeological program was “primarily one of the
recovery of scientific data and identification of sig-
nificant archeological resources.” Only after the
latter was done could the former begin. Hence,
“both programs can operate with maximum effec-
tiveness in a parallel administrative situation.” 140
MeGimsey offered a set of proposals that, if imple-
mented, would atlow the Park Service to develop a
nation-wide problem-oriented approach to arche-
ology that he thought it lacked. McGimsey sought
specifically to free NPS archeology from “necessary
identity with specific construction projects” that
prevented a program of research driven by the
needs of knowledge as opposed to the needs of
expediency. 141 According to Utley, “because of all
the fuss and hassle that Hartzog had to endure from
archeologists, he was at least intrigued by this prop-
osition, because bear in mind that whatever you
might say about the archeologists, for many years
they had been organized in a politically effective
way and could mount a significant voice in the Con-
gress when it came time to pass out the money ...
The archeologists could deliver the money and the
political influence, and that appealed greatly to
I—If;\rtzct)g.”]42 Connally was willing to implement
many of these ideas, but he did not support admin-

136. Ernest Allen Connally, Notes of meeting with Director Hartzog, various dates, 1971, in Ernest Allen Connally Papers,
“Director's Decisions," Box 1, Harpers Ferry Center. In these notes, Connally discusses "health” concerns relating to
Corbett’s retirement. Later, however, Connally explains the past support of three NPS Directors for his efforts “to improve
the Service's archeclogical programs” to Acting Deputy Director John E. Cook, In that context, Connally noted that "the
seriousness with which the endeavor was initiated is indicated by the early retirement of a former Chief Archeclogist.”
Associate Director, Professional Services (Ernest Allen Connally}, Memorandum to Acting Deputy Director (John E. Cook),
April 7, 1976, in “IAS” folder, History of Archeology files, Archeology Program, National Center for Cultural Resources.
See also, Director, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, Memorandum to Directorate and All Field Offices,
August 18, 1971, in Box H22 "Archeology,” Harpers Ferry Center, which discusses various personnel changes. Incidentally,
the Departmental Consulting Archeologist position was transferred to the short-lived Heritage Conservation and
Recreation Service in 1978. Rex Wilson held this pasition after he transferred to the HCRS.

137. Sellars and Webhb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley, 81,

138. Connally, Notes of meeting with Director Hartzog, various dates, 1971; and Charles R. McGimsey lll, Letter to Dr. Ernest
Allen Connally, Chief, Office of Archeolagy and Historic Preservation, May 5, 1971, in General Collection, "Archeology

Programs,” Box H22, Harpers Ferry Center.

139. Sellars and Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley, 81; McGimsey !ll, Letter to Dr. Ernest Allen Connally, May 5, 1971;
and Charles R. McGimsey Ill, “A National Program of Archeological Research” (Fayetteville: Arkansas Archeological

Survey, University of Arkansas Museum, 1971).

140. McGimsey I, “A National Program of Archeological Research,” 17.
141. McGimsey lll, “A National Program of Archeological Research,” 10.

142. Sellars and Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley, B1.
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istrative changes that would have weakened
OAHP’s authority over archeology.!*} The chorus
of complaints against OAHP’s administration of
archeology thus continued.

Gradually, the simmering relations between arche-
ologists and preservationists emerged as a political
threat to both Connally and Hartzog, Significantly,
the struggle could be linked to a broader issue.
OAHP had stirred up opposition among another
influential group - the old-line NPS managers and
regional directors,'* These reacted negatively to
the growing power of OAHP and Connally’s
avowed goal of having historians and architects
control the process of historic preservation from
start to finish. Some superintendents and senior
NPS officials may also have disliked Connally for
personal reasons having to do with his class, cul-
tured affectations, and his status as an NPS
outsider, but most probably did not want to sur-
render any authority. In Utley’s words, they
“fear[ed] that the historians would take over and
acted to prevent it.»143 They responded by com-
plaining to the Director and by taking indirect
action. NPS archeologists, who were at odds with
Connally for their own reasons, and NPS field man-
agers thus became allies in the bureaucratic struggle
to unde OAHP.

According to Connally, Hartzog worried that
archeology might be taken out of NPS by the
department because of the pressure exerted by NPS
archeologists and their academic allies, a prospect
perhaps appealing to some NPS archeologists
whose salvage responsibilities had long accustomed
them to work outside the park system.”6 The possi-
bility that he might even lose OAHP itself - and with
it a great degree of Park Service responsibility for
American cultural resources - was probably another
real concern for the director. Both Connally and

Hartzog acknowledged the intense competition
between the National Park Service and the Smith-
sonian Institution over responsibility for cultural
resources management in the United States. In dis-
cussion with the author, Hartzog cited as one
example how Smithsonian chief 8. Dillon Ripley
challenged the Park Service over which agency
would represent the United States on the governing
committee of the United Nations Educational, Sci-
entific, and Cultural Organization (UNESCO).
Ripley used his connections to have a rider attached
to a bill providing Smithsonian authority for such
representation, but Sen. Aian Bible, an NPS sup-
porter, “squashed” the effort in committee.
Secretary of the Interior Stewart L. Udall elected to
give OAHP the assignment.!¥7 Utley and other his-
torians would later argue the merits of removing
OAHP from the Service. However, knowing
Hartzog would “have put us before a firing squad,”
they prudently awaited the administration of subse-
quent directors before raising the idea 143

At any rate, Hartzog had good reason to fear the
loss of his archeology program as a result of high-
level politicking. He also faced complaints from
senior field managers regarding the influence of
OAHP. His promise to Connally that OAHP would
become an effective “European-style monuments
agency” ran counter to these forces. At first,
Hartzog and Connally tried to co-opt their archeo-
logical critics by creating a new position directly
beneath Connally, Deputy Director, OAHP, to be
staffed by a prominent archeologist. This position,
in fact, was offered to Haury, perhaps in hope that it
would help silence complaints. Haury turned the
job down, citing his age. They also sought to hire
McGimsey as Chief Archeologist while watering
down some of his more threatening administrative
proposals, mainly removing archeology from
OAHP. The remaining proposals would have left in

143. Chief Ernest Allen Connally, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, Letter to Messrs. Lee, Brew, and Kahler, May
28, 1971, in General Collection, "Archeology Programs,” Box H22, Harpers Ferry Center.

144 Sellars and Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley. 10-11, 79-80; Logan provides a similar account of how Connally
struggled against the regional directors who had no interest in history and who sought to expand their own bureaucratic
empires at the expense of OAHP. Logan, Oral History Interview by Thomas D. Thiessen, 46-47.

145. Sellars and Webb, An interview with Robert M. Utley, 9.

146. Connally’s own handwritten notes of meetings held with Hartzog clearly indicate the Director's concern with high-level
pressure from archeological critics and his fear that the archeclogy program might be removed from NPS as a result.
Connally, Notes of meeting with Director Hartzog, various dates, 1971. He also explained Hartzog’s concern in an
interview in 1981. See, Ernest Allen Connally, Oral History Interview by Charles B. Hosmer Jr., July 1981, 124-125, in Ernest

Allen Connally Papers, Box 5, Harpers Ferry Center.

147. Hartzog, Discussions with Cameron Binkley, Navember 22 and 29, 2005; see also Connally, Oral History Interview by

Charles B. Hosmer Jr, July 1981, 167-168.

148. Utley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, March 23 and 26, 2004.
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place a strong Washington-controlled archeology
program. McGimsey, however, was also unwilling
to take a position with the Park Service, at least on
the terms offered.!4® Ultimately, Hartzog could not
silence discontent raised by some prominent
outside critics, his own field staff, and the Regional
Directorate and still accommodate Connally’s
vision for OAHP.

According to Utley, the ax began to fall on OAHP in
1970 when Hartzog removed Connally’s research
historians and historical architects and transferred
them to the Washington Service Center on Wis-
consin Avenue, which handled design and
construction for Eastern parks.150 In this action,
Hartzog probably sought to appease the complaints
of field managers. If the idea of OAHP, however,
had been full oversight of the design and con-
struction process by resource experts, it was not a
move in that direction. As previously noted, the
former director disagreed with this character-
ization. Hartzog interpreted the mission of OAHP
as a “European-style monuments agency” being the
chief professional source of federal authority on
cultural resource management. In his view, OAHP
was intended to provide vital professional advice,
including cutreach to the public and other gov-
ernment agencies, but OAHP was not intended to
be a line management operation.151

Concerned that McGimsey’s plan to remove arche-
ology from OAHP might prevail, former NPS Chief
Historians Ronald F. Lee and Herbert E. Kahler,
who had replaced Connally on Hartzog’s NHPA
advisory committee, along with J. O. Brew, coun-
seled the director in late November 1971 thatan
“interdisciplinary approach” was key to the success
of historic preservation overall. Indeed, they
argued, “historic preservation has been specifically
defined by Congress as embracing sites, buildings,
structures, objects and districts significant in
history, architecture, culture and archaeology
[original emphasis].” While the trio informed

Hartzog that they had “tried to view organization
problems from your standpoint,” they strongly
advised him that:

To achieve close coordination between
history, historic architecture, and archaeolo-
gists ... it is the view of your committee that
the preferred organization is one that groups
these professional staffs into three divisions
within one overall professional unit, much as
you have these professions organized now in
the Office of Archaeology and Historic Pres-
ervation. While this is not the only way, in
our view it is the most efficient and eco-
nomical way to provide these professional
services and more importantly should insure
the highest attainable professional
standard.1%2

Brew, Kahler, and Lee also reminded the director
that he had previously supported OAHP in simiiar
words. They praised OAHP as “loyal, capable, dil-
igent, and even astute.” Still, the trio acknowledged
“that a very serious problem developed in the
archaeological program during the past two years.”
They simply did not see the separation of arche-
ology from OAHP as the solution. Instead, “the
greatest need now, as we see i, is promptly to
appoint a new Chief Archaeologist and give him
and the Chief of QAHP the task of completing the
straightening out of the program, and developing
long range objectives.” The CRAR, they indicated,
was willing to help the Park Service reach this
8031.153

This passionate expression of concern from
Hartzog’s most trusted advisors indicated the
serious possibility that CAHP was facing dramatic
reform and that archeology was a major instigator
for it. Hartzog mulled the matter over for several
months, as he admitted at the time. In April 1972, he
replied to his advisory committee’s November
memorandum regarding the Service’s management
system. Hartzog diplomatically reputed some of its
concerns about role and function statements. These

149. Connally, Letter to Messis. Lee, Brew, and Kahler, May 28, 1971; Connally, Notes of meeting with Director Hartzog,

various dates, 1971,

150, Utley, e-mail to Cameran Binkley, March 23 and 26, 2004; Connally, Oral History Interview by Charles B. Hosmer Ir., July
1981, 196. This service center, which had several names, subsequently merged with the Western Office of Design and
Construction, 5an Francisco, to ¢reate the Denver Service Center.

151. Hartzog, Discussions with Cameron Binkley, November 22 and 29, 2005.

152. Ronald F. Lee, Letter to Mr. George B. Hartzog Jr., November 24, 1971, with attached memo by Renald F. Lee, Herbert. E.
Kahler, and J. O. Brew, November 23, 1971, in George B. Hartzog Jr., Papers, Subject File Additions, box 19, folder 139
(“Lee, Ronald F."}, Special Collections, Strom Thurmond Institute, Clemson University.

153. Lee, Letter to Mr. George B. Hartzog Jr, November 24, 1971, with attached memo by Lee, Kahler, and Brew, November

23,1971,
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tie positions more closely to their functions, as
opposed to their professions, and can be used to
impose tighter organizational command and
control. Obviously, control was an issue within
OAHP. “Clear statements understood by all, and
applied, do avoid misunderstandings,” Hartzog
informed Lee. The director acknowledged that
Lee’s view on staff relationships was “extremely
meaningful.” “Hopefully,” he went on, “we have
incorporated this philosophy in role and function
statements also.” 1% Bowing to the wishes of his
advisors, Hartzog did not sever archeology from
historic preservation.

Wevertheless, in early 1972, to tamp down institu-
tional hostility to OAHP, the director did again
demote its influence. He simply returned line
authority for archeology to the regional directors.
This move helped alleviate disputes between Con-
nally and NPS archeology as well as between OAHP
and the field. Connally immediately tried to fore-
stall the event. He and his new Chief Archeologist,
Rex L. Wilson, who had just replaced Corbett and
was much more willing to follow Connally’s lead,
went to a CRAR meeting where they asked the
attending NPS archeologists to sign a memo-
randum to the director affirming their confidence
in OAHP and their willingness to remain beneath
Washington. Needless to say, the archeologists
took a dim view of this proposal. Not being under

Connally’s thumb suited their interests. Wilfred
Logan, Chief of the Midwest Archeological Center,
and Pete Faust, who was then Acting Chief of
SEAC, went to their respective regional directors,
explained the situation, and requested “pro-
tection.” Although no organizational changes had
been made, Hartzog’s memo had already gone out,
effectively authorizing the regional directors to
assume authority over the archeological centers,
which they were happy to do. Logan and Faust thus
obtained specific instructions forbidding them
from undertaking any action without prior
approval from “their” regional directors. These
“orders” allowed Logan, Faust, and the other
archeologists to tell Connally and Wilson that they
could not sign the memorandum supporting
OAHP.1%3 Lacking the support of NPS archeolo-
gists, Connally was unable to undo what had been
done. Rather than risk losing archeology to the
department, Hartzog returned it to the regions.
This move pleased both the Regional Directorates
and the archeologists themselves and avoided the
bisection of OAHP at the national level. To some
extent, Connally was thus a victim of his own
success in building up a program that had
threatened the NS status quo. The administration
of SEAC and the other archeological centers as
“field dependencies” of OAHP had come to an
end.!%®

154. Associate Director J. Leonard Norwood [on behalf of Director Hartzog], to Mr. Ronald F. Lee, April 11, 1972, in Gearge B.
Hartzog Jr., Papers, Subject File Additions, box 19, folder 139 ("Lee, Ronald "), Special Collections, Strom Thurmond

Institute, Clemson University.

155. Logan, Oral Histary Interview by Thomas D. Thiessen, 18-12,

156. As discussed in the Introduction, NPS archeologists continued active resistance to Connally until Chiet Anthropologist
Douglas $covill reconsidered the merit of openly attacking historic preservation policies at the 1976 Missouri Conference
of the Society for American Archaeclogy. In 1972, Connally was promoted above OAHP to become Associate Director,
Professional Services, and the programs of OAHP were regrouped into externally and internally oriented divisions
beneath separate assistant directors. The title “OAHP" disappeared from organizational charts as did the goal of creating
a mini “European-style monuments” agency within the Park Service after several cultural resource functions were
transferred to the Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service in 1978, somewhat as Hartzog had feared might

happen.
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Chapter Four: SEAC and Florida
State University (1973-1995)

The arrival of the Southeast Archeological Center
at Florida State University marks an important
phase in the history of SEAC and the development
of federal archeology in the Southeast. It suggests
both the failure and the success of the National
Park Service in curating what was probably the
targest holding of recovered artifactual remains
from aboriginal civilizations of the Southeastern
United States. NPS archeclogists had deemed it
essential to relocate this huge assemblage from
Ocmulgee National Monument to redress defi-
ciencies accrued from a prolonged period of
inadequate attention.! After the move to Florida
State, the collection did begin to receive better
management while staff capabilities and profes-
sionalization increased with exposure to a
university environment, although not without some
ups and downs in NPS-FSU relations. Meanwhile,
congressional interest in park matters spurred the
center toward ever greater accountability on cura-
torial issues while imposing ever greater restraints
on the viability of SEAC’s on-campus arrange-
ments. Still, detached from Ocmulgee, SEAC's
mission as a regional archeological resource center
became more clearly defined, despite unanticipated
complexities in its relations with Ocmulgee. Finally,
Servicewide reorganizations and underwater
archeology also became issues of great focus as the
promise and the limitations of the NPS-FSU coop-
erative agreement played out.

Disposition and Curation of

Archeological Collections: Part |

In January 1973, SEAC completed the second major
phase of its move to Tallahassee. SEAC Curator
Denald Crusoe organized the packing and
shipment of some fifteen truckloads of archeo-
logical artifacts. The cost to ship the collection,
estimated to weigh between 318,000 and 397,000
pounds, was approximately sixteen thousand
dollars.? The moving vans arrived in Tallahassee in
hourly intervals from Macon, apparently upon a
single day, and were unloaded by FSU graduate stu-
dents and SEAC staff. Most of the two million plus
artifacts were packed inside their steel museum
cases and moved into archeological storage areas of
the Department of Anthropology in the basement
of Bellamy Hall where it later took weeks to unpack
and count them. By some estimates, this event
marks the true establishment of SEAC at Florida
State.?

When Director Hartzog ordered SEAC to take
charge of Ocmulgee, no matter to what extent John
Griffin took the directive seriously, it created some
discomfort for the staffs of SEAC and the mon-
ument.? The removal of the monument’s
collections, long thought to belong to it, created
additional stress between respective staffs.
However, no accounts have surfaced to suggest any
serious opposition to the move by Ocmulgee
employees.” As much could be said about the
reaction of most Macon-area residents, the majority
of whom were probably little concerned or

1. Bradley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, April 15 and 24, 2004,

Invoice for estimated cost of services, AERO Mayflower Transit Company, February 14, 1972, in A6435 folder, SEAC files. It
would cost roughly ane hundred thousand dollars to move an equivalent weight in 2004 terms.

3. *“Southeast Archeological Center Moves to FSU,” Tallahassee Democrat, January 14, 1973, 26; and Robert C. Wilson,
Letter to Cameron Binkiey, March 29, 2004, National Park Service.

4.  Faust, Oral History Interview, 11-13.
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informed about activities at the monument. A few,
however, wrote the Park Service soon afterwards to
lament the loss of the artifacts.® Their concerns
would linger.

Several years after the move, John Holley, executive
director of the Macon-Bibb County Planning and
Zoning Commission, ignited a controversy. When
Holley discovered that the Park Service had
shipped the WPA-era archeological collections to
Florida, he demanded their return. The Macon Tele-
graph, alocal newspaper, supported Holley’s
complaints and encouraged citizens to join a letter-
writing campaign to force the Park Service to return
the artifacts. Subsequently, the Bibb County Com-
missioners contacted Georgia Senator Sam Nunn,
who formally queried the Park Service about the sit-
uation.” The Park Service informed Nunn that it
would return the artifacts to Macon after they had
been “analyzed.” Ocmulgee Superintendent Walter
T. Barrett explained that the artifacts were exca-
vated from what was basically “a garbage dump”
and that “everything that’s fit to display is on
display now™ at the park. Still, the newspaper
played up the controversy. It attributed uncompli-
mentary remarks made by Barrett about Holley
“not knowing what he is talking about™ and
reported sarcastically that the material would be
returned to Macon “as soon as federal officials
analyze the 2.5 million objects and artifacts they
have hoarded in a Florida lalborr:\tcnry.”8 The paper
did print a letter by Barrett that attempted to clear
up misunderstandings regarding the relocation of
SEAC and the archeological collections. Barrett
explained how the Park Service had “made some
progress in analyzing the material [during the
1960s] but the pace and extent of this work was

inadequate and clearly an ineffective way of pro-
ceeding,” Barrett put forth the reasons that the Park
Service created SEAC. He explained that one of
SEAC’s mandates was to inventory and report on
the vast Ocmulgee collection, as well as other col-
lections held at Ocmulgee but not related to it, and
that the agreement with Florida State had provided
SEAC with access to facilities, faculty, and student
resources that greatly improved its ability to study
the Ocmulgee material. He also noted that “SEAC is
better able to provide proper curatorial attention to
the collection at FSU,” but nevertheless that “about
one-fourth of the artifacts taken from Ocmulgee to
FSU have been returned to the park” already.”

This sudden uproar occurred in 1977, five years
after the collections left the monument. It can
probably be attributed mostly to John Helley, who
may have had his own ax to grind with the Park
Service. However, Holley only succeeded in gener-
ating such anti-NPS publicity because of a lingering
reservoir of local resentment. This attitude was
untdoubtedly present in 1972 when SEAC actually
moved the archeological collections. That no
similar uproar occurred at that time is curious and
seems to indicate how successful NPS officials were
in controlling negative publicity about the event. It
was impossible to keep the move secret, of course,
but SEAC and Regional Office staff deliberately
sought to maintain a low-key posture to avoid con-
troversy. In late December 1972, for example, a
local citizen called the “Bill Powell” radio show to
find out why the Park Service was removing the
artifacts. A television news crew then decided to air
a segment on the impending move. SEAC Curator
Donald Crusoe, still at Ocmulgee, alerted SEAC
staff in Tallahassee. George Fischer, who tock the

5. Archeological material connected to Ocmulgee National Monument and Central Georgia (including WPA-era)
excavations represented the bulk of SEAC' collection, but, as reported in 1975, the Center had significant other
collections in the following areas: Florida Northwest Gulf Coast, Everglades National Monument [now Park], Georgia
Coast, Natchez Trace Parkway, Fort Frederica National Monument, Russell Cave National Monument, and Virgin Islands
National Park, as well as miscellaneous site and ceramic type collections, and some whole ceramic vessels. Thomas J.
Padgett, "Annual Report: Curatorial Maintenance Program for the Southeast Archeological Center {Fiscal Year 1975)”
(Tallahassee, Florida State University, 1975}, 9, in Richard R. Vernon files, SEAC.

6. Bradley, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, April 15 and 24, 2004; Richard D. Faust, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, Aprit 5, 2004,

National Park Service.

~l

Marsh, Ocmulgee National Monument: An Administrative History, 53-54.

8. "Artifacts to Come Back,” The Macon Telegraph (December 7, 1977), clipping in "Ocmulgee News Articles, 1970s,”
Ocmulgee National Park files. There was a surge of anti-NPS letters to the paper as well. However, not all Maconites
concerned with the issue opposed the relocation. One local, claiming to be "one of the few Indians here in Macon who
can actually produce federally documented proof” of her Native American heritage, wrote that the Ocmulgee artifacts
“DO NOT belong to Macon or its citizens except as citizens of the United States” and if the Park Service saw fit to relocate
the artifacts to improve their study, she gave it her “full support.” Agnes K. Webster, “Indian Relics Belong Elsewhere,”

Macon News, November 20, 1977, 6A.

9.  Walter T. Barrett, “"Misunderstanding’ Exists About Artifacts,” The Macon Telegraph (December 7, 1977), clipping in
“Qcmulgee News Articles, 1970s,” Ocmulgee National Park files.
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call, was greatly concerned and advised Crusoe to
“soft pedal the thing” as much as possible. Fischer
then alerted the Regional Office and staff there pre-
pared to handle any repercussions. As it turned out,
the television coverage was factual and not antago-
nistic. The potential for controversy clearly existed,
however, and the Park Service took it seriously. !’
Indeed, Ernest Connally’s reluctance to act on
archeclogists’ arguments for moving SEAC to Tal-
lahassee is partially justified on this record,
although he was also concerned about archeo-
logical favoritism and costs. Allan Marsh, who
served at Ocmulgee National Monument between
1985 and 1992, recalled that even during his tenure
“local visitors still occasionally complained that few
artifacts were on display and asked where they were
and if they would come back.”!!

The sensitivity of local citizens around Macon and
officials in the Park Service regarding the removal
of Ocmulgee’s archeological collections helps
explain, if it cannot confirm, an interesting story, an
oral tradition among monument staff concerning
the timing of the move. According to the story,
SEAC moved the archeological collections during
the night such that the last vans were leaving the
monument as park staff were arriving for duty the
next day. The explanation for moving the collec-
tions “in the dark of night” is that it was a security
measure to avoid any potential interference by
locals, possibly even a “high]"acl(ing.”12 Another
explanation for such a tactic is that it would have
limited disruption at the park during normal hours
and would have eliminated the prospect of
upsetting any visitors who happened by, which
might have generated unwanted publicity. The col-
lections might also have been moved during the
night for simple logistical reasons. The existence of
this story, dubbed the “Mid-night Move” by some,
whether true or not, suggests the degree of tension
that was created by the NPS decision to relocate the
Ocmulgee collections to Florida. Creation of the
story, if untrue, or remembrance of it, if true, was

probably fed by that original tension while lingering
public resentment ensured its retelling over the
years. In that sense, the existence of the story is
more important than whether it is true. Removing
the archeological collections from Ocmulgee was a
difficult task for political reasons, but the Park
Service persevered because it was committed to
improving their care. Perhaps professional
judgment and issues that are politically sensitive
cannot always be balanced in an agency whose
nltimate responsibility is heritage preservation.
NPS archeologists have had to face the issue many
times. This case is a good example, however, of how
Service personnel have tried to walk one of the finer
lines in cultural resource management.

Several years after Florida State took over responsi-
bility for SEAC’s archeological collections, Dr.
James W, Stoutamire, a research associate of FSU’s
Department of Anthropology, completed an annual
end-of-year report on the status of the university’s
curatorial efforts under the MOTU. At the time, the
department’s primary goals for curating this col-
lection included continuous collections inventory,
collections maintenance and repair, records main-
tenance and repair, the implementation of
standardized curatorial procedures, and the cre-
ation of long-term curatorial and research
objectives. The department also sought to support
SEAC by evaluating the research potential of the
collection, by providing research assistance, and by
disseminating research results.!?

Stoutamire’s report reveals that problems in man-
aging the archeological collections at Ocmulgee
were far more problematic than deficiencies in the
adequacy of the museum building to prevent water
damage. Indeed, Stoutamire details a history of
considerable curatorial neglect. Under Director
Hartzog’s administration, the Park Service
acknowledged the scope of this deficiency and took
corrective action, albeit with limited funds. An
important reason for the relocation of SEAC’s huge

10. G[eorge Fischer] to Pete [Richard Faust], December 26 and 27, 1972, Memorandum in A6435 folder, SEAC files.

11, Alan Marsh, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, April 7, 2004, National Park Service.

12. Sylvia Flowers, Interview with Cameron Binkley, March 11, 2004, National Park Service. The validity of this story cannot be
confirmed because documentary evidence is not available. Alan Marsh, who wrote Ocmulgee’s administrative history
{NPS, 1986), similarly uncovered no documents bearing upon the story, although he was aware of it. NPS Regional
Archivist Sara Van Beck, who worked on a collections management plan for Qcmulgee, reported that documents were
missing from Ocmulgee's files. Several current and former NPS archeologists acknowledged hearing the story, although
some doubted the story to be true, SEAC's own records regarding the move were not conclusive either way.

13. James W. Stoutamire, *Administrative Report: Curatorial Maintenance Program for the Southeast Archeological Center
(Fiscal Year 1977)" (Tallahassee, Florida State University, 1977), 1, in General Collection, *Archeology Programs,” Box H22,

Harpers Ferry Center.
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FIGURE 27. A “Creek Parade” through downtown Macon in the 1970s. The removal of Indian artifacts by the Park Service from
Ocmulgee National Monument was controversial years after SEAC relocated to Florida. NPS photograph, no date; Ocmulgee
National Monument park files

archeological collection was to take advantage of
the efficiencies of a cooperative arrangement with
FSU that might allow substantially better care in the
absence of major new funding. Namely, curatorial
contracts could capitalize upon inexpensive
student labor (often donated through the VIP
program) overseen by a university expert. Research
was also facilitated by allowing students and FSU
faculty ready access to these collections. It was a
win-win situation. Still, Stoutamire found “visible
progress” frustratingly slow because “a whole series
of steps™ had to be completed to solve any single
issue. At the same time, FSU had to institute needed
changes in the management of the collection
without invalidating prior systems or creating new
errors. Even simple issues could thus resist reso-
lution. For example, to locate all the material
cataloged under the control of SEAC it was first
necessary to resolve incomplete and inaccurate
loan files, produce a complete inventory of the
remaining collections on hand, and organize
catalog files so that complete lists of catalog
numbers could be compiled and the specific
material cataloged could be produced.'® Problems
that the Park Service had ignored for years included
the creation of a complete accession file, an item
essential to the management of any museum or

archeological collection. Moreover, in addition to
new materials, Stoutamire estimated that approxi-
mately one million artifacts in SEAC’s collection
had never been cataloged. This long-standing
problem essentially made research on those items
impossible.

Stoutamire did report progress in cataloging the
collection. He instituted new procedures that
required field crews to assist in the cataloging of
materials as they were excavated. These procedures
benefited the collection in that they produced more
accurate and detailed records and allowed labo-
ratory workers more time to address the backlog
problem.! By 1981, the year Stoutamire filed his
last annual report, he and his assistants, and
numerous student volunteers, had spent thousands
of man hours addressing various NPS curation
needs. One accomplishment was that Stoutamire
was able to correct the accession files so that “the
current accession records system has been update
[sic] to reflect all archeological projects known to
have been conducted in areas of the National Park
Service, Southeast Region.” Nevertheless, it is
obvious that the need to process current records
was a constant limitation on the results that could
be expected in correcting long-standing defi-

14. Stoutamire, “Administrative Report: Curatorial Maintenance Program (Fiscal Year 1977),” 4-5.
15. Stoutamire, “Administrative Report: Curatorial Maintenance Program (Fiscal Year 1977),” 8-9.
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ciencies. For example, Stoutamire noted in the
same report that over one hundred boxes of
backlog material was threatened by loss of data
while it awaited caltaloging.16

Considering the numerous issues connected with
managing SEAC’s archeological collections, espe-
cially overcoming backlog problems dating to
relief-era excavations, the question could be asked,
“why are these artifacts important?” By the mid-
1980s, many professional archeologists had dis-
credited the value of excavations conducted by the
Civil Works Administration and the Works
Progress Administration. Among other problems,
they argued that these massive projects lacked ade-
quate supervision for their inexperienced crews,
controlled methods were not used, and documen-
tation was left incomplete with many projects
failing to post final reports. Nevertheless, an entire
generation of archeologists cut their professional
teeth on relief-era projects while the typologies,
chronologies, and areal syntheses they developed
provided a background for much modern interpre-
tation and research which cannot now be revisited
because the sites were either fully excavated at the
time or later destroyed by subsequent
development.

In 1985, an FSU anthropology graduate student,
Judy Lynn Hellmich, completed a unique thesis in
support of her FSU master’s requirements that
challenged this prevalent attitude. Hellmich argued
that the rising cost of excavation, reduced funding,
and the development of a “preservation ethic,” had
led many archeologists to re-assess the value of
curated collections despite a strong academic prej-
udice toward original field excavations. She noted
that many funding agencies had begun to ask for
assessments of existing collections before making
grants for additional excavation projects while
more funding was becoming available for long-term
curation of previously excavated materials.'”

To demonstrate how recently developed theories,
analytical techniques, and technological innova-

tions could derive additional information from old
data sets, Hellmich chose to assess the integrity and
research value of the relief-era excavations con-
ducted at or near Ocmulgee National Monument
and curated at SEAC. Her thesis, entitled “The
Research Potential of C.W.A. and WPA. Archeo-
logical Collections from Bibb County, Georgia,”
was important in at least two regards. First, her
work offered a concrete example of how synergistic
and mutually beneficial was the maturing SEAC-
FSU relationship. Second, her thesis offered an
assessment of the curatorial state and research
potential of a core segment of SEAC’s collection as
it stood in 1985. Hellmich attempted to evaluate
that state by asking such questions as were the arti-
facts excavated using a systematic process? Are
missing items representative or unique? Are
support documents available and complete?'® After
reviewing changes in the manner by which arche-
ology extracts data from artifacts, Hellmich
concluded that “the application of both theoretical
and physical analysis techniques which have been
instituted since the excavation of the C.W.A. and
W.P.A,, Bibb County, collections should allow for
the extraction of a great deal of data from these col-
lections and, in particular, add to our
understanding of how man lived in the Bibb
County, Georgia, area during the prehistoric and
early historic periods.”!’

Hellmich drew this conciusion even after deter-
mining that a great deal of cultural information that
was once contained in the collection “has been lost
due to careless curatorial practices and natural dete-
rioration.”?? It was not just neglect, however, as the
Park Service itself had helped to seatter the col-
lection by loaning out artifacts to universities,
Ocmulgee, other museums, and often to individual
scholars. While most transfers were properly noted
in the accession files, roughly 10 percent were
unaccounted for, and could not be recovered. Some
of the artifacts were representative “type” items
while some were unique. Some were museum
quality items and not recorded on loan, but simply
missing. While some of these might have been

16. James W. Stoutamire, "Annual Report: Curatorial Maintenance Program for the Sautheast Archeglogical Center (Fiscal
Year 1981)" (Tallahassee, Florida State University, 1981), 3, 24, in Richard R. Vernon files, SEAC.

17. Judy Hellmich, "The Research Potential of CW.A. and W.P.A. Archeological Collections from Bibb County, Georgia®
(Masters thesis, Florida State University, 1985), 2-4. Incidentally, Hellmich later pursued an NPS career, eventually
becoeming Chief of Interpretation at Grand Canyon National Park.

18. Hellmich, “Research Potential of CW.A. and W.P.A. Archeological Collections,” 6-7.

19. Hellmich, “Research Potential of CW.A. and W.P.A. Archeological Collections,” 26.

20. Hellmich, “Research Potential of CW.A. and W.PA. Archeclagical Collections,” 102.
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stolen, "it is suspected,” she stated, “that missing
artifacts from these sites may have been placed in
type collections ... and that these collections were
distributed to interested scholars and institutions
without their being recorded. If this is the case, the
integrity of many of the Macon Plateau Collections
cannot be restored to any precise degree.” Indeed,
as noted above, when SEAC prepared to move to
Tallahassee, it had deliberately sought to cleanse its
collection to help deal with its inadequate space
arrangements.?! In retrospect, Hellmich found such
policy erroneous. She recommended that the Park
Service conduct an inventory of all artifacts held at
other institutions to determine what was in fact lost.
22 Furthermore, she stated emphatically:

It is imperative that these collections
undergo no further deterioration and that
their integrity is no longer threatened by
haphazard curation. Rather, these collec-
tions should be treated as valuable research
materials deserving the same treatment that
artifacts excavated using modern investi-
gative and interpretive techniques receive.

Moss-Bennett and the Evolution of
Salvage Archeology

On June 24, 1973, Pete Faust, who had assumed the
role of Acting Chief after John Griffin’s resignation,
put aside some long-standing reservaticns, and

accepted the permanent position as Chief,
Southeast Archeological Center.?4 He would hold
the job for over twenty years. Faust had first come
to the center with its creation at Ocmulgee National
Monument in October 1966 to assume the position
of Chief, Archeological Research, which essentially
meant that he managed salvage contracting for the
River Basin Surveys. One of the projects that he
held responsibility for was contracting for the Ten-
nessee-Tombigbee Waterway, a massive Panama
Canal-sized construction project begun in 1972 by
the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers that sought to
link the northward-flowing Tennessee River with
the southward-flowing Tombigbee River - basi-
cally, a shortcut for commerce to the Gulf of
Mexico.

The Corps traditionally relied upon the NPS Inter-
agency Archeological Salvage Program to
coordinate and manage its salvage needs and the
Tennessee-Tombighee Waterway project was no
exception, Indeed, it was exactly this type of project
for which Congress had passed the Reservoir
Salvage Act of 1960. This act, and others passed in
the 1960s, namely the National Historic Preser-
vation Act and the National Environmental Policy
Act, mandated construction agencies to conduct
cultural resource mitigation along the route of the
project, which would inundate large stretches of

21. See, for example, concluding transcript remarks by SEAC staff in Mark Williams, ed., Proceedings of the 1973 Symposium
on Lamar Archaeology (Box Springs, Georgia: Lamar Institute, 1990). NPS was not completely responsible for this.
Hellmich noted that some materials from recerds of the Swift Creek Collection, for example, were missing because Arthur
R. Kelly, who headed the Ocmulgee excavations, never returned materials he was using to complete his analysis of the
relief-era work. Also, as discussed earlier in the text, there was at least one case of deliberate negligence or
incompetence by an NPS official at Ocmulgee who defied good archeological practice and NP5 policy by simply giving
artifacts away. Despite such problems, Hellmich found that the Bibb County collection held some some 75 volumes of
field notes that provided an almost complete set of collections records. Physcially, she noted that SEAC had treated the
CWA-WPA collection's maps for conservation, had stored the WPA-era cards and artifacts in fireproof boxes, and had
cleaned, preserved, and placed the artifacts in small chipboard trays ar ziplock bags. All artifacts from a single catalog
number were then stored together unless prevented by lack of space. See, Hellmich, “Research Potential of CW.A. and

W.P.A. Archeclogical Collections,” 66-67, 70, 72-73.

22. Hellmich, "Research Potential of CW.A. and W.P.A. Archeological Collections,” 67-70.

23. Hellmich, “Research Potential of C.W.A. and W.P.A. Archeological Collections,” 104, This viewpoint, valid in 1385, is even
more valid today. In early 2005, for example, Sissel Schroeder published "Reclaiming New Deal-Era Archeology: Exploring
the Legacy of William S. Webb and the Jonathan Creek Site.” Schroder cited several recently published articles based
upon research in old collections that led to reinterpreations of previous excavations (see page 67, footnote 7). Schroeder
also argued the merits of fresh field work and that conservation archeclogy sometimes went too far, but essentially
concluded that “the ongoing Jonathan Creek research clearly demonstrates the potential of otd collections to answer
new questions and augment our understanding of ancient peoples. The jonathan Creek site has a new kind of iconic
status as an emblem of the benefits of archeological curation and the quality of New Deal-era archeolagy, underscoring
how cotlections ¢an be the foundation of past, present, and future knowledge.” See Sissel Schroeder, "Reclaiming New
Deal-Era Archeology: Exploring the Legacy of William $. Webb and the Jonathan Creek Site,” CRM: The Journal of

Heritage Stewardship, 2, no.1 (Winter 2005): 53-71.

24. Faust, Oral History Interview, 16; National Park Service, Historic Listing of National Park Service Officials (Washington, DC:
National Park Service, 1991), accessed online at: http:/fwww.cr.nps.gov/history/online_books/tolson/histlist.htm (accessed
February 7, 2005). Several factors caused Faust to be hesitant in accepting the SEAC position, among them persennel
issues, working with the F5U bureaucracy. and Ernest Connally’s emphasis on appointing candidates with a PhD to

research positions.
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the Tombigbee River Valley and numerous archeo-
logical sites in Mississippi and Alabama.

The Tennessee-Tombigbee Waterway project was
controversial and opposed by numerous environ-
mental and commercial interests. According to a
history of the project by Jeffrey K. Stine, this oppo-
sition resulted in the Corps speeding up the project
by working not only at the beginning of the pro-
posed route as first planned, but at its middle and
end as well. This strategy dramatically complicated
efforts to oversee the needed salvage work, because
the Park Service was geared to conduct archeology
on a limited site-by-site basis. Indeed, it had only
granted contracts for the southernmost portion of
the waterway at a site known as the Gainesville
Lock and Dam.?’ According to Stine, “there was no
real research or recovery plan at this stage, which
typified federal CRM at the time.” As late as May
1974, Chief Faust was telling contractor Robert
Thormne of the University of Mississippi that “By all
means do not hesitate to let us know what research
interests and proposals you may now have for the
Tennessee-Tombigbee project.”2® In Stine’s view, it
was impossible for SEAC to manage a project on the
scale of the Tennessee-Tombigbee Waterway
without a more proactive approach. For better or
worse, however, Faust did not have to resolve this
predicament. In a few months, he was directed to
reorganize SEAC’s functions and basic orientation
to eliminate all external archeological projects, the
very projects whose funding had previously been
the mainstay of the center’s archeological program
and which had been a major source of FSU’s
interest in negotiating a cooperative agreement
with SEAC.

In 1974, after years of debate and lobbying, Con-
gress passed the Archeological and Historic
Preservation Act {(AHPA). AHPA is often referred
to as “Moss-Bennett” after the legislation’s chief
congressicnal sponsors, Sen. Frank Moss of Utah
and Rep. Charles Bennett of Florida. Moss-Bennett
specifically expanded provisions of the Reservoir
Salvage Act. It required federal agencies to preserve
historic and archeological objects and materials
collected from archeological sites that would oth-

erwise be lost or destroyed as a result of “any
Federal construction project or federally licensed
activity or program.”?? In other words, the act was
not limited just to reservoirs. More importantly,
Moss-Bennett allowed agencies to program up to
one percent of project funds for archeological costs
into their construction budgets. They could also
transfer funds to the Park Service to have the work
done, or contract it out themselves. Agencies could
use project funds both to recover archeoclogical
data and to publish the results.

Moss-Bennett sought to ameliorate long-standing
problems relating to salvage archeology. First, while
Congress had made funds available under the Res-
ervoir Salvage Act, the Park Service and the
Smithsonian’s River Basin Surveys were left respon-
sible for coordinating or conducting the resulting
salvage work. In the years following World War II,
the procedures developed by the Smithsonian, the
Committee for the Recovery of Archaeological
Remains, the Park Service, and the construction
agencies worked weil enough to rescue archeo-
logical data and artifacts that would otherwise be
lost due to the construction of large reservoirs and
dams. However, nothing compelled the con-
struction agencies to cooperate. They did so largely
as it pertained to the personalities involved and to
maintain good relations with sister agencies.
Second, although Congress had strengthened the
legal basis for salvage archeology with the Reservoir
Salvage Act, this legislation had not addressed the
funding issue. Finally, the Reservoir Salvage Act
failed to account for the many other government-
funded construction projects, including road- and
pipeline-building, soil conservation, and urban
renewal, which also caused extensive damage to
archeological sites. To solve these problems, Moss-
Bennett mandated that federal agencies consider
archeological resource values in any federally
funded or licensed activity that threatened to harm
an archeological site. It also held the agencies doing
the work specifically responsible for the impact of
their activity on archeological resources, but pro-
vided a means for them to mitigate damage by
authorizing funds to be included in the actual con-
struction costs of proiects.28

25. For a comprehensive treatment, see Jeffrey K. Stine, Mixing the Waters: Environment, Politics, and the Building of the
Tennessee-Tombigbee Waterway (Akron: University of Akron Press, 1993).

26. Richard Faust to Robert Thorne, May 28, 1974, in Archeological and Historical Aspects TTW/1974 falder, file 1501-07,
Inland Environment Section, Planning Division Mobile District, as quated by Jeffrey K. Stine, "The Tennessee-Tombigbee
Waterway and the Development of Cultural Resources Management,” The Public Historian, 14, no. 2 (1992), 10, 19.

27. Public Law No. 86-523, as amended by Public Law No. 93-291; 16 U.5.C. Sections 469-469¢ (1974).
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FIGURE 28. Richard “Pete” D. Faust, July 4, 1975, inspecting excavation for a new visitor center in South Carolina. Faust was
hired originally to manage contracting for the River Basin Surveys but after becoming Chief of SEAC, the Park Service
centralized external archeological operations. NPS photograph, July 4, 1975; SEAC files

Moss-Bennett greatly expanded the scope of public
archeology. Numerous agencies responded by
eventually hiring their own archeologists or con-
tracting the work to consulting firms instead of
relying upon NPS services. In turn, heightened sen-
sitivities about contract archeology brought change
to the Park Service as well. In March 1974, Acting
NPS Director Russell Dickenson authorized the
Service to create the Interagency Archeological Ser-
vices (IAS) branch, which thereby replaced the
older salvage program.?’ The philosophy behind
this move was to insure that federal archeological
contracting was conducted in a free and open
market and with an eye towards the collection of
data that helped to solve existing research

problems. According to Victor A. Carbone, an IAS
staffer, “the fledgling program went on the attack
on a number of major fronts including archeology’s
most sacred cows: territoriality, cronyism, and the
research monopolies controlled by major regional
institutions which had traditionally been the benefi-
ciaries of sole-sourced government research
contracts.”*? Initially, IAS was located within OAHP
and its agenda paralleled the goals of Ernest Allen
Connally, who was now Associate Director of Pro-
fessional Services.

In July 1975, a staff meeting was held in Denver spe-
cifically to review the statutes, orders, and rules and
regulations pertaining to IAS program operations.”

28. Charles R. McGimsey Ill, “Headwaters, Part 2: Tributaries,” Common Ground, (Winter 1999), 12-15.

29. “The National Archeological Program and Interagency Archeological Services,” report located in “IAS" folder, History of
Archeology files, National Program Center for Cultural Resource Management, National Park Service.

30. Victor A. Carbone, “To Find the Things Inside Them: The Interagency Archeological Services Program,” a National Park
Service report prepared by the Interagency Archeological Services Program, Atlanta, Georgia, 1982, 4, in possession of

the author.
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According to NPS archeologist Thomas D.
Thiessen, who attended the meeting, “there was
shock and dismay that followed the Solicitor’s
remarks, because he told us that it was illegal to
award contracts without competition, which was
the norm in NPS archeological contracting at the
time. It was clear after his talk that we (at least the
IAS Division) were going to have to retoot the con-
tracting process both practically and
philosophically.”*? Indeed, to promote such
retooling, NPS officials removed all external func-
tions from the regions and archeological centers
and set these up in new and consolidated TAS
offices located in San Francisco, Denver, and
Atlanta, with their chiefs directly under Rex
Wilson, the Departmental Consulting Archeologist
hand-picked by Connally for the job.>* The estab-
lishment of IAS separated the internal and external
functions of NPS archeology. Unfortunately, as
Director Hartzog had foreseen, it also made the

external program easier to remove from the Service.

The decision to create IAS was painful as it resulted
in staff cuts, resignations, personnel redeploy-
ments, and personnel reclassifications. For
example, the San Francisco- and Denver-based
offices were composed entirely of personnel trans-
ferred from other centers or regional staffs. The
new Atlanta-based field office was established by
the transfer of Wilfred Husted from MWAC and
the hiring of Victor Carbone, Bennie Keel,
Stephanie Rodeffer, Harry Scheele, and John Otto
(all of whom, in compliance with Hartzog’s and
Connally’s directive, held PhDs).34 Connally and
Wilson chose Keel to head up the office in June
1976. In doing so, Keel left a faculty position at
Wright State University in Dayton, Ohio. SEAC
escaped the brunt of these changes as Faust had
conducted most of the center’s salvage work
through contracting.®> However, the effect on the
Service’s Midwest Archeological Center was partic-
uiarly significant because many of its staff had come
out of the Missouri Basin Survey. According to

Thiessen, of twenty-four archeological positions
then funded by salvage appropriations, sixteen
were located at MWAC. These were transferred to
the new Denver office in exchange for five newly
created ONPS-funded positions at MWAC.?

The LAS reorganization probably bred further
resentment against Connally, both by archeologists
and by regional directors resistive of direct program
management by Washington within their areas.
Pressure mounted, and effective April 1, 1976,
Director Gary E. Everhardt returned line authority
over the consolidated offices back to the regions,
although he did insist that “there be no transfer of
people or positions from the current field offices at
this time.” Everhardt also explicitly stated that “the
Interagency Salvage Program staff and funds will be
used only for those activities associated with the
salvage program.” These activities did not include,
he further stated, “EIS |[Environmental Impact
Statement] review, cooperative or technical assis-
tance activities, assistance to Indian tribes or the
BIA [Bureau of Indian Affairs], or for any purpose
funded from the ONPS [NPS operations] appropri-
ation. The job should be the implementation of the
Interagency Salvage program at full professional
standard.”” It seems evident that a major reason the
Park Service removed external archeology from
SEAC, the other archeological centers, and the
regions was to ensure appropriate use of funds in
the newly expansive salvage contracting envi-
ronment fostered by Moss-Bennett,

John Corbett, of course, had deliberately sought to
develop a park-based archeology program on the
back of an existing salvage effort, judiciously lever-
aging salvage-funded NPS archeological positions
to provide park support. Thus, the impetus for a
research unit at Ocmulgee National Monument in
the early 1960s was funding from the Georgia
Department of Transportation provided to conduct
salvage excavation in advance of a highway planned
for construction through the park. Corbett had

31. Interagency Archeclogical Services Division, Staff Meeting Agenda in possession of author, July 21-25, 1975, National Park

Service.

32. Thomas D. Thiessen, Letter to Cameron Binkley, July 25, 2005, National Park Service,
33. Rex L. wilson, Departmental Consulting Archeologist, Memorandum te Interagency Archeological Services Division, April
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34. Bennie Keel, Commants to Cameron Binkley, August 11, 2005, National Park Service.
35. Donald Crusoe left SEAC to work for the [AS in Atlanta in early 1975, but this was apparently a career move and not a

transfer of functions.
36. Thiessen, Letter to Cameron Binkley, July 25, 2005,

37. Director, Memorandum to the Directorate, April 2, 1976, in Ernest Allen Connally Papers, Box 2, “Archeology Program
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used this salvage “seed” money to start up SEAC
and then scrambled to consolidate dedicated NPS
resources to keep the nascent center in operation.
In later years, the creation of a “market” for com-
pliance archeology and the development of more
rigorous accounting procedures made such strat-
egies less feasible. In the Southeast, according to
current SEAC Director John Ehrenhard, “the
budget/finance people felt that there was hanky-
panky going on between the various allotments of
funds, and they wanted to stop that, and so made
the external program a separate entity and moved it
to Atlanta.”38 Separating the external regional
archeological assistance program from the now
park-focused archeological centers facilitated
auditing and ensured external funds were not going
to pay for park research or other non-salvage uses.
In the 1980s, Congress itself was to become inter-
ested in Park Service accountability issues,
especially collections management. It is sufficient
here, however, to note that Moss-Bennett brought
significant change to the way the Service conducted
salvage archeology. Henceforth, the NPS archeo-
logical centers became focused entirely upon in-
park work. External archeology was no longer an
element of SEAC’s function, a state that would
prevail for another twenty years.

Meanwhile, Bennie Keel in Atlanta was grappling
with the Tennessee-Tombigbee Waterway project,
as was the U.S, Army Corps of Engineers. In
November 1975, the Corps hired its first archeol-
ogist, Jerry J. Nielsen, using authority and funding
provided under Moss-Bennett.* By assuming more
control over the cultural resource management
aspects of the Tennessee-Tombigbee project, the
Corps probably hoped to appease some of its critics
but the agency’s attitudes were slow to change.
Nielsen, faced with a mighty task, found it expe-
dient to continue reliance upon the Park Service
and established a Memorandum of Agreement, He

and Keel, serving as joint coordinators, then aban-
doned the traditional salvage approach of site-by-
site survey and excavation in lieu of a new method-
ology. Their “problem-oriented” approach
involved selecting research proposals specifically
designed to answer prevailing questions arising
from holes in the cultural history of the Southeast.
They also worked with the Advisory Council on
Historic Preservation to create a single National
Register District for the entire Tennessee-Tom-
bigbee Waterway, which avoided the need to
nominate every individual archeological site to the
register. The council approved their plan to manage
the “Tombigbee-River Multi-Resource District” in
December 1977.40 One measure of the success of
the Nielsen-Keel approach was the use of the meth-
odology for subsequent Corps and Bureau of
Reclamation projects, including for the Richard B.
Russell Dam later constructed on the Savannah
River between Georgia and South Carolina !

The new methodology was not without some
problems, however. As Stine noted, despite careful
research proposals, many contract archeologists
could not avoid the temptation to excavate found
sites that, by the terms of their own research
designs, should have been excluded. Many also
failed to produce published research.*? A second
major problem was the failure of Corps and NPS
archeologists to include, at least initially, other
preservation disciplines and to focus entirely upon
prehistoric archeology. Of course, the waterway
project threatened to destroy all cultural resources
within its path, including old farmsteads and
bridges, resources whose status and potential for
mitigation when threatened by the significant
impact of a federal program was also required to be
considered by the new resource protection laws.
Stine concluded that these other types of resources
were only added to project plans after significant
complaints by historic preservationists that Corps

38. Ehrenhard, Oral Histary Interview, 15.
39. Stine, “Tennessee-Tombigbee Waterway,” 12.

40. stine, “Tennessee-Tombigbee Waterway,” 19-22; 8ennie Keel, Comments to Cameron Binkley, August 11, 2005, National

Park Service.

41, An early IAS public outreach publication also resulted from this project. See, David S. Brase, Yesterday’s River: The
Archaeology of 10,000 Years Along the Tennessee-Tombighbee River {Cleveland: Cleveland Museum of Natural History,

1991).

42. Stine, “Tennessee-Tombigbee Waterway,” 22-25. This problem has long plagued public archeclogy. Later, Keel, Harry
Scheele, and Victor Carbone provided guidance and technical oversight to the Hlinois Department of Transportation for
its 1-270 project under a MOA to provide IAS, Atlanta, staff salaries and costs. The four-year-long project produced
numerous professional reports and published journal and popular publications, including Charles J. Bareis and James W.
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and IAS archeologists “should have been subcon-
tracting to historical experts for analysis and
evaluation of architectural elements of their
projects.”43 Given the history of relations between
Service archeologists and preservationists, of
course, Stine’s findings were not unextpected.

Doing Federal Archeology at a State
University

The Moss-Bennett Act had a major impact on the
conduct of archeology in the United States. It cer-
tainly affected the relations between SEAC and
Florida State University by changing the overall
milieu in which archeologists conducted work for
the federal government. The NPS-FSU cooperative
agreement had given a privileged position to FSU
faculty and students in obtaining archeological con-
tracts. The Anthropology Department had thus
expected to work with SEAC on various projects,
including salvage investigations. Unfortunately,
Moss-Bennett decreased the overall role of the
Park Service in dispensing salvage contracts as
agencies such as the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
took to the work themselves. Moreover, the
Service’s external programs continued to be buf-
feted by political change. In 1978, the Interagency
Archeological Services division was pulled out of
the Park Service after President Jimmy Carter
authorized the creation of a new federal bureau
called the Heritage Conservation and Recreation
Service (HCRS). HCRS was still within the Interior
Department, but NPS archeologists had little say in
its decisions, According to former FSU Anthro-
pology Department Chair ). Anthony Paredes,
Florida State experienced a significant decline in its
“fieldwork” contracts with the Park Service after
these changf:s.'M Now all NPS projects were within
parks.

NPS contracting policy vis-a-vis Florida State
shifted in other ways as well. Originally, SEAC
issued large contracts directly to the university
under the auspices of Hale Smith, who then
assigned a faculty member as project director or
principal investigator. That faculty member would
then hire students under the contract. At about the

same time that SEAC lost control over salvage con-
tracting, Smith’s health went into serious decline
and the university curtailed his responsibilities.
Because Smith could no longer do this work, SEAC
cooperated with FSU to create a full-time position
within the Anthropology Department funded
through soft money from SEAC.*’ The position was
established to take over the curatorial work for-
merly done by Donald Crusoe and was filled by
Thomas Padgett under a contract issued to run
SEAC’s curatorial program. Padgett was a Research
Associate in the department, but essentially served
as SEAC’s collections manager or curator. Then, in
1976, the university hired James Stoutamire, a PhD-
holding archeologist, who was tasked to run the
university’s NPS projects.*® While Padgett required
teaching faculty oversight, Stoutamire did not.
Stoutamire’s position freed FSU faculty from the
chore of splitting their time between NPS field and/
or curatorial contracts and teaching classes, The
new position also provided more flexibility for FSU
to be involved in field projects not scheduled for
the summertime.*’

In 1977, the Department of Anthropology lost its
founder, Hale G. Smith, after a prolonged period of
waning health. Although Smith had sought to fore-
stall the department’s decline by bringing SEAC to
FSU, other issues remained. Soon after Smith’s
death, the university’s Graduate Policy Council
took a hard look at the anthropology program. One
of the options it seriously considered was termi-
nating the program. In April 1978, the council
rejected this draconian measure, but issued a mem-
orandum addressing several major problem areas
and advising on necessary reforms. Several were
relevant to SEAC. Its first recommended reform, in
fact, was that “coordination between the
Department of Anthropology and the Park Service
in the training, supervision and financing of
graduate students be improved by the institution of
regular and frequent meetings between representa-
tives of the two agencies.” The council also advised
the university to make a “strong effort™ to provide
the department with “the physical plant and
equipment that is sorely needed.”® Of course, in
1972 the department had surrendered a large per-

43. Stine, "Tennessee-Tombigbee Waterway,” 26.
44. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 18.
45. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 15-16.
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centage of space it controlled to SEAC, which
impaired its own operations.

Following the Graduate Policy Council’s memo-
randum and major institutional and archeological
“market” changes resulting from Moss-Bennett,
(including NS loss of IAS functions), the Anthro-
pology Department decided the time was right to
renegotiate the SEAC-FSU accord. Chief Faust
agreed. He worked to coordinate a strategy with the
department to convince the university to provide
more space for the center in a manner that would
concurrently free up more space for the
department. The problem was that the university
considered the space in Bellamy Hall provided by
the Anthropology Department to the Park Service
as part of the department’s own overall allotment
even though the department could not utilize the
space while SEAC occupied it, To gain more space
for itself, therefore, the department lobbied the uni-
versity to provide SEAC with 1224 additional
square feet, space in the university’s “Montgomery
Gym” or elsewhere.*® The proposal meant center
staff might end up separated from the “collegiality”
of sharing offices in Bellamy Hall with their aca-
demic colleagues, but it would allow SEAC to
achieve greater centralization in one spot on
campus. Both SEAC and the department would
receive net gains in space. With the pending expi-
ration of the lease for lab and office space looming,
Faust drafted a letter, sent by Southeast Regional
Director Joe Brown in late July 1978 to FSU Pres-
ident Bernard F. Sliger, requesting the parties to
renegotiate the NPS-FSU agreement.>”

The NPS letter to President Sliger noted the ben-
efits of the relationship to the Park Service,
including “the development and application of new
theory, techniques and procedures to problems of
cultural resources management, in areas of the

National Park System; in addition, our archeo-
logical collections, some of the largest in the
Southeast, have been receiving under contract with
the university the maintenance and preservation
which they require.” Brown also stated NPS belief
that Florida State had benefited from the rela-
tionship via faculty and student contract work or
direct employment at SEAC and by the placement
of graduates within the Park Service and other
federal agencies. In order for the General Services
Administration (GSA), which was responsible for
NPS lease negotiations, to approach the university,
Brown reguested an affirmative response that ade-
quate space was available on campus to meet
expanding NPS needs.! This assurance made,
Brown requested GSA to negotiate and obtain addi-
tional space to meet SEAC’s needs. He stated that
the Park Service wanted to consolidate SEAC’s
activities in a central location, instead of continuing
the ineffective arrangement of maintaining four
separate sites on campus. A centralized facility for
SEAC “would not only improve administration but
facilitate the direction of the archeological

pu*a:nvgram.”52

The Park Service and Florida State signed the new
accord in late 1978. It dropped cooperation in [AS
activities, but retained “salvage” work for which
SEAC was still responsible within park areas. Two
new features were also added - a provision for
cooperation in the conduct of anthropological
studies relating to Native American populations in
the Southeast and a provision for cooperation in
underwater archeology. The latter provision
appeared without explanation even as it had disap-
peared from the original accord prior to its signing.
Another significant change was in duration of the
accord itself. The new agreement was for five years,
instead of fifteen, as would be subsequent revisions.
Maoreover, the new accord reflected concern with

48. Elston E. Roady, Chairman, Graduate Policy Council, Memorandum to Bruce T. Grindal, Chairman, Anthropology. et al.
April 7, 1978, in “AB027: Space for Administrative Use, Office and File Storage File (1),” SEAC files. This memorandum
addresses mostly internal deficiencies in the Anthropelogy Department’s program, offering recommendations to
strengthen its academics in lieu of termination. The existence of SEAC on campus quite likely was an important factor in
persuading the Council not to recommend program termination. If so, then Hale Smith's strategy to bring SEAC to FSU

was a wise ane indeed.
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replace a proposed elimination of SEAC office space belonging to department in Beltamy Hall.

50. Richard D. Faust, Memorandum to Associate Regional Director, Planning and Assistance, SER, July 27, 1978, and Joe
Brown, Regional Director, Letter to Dr. Bernard F. Sliger, President, July 27, 1978, in "A8027: Space for Administrative Use,
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FIGURE 29. Hale G. Smith (center) founded the Anthropology Department at Florida State University in 1950 and was a close
friend and associate of first SEAC Chief John Griffin. Photograph entitled “Piecing together pottery, “ no date, courtesy of
University Archives, Special Collections, Florida State University

the rapid state of change, either within the Service
or within the archeological profession. It now
required annual sub-agreements with SEAC to flesh
out implementation of the five-year agreement.”’
SEAC later adopted the same practice on an FSU-
wide basis and for other institutions.

In preparing to renegotiate the FSU contract with
SEAC that June, James Stoutamire and Anthro-
pology Department Chair Bruce Grindal lobbied
Dean Robert Johnson over their concerns with a
major issue linked to the new NPS accord - growth
in the FSU contract archeology program. Under
Stoutamire, in 1977, the effort had dramatically
increased in funding and required more space.
SEAC, of course, had also continued to expand
since 1972, The department was providing consid-
erable storage and laboratory space for both efforts

and was feeling the pinch. The Graduate Policy
Council, of course, had just advised the university
two months prior to provide more space for the
department. Grindal and Stoutamire also explained
how the department was seeking “center” status for
Stoutamire’s contracting effort. They called this
organization the Southeast Conservation Arche-
ology Center (SCAC). The SCAC proposal, they
argued, was in line with the council’s recommenda-
tions. If authorized, SCAC was to provide training
for students in collections management, computer
analysis and data storage, materials preservation,
and cultural resource management. Stoutamire and
Grindal also emphasized how SCAC could provide
internship opportunities with the Park Service on
campus and throughout the region as well as in the
newly created HCRS. In fact, SCAC’s stated intent
meshed well with the Park Service’s own goal to

53. National Park Service, Memorandum of Agreement between the National Park Service and Florida State University, 1978,

6, SEAC files.
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FIGURE 30. Photographing artifacts at SEAC after moving to
the campus of Florida State University. NPS photograph, no
date; SEAC file 05-053-25

create a cooperative education program related to
SEAC.* In retrospect, if the Stoutamire-Grindal
proposal had been successfully implemented, it
would have gone a long way toward addressing the
laments of later SEAC staffers about the
department’s failure to create an applied arche-
ology training program to take advantage of the
opportunities provided by having SEAC on
campus. Here, in 1978, the department set out a
plan to create just such a program.

In their proposal to the dean, Stoutamire and
Grindal allowed for various possible ways in which
more space could be achieved for both SEAC and
the department. After SEAC Chief Faust advised
them of his “pessimistic outlook” for NPS support
of any new construction, they determined the best
alternative was for the university to work with the
Park Service, through GSA. Additional NPS
funding might be available for increased leased-

space requirements and even renovation costs if
pay-back was made over a long-term basis through
a lease. They explained that GSA regulations and
formulae for office space for federal employees
mandated specific square-foot allotments. It was a
given that the cramped conditions of SEAC’s offices
on campus did not meet GSA standards. Stoutamire
and Grindal estimated that both SEAC and SCAC, if
co-located, could get by with a minimum of 13,000
square feet at a cost of $400,000 at $35.00 per square
foot for office space and $25.00 per square foot for
lab space. They urged the university to consider
new construction or major renovation to be paid
back through a long-term NPS lease.”” Later,
Robert Johnson, the Dean of Graduate Studies and
Research, did agree to supply renovation funds, if
these were amortized through a new leasing
arrangement.’®

The university cleared SCAC for listing as a “Type
11-B Center” in August 1978.°7 Organizationally,
SCAC was a stand-alone entity, directed by
Stoutamire, who reported to the university, not the
Anthropology Department. Stoutamire funded
SCAC primarily through the NPS-FSU cooperative
agreement and focused upon curating SEAC’s
archeological collections, conducting research on
underreported components of those collections,
and related field research. However, SCAC could
also do projects for other agencies, including the
military and the states, the type of projects made
possible by the Moss-Bennett legislation. There was
sufficient funding, in fact, not only for Stoutamire,
but one full-time assistant, Chad Braley, with addi-
tional assistance allowing SCAC to field up to
eighteen crew members during the peak summer
season (the average was less, with twelve members
planned for the fall semester in 1980). Eventually,
Stoutamire ran several non-NPS archeological
projects, receiving funding to do so from such
clients as the Colonial Dames, the National
Endowment for the Humanities, the Veteran’s
Administration, and even commercial oil com-
panics“;8 The department encouraged this effort, in
part, to compensate for declining activity in NPS
salvage work.

54. Bruce Grindal and James W. Stoutamire, Memorandum to Robert Johnson, June 9, 1978, in “A8027: Space for
Administrative Use, Office and File Storage File (1),” SEAC files.
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57. Roy E. McTarnaghan, Vice Chancellor, Letter to Robert O. Lawton, Vice President for Academic Affairs, August 4, 1978, in
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In January 1980, despite the Anthropology
Department’s success in creating SCAC, and the
negotiation of a new SEAC-FSU accord, Chief
Faust felt compelled to characterize the
department’s overall program as gradually deterio-
rating. According to Faust, a new chair was installed
in 1978, but he had “achieved only limited success”
in rejuvenating the anthropology program’s cur-
riculum, faculty attitudes, and graduate student
recruitment, partially because the non-archeo-
logical faculty were reluctant to admit “that the
strength of the department is in archeology, even
though 80% of the graduate student population are
specializing in archeology.” Faust noted hopeful
areas as well. These included the department’s
intent to hire an archeologist specializing in South-
eastern prehistory, the creation of SCAC, and his
optimism that SEAC and FSU could solve their
mutual space problem. However, Faust remained
cautious in assessing the prospects for the latter,
noting how he had turned back $11,000 in funding
to hire temporary NPS employees in 1979 for want
of space to house them.’® And, unfortunately, things
were about to get even worse.

Stoutamire’s SCAC initiative had problematic
aspects and the Park Service soon became con-
cerned with two main issues. First, SEAC worried
that Stoutamire’s salary, paid by NPS funds, was
being used to subsidize FSU efforts to outbid
private operations or the state of Florida in
obtaining non-NPS archeological contracts.
Second, SEAC did not want other agencies to sub-
sidize Stoutamire’s position or SCAC’s overall
workload to such an extent that it diverted
attention from NPS work. SEAC suspected that
Stoutamire was spreading himself so thin that he
was less able to provide adequate supervision to the
FSU students who were doing NPS work %

Florida State eventually agreed that Stoutamire’s
work conflicted with the Anthropology
Department’s responsibilities to oversee its NPS

contracts. And no one, according to former
department Chair Paredes, wanted “to kill the
goose that laid the golden egg,” especially the large
curatorial contracts issued by SEAC.®! However,
because of these “economic considerations,” SEAC
felt compelled to cancel its curatorial contracts with
the department in August 1981.5% The move was
intended to head off a serious conflict of interest or
a collision with NPS policy. With the collapse of
NPS funding, Stoutamire began looking for a new
job, soon finding one with a state agency. It is dif-
ficult to assess whether this outcome was inevitable,
but it is not likely that the Park Service took such
action with any joy.

After 1981, spurred by the situation with
Stoutamire, SEAC began to hire students directly
instead of through its cooperative arrangement
with the Anthropology Department. Although uni-
versity overhead fees were below the norm at 20
percent, the charge was an important reason that
forced a “restructuring back into an in-house direc-
torship.” ®3 By hiring students directly, instead of
through a university contract, SEAC could simply
avoid paying an overhead charge. Nevertheless,
under the new arrangement, SEAC still had the
burden of supervising the curatorial work. Staff
member Ellen Ehrenhard managed the student
curators in-house for a period but eventually the
center returned to the department for support,
probably to comply with Office of Personnel Man-
agement rules. Rochelle Marrinan stepped up as the
faculty point person in charge of the department’s
curatorial contracts with the Park Service. The
department remained interested in receiving NPS
curatorial contracts even after SEAC began to hire
FSU students directly.64

Regardless of how the center’s student employees
were classified, many continued on with NPS
careers. For example, NPS archeologists Bridgett
Beers, David Brewer, Chuck Lawson, Daniel
Lenihan, Steve Kidd, Margo Schwadron, Lee

58. James W. Stoutamire, prospectus entitled “Southeast Conservation Archeology Center,” July 1980, Department of
Anthropology, Florida State University, in “A8027: Space for Administrative Use, Office and File Storage File (1),” SEAC

files.

59. Chief Richard D. Faust, Southeast Archeological Center, Memorandum to Associate Regional Director, Planning and
Assistance, SER, January 31, 1980, National Park Service, in “A8027 Space for Administrative Use Office & Storage File (1),”

SEAC files.
60. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 15-16.
61. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 16.

62. Unknown, “Development of the SEAC - History and Collections,” 6.
63. Unknown, “Development of the SEAC - History and Collections,” 6.
64. Unknown, “Development of the SEAC - History and Collections,” 6; and Paredes, Oral History Interview, 16, 19.
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FIGURE 31. FSU students helping to curate SEAC's artifact

collections in Bellamy Hall under contract to the National
Park Service during the 1980s. NPS photograph, no date;
SEAC file 05-00-87

Terzis, Tim Thomson, Richard Vernon, Kenneth
Wild, Robert Wilson, and Emily Yates, among
others, started out as FSU students who worked as
SEAC lab and field technicians. Others, like Russell
Skowronek and Ellen Ehrenhard, went into aca-
demia or museum management.

Despite ready access to FSU students, SEAC itself
experienced some problems in working with them.
The main problem was the students’ lack of
grounding in applied archeology, a subject not
taught in the Anthropology Department’s cur-
riculum. According to George Fischer, the large-
scale nature of archeological surveys conducted by
SEAC, for example, the survey of the Natchez Trace
Parkway, which is approximately 700 feet wide and
400 miles long, mandated the use of techniques not
generally applied in academic archeology. SEAC
thus had to train its FSU students on the job in tech-
niques for large-scale survey because these were
not taught in the department. On the other hand,
the University of South Florida did develop a track
in cultural resource management, and SEAC hired
some of its students in the 1970s, but staff did not
feel these were any better prepared than the stu-
dents hired from FSU. “My only thought at the
time,” Fischer concluded, “was that it would be so
much more simple for us to be producing the stu-
dents here than there. His view was the same
regarding museum management, where SEAC was

also hiring many students who had no formal aca-
demic training in the subject.®> The collapse of
SCAC, of course, probably dampened department
enthusiasm for further effort in this field.

At any rate, Rochelle Marrinan continued to handle
the task of administering large curatorial contracts
with SEAC, hiring students, setting up the work
parameters, and overseeing the project and
accounts, but it was an onerous chore for a faculty
member. Because of this workload and probably to
reduce its own role supervising student workers,
SEAC again cooperated with the department to
create an FSU staff position whose sole function
was to support NPS curatorial contracts with the
university, essentially reprising the position once
held by Thomas Padgett. The person hired for this
position was Steve Hale. Hale’s salary was paid
using NPS funds. Hale taught at one of the branch
FSU campuses in Panama City, but on his own time.
He did the nuts-and-bolts curation for SEAC while
Marrinan retained principal investigator responsi-
bility and intellectual oversight of Hale’s work.®

The Anthropology Department’s hopes for
obtaining numerous large salvage contracts
through its cooperative agreement with SEAC
never materialized, but SEAC did commission
several sizeable field contracts for work at park
sites. Initially, these NPS contracts were modest,
amounting to only $54, 626 in 1973. However, these
contracts gradually rose until they totaled $136,868
in 1978.%7 Examples of specific contracts between
SEAC and the department included a survey project
at Gulf Islands National Seashore ($12,895) in 1973,
excavations at Fort Matanzas ($4,000) in 1975, and
excavations at Ocmulgee National Monument
($13,064) in 1977. SEAC did issue several sizeable
field-related contracts between 1978 and 1979
(totaling $121,851) and a single $30,000 excavation
contract for Naval Live Oaks area of Gulf Islands
National Seashore in 1981.% These contracts con-
tinued. Paredes himself did an ethnohistorical
contract for SEAC in 1994. To this day, SEAC con-
tinues to employ FSU staff and students for work
on various types of archeological contracts,
although SEAC draws from a much larger talent

65. Fischer, Oral History Interview, 24.
66. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 16.

67. Chair Anthropology Department (Edwin A. Cook), Memorandum to University Space Committee, October 4, 1978, Note
attached to 1978 SEAC-FSU cooperative agreement, SEAC files.
68. National Park Service, Data sheet listing fiscal years 1971 - 1981 archeological contracts, in possession of author, courtesy

of George Fischer.
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pool than just the Anthropology Department or
even the university.69

The bulk of work that SEAC contracted to Florida
State was curatorial and backlog cataloging, In the
ten-year period between 1972 and 1981, SEAC fun-
neled a total of $348,113.00 to the Anthropology
Department for collections maintenance plus
several thousand in additional funds for special
projects to preserve site-specific artifact collec-
tions. Contracts for collections analysis constituted
most of the rest of the funds expended for campus-
based work during this period, running approxi-
mately at $61,000. Many were to complete work on
WPA-era collections. There were some novelties,
however. Paredes received a $5,000 contract for an
ethnohistory study in 1974 that detailed the Creek
background to the battle that took place at
Horseshoe Bend National Military Park. Delving
into ethnography was novel for the Park Service at
the time and perhaps offers some indication of how
the university environment was stimulating SEAC.
Another innovative study funded by SEAC in this
period was Benita Howell’s folklife study at Big
South Fork National River and Recreation Area. In
comparison to the collections contracts, approxi-
mately 185,000 was spent in total for the period on
park-related fieldwork.”® By the late 1980s, the
cumulative overhead reportedly paid to the uni-
versity for all projects totaled some one million
dollars.”

From the department’s perspective, curatorial
projects were faculty-accessible. Faculty had
learned from their contracting experience that such
work had practical limits for academic staffs tied to
teaching schedules. Like many university anthro-
pology departments, Florida State could not
function effectively in a cultural resource man-
agement environment.”? As private archeological
consulting firms entered into the contract/com-

pliance market after the passage of Moss-Bennett,
most universities simply exited the business. Again,
the failure of the FSU Anthropology Department to
succeed in the contracting game, both because of its
inherent dynamics and because of specific NPS
concerns, probably helped shunt the department
away from a greater public archeology orientation,
at least in the long-term. Obviously, if the
department had succeeded with involving itself in
contract-oriented archeology, faculty ties and
interest in teaching such coursework would have
been strengthened.

By July of 1980, the university had agreed to
support the efforts of the Park Service and the
Anthropology Department to secure for SEAC a
greater amount of consolidated space on the FSU
campus. On July 8, 1980 (amended on January 6,
1982), Florida State offered to lease to the Park
Service 4,990 net usable square feet on campus in a
consolidated location.”® GSA recommended that
the Park Service accept the FSU offer to lease
available space on the ground floor of the Industrial
Arts Building for a term of ten years.” Upon word
of the university’s offer, Paredes, as Acting
Chairman, drafted a memorandum to the College
of Arts and Sciences. He noted some inconve-
niences of the proposal but asserted that these
would be outweighed by the opportunity “to alle-
viate severe and ever-growing space problems.”
Paredes was also eager that the university under-
stand that the department had provided this space
to SEAC in 1972, creating thereby a longer-term
space shortage problem for itself.”> For SEAC, all
seemed well, and Acting Regional Director Neal G.
Guse Jr. submitted Standard Form 81, Request for
Space, to GSA in February 1981. This document
outlined for GSA of how space to be leased from the
university “will satisfy our principal program
requirements.”’® The NPS-FSU negotiations begun

69. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 17-18.

70. National Park Service, Data sheet listing fiscal years 1971

- 1981 archeclogical contracts, in possession of author, courtesy

of George Fischer; J. Anthany Paredes, Discussion with Cameron Binkley, April 23, 2004, National Park Service.

71. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 21,
72. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 14-19, passim.

73. Dean Robert M. Johnson, Graduate Studies and Research, Memorandum to G. M. Hearth, Contracting Officer, GSA, May
6, 1982, in “AB027 Space for Administrative Use Office and Storage File (1)," SEAC files.
74. M.E. Poole, Memorandum to Joe Brown, Regional Director, September 3, 1980, in “A8027 Space for Administrative Use

Office and Storage File {1),” SEAC files.

75. J. Anthony Paredes, Memorandum to Ralph Yerger, Associate Dean, July 16, 1980, in “A8027 Space for Administrative Use
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76. Neal G. Guse Ir., Acting Regional Director, Memorandum to Director, Space Management Dvision, GSA, February 25, 1981,
in “AB027 Space for Administrative Use Office and Storage File {1),” SEAC files.
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in 1978 to secure a new consolidated location on
campus for SEAC had succeeded - almost.

Unexpectedly, in the spring of 1982, the university
reversed course. On May 6, 1982, Dean Robert
Johnson wrote GSA Contracting Officer G. M.
Heath to withdraw Florida State University’s offer
to lease additional space to the Park Service. He
acknowledged the considerable negotiations that
had taken place in advance of the offer, and claimed
the university had entered these “in good faith.”
Nevertheless, he went on, conditions had changed
and so had the university’s priorities. “Perhaps the
prominent factor in our reconsideration,” he stated,
“is the deteriorating economy at both the national
and state level. Future appropriations from both the
federal and state are uncertain, with projected
forecast painting a very gloomy and uncertain
financial future.” Basically, because of declining
state aid, Johnson claimed that “the space originally
proposed for renovation must now play a major
role in the internal campus development.” He sug-
gested GSA look for lease space off-campus for
SEAC and specifically mentioned a nearby light
industrial park then under construction named
“Innovation Park.” In closing, Johnson affirmed
FSU’s intent to maintain SEAC’s current lease of
the Montgomery Gym. He also added, however,
that “I see no future possibility of additional on-
campus space.”77 Needless to say, without the pro-
vision of additional space for SEAC, it was unlikely
that the Academic Policy Council’s advice to
increase available space for the FSU anthropology
program was going to be followed. The Southeast

Region’s chief contracting officer succinctly stated
the obvious in a memo to Chief Faust, “after
months of negotiation this must be viewed as a sig-
nificant disappointment.”78 In making this decision,
the university stepped on both the Park Service and
its own Anthropology Department.

Soon after Florida State withdrew its offer, U.S.
Senator Paula Hawkins of Florida contacted the
Southeast Regional Office on behalf of Malcolm B.
Johnson, editor of the Tallahassee Democrat, who
also represented the Leon County Research and
Development Authority. The authority was devel-
oping the Innovation Park complex and Johnson
had made several previous contacts with Chief
Faust regarding potential NPS interest in relocating
SEAC off-campus. Faust had politely but repeatedly
rebuffed these overtures, insisting upon the
Service’s desire to maintain its operations on the
FSU (:ampus.79 Obviously, the well-connected
Johnson was hoping to capitalize upon Florida
State’s suddenly withdrawn offer.8? In his letter to
Sen. Hawkins, Johnson put his own twist on why
the university had cancelled that offer. “The needs
of the university are such,” he stated, “that they
cannot continue to lease prime space in the heart of
the campus to this organization.™8! Regional
Director Robert Baker responded to Sen. Hawkins
by saying that “we consider the Center to be ade-
quately housed for the present time.” He offered,
however, that “should future space needs arise that
cannot be provided for on campus, those needs will
be directed to the General Services Administration,
which may, in turn, consider directing a solicitation

77. Dean Robert M. lohnson, Graduate Studies and Research, Memorandum to G. M. Hearth, Contracting Officer, G5A, May
6, 1982, in “AB027 Space for Administrative Use Office and Storage File (1)." SEAC files.

78. Chief, Contracting and Property Management Division, SERO, Memorandum to Chief, SEAC, June 28, 1982 in "A8027
space for Administrative Use Office and Storage File (2),” SEAC files.

79. The overriding concern for the Park Service was to associate SEAC with a university where relatively inexpensive space
and professional collections management assistance could be obtained. This requirement could potentially have been
met at another university. Indeed, in February 1980, Dr. F. Wayne King, Director of the Florida State Museum, which was
an arm of the University of Florida in Gainsville (independent of that university’s anthropology department), visited NPS
Chief Anthropologist Douglas Scovill to discuss the matter of the location of SEAC and to request consideration that the
center be relocated to the state museum. The Park Service evaluated this proposal seriously along side NPS negotiations
to increase SEAC's space on the FSU campus. After Florida State made its offer to consolidate SEAC in more expansive
guarters, the Park Service turned down the State Museum’s offer. The sticking point, which the State Museum readily
acknowledged, was that institution’s inability to meet SEAC's current and growing space requirements. See Chief,
Southeast Archeological Center, Memorandum to Associate Regional Director, Planning and Assistance, SER, January 31,
1980; Chief Anthropologist, Memorandum to Associate Director, Management and Operations (Meeting with Director,
Florida State Museum), March 3, 1980; Chief, Southeast Archeological Center, Memorandum to Associate Regional
Director, Planning and Assistance, SER (Meetings with University of Florida Officials), June 9, 1980, and William R. Maples,
Chairman, Florida State Museum, Letter to Richard D. Faust, Chief , August 12, 1980, all in "A8027 Space for

Administrative Use Office and Storage File {1)," SEAC files.
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to the Leon County Research and Development
Authority and its Innovation Park.”%?

Possibly, insufficient funding was the sole cause of
Florida State’s decision to withdraw its lease offer.
But internal campus politics probably played a role.
There is no information that the termination of
NPS contracts with SCAC was at issue.®? It would
not have changed the calculations of the Anthro-
pology Department, which was banking upon
gaining more space by helping SEAC relocate. What
the decision more clearly shows was the limited
clout the department held with the university. The
department had failed to secure a doctoral program
under Hale Smith, although other programs at
Florida State had. It did not matter, according to
Paredes, that the department actually taught more
students than the more prestigious Philosophy
Department, which had a doctoral program.84
Prestige in a university matters. Lacking clout, the
department had a tougher time convincing uni-
versity administrators to recognize that while it
appeared to have a considerable amount of space, a
large percentage of that allocation was actually
shared with SEAC. Indeed, Paredes claimed that his
program was never able to convince the university
of the value that SEAC brought to the FSU campus.
While the SEAC-FSU agreement generated some
revenue, FSU administrators noticed an essential
difference between NPS archeological contracts
and funds obtained from other agencies, for
example, the National Science Foundation. The
latter in particular brought greater prestige while
other agencies’ awards brought higher overhead
than the NPS arrangement.®® Thus, while the
department benefited from SEAC contract work,
the university apparently found applied archeology
insufficiently prestigious while it could obtain
higher rents from other organizations. The fact that
the department could not escape its own space
needs while SEAC remained on campus ensured

that friction on this issue would continue to hamper
relations.

In light of the foregoing discussion, the Anthro-
pology Department’s failure to develop a public
archeology degree track after the establishment of
the SEAC-FSU partnership is more understandable.
Center personnel continued to encourage their
faculty peers to move in this direction. The
department remained interested as late as 1987
when Paredes offered a fifteen year projection that
anticipated how expected congressional appropria-
tions would increase both the department’s and
SEAC’s joint space requirements and related con-
tract work. He believed that this joint activity “will
complement the planned Ph.D. program with a
strong emphasis in cultural resources man-
agement.”® Nevertheless, the appeal of this
argument had declined, given the SCAC experience
and the university’s attitude toward its NPS part-
nership. Under founder Hale Smith, the
department had had a strong historical and public
archeology orientation focused upon Southeastern
prehistory. After his death, this orientation grad-
ually shifted toward a more anthropological
outlook less focused upon archeology per se and
more focused upon the academics required to
sustain a doctoral effort. Today, under Chair Dean
Falk, the department has major interests in bio-
logical anthropology, while its major archeological
projects are in Meso-America, Eastern Europe, and
the Eastern Mediterranean.

Despite this realignment, George Fischer managed
to sustain some faculty interest in applied arche-
ology through his teaching of underwater
archeology. He hoped the program would thereby
produce better prepared students. His teaching did
generate useful student research reports for the
Park Service with such titles as “Historical Geog-
raphy of the French Ribault Fleet, 1565, off St.

82. Robert M. Baker, Regional Director, Letter to Honorable Paula Hawkins, United States Senator, October 4, 1982, in
“A8015, Space for Administrative Use Pre-1992 File (1),” SEAC files. Baker's response to Sen. Hawkins failed to define
“adequately housed,” of course. SEAC had needed more space since it arrived on campus and needed it at least as much
as the Anthropology Department. But SEAC's expensive move to Tallahassee was still a recent memory and Baker
probably dimly viewed funding a new move to a higher rent facility, even if he had sufficient funds, which was unlikely.

83. Similarly, there is no information about whether the Florida State Museum’s interest in SEAC had a bearing on the FSU
decision to withdraw its offer. Possibly, if the university had learned about the NPS decision against relocating to
Gainsville, it might have pushed a cash-conscious FSU administration to renege on its offer, knowing that SEAC had

nowhere else to go for low-cost accommaodations.

84. J. Anthony Paredes, Discussion with Cameron Binkley, December 3, 2004, National Park Service.

85. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 20-21.

86. J. Anthony Paredes, Chairman, Memorandum to R. Bruce Bickley, Associate Dean, April 6, 1987, in “A8015: Space for

Administrative Use, Pre-1992" folder (1), SEAC files.
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FIGURE 32. NPS archeologist George R. Fischer in his office at Bellamy Hall, March 1988. Photograph courtesy of Patricia C.
Griffin and used by permission

»

Augustine,” “Cinnamon Bay and the Santa
Monica,” “Historical Geography of HMS Fowey,”
and “Seventeenth-Century Spanish Colonial
Shipping in the Dry Tortugas.” The latter two were
published. Field research reports by students
included such titles as: “Magnetometer Survey for
the Relocation of Shipwrecks off the Eastern Tip of
Perdido Key, Gulf Islands,” “Survey of Early Man
Sites off the Coast of Naval Live Oaks at Gulf
Islands,” and “Underwater Survey off Castillo de
San Marcos.” 87 After Fischer retired in 1988, he
devoted even more time to promoting underwater
archeology by continuing to teach on a courtesy
appointment and by working to improve the FSU
Academic Diving Program.

The fact that FSU students conducted NPS
research sometimes brought into relief differences
in philosophy and purpose that separated SEAC
and the Anthropology Department. As faculty
interest in applied archeology declined, some con-
flict on this front was perhaps inevitable. A dispute
did erupt between faculty in the 1980s over whether
student theses written as reports for SEAC could be

used to fulfill FSU master’s degree requirements.

The dispute was essentially about whether work
commissioned by the government to help it fulfill
its legal responsibility in saving imperiled archeo-
logical data fulfilled the intellectual criteria of
academic archeology’s research-driven methodol-
ogies. Philosophical reservations aside, a
respectable number of FSU students completed
theses or academic papers based upon SEAC’s
archeological collections, which was certainly a
boon for public archeology. It also legitimated pro-
spective student advertisements by the university
associating itself with the Park Service. However,
because of the dispute over whether work done for
the agency counted in earning a degree, subsequent
NPS-FSU cooperative agreements included specific
language to ensure that this was possible.

SEAC was not without its boosters in the
department. J. Anthony Paredes, for example, sup-
ported the Park Service presence at the university
until he retired in 1999. After the failed attempt to
re-house SEAC on campus, Paredes lobbied to gain
greater FSU appreciation of the benefits brought to

87. Fischer, Oral History Interview, 27-28.
88. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 19-20.
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it by the Park Service. At one point, he even con-
ducted a study that determined that Florida State
ranked number three in the nation in placing grad-
uates with master’s degrees into paid non-academic
positions. Only two anthropology programs were
more successful - the University of Kentucky and
the University of Arizona. Paredes felt that the
SEAC-FSU partnership was the main reason for
this success, measured both by the number of FSU
students able to work at SEAC and by the many
FSU graduates with SEAC experience who went on
to work in other federal and state agencies.
Moreover, although the department did not have a
formal program in underwater archeology during
this period, FSU was recognized as a major source
of training for underwater archeologists, largely
due to George Fischer’s efforts.?? Paredes later even
established a department goal to create a center for
underwater archeology.”” Later still, Fischer and
Paredes, among others, convinced the department
to hire a tenure-track underwater archeologist,
Michael Faught, in 1997.

SEAC’s current long-time Chief of Investigation
and Evaluation, George Smith, also taught courses
in the department from the 1990s and encouraged it
to develop a public archeology component. Others
who have taught courses at FSU include Bennie
Keel, David Anderson, and Pete Faust. Faust, Keel,
and Smith also directed numerous individual
studies for anthropology students and served both
formally and informally as theses advisors in the
Departments of Anthropology and History.q1
However, by the time this study began, no SEAC
staff were engaged in teaching at the university,
another sign of the department’s continued lack of
interest in promoting the development of a
program in applied archeology.”? Despite the
current low ebb in faculty sentiment toward public
archeology, however, Smith, for one, has continued
to see great potential in the relationship with
Florida State. In 2003, for example, he was working

FIGURE 33. J. Anthony “Tony" Paredes, Professor of
Anthropology and Department Chair, Florida State
University. Undated photograph by Bayard Stern, Florida
State Times, Florida State University

with the university’s Associate Vice-President for
Research to establish a heritage studies program,
which would be international and interdisciplinary
and involve the law school, the Departments of
Anthropology, Urban Developing and Planning,
Information Technology, and Museum Studies,
among others. Students would be able to gain cer-
tificates relating to cultural resource management
in whatever career field they chose. Whatever the
hopeful outcome of this proactive venture, both
Smith and Fischer clearly felt the department had
missed an opportunity over the years, given the
proximity of SEAC, by failing to sponsor an applied

89. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 13. The study referenced by Paredes has not come to light, but Paredes’s claim is

reasonable.

90. J. Anthony Paredes, Memorandum to B. Bickley, no date, 1992 [?], in “A8015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992"

folder (2).

91. Bennie Keel, Draft review comments, August 11, 2005, in possession of author.

92. SEAC archeologist Brinnin Carter is currently listed as an affiliated anthropologist with the department. Perhaps another
indication of the state of relations between the FSU Anthropology Department and the National Park Service in 2004 was
the department’s lack of interest in this study. For the record, three current members of the department who have had
exposure to federal archeology were contacted and invited to answer questions or to be interviewed. All declined. Dean
Falk, the department’s current chairperson and holder of the Hale G. Smith Chair, is a biological anthropologist who
joined FSU in 2001, Falk stated that she was too new to the department to answer questions about the NPS-FSU
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archeology [:n‘ogram.93 The Park Service, of course,
is not without blame on that count, but the situation
explains why the center eventually widened the
scope of its relations beyond the Anthropology
Department. Students are now hired from other
FSU departments, for example, the Department of
Geography, and beyond the university through
additional cooperative agreements.

There are historical reasons for the Department of
Anthropology’s failure to move in the direction of
applied archeology seemingly in the face of the
opportunity presented by the NPS presence on
campus. SCAC’s failure was a main reason, but
pressure upon the department to improve its repu-
tation with the university drove it in the direction of
a greater academic emphasis. Moreover, simple
staff predilections also helped determine the
department’s character, and these gradually
changed over the years from Hale Smith’s time.
There is, however, yet another factor - SEAC’s
withdrawal from involvement in underwater arche-
ology, which like SCAC, was a fertile area for
cooperation. At least to the beginning of this study,
the faculty had sustained an interest in underwater
archeology. By the time that interest blossomed,
however, SEAC itself could no longer participate
for reasons discussed extensively below. Unfortu-
nately, neither SCAC, nor an FSU applied
archeology program, nor even SEAC’s own under-
water archeology effort, survived the conundrums
of bureaucratic life.

94

There also remained the nagging issue of space.
Both the Park Service and the Anthropology
Department were unsatisfied with arrangements
resulting from SEAC’s relocation to the FSU
campus. Both had suffered a space deficit and
probably some mutual resentment. There was, after
all, the memory of how the department’s own col-
lections had been shunted off to Alligator Point for
remote storage, as well as the persistent inconve-
nience. Moreover, the agreement required the
department to share lab space with SEAC, a

requirement that hampered faculty and student
research and probably also muted enthusiasm for
further collaboration. While everyone understood
the problem and there was consistent mutual
support to alleviate it, far too many years passed
before real progress was finally made, as detailed in
the chapter on Innovation Park. The point here is
simply that there was plenty of time for frustration
to brew despite good intentions.

Finally, the National Park Service has also shifted
its own philosophical orientation, helping to widen
the philosophical gap with the Department of
Anthropology. While federal archeology has never
been research-driven, relief, salvage, and early park
archeology was at least excavation-oriented. Now,
within the Park Service the definition of “public
archeology” has come to mean “management
archeology.” As SEAC Director John Ehrenhard
stated:

[W]e have had some philosophical differ-
ences of opinion with the Department over
what it is to be an archeologist anymore. It’s
not going out and digging a hole in the
ground, a nice square hole, and collecting the
artifacts. Archeology is much more involved
in the public sector now and knowing cul-
tural resource management law, archeology
resource protection law. When you get a
degree in archeology now, the chances of
you actually being out and digging in the field
for a profession are remote, unless you con-
tinue to stay in the academic environment.”

Moreover, according to Ehrenhard, public arche-
ology is also about maintaining good government-
to-government relations with Native Americans as
mandated by the 1990 Native American Graves
Protection and Repatriation Act. Archeology is “not
just academic textbook kind of learning, but far
more involved.” Obviously, universities rarely deal
with these types of issues that have become more
salient to the practice of archeology within federal
service, although that does not excuse them from
providing relevant education to their students.

93. Fischer, Oral History Interview, 24; George S. Smith, Oral History Interview by Cameron Binkley, May 30, 2003, National

Park Service, 8.

94. J. Anthony Paredes retired as professor emeritus from the Department of Anthropology in 1999. During his career, he
was a major supporter of the NPS presence on the FSU campus. His absence could only further contribute to the
department’s long-term move away from public archeology. Paredes was also a strong proponent of the importance of
“public anthropology.” From 1998 to 2006, he served in the position of Regional Ethnographer for the Southeast Region

of the National Park Service.
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The most fundamental philosophical divide
between SEAC and the FSU Anthropology
Department may also be the most difficult to gauge.
As SEAC’s Smith explained:

There’s still a schism out there in the pro-
fession between those that are in the
academic community and those that are not.
It used to be called salvage archeology, con-
tract archeology. As I talk about it, it’s the
archeology of a lesser god. It’s one of these
things where it was just considered some-
thing you did if you couldn’t go on to get
your Ph.D. Well, that’s all changed now
because some of the finest archeology in the
country, and a lot of the methodology we
use, has been developed outside the academy,
because of how we have to do our job.”®

Despite these various difficulties, SEAC gained by
its association with the FSU Anthropology
Department. Staff obtained access to the uni-
versity’s research facilities and faculty expertise,
both of which contributed to better collections
curation, and enjoyed occasional teaching opportu-
nities. SEAC also employed numerous FSU
students. If these were hired without sufficient aca-
demic preparation for public archeology, they left
their SEAC employment better off, which was part
of the benefit both the university and Park Service
hoped to achieve and which the department still
touts to prospective FSU applicants today. Training
them in the skills of public archeology was a small
price for SEAC to pay. In no other way could the
Park Service have acquired as able a pool of talent
willing to work for low wages or even no wages.
Certainly, if funding had even been available to
contract out the work, the benefits would in no way
compare. Student workers were motivated to
succeed not just by a paycheck but also by a desire
to promote their academic and future employment
credentials, and if the range of papers produced is
any indication, by their own inherent curiosity and,
one can hope, by their concern for the NPS
mission. The success of this aspect of the
arrangement has been a consistent and perhaps the
most important virtue of the SEAC-FSU cooper-
ative arrangement. Despite its cramped workspace,
SEAC flourished in a university environment and its
collections were better managed. The decision to
move SEAC out of Macon and to Florida State was

historically sound; the minimum expectations were
met even if the greatest potential was not fulfilled.

In the end, SEAC and the Anthropology
Department settled into a useful and cordial
working relationship, but one that has also suffered
the stress of major ups and downs. Differences in
approach and professional orientation drove the
parties apart over time, but significant common
interests have remained, including perhaps in the
one area of potential cooperation not yet con-
sidered - underwater archeology. That subject is
discussed later in this chapter. As regards the
overall NPS-FSU relationship, however, two main
points can be derived. First, the Park Service bene-
fited from the SEAC-FSU cooperative agreement
and the separatist strategy to locate SEAC on a uni-
versity campus, although SEAC’s proximity to the
university was not the sole factor determining the
ease with which faculty and students have been able
to participate in NPS work. Second, drift in the
relations between SEAC and the department
appears a factor of professional, bureaucratic, and
philosophical predilections over which the Park
Service has had some, but not exclusive influence.
Understandably, changing national law and con-
tracting rules, like those relating to SCAC, impaired
NPS-FSU relations. On other occasions, the uni-
versity failed to support the spirit of the NPS-FSU
cooperative agreement, which helped drive the
Anthropology Program further away from the
needs of SEAC.

Disposition and Curation of
Archeological Collections: Part Il

In November 1982, the Southeast Archeological
Center prepared a draft policy and scope statement
for managing its archeological collections. The doc-
ument addressed many routine items, such as
accessioning, cataloging, and storage standards.
The document’s overall purpose was to establish
the scope and nature of the center as the main
repository for archeological research materials and
artifacts from national parks in the Southeast
Region. However, the draft policy and scope
statement also raised an indirect issue - the devel-
opment of an overarching regionwide curatorial
policy. Chief Faust sought to initiate the devel-
opment of such a policy. He wanted regional
officials to consider what should be the “appro-

96. Smith, Oral History Interview, 8.
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priate repository for archeological research
collections that have been derived from units in the
Southeast Region.” “Service wide,” he argued, “it is
the position of most archeologists and many
curators that archeological research collections,
that is the artifacts and supporting documentary
materials that have resulted from archeological
investigations, should be kept intact as a collection
in so far as possible, and that they should be stored
in a centralized or regional repository.” To some
extent, the creation of SEAC and its custody of a
significant percentage of Ocmulgee National Mon-
ument’s archeological collections represented a de
facto policy acknowledging the center as that desig-
nated “central repository.” However, as Faust
noted, “no specific policy covering the center as the
Region’s archeological repository has ever been
formulated.” The problem with not having a policy
was that some of the region’s archeological material
was scattered among various parks, some parks
wanted their own costly curatorial facilities, care
was uneven, and conflicts with parks continued to
arise periodically.97 SEAC would benefit, of course,
from being designated the region’s official repos-
itory, but Faust’s argument had merit. The
Hellmich thesis, previously discussed, soon
strengthened his argument by confirming the
research value of older archeological collections
and the importance of maintaining their integrity,
especially through centralized curation. Still, some
parks have held a different and often no less valid
perspective, so establishing SEAC as the repository
for all archeological artifacts in the Southeast has
been a tough goal to achieve. Faust’s initiative
languished.

SEAC has had more complicated relations with
Ocmulgee than most other Southeast Region parks.
Problems have probably stemmed largely from con-
tinued confusion in curatorial, management, and
jurisdiction issues induced by the decision to
transfer most of Ocmulgee’s archeological collec-
tions to the center. According to Ocmulgee and
regional officials, it took years just to sort out the
accession records, because the park had limited
staff and SEAC did not focus upon the issue.”®

Eventually, the preparation of a draft Collections
Management Plan (CMP) for Ocmulgee in the late
1980s brought out some long-standing tensions in
the park’s relations with SEAC.

On March 15, 1989, a meeting was held at
Ocmulgee to address some of the management con-
cerns of the park regarding its archeological
collections. SEAC Chief Pete Faust, Regional
Curator Dale Durham, and Deputy Associate
Regional Director for Cultural Resources Paul
Hartwig attended the meeting along with Ocmulgee
Superintendent Mark J. Corey. The park was con-
cerned about the relationship between the Regional
Office, SEAC, and itself regarding the management
and accountability of the archeological collections.
After years of perceived inactivity, Supt. Corey was
eager to see some progress in completing the
backlog cataloging of his park’s archeological col-
lections and had used the CMP to push for
improvement in the situation. There was probably,
as there still is, lingering suspicion that SEAC’s slow
rate of accomplishment in cataloging the collection
had less to do with a lack of funds than with SEAC’s
need to justify its mission by keeping that collection
in Tallahassee. If Ocmulgee’s collection was com-
pletely updated, then the park could reasonably
hope to see it returned. After all, that promise was
made when SEAC relocated to Tallahassee origi-
nally, causing some degree of local consternation.
At any rate, Corey objected to some provisions of
the CMP. During and after the meeting, the
Regional Office sought to clarify the role and
function of the various NPS parties with an interest
in managing Ocmulgee’s collections and perhaps to
improve relations between the park and SEAC. In
the end, however, the Regional Office sided with
SEAC’s interpretation regarding management
authority. In a follow-up memo, Deputy Associate
Regional Director Hartwig made clear that “proce-
dures for accomplishing specific tasks are
appropriate in the plan to ensure that NPS cura-
torial standards will be met.” Furthermore,
according to Hartwig, the draft plan was designed
“to address the collection management needs of the
collection held in the park only.”99

97. Chief, Southeast Archeological Center, Memorandum to Associate Regional Director, Operations, SER, November 1, 1982,
and associated document entitled “Collections Management,” in “Misc. FSU/SEACCuratorial Correspondence/Documents
1974-1991” folder, “Old SEAC Files” drawer, Richard R. Vernon files, SEAC.

98. Sylvia Flowers, Interview with Cameron Binkley, March 11, 2004, National Park Service, 15-16.

99. Paul Hartwig, Deputy Associate Regional Director for Cultural Resources, Memorandum to Superintendent, Ocmulgee
National Monument (Disposition of Ocmulgee Archeological Collections), March 31, 1989, in Robert C. Wilson files, SEAC.
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FIGURE 34. SEAC Chief Pete Faust, March 1988, in his office in the Montgomery Gymnasium on the campus of Florida State
University. Photograph courtesy of Patricia C. Griffin and used by permission

The park’s position was difficult - to address
Ocmulgee’s concerns, Hartwig’s memo first laid out
the roles and responsibilities of the various parties
who help manage the region’s museum resources.
While park superintendents are considered the
“accountable officers for all museum collections
including archeological artifacts in or from their
parks,” this authority is not decisive. It is true that
all artifacts from Ocmulgee located at SEAC are
considered “on loan.” In practice, however, the
great percentage of Ocmulgee’s collection had been
on loan to SEAC for many years. While the park is
theoretically responsible for its collections, no
matter under whose custody they are held, in fact,
“the Center Chief in consultation with the Regional
Curator, makes the final decision regarding the arti-
facts return.” Although the Regional Director could
override any such decision, as a practical matter, it
was not likely. Thus, real authority over park arche-
ological collections rested with the Center Chief.
The park did not go away completely empty-
handed, however. SEAC agreed to prepare an
Archeological Overview and Assessment (a doc-
ument intended to aid resource management,

interpretation, and collection management). Park-
identified concerns regarding the draft CMP were
also to be noted in the final CMP and “the
respective role of both the park and SEAC in man-
aging the park collections at OCMU and SEAC will
be discussed in the plan.” One final issue was that
Ocmulgee would continue to store a considerable
number of WPA-era collections while SEAC deter-
mined what to do with them. The park was directed
to maintain the collection in inactive storage. These
materials “were not to be opened or used by the
park staff.”100

Bureaucratically, this arrangement was to the
benefit of SEAC. SEAC continued to maintain its
day-to-day control over Ocmulgee’s vast archeo-
logical collection, which some have argued, is a
major justification for SEAC’s own purpose for
being. Turf-fighting aside, there were good reasons
for SEAC to continue maintaining this collection.
First, it could not be as well managed at Ocmulgee
without a considerable upgrade in that park’s
resources, or without moving SEAC back to
Macon. Such a scenario has remained unlikely

100. Hartwig, Memorandum to Superintendent (Disposition of Ocmulgee Archeological Collections), March 31, 1989.
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because Tallahassee offers a better environment for
SEAC, given nearby access to FSU and its interested
students, resources not available in Macon.
Returning SEAC to Ocmulgee might also resurrect
old problems developed as a result of having the
archeological center located at a park. Meanwhile,
SEAC has become more involved in maintaining the
collections of other parks in recent years. Easy
access to the collections also helps SEAC archeolo-
gists (and visiting researchers) to do their work by
providing reference and comparative material for
research or compliance documentation needs. The
synergism of central curation is important, as Judy
Hellmich’s thesis pointed out.

To ensure that all understood the relationship
between SEAC, the Regional Curator, and parks
regarding authority over archeological collections
and museum holdings in the Southeast Region,
Acting Regional Director Carroll W. (Jack) Ogle
issued a memorandum in December 1993. In that
memo, he applied the same standards and proce-
dures as were emphasized in the 1989 consultations
with Ocmulgee to all parks in the region, essentially
adapting the 1989 Hartwig memo to Supt. Corey, 10!

In May 1994, SEAC, the Regional Curator, and
Ocmulgee developed a further refinement of their
specific agreement in which Ocmulgee created its
own accession records and the park and SEAC
agreed that Ocmulgee would be responsible for
some park-related collections while WPA-era
material was to continue solely under the juris-
diction of SEAC. Nevertheless, documentation
relating to the collections was still scattered
between the two facilities even after this agreement,
while approximately 2.4 million artifacts remained
“on loan” to SEAC for analysis, study, cataloging,
and storage.'"?

Archeology and the Drive for

Accountability

Beginning in the early 1980s, Congress became gen-
erally concerned with accountability issues in the
management of the federal government. Legislation
resulting from this concern inspired broad changes
in federal policy that eventually facilitated a greater
disparity in the relations between the Southeast
Archeological Center and Florida State University
while also increasing funds available to improve
NPS management of its archeological collections.
In 1982, Congress passed a major piece of legis-
lation - the Federal Managers' Financial Integrity
Act (FMFIA).!% FMFIA was intended to reduce
waste and inefficiency and to strengthen mana-
gerial control over federal financial and auditing
systems. In compliance with FMFIA, the Inspector
General of the Interior Department conducted a
department-wide audit in 1985. The audit resulted
in a confidential report focused upon cultural
objects within NPS museum and archeological col-
lections. The report, entitled “Audit of Museum
Collection Management, National Park Service,”
evaluated the adequacy of NPS’s accounting con-
trols, security procedures, and storage facilities for
museum property, as well as procedures for the dis-
position of surplus museum items. The report
concluded “a substantial portion of the museum
property in the parks visited was vulnerable to theft
and misappropriation because of inadequate
accounting controls.” Among other problems,
many national parks lacked essential fire and
intruder alarm systems to protect their collections
while many contained objects that were not
properly stored or protected in accordance with
NPS requirements.104

Regarding archeological collections specifically, the
Inspector General (IG) determined that “NPS
needs to improve controls over archeological col-
lections. Most archeological and archival
collections have not been accessioned or cataloged

101. Acting Regional Director Carroll W. (Jack) Ogle, Memorandum to Superintendents, Southeast Region, December 30,
1993, in Robert Wilson files, Southeast Archeological Center.

102. Flowers, Interview with Cameron Binkley, March 11, 2004; National Park Service, Ocmulgee National Monument:
Collections Management Plan (Atlanta, Georgia: National Park Service, 1994), 15-16.

103. See Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act of 1982, Public Law No. 97-255 (31 U.5.C. Sections 1105, 1106, 1108, 1113,

3512).

104. Acting Assistant Inspector General for Auditing, Memorandum to Assistant Secretary, Fish and Wildlife and Parks,
November 22, 1985, accompanying “Audit of Museum Collection Management, National Park Service” (Washington, DC:
Office of Inspector General, U.S. Department of the Interior, November 1985). Note, the IG’s report was based upon a
survey of eight parks and two regional offices, assumed to be sufficient to represent the national park system overall. The
report did not include a specific evaluation of SEAC, although it did specifically evaluate the state of NPS archeological

curation.

98 Southeast Archeological Center Administrative History



upon receipt. As a result, NPS cannot be assured
that the collections are intact or complete.” The 1G
further determined that “NPS needs to have better
control over archeological collections to ensure
that all objects and related documentation are
returned to the NPS” after completion of a
researcher’s project or when the items are tempo-
rarily loaned out. In the parks surveyed, thousands
of items turned up missing. The IG attributed these
losses to improper accounting controls and
security, deterioration due to improper storage and
handling, and erroneous c.':ltalloging.105

On January 6, 1987, Washington Post writers Jack
Anderson and Joseph Spear published a column on
the IG report after having obtained a copy from
Post reporter Tyler Clements. Their account of that
report included several technical errors but it
served the useful purpose of helping to raise ques-
tions during congressional hearings taking place at
the time. One example of problems NPS museums
had was the state of object cataloging. Of twenty-
two million NPS museum objects, only three
million or 14 percent were cataloged. Chief Curator
Ann Hitchcock, quoted in the column, agreed with
the IG’s assessment and explained how the Park
Service intended to submit a proposal to Congress
with estimated costs to address the problem.!% Cat-
aloging, whether by hand or electronically, is the key
curatorial function required to maintain associa-
tional and locational information pertaining to
artifacts and their records. It is necessarily laborious
and time-consuming but absolutely essential.
Without effective curation, there is almost no point
to doing archeology. Fifty years after the first WPA
shovels sifted the earth at Ocmulgee Old Fields,
Congress took the Park Service to task for failing a
key mission: archeological curation.

Since 1983, the IG has conducted additional audits
while the General Accounting Office and the
National Park Service have independently con-
ducted a series of internal “management control
reviews” upon the Park Archeology Program.
These determined that the Park Service, along with
several other department bureaus, suffered what
was called a “material weakness” in the area of
curating its museum and archeological collections.
This determination constituted a critical deficiency
for the Park Service whose core mission includes
the preservation of historic and prehistoric objects.
In 1987, the Park Service did submit to Congress a
plan to improve the management of its museum and
archeological collections. Estimates of both the size
of NPS museum collections, the number of items
uncataloged, and the cost to account for them fully
varies tremendously depending on the year
assessed, the scope of one’s definition (for example,
including collections held in non-federal reposi-
tories), and the fact that additional resources are
always being added to the system (with new defi-
ciencies as well). Nevertheless, in 1987 Chief
Curator Hitchcock estimated that it would take
thirty years at then current funding levels to correct
a backlog of 22.6 million objects. To speed the
process to correct the deficiency by 2000, she
requested over $23 million.!?” In 1988, Congress
appropriated $2.763 million, the first of several
appropriations launched to begin a major backlog-
cataloging effort. In 1990, Congress provided an
additional $1.6 million to help address preservation
and security issues associated with museum objects
and archeological artifacts.'” That same year, the
Park Service published new rules in the Federal Reg-
ister outlining higher professional standards for the
curation of archeological collections and associated
documentation.!%’ By 2003, over $41 million had
been spent to catalog over 43 million objects, spec-

105. Inspector General, Audit of Museum Collection Management, National Park Service” (Washington, DC: Office of
Inspector General, U.S. Department of the Interior, November 1985), 28. The Park Service was not, of course, unaware of
significant deficiencies in its accountability of archeological collections. Director Russell Dickenson set out as a policy goal
in 1980 to improve agency care of its collections and to improve visitor access to them. “We are one of the world’s largest
museums,” he told a reporter, “but we never took the time over the years to find out what we had.” Unfortunately,
without funding, little progress was made under the Dickenson directorship. See Myron Struck, “Park Service Opens Old

Vistas,” Washington Post, December 28, 1984, A15.

106. Jack Anderson and Joseph Spear, “National Treasures are Missing,” Washington Post, January 6, 1987, B8, Status report
on Jack Anderson Article, March 12, 1987, information by Curatorial Services Division, NPS, in possession of author; and
Ann Hitchcock, Chief Curator, Communication to author, March 2, 2005.

107. Curatorial Services Division, “National Park Service Plan For Museum Collections Management,” document submitted
with the 1988 Budget as requested in House Report 99-1005 on P.L. 99-500 and P.L. 99-591, National Park Service, March
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FIGURE 35. Archeological exhibit set up by SEAC at Florida State University. Accountability for NPS artifact collections became
an important concern in the 1980s. NPS photograph, no date; SEAC file 05-00-88

imens, and archival documents with over $32
million spent on correcting preservation and
security problems. ! 10 A portion of these funds was
eventually used to relocate SEAC in 1995, which,
like many other under funded NPS units, has long
had to cope with major curation issues.

Among the findings of these management control
reviews was that archeological objects are “Per-
sonal Property” and must be controlled by the NPS
curatorial program. Similarly, the Park Service con-
cluded that archeological sites are “Real Property,”
making them also subject to control through a
program similar to those used for managing NPS
buildings. One of the issues helping to drive the
“material weakness” determination for archeology
was the significant difference in the way archeolo-
gists and museum curators approach the
management of collections. Even though oversight
of SEAC’s collections was improved by contracting
out the care to FSU’s Anthropology Department,
archeological management is loose in terms of
accountability of property. Archeologists are pri-
marily concerned to maintain correct archeological

provenance (i.e., cataloging) and less concerned
with the strict physical accountability of items. An
associated problem was that SEAC, other NPS
archeological centers, and numerous parks had all
deliberately placed significant archeological collec-
tions in the hands of universities across the country.
SEAC even promoted this “outsourcing” of its col-
lections when it prepared to move to Florida State.
Ultimately, it loaned out a significant percentage of
its collections to universities, totaling several
hundred thousand items from several million held.
As late as 1994, just prior to SEAC’s relocation to an
off-campus site, it had some four hundred square
feet of collections still housed at eighteen

universities.! 1!

There were benefits to the policy of outsourcing
collections in terms of curatorial cost savings (free
storage), the promotion of scholarly research into
those collections, and perhaps cooperative rela-
tions. However, remote storage and reliance on
university curation was problematic. Obviously, in
this system of management that part of the col-
lection on loan was not under the control of

110. Hitchcock, e-mail to Cameron Binkley, March 2, 2005.

111. Administrative Officer, Southeast Archeological Center, Memorandum to Budget Officer, Southeast Region, June 20,
1994, in “AB015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992" folder (1), SEAC files.
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government officials. Some universities, such as
Harvard’s Peabody Museum, also proved reluctant
to return government collections when they were
recalled, which served only to further highlight the
problematic nature of this management scheme, 12
Technically, SEAC’s own in-house collections were
not under its authority either. They were under the
formal jurisdiction of the Department of Anthro-
pology, although SEAC staff had immediate access
to the collections and frequent interaction with
facuity curators involved with their care. Never-
theless, for SEAC to meet the terms of the various
management reviews, it would need additional
storage space under its own authority. This situ-
ation eventually spurred NPS authorities to
approve funding to move SEAC off-campus.

Despite ongoing inventories and evaluations to
account for NPS museum and archeological
property, senior NPS archeologist Calvin Cum-
mings complained in 1996 that the Park Service
“has only inventeried and evaluated less than 10
percent of the Archeological Sites on NPS
property.” Servicewide, the reviews suggested that
NPS archeological objects, sites, data, and infra-
structure all remained “At Risk.” After ten years of
attention, Cummings concluded “until improved
policies, procedures, and controls are imple-
mented, significant risk of loss or damage of
irreplaceable artwork and artifacts remains
high.»113

While Congress was growing concerned with the
federal government’s general oversight and
accountability, it took up an equally compelling
issue that also greatly affected the work of museums
nationwide. In 1990, after years of patient lobbying
by Native American groups and their supporters,
Congress passed the Native American Graves Pro-
tection and Repatriation Act (104 Stat. 3048).
NAGPRA, as it is known, fundamentally trans-
formed the manner by which public archeology is
conducted in the United States. The act made it
much more difficult to excavate Indian graves and/
or to remove associated human and ceremonial
remains, although provisions of the law still make

this possible under some circumstances. NAGPRA
also mandated that any public or private museum
receiving federal funding was required to consult
with appropriate Native American groups and
return or “repatriate” to their lineal descendents or
to the closest culturally affiliated tribe any existing
artifacts determined to be Indian remains, funerary
or sacred objects, or objects of cultural pat-
rimony.!!* To carry out this mandate, museums had
to survey their holdings to account for and report
on these items, which had been widely collected
since the nineteenth century. This requirement was
a significant new burden upon the managers of NPS
museums and especially those responsible for
archeological collections and obviously fed into the
major policy shift leading the federal government to
tighten its control over these collections.

So, by the end of the 1980s, congressional interest
in government accountability and a growing sensi-
tivity to Native American issues were focusing
senior-level NPS attention upen some long-
standing curatorial problems. At the same time,
there was pressure for change from another
direction: a major NPS reorganization of the mid-
1980s. The reorganization is discussed more thor-
oughly below, but one of its results was that the
Park Service conducted an “Operations Evalu-
ation” upon Southeast Region management. The
subsequent report included a review of SEAC's cul-
tural resource management program and offered a
number of recommendations. While the center had
the “common problem” of backlogged work
projects, the Operations Evaluation was generally
upbeat. It rated SEAC at standard in most areas,
such as Section 106 compliance work, cooperation
with parks, and programming efforts. It noted that
SEAC had “an effective program for archeological
resources management, protection and preser-
vation.” Another point of praise concerned the
Cultural Sites Inventory {CSI). The Park Service
was then formulating a computer model for the
CSI. According to the Operations Evaluation, this
model was “designed and implemented at SEAC
and is recognized Servicewide as an outstanding
contribution to archeological data management.”!1?

112. Allen Bohnert, Discussion with Cameron Binkley, January 30, 2004, National Park Service.
113. Cal Cummings, Memorandum to Dan Lenihan, March 18, 1996, in "Archeclogy Centers: Admin. History and
Reorganizations” folder, Michele Aubry files, Archealogy and Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural

Resources, Washington, DC.
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The Operations Evaluation did critically assess two
key areas. The first area concerned the center’s
relations with the Submerged Cultural Resources
Unit and the management of underwater arche-
ology. That subject is detailed in the next section.
The second area concerned SEAC’s curatorial and
collections management. The Operations Evalu-
ation noted, not surprisingly, the obvious backlog
in collections cataloging. FSU staff were under con-
tract by SEAC to reduce that backlog, but a
secondary problem arose when parks contacted the
center seeking collections information. Often,
SEAC could not assist them because SEAC’s

~ backlog activity absorbed so much effort while the
center also lacked up-to-date computerized catalog
records. The Operations Evaluation noted SEAC’s
efforts to address the backlog, to keep the accession
records current, and to document new collections
as they were received, but the center had a huge
backlog and also lacked a formal Collection Man-
agement Plan (CMP). “A Collection Management
Plan was needed,” the Operations Evaluation
asserted, “to guide and direct the processing and
treatment of the collections.” While Chief Faust
had earlier developed a Scope of Collection
Statement, Regional Curator Dale Durham had
deferred development of a CMP for SEAC.!16 A
likely reason was that it raised the sensitive issue of
whether to designate SEAC as the formal repository
for all artifact collections in the Southeast Region.

The Operations Evaluation also reported that while
Regional Curator Durham visited the center two or
three times per year to examine operations and to
assess basic needs, his time was spent mostly
assisting FSU staff to understand and implement
NPS curatorial policy. While this was important,
other basic problems relating to inadequate storage,
security, and the need to account for collection
materials as Personal Property were not being
addressed. The Operations Evaluation strongly rec-
ommended that the Chief Curator of the National
Park Service, Ann Hitchcock, and Durham visit the
center to advise on the steps necessary to comput-

erize SEAC’s collections and to help formulate a
CMP. “This is particularly important,” it noted,

“since a project to improve collections account-
ability at SEAC will be funded from the Cultural
Resources Preservation Program.”!17

Chief Faust recognized the need for a full-time in-
house curator to coordinate the center’s curatorial
efforts and sought to create such a position. The
Regional Office approved his request in 1986 but
provided no funding. Then, in late September 1986,
in direct response to the Operations Evaluation,
Chief Curator Hitchcock visited the center in con-
junction with a national team assembled to create
SEAC’s first CMP.!18 In her trip report, Hitchcock
focused upon funding and how important it was for
the center to employ its own full-time curator. A
curator, she stated, “should personally direct all
work in the collections areas to ensure consistency
in management and adherence to NPS standards.”
Hitchcock noted that NPS standards clearly
required a full-time curator for a collection of
SEAC’s size and that regional authorities had not
been forthcoming in providing funding. “A clearly
laid out collections management program,” she
further noted, “under the direction of a permanent
full-time curator, should result in more efficient use
of existing staff time and resources.” Hitchcock
also criticized how funding for collection man-
agement had dropped over the preceding two years
and was in 1986 half of what it had been in 1976.
“Considering that collections management is a
major function of the center, Hitchcock stated,
“and the Center has a large backlog of work (cata-
loging and storage reorganization) to be done,
funding is in urgent need of increase.”!!°

Chief Curator Hitchcock’s trip report was trans-
mitted to SEAC via a memorandum to the
Southeast Regional Director from Associate
Director Jerry Rogers who further emphasized the
point that the center had to have a curator.
According to Rogers:

115. National Park Service, SER - Operations Evaluation - 1985 (National Park Service: Washington, DC, 1985), in “WASO
Archeology Program” files, National Center for Cultural Resource Management, Washington, DC.

116. National Park Service, SER - Operations Evaluation - 1985.
117. National Park Service, SER - Operations Evaluation - 1985.

118. The CMP Team was composed of SER Regional Curator Durham, Pacific Northwest Regional Curator Kent Bush, Pacific
Northwest Regional Archeologist Jim Thompson, and Mesa Verde Curator Allen Bohnert. They were at the Center

September 21-25, 1986.

119. Ann Hitchcock, Chief Curator, “Trip Report: Southeast Archeological Center, September 24-25, 1986,” in “Southeast

Archeological Center (SEACQ)” folder, SEAC files.
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FIGURE 36. Organizational chart showing staffing at SEAC in 1988, including the newly established branch for museum
specialists to oversee the center’s archeological ¢ollections. Beginning in 1985, concerns about the “material weakness” of NPS
curatorial matters led to increased funding in this area. Chief, Southeast Archeological Center, Memorandum to Deputy
Associate Regional Director, Cultural Resources, SERD, October 7, 1988; in "AB427 (SER-OSC)" folder, SEAC files.

The Center has accomplished some good
work through the curation contract with
Florida State University, especially in recent
cataloging efforts; however, the Center is in
need of a permanent, full-time NPS curator.
A curator would systematically address the
storage and cataloging needs, coordinate the
work of the contractor, implement a long-
range collections management strategy, and
provide continuity to the collections man-
agement program.”

“We believe,” he concluded, “that the Center is
eager to improve its curation progra,m. The Collec-
tions Management Plan will provide excellent
guidance in this area,”120

Despite this push, it was not until October 1988 that
Southeast Regional authorities appraved a plan by
Chief Faust to create a section within SEAC for two
museuin specialists. Previously, only archeologists
had staffed professional positions in SEAC, so this
was an improvement. However, regional managers
classified the positions as temporary, because of
unstable funding drawn from “Congressional add-
on, SERO Pkgs. 210 and 217 and cyclic preser-
vation” sources, 12!

Finally, in 1990, SEAC received sufficient line-item
money to allow Faust to hire a permanent curator,
Allen Bohnert, who arrived from the Southwest
Region where he had served as curator at Mesa
Verde Naticonal Park. Bohnert had also worked on
the team that had devised the center’s first CMP,

120. Jerry Rogers, Associate Director, Cultural Resources, Memarandum to Regional Director, Southeast Region, October 10,
1986, in “Southeast Archeological Center (SEAC)” folder, SEAC files.

121. Chief, Southeast Archeological Center, Memorandum to Deputy Associate Regional Director, Cultural Resources, SERO,
October 7, 1988, in possession of author; and Deputy Associate Regional Director, Memorandum to Regional Director,
Southeast Region, July 13, 1988, in "AB015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992" folder (1), SEAC files.
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and was thus familiar with its issues. Mesa Verde
holds one of the largest archeological collections in
the NPS system, so Bohnert’s selection as curator
for SEAC was symbolic of renewed NPS com-
mitment to improve management of SEAC’s
archeological collections. It was also symbolic of
the changing state of SEAC-FSU relations. The last
SEAC curator was archeologist Donald Crusoe,
who had transferred to IAS in 1975, By relying
heavily upon curatorial contracts with Florida
State, the Park Service had seen no need to re-staff
Crusoe’s position. 122 Then, in 1981, the situation
that developed over the FSU Southeast Conser-
vation Archeology Center led SEAC to move away
from university contracting and to hire students
directly to work on curation projects. That situ-
ation might have led SEAC to hire a museum
specialist to oversee curation, but regional author-
ities in the mid-1980s chose to reduce staffing
instead, so SEAC continued to rely upon FSU con-
tracts.!?3 The demise of SCAC made this possible by
ending any petential conflict between the Anthro-
pology Department and NPS policy. Finally,
national program office and congressional interest
in museum accountability compelled the Southeast
Region to increase curatorial funding for SEAC.
Chief Faust assigned Bohnert to retool man-
agement of the center’s museum and archeological
collections.

Bohnert immediately began to design an action plan
to bring SEAC into compliance with a then recently
revised special directive (Special Directive 80-1)
governing NPS standards for preserving and pro-
tecting museum collections. The directive resulted
from the “material weakness” problems, It was not
SEAC’s first response to the 1985 1G audit. Faust
had conducted an informal assessment of the
center’s curatorial state in 1986 but at that time, no
new funds were available to correct major defi-
ciencies. In 1990, Faust notified the Anthropology
Department of pending changes while Bohnert sur-
veyed the status of SEAC’s compliance with NPS
standards on a range of issues, including planning,

security, fire protection, housekeeping, envi-
ronment, and storage conditions.}?* Among other
tasks, Bohnert soon began returning archival docu-
ments and artifacts held by SEAC that were
unrelated to its collections. For example, in 1990,
he transferred to the Western Archeological and
Conservation Center a set of artifacts and docu-
ments derived from George Fischer’s 1968
underwater archeological survey at Montezuma
Well. According to Chief Faust, “this material was
never appropriate to our collections,” but why it
was still at SEAC after twenty-two years was not
explained. Similarly, Bohnert also transferred arti-
facts and documents to Arkansas Post that were
collected before the Southeast Region shifted
authority over national parks In Arkansas to the
Midwest Region. In a more serious undertaking,
Bohnert also set out to retrieve “all human remains
in official NPS collections from National Parks in
the Southeast Region,” some of which were being
curated under contract or permit by non-NPS
repositories. NAGPRA now required systematic
analysis and museum cataloging of all such
remains,’?

After 1990, SEAC became significantly less reliant
upon Florida State to curate its collections,
although it continued to rely upon FSU students to
facilitate this work. Likewise, the NPS-FSU rela-
tionship continued to allow FSU faculty to
participate in collections analysis and NAGPRA-
related projects as academic schedules permitted.
Nevertheless, the era of the center’s reliance upon
faculty oversight of NPS collections had ended.
Certainly, these changes further distanced relations
between the center and FSU staff, but the law was
clear: The Park Service had to improve its account-
ability and that entailed tighter supervision and a
reduced role for the university.

In line with the new standards, SEAC began
pushing Southeast Region parks for stricter
accountability of their own museum property and
archeological collections. In December 1993,

122, Instead, George Fischer, as Chief of Data Base and Programs, assumed the task of managing the curatorial contracts
under which the curation by FSU faculty and students was actually dene.

123. National Park Service, “Southeast Cultural Resource Preservation Center and Southeast Archeological Center
Consolidation: A Management Study” (Atlanta: Southeast Regional Office, 1985), 13,

124, Richard D. Faust, Memorandum to J. Anthony Paredes, Chairperson, July 25, 1990, in “Misc. FSWSEACCuratorial
Correspondence/Documents 1974-1991* folder, “Old SEAC Files” drawer, Richard R. Vernon files, SEAC.

125. Richard D. Faust, Chief, SEAC, Memorandum to Chief, Westarn Archeological and Conservation Center, March 21, 1991,
Richard D. Faust, Chief, SEAC, Memarandum to Superintendent, Arkansas Post NM, April 10, 1991; and Allen 5. Bohnert,
Curator, Letter to Dr. Stephen Molnar, Anthropology Department, Washington University, June 10, 1997; all in “Misc. F5U/
SEAC/Curatorial Correspondence/Documents 1974-1991” folder, "Old SEAC Files” drawer, Richard R. Vernon files, SEAC.
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Acting Regional Director Carroll W. (Jack) Ogle
issued a memorandum defining the respective roles
of park superintendents, the Regional Curator, and
the Chief of SEAC and spelling out the immediate
need for all parks to file a “Loan of Specimens Form
10-127” with SEAC. This paperwork was important
with regard to collections that parks had placed
with “outside repositories,” mainly universities, and
for which they had no loan or other types of agree-
ments to establish accountability. Ogle designated
SEAC as the party responsible for these collections
and not the parks. He stated that “most of the
“archeological collections in outside repositories
are from archeological investigations conducted in
parks through SEAC. Therefore,” he concluded,
“they should be managed by SEAC as part of their
archeological collection holdings.” Ogle directed
park superintendents to file the Loan of Specimens
forms with SEAC, which would then establish sec-
ondary loan agreements with the non-NPS
institutions having park-related archeological col-
lections. 26 This directive was part of SEAC’s
ongoeing effort to implement NAGPRA, but it also
served to extend SEAC’s influence over park arche-
ological holdings.

It took many years for the Interior Department to
overcome the majory of its material weaknesses.
Originally, the department was cited for 163 iden-
tified material weaknesses and 64 accounting
system “non-conformances.” By the end of 1998, it
could report that 147 of the material weaknesses
and all of the accounting system problems had been
satisfactorily corrected. 127 The material weakness in
curation, unfortunately, was not among those
problems satisfactorily addressed. The Park Service
specifically reported holding some 35 million
archeological, ethnological, historical, biological,
paleontological, and geological objects as well as 38
million manuscript and archival records. However,
only 54 percent of the objects and 32 percent of the
records were cataloged and available for public
use.1?8 Despite new funding, the magnitude of the

problem was proving greater than the resources
dedicated to meet it.

In 2002, a GAO study determined that the
department’s Indian Arts and Crafts Board, Min-
erals Management Service, National Business
Center, US. Geological Survey, and Office of Trust
Fund Management had passed the 80 percent mile-
stone for museum objects cataloged, which finally
allowed the department to declare “the Depart-
mentwide material weakness in museum property
accountability s resolved.” Nevertheless, at the
bureau level, those agencies with the department’s
vast bulk of museum and archeological collections,
namely, the Bureau of Land Management (BLM),
the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS), the
National Park Service (NPS), and the Bureau of
Indian Affairs (BIA), still needed to be monitored
and their progress reported with regard to the com-
pletion of museum object cataloging in their
respective agencies.'?” In other words, the issue of
soundly managing the Service’s museum and arche-
ological collections remained both a significant
concern and a significant deficiency both for the
department and the Naticnal Park Service.

In 2004, SEAC’s collections held over eight million
artifacts. Combined with nearly 700,000 related
archival records, the figure was closer to nine
million items requiring accountability. Only 39.36
percent of this collection had been cataloged,
meaning that some 3,439,000 items in SEAC’s
archeological artifact and archival holdings were
improperly recorded. Until this process is fully
completed, archeologists will not be able to access
the potential knowledge available within these col-
lections.? Since the founding of SEAC in 1966,
NPS archeologists have made great strides to
correct deficiencies in the curation of the col-
lection. Certainly, as Chief Curator Ann Hitcheock
stated in early 2005, “SEAC has been very proactive
and conscientious in addressing the backlog and
storage facility issues that it has had.”!3! Never-

126. Acting Regional Director Carrall W. {Jack) Ogle, Memorandum to Superintendents, Southeast Region, December 30,

1993, in Robert Wilson files, SEAC.

127. Fiscal Year 1998 Department of the Interior Annual Accountahility Report (Washington, DC: Department of the Interior,

April 1999), 31.

128. Fiscal Year 1998 Department of the Interior Annual Accountability Repert (Washington, DC: Department of the Interior,

April 1999), 121.

129. Director of Acquisition and Property Management Debra E. Sonderman, Memaorandum to Assistant Directors for
Administration, transmitting the Department's FY 2003 acquisition and property management performance assessment/
management control review requirements, December 11, 2002, Department of the Interior, httpwww.bim.gov/nhp/
efoialwo/fy03/im2003-119attach1.pdf {accessed August 31, 2004).

130. Fiscal Year 2004 Collection Management Report, Southeast Archeclogical Center, NPS, 2004,
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theless, at current funding, it will take many years of
further applied archeological effort to complete the
project of cataloging SEAC’s vast collection.

Origins of Federal Underwater

Archeology

George Fischer did not directly participate in the
Big Dig at Ocmulgee National Monument, the
event that gave birth to SEAC. Nevertheless, the
Park Service hired Fischer late in 1962 because he
had submitted an application just as several
vacancies opened up in the Southwest Region after
staff there transferred to work on the excavation at
Ocmulgee. After a brief stint at Montezuma Castle
in Arizona, he, too, found himself at OGcmulgee for a
couple of years, where he served as park archeol-
ogist. Then, in 1966, Fischer accepted a position on
the Washington staff of the Division of Archeology
under QAHP. It was the same slot just vacated by
Pete Faust, who had been selected in October 1966
1o join SEAC as Chief of Archeological Research.
Fischer came on board in November and served
there for six years.!*? Fischer was involved in
numerous issues, but was especially interested in
stimulating NPS interest in the emerging field of
underwater archeology.

By the 1960s, underwater breathing technology had
made significant advances through the devel-
opment of the “self-contained underwater
breathing apparatus,” that is SCUBA. SCUBA-
diving equipment freed divers from the necessity of
being attached to vessel-based compressors using
long umbilical-like hoses. More importantly, this
equipment brought down the relative cost of diving,
making it more accessible to recreational enthu-
siasts, university- and museum-associated
researchers, and to scavengers of various sorts. The
arrival of successful shipwreck salvaging by Mel
Fisher and others revealed jurisdictional and legal
concerns affecting the management of cultural
resources that begged reselution. Gradually,

concern arose about the numerous cultural heritage
sites on submerged public lands. The effort to
develop an institutional capability to manage such
resources within the Park Service began one day in
1968 when Ernest Connally walked into John
Corbett’s office and asked, “What are you doing in
terms of underwater arch.eo]v:)gy?”]33

Corbett had thought about the issue but had taken
no action. Fischer was keen to get involved and so
Corbett asked him to conduct a background study
on the needs and potential of the Park Service in
underwater archeology.!** Fischer conducted the
study with a young archeologist-diver named
Marion Riggs who was on the staff of Walnut
Canyon National Monument {Arizona). Their
report, published in March 1969, reviewed Service
responsibilities, capabilities, and potential projects
in underwater archeology, and identified significant
non-NPS institutions with underwater archeo-
logical programs. It laid out the basic arguments for
developing an NPS program in underwater
archeotogy. 13

The first thing that was necessary was for Fischer to
become a certified diver. After completing diver
training, he sought out others in the Park Service
with experience in diving or an interest in under-
water archeology. That is why Calvin Cummings
and Marion Riggs joined Fischer for the first
national NPS underwater archeology project - an
exploration of Montezuma Well in Arizona. The
well, actually a large “cenote” or limestone sink
hole some fifty feet deep with evidence of prehis-
toric occupation, was administered by Montezuma
Castle National Monument, where Fischer had
once worked. Presumably, the site was small
enough to be safe for a training dive.}36

The dive taok place in October 1968. The crew
encountered some prob]ems.137 First, as Fischer
admits, they had no research design and the dive,

131, Ann Hitchcock, Chief Curator, Personal Communication to Cameron Binkley, March 2, 2005, National Park Service,
132. Fischer, Oral History Interview, 2-4; Biographical data sheets for Richard Faust and George Fischer, courtesy of George R,

Fischer, in possession of the author.

133. Fischer, Oral History Interview, 4-5. Individual parks conducted very limited underwater archeological investigations
before this time, namely, at Fart Caroline in Florida in 1952 when archeologist Charles Fairbanks looked for the remains
of the Fort, and in 1964 when Point Reyes National Seashore conducted a cursory magnetometer survey. See George R
Fischer, "The History and Nature of Underwater Archeology in the National Park Service,” in Daniel J. Lenihan, ed.,
Underwater Archeology in the National Park Service (Santa Fe: National Park Service, 1974), 3-8.

134, Fischer, Qral History Interview, 4-5.

135. See Fischer and Riggs, “Prospectus for Underwater Archeology” (1969).
136, Fischer, Oral History Interview, 9-11; National Park Service, "Review and Analysis of Archeology Program, Fiscal Year

1969, 50.
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deemed a “survey,” produced only marginal arche-
ological information about the site. Second, the
location turned out to have more environmental
complications than expected. The bottom of the
cenote was mud, not a hard sandy surface as a pre-
vious report had claimed. As Fischer and
Cummings descended on a line from a small boat in
the middle of the pool, they suddenly reached the
bottom, which was not solid, and experienced the
disturbing phenomenon of being engulfed by a
swirling gelatinous mass of sediment. They kicked
frantically to escape, stirring up further sediments
that occluded visibility for the duration of the
project. Nevertheless, some artifacts were obtained
from the dive, several photographs proved useful as
publicity devices, and Fischer acquired some expe-
rience to offer in applying for research funding. !

Shortly thereafter, Fischer obtained funding to
conduct an archeological survey of submerged
wreck sites at Fort Jefferson National Monument
(now Dry Tortugas National Park). Zorro Bradley,
who had also obtained diver credentials, joined the
project, which was sponsored by Mendel Peterson,
a senior Smithsonian archeologist. Fischer had met
Peterson while participating in a previous Smith-
sonian wreck investigation in Florida in 1968 and
apparently had persuaded him to support a nascent
NPS underwater archeology program. The three
conducted an initial site visit at Fort Jefferson in
April 1969. In December 1970, Fischer organized a
second trip to prepare for a full-scale operation,
which followed in 1971. Some two dozen people
participated in the Fort Jefferson survey. According
to Fischer, it was the largest underwater archeo-
logical project in North America for a time.!3?
Fischer managed this project from Washington.
Immediately after SEAC moved to Tallahassee in
the summer of 1972, Fischer joined the staff there
and the next NPS underwater archeology project
was administered by SEAC.

The primary authority for the Park Service to
conduct underwater archeology is the Antiquities
Act of 1906 and the Historic Sites Act of 1935. Later
acts, such as the Moss-Bennett legislation of 1974,
supplemented this authority. However, the area of

federal jurisdiction concerning submerged lands
was then, and still is, quite complex. For example,
in 1969, various acts generally gave states authority
over offshore lands to three miles out but the Outer
Continental Shelf Act of 1953 reserved control over
submerged lands beyond that boundary to the
federal government and the Secretary of the
Interior. However, there were two important
issues. First federal authority was not being
enforced as treasure hunters and commercial sal-
vagers freely invaded and salvaged wrecks under
rules governing commercial salvage in international
waters. Second, in some cases, federal authority
overlapped with state authority. According to
Fischer and Riggs, federal jurisdiction occurred
whenever Spanish lands ceded by treaty to the
United States were involved. All Spanish property
and sunken vessels, whether under federal or state
control, thus belonged to the federal government.
Moreover, because the federal government never
relinquishes authority over a sunken U.S. vessel,
any federal vessel found in U.S. waters was pre-
sumably under the jurisdiction of the Interior
Department.' % Years of jurisdictional conflict
ensued until the Abandoned Shipwreck Act of 1987
specifically entrusted states with authority to
manage shipwrecks in their jurisdictional bound-
aries, although they must do so in accordance with
standards maintained by the Secretary of the
Interior as delegated to the National Park Service.
Most important, the act established government
ownership over historic shipwrecks in state waters
and declared that such shipwrecks are not subject
to the law of finds and admiralty courts.

In 1969, the General Services Administration was
responsible for all sunken naval vessels and admin-
istered commercial salvage applications. When
GSA issued a salvage application, it also notified the
National Park Service, in accordance with an inter-
agency memorandum of understanding. The Park
Service would offer its advice upon the historic sig-
nificance of the specific applications. No other
government agency appeared to recognize the
applicability of the Antiquities Act to submerged
resources. Were federal jurisdiction to be estab-
lished in the areas where the law seemed to apply,

137. National Park Service, “Review and Analysis of Archeology Program, Fiscal Year 1969,” 50.

138. Fischer, Oral History Interview, 9-11.

139. Fischer, Oral History Interview, 11; National Park Service, “Review and Analysis of Archeology Program, Fiscal Year 1969,”

50.

140. Fischer and Riggs, “Prospectus for Underwater Archeology” (1969), 2-5.
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FIGURE 37. Fort Jefferson Dive Team, 1971. The photo was taken at the north side of the fort (a part of Dra/ Tortugas National
h (1)

Park). The structure in the background is an old Navy coaling pier. NPS archeologists W. Edwin Suddert

and Calvin

Cummings (r) with George Fischer standing. “HMS Rubber Duckey” was a work platform built by Fischer for the project. NPS
photograph; courtesy of Thomas D. Thiessen, Midwest Archeological Center

as Fischer and Riggs argued, the Park Service would
suddenly find itself responsible for enforcing the
Antiquities Act across several hundred thousand
square miles of ocean. Obviously, underwater
archeology involved complex legal issues. Fischer
and Riggs recommended a thorough legal review,
and thereafter the immediate publication of NPS
policies relating to underwater archeology so that all
interested parties would be aware of NPS
responsibilities.]41

About the same time that Fischer was beginning to
think about underwater archeology, two amateur
treasure hunters, Jesse Pursell and Sam Corbino,
made a significant archeological find while working
under a GSA salvage contract. In issuing the con-
tract, GSA invoked the Antiquities Act because of
its MOU with the Park Service and because the site,

De Soto National Wildlife Refuge, was adminis-
tered by the Fish and Wildlife Service (then the
Bureau of Sport Fisheries and Wildlife). The
treasure hunters had apparently located what they
believed was a steamship lost on the Missouri River
in April 1865 that reportedly included an unsal-
vaged cargo of gold coins, mercury, and whiskey.
The steamship was named the Bertrand. Initial
auger soil tests conducted in 1968 indicated that site
excavation would be productive. According to the
Antiquities Act, such excavation would have to
avoid damaging the vessel and any historic objects
associated with it.!42

Early on, the Park Service claimed that underwater
archeology was involved in the Bertrand exca-
vation.!*? Although techniques for locating lost
vessels (e.g., correlating historic written records

141. Fischer and Riggs, “Prospectus for Underwater Archeology” (1969), 4.
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with geographic data) may have been used by those
looking for the Bertrand, it was in fact found
entirely on dry land beneath a corn field in an area
near the Missouri River, which had shifted its
course after a flood in the 1870s. By late 1968, suffi-
cient excavation of the Bertrand confirmed that it
was a remarkable find. Well-preserved items of all
types were discovered: assorted tools, textiles,
foodstuffs, champagne, kitchenware, and eight
hundred unbroken bottles of “Dr. Hostetter’s Cele-
brated Stomach Bitters” (an alcohol-based cure-
all). These materials were found in their original
packing crates with manufacturer and consignee
information clearly indicating various relationships.
It was a veritable “slice of life” of Missouri River
commerce, circa 18635, as the Division of Arche-
ology reported in 1969.144

As the extent of this excavation became apparent,
the Park Service began to grapple with the com-
plexities of overseeing a multi-agency project

FIGURE 38. “Carcass of the Steamboat Bertrand being picked
bare,” read the caption of this photo, which appeared in an

involving treasure hunters and estimated artifact NPS archeological report in 1969. “Archeological Program,

. . FY1969” (Washington, DC: NPS, 1969), 19
counts exceeding five hundred thousand items. By f e )

April 1969, it had tightened its control over exca-
vation procedures and cargo removal by

negotiating an amended contract 19 Creater The Bertrand excavation was something of a sen-

control also brought greater burdens, however,and ~ Sation and was widely covered in the media.'*”
the Midwest Archeological Center (MWAC) was From a professional perspective, it seemed to dem-
soon overwhelmed both by the staff required to onstrate the potential of underwater archeology.
process the vast amount of material being exca- Even though the Bertrand was found on land and

vated and the costs. In the summer of 1969, MWAC  excavated using standard archeological techniques,
essentially shut down its salvage contracting opera- it was a vessel originally sunk beneath the Missouri

tions to divert all Bureau of Reclamation transfer River and therefore held implications for under-
funds to the care and preservation of items exca- water archeology. For example, instead of digging
vated from the Bertrand. This mandate came in old trash heaps and recovering broken pottery or
directly from Congress. The project drew close glass, archeologists working on the Bertrand found
attention from Washington and Fischer, already whole articles that were new when they were lost
developing a prospectus on underwater arche- plus a wealth of exact data to establish archeo-
ology, was tasked to assist the excavation. He soon logical provenience. Much of this information was

146

found himself in Omaha, Nebraska. widely applicable in archeology. The excavation

142. National Park Service, “Review and Analysis of Archeology Program, Fiscal Year 1968" (Washington, DC: Division of
Archeology, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, 1968), 13; “Treasure Hunters Probe a Steamboat,” New York
Times, August 11, 1969, 70. No gold was ever found, probably having been salvaged shortly after the vessel sank on April
1, 1865.

143. National Park Service, “Review and Analysis of Archeology Program, Fiscal Year 1968,” 13.

144, National Park Service, "Review and Analysis of Archeology Program, Fiscal Year 1969," 18; “Treasure Hunters Probe a
Steamboat,” New York Times, 70.

145. National Park Service, “Review and Analysis of Archeology Program, Fiscal Year 1969,” 18.

146. National Park Service, “Review and Analysis of Archeology Program, Fiscal Year 1970,” (Washington, DC: Division of
Archeology, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, 1970), 22; Fischer, Oral History Interview, 5-9; Moore, Letters
to Cameron Binkley, March 29 and May 15, 2003. The MWAC was created by a transfer of material and personnel from
the Smithsonian Institution’s Missouri Basin Program in 1969. It was probably not as well prepared for the sudden
emergency of managing the Bertrand as it might otherwise have been.

147. For more information and a comprehensive treatment of the Steamboat Bertrand, see especially Jerome E. Petsche, The
Steamboat Bertrand: History, Excavation, and Architecture (Washington, DC: National Park Service, 1974).

National Park Service 109



FIGURE 39. This NPS photograph shows archeologists removing and recording cargo from the Steamboat Bertrand in 1969.
“Archeological Program, FY1970” (Washington, DC: NPS, 1970), 23

also spurred innovation in the development of con-
servation techniques. The large number of
duplicate items allowed a baseline that gave an
opportunity to test differing preservation strategies,
which could be compared over time to assess pre-
ferred treatments. Refinements in the process of
stabilizing waterlogged wooden structures (poly-
ethylene glycol replacement) were also advanced
due to the exigencies of the Bertrand project.' 8

The Bertrand excavation also helped invigorate
Fischer’s effort to develop an underwater program.
He cited the Bertrand in discussing underwater
archeology to foster Florida State University’s
interest in SEAC. Fischer’s lobbying on behalf of
underwater archeology and the transfer of SEAC to

FSU were important factors in the successful nego-
tiation of the cooperative agreement. At least, some
faculty of the Anthropology Department were
intrigued by the possibilities.'*” The department’s
founder, Hale Smith, in particular, was interested in
underwater archeology. By the early 1960s, he had
obtained diving equipment and conducted some
informal in‘.restigations.150 Once SEAC was located
at Florida State, it was largely through Fischer’s aus-
pices that the university became involved and
remained involved in underwater archeology. Both
he and Florida’s State Archeologist Wilburn A.
“Sonny” Cockrell began to teach the first courses in
underwater archeology at the university. Fischer
taught his course on an annual basis through
1997.151

148. Fischer, Oral History Interview, 5-9.
149. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 8-9.

150. George R. Fischer, “The History of Underwater Archaeology at Florida State University: A Retrospective of the Past and a
Look to the Future,” in Underwater Archaeology 1999, ed. A. Askins-Neideinger and M. Russell (Society for Historical
Archaeology, 1999), page two of copy in possession of author.

151. Fischer, “The History of Underwater Archaeology at Florida State University,” page three.
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The first underwater archeology project conducted
by SEAC took place during the summer of 1973,
The project was a survey of shipwreck sites at Gulf
Islands National Seashore near Pensacola, Florida.
It involved Florida State from the start through the
auspices of the SEAC-FSU cooperative agreement.
The following year, Cockrell also began working on
a contract for Fischer to continue work on the
underwater survey Fischer had initiated at Fort Jef-
ferson in the Dry "Ibrtug:sls.152 Additional minimally
funded NPS projects utilized FSU students on field
school-type exercises that provided the Park
Service with its first assessments of the research
potential and inventories of submerged cultural
resources at several coastal parks in the Southeast.
In addition to Gulf Islands and Fort Jefferson,
Fischer conducted field school survey projects at
Biscayne National Park, Canaveral National Sea-
shore, Fort Matanzas National Monument, Castillo
de San Marcos National Monument, and Fort Fre-
derica National Monument, among others. 13

In 1972, SEAC announced that it had located and
identified the Nuestra Senora de Rosario (1622),a
vessel of the 1622 Spanish “plate” fleet, a shipwreck
site located in Dry Tortugas National Park. Because
the Nuestra Senora de Rosario was a treasure ship,
its discovery drew a lot of attention, but the Park
Service decided not to excavate it. Fischer’s own
words best describe how since the creation of
SEAC, a new type of ethic had taken a hold among
INPS archeologists:

Some disappointment was voiced when we
let it be known that there was no present
intention to excavate, and probably will not
be within our lifetime, if ever. Even if we
could afford the luxury of concentrating on
one site and excavating it completely, it is
doubtful that we would consider that to be a
judicicus use of our resources. Complete
excavation of individual sites is neither nec-
essary or desirable from our particular point
of view. Selective testing is expected to
provide what information we need on the
site, and would also provide a representative
collection of material for study and exhibit.
Obtaining the complete collection would be
uneconomical for our purposes. Perhaps at
some point in the future this site and others

on Service land will be completely excavated.
In the meantime they are protected for the
best current utilization and may be available
at some time when with more sophisticated
techniques and a greatly diminished wreck
population elsewhere it will be of far greater
value.”

No doubt, Fischer’s perspective was encouraged by
his exposure to submerged archeology, especially
regarding the Bertrand. Indeed, the contingencies
and expenses of the Bertrand excavation had had a
major impact upon Service archeological circles in
general. Although he could not date its origins,
former SEAC Chief Pete Faust clearly explained his
own conservative philosophy on excavation by
explicit reference to underwater archeology:

I think that part of my problems were with -
well, with some of the historic and the under-
water materials, If we had a closed context,
like a shipwreck or something like that - my
question was, “How many spikes do we need
to retain and spend money for on preser-
vation, stabilization and preservation?” Or
“How many of the same size cannon ball do
we need?” What are they going to prove? We
can count them, describe them, whatever,
but we do not have to take them into per-
petual care when they’re not going to provide
any significant data. They’re repetitive.

Then, as today, managerial and budgetary issues
were not ancillary to public archeology - they were
fundamental concerns. Knowledge gained had to
be weighed against the long-term costs of artifact
treatment, maintenance, and permanent storage as
well as the possibility of robbing future archeclo-
gists of the opportunity for further research. Long-
standing problems resulting from the massive
WPA-era excavations no doubt share some credit,
but SEAC’s exposure to underwater archeology
was an important determinant helping move it
toward the professional orientation of conservation
archeclogy. This philosophy was ascendant even
before SEAC lost its salvage operations in 1975. In
actual practice, of course, the thoroughgoing and
complete excavation mentality of salvage work was
always more of an ideal than a reality. There was
never time or money enough to save every site

152. Fischer, “The History of Underwater Archaeclogy at Florida State University,” page three.

153, Fischer, “The History of Underwater Archaeclogy at Florida State University,” page five.

154. George R. Fischer, "Underwater Archeological Activities of the Center” {paper presented at the Thirtieth Southeastern
Archaeological Conference, Memphis, Tennessee, October 5-6, 1973), 5-6, in possession of the author,

155. Faust, Oral History Interview, 19.
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threatened by a major construction project, which
is what drove public archeology more than any-
thing toward a research-problem orientation. And
that philosophy is what helped to fuel the rebellion
against Connally and OAHP. Unfortunately, a
research-oriented approach to public archeology
has never proven feasible, the foremost reason
perhaps being that there is rarely a good connection
matching a threatened site to existing research
needs. And one never knows what any excavation
might unexpectedly bring to light. The best preser-
vation treatment for most artifacts, therefore, is to
keep them in the ground if it that option is at all
possible. This emergent orientation within federal
archeology eventually provided the common
ground upon which the professions of cultural
resources management could meet.

SEAC and the Search for HMS Fowey

If minor controversy accompanied Fischer’s
involvement with the Nuestra Senora de Rosario, it
was something to which he was to become accus-
tomed. In October 1978, a sport diver named
Gerald Klein filed an #n rem complaint in Admiralty
Court for title to the wreck of a sunken and long-
abandoned vessel, HMS Fowey, located in the
waters of the Legare Anchorage in or near Biscayne
National Park. With title, commeonly granted under
then existing admiralty law, Klein could legally
salvage the site, paying a percentage to the state of
Florida, which had up to then encouraged the
practice to generate revenue. Klein mistakenly
believed the wreck was a gold-laden Spanish
galleon. It was not, but his claim led to a precedent-
setting court battle that would help define and
clarify the standards and merits of federal and state
protection of submerged cultural artifacts - a
golden outcome, even if no gold was ever found.
State officials familiar with the case notified the
Park Service because general coordinates provided
to the court indicated proximity to Biscayne
National Park. Indeed, in 1975, George Fischer had

noted the site in that park’s first submerged archeo-
logical resources survey, although there was limited
information about it, including its precise location.
The Park Service quickly intervened as defendant
claiming title.!1>

Legal suits over salvage rights to Spanish gold were
common in Florida during this time. Such disputes
were between not only salvors and the Park Service,
but also involved jurisdictional collisions between
the state and the federal government regarding
which held authority over the management of his-
toric shipwrecks. Indeed, as suggested above, the
state of Florida actually sanctioned treasure-salvage
operations in order to claim a percentage of the
value gained by the salvor, making the boundary of
a park hugely important.157 Concern over this issue
may have been another reason that Florida’s state
government initially resisted the creation of an NPS
underwater archeological effort in Tallahassee.

In 1978, SEAC renewed its accord with Florida
State University, specifically indicating mutual
intent to cooperate in the area of underwater arche-
ology. In 1979, an NPS study on the history of
preservation in the National Park Service, called for
the creation of a “small professional cadre under
the supervision of a qualified underwater archeol-
ogist” that would be based at a university. SEAC,
however, did not have input into the report, which
seemed oddly uninformed about SEAC’s own
efforts to create just such a capacity in conjunction
with Florida State. Fischer complained to Calvin
Cummings, “this document was astounding in
stating the exact opposite of reality.”1?% Soon after,
Fischer drafted a formal prospectus on underwater
archeclogy, noting the exceptional resources
available for the creation of an expanded or fully
staffed NPS underwater archeology capability at
SEAC.!% Fischer explained how his own expertise,
equipment, and funding had initially been trans-
ferred from Washington with an explicit sanction to

156. Russell K. Skowronek, “Archeological Testing and Evaluation of the Legare Anchorage Shipwreck Site: Biscayne National
Park, Summer 1983" {Tallahassee: Southeast Archeological Center, National Park Service, 1984), 6. ‘

157. Daniel Lenihan, Adventures of America's Most Efite Underwater Archeology Team {New York: New Market Press, 2002},
48, 52. Today, the state of Florida has stricter permitting requirements for commerciat salvors, including that salvors hire
maritime archeologists and provide archeological surveys for wreck sites from which they seek treasure. Nevertheless,
Florida still encourages commercial treasure-hunting , as clearly indicated on the state’s archeological web site. When
salvors abide by state regulations and enter inte a salvage contract with the state, they can salvage up to 80 percent of
an historic wreck by granting the state of Florida a “cut” of any recovered material. See http://dhr.dos.state.fl.us/
archaeology/underwater/fag.cfm Some of the jurisdictional disputes were resolved by the Shipwreck Salvage Act of 1987,
but many were not, The lack of comprehensive legislation to gavern the protection of historic shipwrecks and cther
submerged culture sites remains a considerable congern to the heritage community.

158. George Fischer, Letter to Cal Cummings, DSC, May 7, 1979, National Park Service {in possession of author).
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conduct underwater archeological investigations, 167

He spelled out how SEAC could cooperate with
Florida State University, the Florida Bureau of His-
toric Sites and Properties, the Florida Institute of
Oceanography, and the Florida Council of Archeol-
ogists, among others as needed on various potential
projects. In fact, he had already worked with several
of these organizations on underwater archeological
projects. Florida State’s own expanding resources
were available at little expense to the Park Service
through the cooperative agreement. The university
had already dabbled in underwater archeology
through the efforts of such early faculty practi-
tioners as Hale Smith, Stanley Olsen and Charles
Fairbanks. According to Fischer, FSU resources
included a university-wide academic diving
program, facilities and equipment of the FSU
Marine Laboratory, and a base of anthropology stu-
dents available for employment or assistance
through field school-type work. Because of the
relationships between SEAC, the university aca-
demic diving program, and the Anthropology
Department, Fischer concluded, “that a standing
and fully equipped diving team is in existence
which includes expertise in underwater arche-
ology.” This team, he further stated, “can be used to
execute projects in underwater archeology for the
Service with no further training or preparation and
minimal logistical problems,” 161

Fischer made a strong case. If the National Park
Service was to develop an underwater archeology
program, there were few better places in the nation
to do so than in Tallahassee in cooperation with the
numerous organizations in Florida already involved
in that enterprise. It is important to emphasize that
the Park Service already had a formal commitment
to develop underwater archeology in conjunction
with Florida State University. Unfortunately,
Fischer's proposal languished for over four years.

As noted above, underwater archeology was at the
center of some very volatile issues, the kind that
inevitably brought complications and perhaps
bureaucratic resistance. 62 [n the meantime, Fischer
and SEAC continued to accrue credentials in under-
water archeology. In 1984, Fischer revised his
prospectus on underwater archeology and it was
released amidst a major “realignment” of NPS func-
tions. !5 It is unclear how high up the chain of
command either of these proposals went, or who,
beyond the Southeast Region, would have paid
them any attention. By 1979, a new cadre of well-
placed supporters of NPS underwater archeology
was beginning to cohere around Daniel Lenihan, a
former graduate student of Fischer in the FSU
anthropology program,

Lenihan first joined the National Park Service as a
park ranger/archeologist to participate on a ship-
wreck survey of Gulf Islands National Seashore
organized by Fischer in 1973. He had come to
Florida State in 1970 to study archeology and
espoused a convert’s enthusiasm for preservation.
However, as Lenihan attested in his book, Adven-
tures of America's Most Elite Underwater Archeology
Team, he “decided to stop being a school teacher
and to go to graduate school in anthropology at
Florida State not because of a scholarly lust for
knowledge or commitment to protection of archeo-
logical sites.” Instead, he said, “it was because I
thought I might eventually find a job in which
someone will actually pay me to dive a lot to look
for old treasures underwater.”'%* Lenihan was
apparently a good amateur diver looking to turn
pro and this motivation may explain in some degree
the subsequent course of underwater archeology
within the Park Service. Under Fischer, but espe-
cially over many years under Lenihan’s direction,
NPS underwater archeology was safe with no
reported major life-threatening incidents. That

159. See George R, Fischer, Prospectus: Underwater Archeology at the Southeast Archeological Center (Tallahassee, Florida:
Southeast Archeological Center, National Park Service, 1979}

160. Fischer has consistently made this point, although ne document, other than those he authored, has turned up to validate
it. However, his documents are NPS documents, underwater archeology was an important issue in negotiations with FSU,
and Director Hartzog did support expanding NPS capabilities in underwater archeology. See Ernest Allen Connally, Chief,
Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation, Memarandum to Deputy Director, Operations {Approved and signed by
George B. Hartzog), January 26, 1971, in A435 folder, SEAC files. While Fischer had some approval for his efforts in
underwater archeclogy, actual support was anocther matter. Considering the generally poor relations between Fischer
and the other staff archeologists in Washington, who had resisted Connally's effort to integrate archeology into OAHP,

this lack of support is not surprising.

161, Fischer, Praspectus: Underwater Archeology at the Southeast Archeological Center (1979).

162. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 23.

163. George R. Fischer, Prospectus: Underwater Archeology at the Southeast Archeological Center (Tallahassee: Southeast

Archealogical Center, National Park Service, 1984}
164. Lenihan, Adventures, 12.
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important contribution should be noted even if
archeology came second in Lenihan’s work.
Stressing diving and diving safety, Lenihan honed a
set of safety protocols while practicing the
extremely dangerous art of cave diving in Florida in
the 1960s. Acknowledging Lenihan’s diving
expertise, Fischer gave him the mission of whipping
his own underwater archeological team into shape
for the work at Gulf Islands. 6> The diving safery
procedures Lenihan developed at SEAC became a
model used by other professional divers both inside
and outside the Park Service.!%6

In 1974, Fischer, Lenihan, and Calvin Cummings,
who was now Chief of the Division of Archeoclogy
at the Southwest Cultural Resource Center in Santa
Fe, New Mexico, and a few others co-authored a
concept paper edited by Lenihan proposing the
creation of a national underwater archeological
center. The paper was titled “Underwater Arche-
ology in the National Park Service: A Model for the
Management of Submerged Cultural Resources.”
The paper sought to publicize the legal mandates
and need for underwater archeology in the Park
Service and to argue for a national capacity in
excess of the then limited capabilities that had
emerged chiefly at SEAC but also in Santa Fe, The
report discussed how “an actual comprehensive in-
park underwater archeological program was for-
mulated and authorized in 1969.” The Park
Service’s responsibility was growing in the area of
underwater archeology, the report concluded, but
its capability to mount effective underwater arche-
ological investigations was too limited. Neither
SEAC nor the Southwest Archaeological Center
possessed the capacity to accomplish what was nec-
essary without borrowing personnel from other
regions. The solution was for the Park Service to
create an underwater research center composed of
teams of underwater archeologists. A Servicewide
center could consolidate “fragmentary capabilities
into a streamlined, efficient professional support
team” that could operate at the request of a par-
ticular region nationwide.'®7 At the time, none of
the authors of this report foresaw how their early
proposal would touch off a long-lasting feud within

the National Park Service that unnecessarily tainted
the worthiness of underwater archeology.

The Lenihan, Fischer, Cummings, et al., proposal
went nowhere initially. In 1975, however, Cum-
mings succeeded in convincing the Corps of
Engineers, the Bureau of Reclamation, and the Soil
Conservation Service to fund an NPS study to
analyze the effects of reservoir inundation on
archecological sites. The National Reservoir Inun-
dation Study (NRIS) was a five-year project that
involved something of an archeological survey of
selected inundated sites to determine the impact of
that inundation on artifacts made of clay, stone,
metal, or wood. After the completion of the NRIS,
Cummings hoped to keep the personnel and
equipment to forge the nucleus of an underwater
archeology capability, perhaps as proposed in the
1974 prospectus. He hired Lenihan to run the
study.'%® Cumming’s model in this regard was John
Corbett, of course, who had sought to use salvage
funding to help forge a corps of park archeologists.

The NRIS was an important development in the
history of federal archeology. Despite some good
and recognized work by classically trained
American archeologists excavating submerged sites
in the Mediterranean, neither Fischer, nor Cum-
mings, nor even Florida’s own first state
archeologist Sonny Cockrell were up to that time
able to convince their agencies to fund an ongoing
capacity to conduct underwater archeological work
in the United States.’8? Fischer, of course, had suc-
ceeded in acquiring funding for several specific
projects but had not been able to develop support
for a sustained capability. After the NRIS was
brought to a conclusion, Cummings managed to
keep the project going. In the spring of 1980, the
small group of divers was formally declared a per-
manent standing unit of the Southwest Cultural
Resource Center.!70 The organization was given a
name - the Submerged Cultural Resources Unit
(SCRU). Set up in Santa Fe, New Mexico, SCRU
offered its services to any NPS park or region or
even to outside agencies with project funding. As it
happened, SCRU’s first undertaking was a minor

165. Lenihan, Adventures, 38. NPS sources concur.

166. Daniel J, Lenihan, ed., Underwater Archealogy in the National Park Service: A Model for the Management of Submerged
Cultural Resaurces (Washington, DC: National Park Service, 1974), 6.
167. Lenihan, ed., Underwater Archealogy in the National Park Service: A Model, 3, 96.

168. Lenihan, Adventures, 55-56.
169. Lenihan, Adventures, 46-47.
170. Lenihan, Adventures, 10.
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FIGURE 40. Nautical map showing a 3000-yard radius area from a point in the Legare Anchorage of Biscayne National Park,
SEAC, in partnership with Florida State University staff and students, proposed to survey this area in 1980 to locate the
remains of a sunken vessel, known from a previous NPS survey as BISC-UW-20. George R. Fischer and Richard E. Johnson,
“Biscayne National Park Underwater Archeolagical Survey [draft]” (SEAC, 1981), figure 2

role in support of SEAC and Florida State
University.

In 1980, not long after the creation of SCRU, the
U.S. Southern District Court of Florida issued a
preliminary injunction in favor of the Park Service
over title to the disputed shipwreck in Biscayne
National Park. The federal judge ordered the
claimants to cease all wrecking operations and to
convey to NPS custody all materials removed from
the site, which by then they had already partiaily
destroyed using explosives. The claimants persisted

to argue, however, that the Park Service was a com-
peting salvager and the case dragged on. The initial
ruling considerably favored the Park Service, but
the court nevertheless strongly advised the Service
to locate the site of the wreck.!”! Acting under the
Solicitor’s advice, SEAC began to conduct prelim-
inary investigations both to strengthen the case for
NPS ownership and for reasons having to do with
public relations. According to George Fischer,
senior regional managers became concerned about
embarrassing headlines then appearing in The
Miami Herald and similar South Floridian news-
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papers, which were running articles with headlines
like “Wational Park Service Has Wreck, Can't Find
It.” The salvager was not compelled to provide the
government with his own location data. Court doc-
uments only specified it as within three thousand
yards of a coordinate on the Triumph Reef within
the Legare Anchorage. Fischer’s original but
cursory survey had not precisely identified the site’s
location. Thus, to demonstrate its stewardship, the
Park Service funded an operation to locate and
evaluate the wreck. SEAC then became involved in
a “heated debate” with officials in the Southeast
Regional Office over the best means to accomplish
this task. It took a week before the Regional Direc-
torate agreed to authorize the center’s use of a
thousand-dollar-per-day Del Norte positioning
system in lieu of an older and less expensive system
less likely to find the wreck. SEAC then paid the
salary and expenses of Larry Murphy from the
Southwest Region whose help was requested to
man the system while Daniel Lenihan elected to
participate as a volunteer (paid by his own account)
to gain some experience in using the new
technology.!”2

Lenihan may also have helped Fischer overcome
Regional Office resistance to using the new system,
which was more expensive than older techniques.
Lenihan claims the support network he had
developed while leading the NRIS proved useful in
this regard. At any rate, Everglades National Park
Superintendent John M. Morehead, a diving enthu-
siast and friend of Lenihan, supported SEAC.173
After agreeing to Fischer’s recommendations, the

Southeast Regional Director set a two-week limit
for Fischer, who was the project director, to find
the wreck, which created some pressure for SEAC
to succeed. Fischer admits that he probably would
have resigned had the disputed wreck not been
located after all of the uproar, but the advanced
positioning system worked as intended and the site
was located.}7*

A photomosaic and associated artifact chart of the
site was produced by Gregg Stanton, FSU Research
Diving Coordinator, along with other FSU volun-
teers. The Florida Department of Transportation
and the FSU Florida Resources and Environmental
Analysis Center also participated in producing this
work, 173

Although SEAC had located the wreck site, the
vessel still needed positive identification. To
accomplish this task, SEAC marshaled further aid
from Florida State.”® Material compiled by FSU
student Richard Johnson helped narrow the time-
frame and cast doubt upon the Spanish character of
the wreck. In 1981, FSU student Russell K. Skow-
ronek conducted historical research in Great
Britain and Canada that pointed to the possibility of
the wreck being HMS Fowey, a British man-of-war
lost in 1748 after becoming stuck on a reef while
escorting a captured Spanish merchantman to
Charleston.'?’ In 1983, Fischer led an FSU archeo-
logical field school conducted at the site, now
tentatively believed to be HMS Fowey. SEAC arche-
ologists and FSU students mapped the hull remains
and artifacts scattered upon the sea floor. With

171. Herald Staff, *Judge: Diver Has No Right to Qld Ship,* Miami Herald, July 29, 1983, 50; and Herald $taff, “Horan Call
Salvor Ruling 'Black Day’,” Miami Herald, July 30, 1983, 1B; George R. Fischer and Richard E. Johnson, “Biscayne National
Park: Underwater Archeological Survey of Legare Anchorage” (Tallahassee: Southeast Archeological Center, 1981),
Appendix A: James R. Mills, Attorney-Advisor, U.S. Department of the Interior, Southeast Region, Memorandum to
Regional Solicitor, U.5. Department of the Interior, Southeast Region, January 11, 1980, summarizing case of Gerald ).
Klein v. Unidentified, Wreck and Abandoned Sailing Vessel, etc. {(Wreck within the Biscayne National Monument).

172. George R. Fischer, HMS Fowey - Redux, April 22, 2002, Underwater Archaealogy Discussion List at http:/lists.asu.edu/cgi-

binfwa?A0=sub-arch&I=-3 (accessed November 15, 2004).

173. Lenihan, Adventures, 94-97, 102.

174. In his account of the finding of HMS Fowey, Lenihan claims the court ordered the Park Service to prove its stewardship by
locating the wreck within a three-week time frame. The Park Service had been challenged, according to Lenihan, in Old-
west style, to “slap leather.” Lenihan, Adventures, 93-94. Fischer claims a two-week time limit was imposed by the
Southeast Regional Director, not the court, to limit survey costs. See Fischer, HMS Fowey - Redux, April 22, 2002. A
memarandum by Attorney-Advisor James R. Mills to the Regional Solicitor, detailing the court's order {U.S. District for the
Southern District of Florida) to impose a preliminary injunction on Gerald Klein on January 10, 1980, as requested by the
Park Service, does not mention any court-imposed timeframe while setting forth ather specific orders. See Fischer and
lohnson, “Biscayne Natianal Park: Underwater Archeological Survey,” Appendix A: James R. Mills, etc., Memorandum to

Regional Solicitor, lanuary 11, 1980.

175. Fischer and Johnson, “Biscayne National Park: Underwater Archeological Survey,” see acknowledgements.

176. George Fischer, "The History of Underwater Archaeology at Florida State University,” 6; and Skowronek, “Archeological
Testing and Evaluation of the Legare Anchorage Shipwreck Site.”

177. skowronek, " Archeological Testing and Evaluation of the Legare Anchorage Shipwreck Site,” 150 (106 Statement), 6.
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FIGURE 41. Archeological artifact and wreckage overlay chart of BISC-UW-20. The photomosaic and map were produced by

Gregg Stanton, FSU Research Diving Coordinator, along with other FSU volunteers, and help from the Florida Department of
Transportation and the FSU Florida Resources and Environmental Analysis Center under SEAC's auspices. George R. Fischer and
Richard E. Johnson, “Biscayne National Park: Underwater Archeological Survey of Legare Anchorage” (Tallahassee: Southeast

Archeological Center, 1981)

court approval and on the advice of higher NPS
authorities, the team also conducted a controlled
surface collection and excavated selected portions
of the wreck site, including the raising of a cannon
that weighed nearly three-thousand pounds. The
“nine-pounder” was one of four cannon identified.
The others, expensive to stabilize and preserve on
land and in no danger of being looted because of
their weight, were left in place. Research and care-
fully controlled excavation such as provided during
the field school was necessary to evaluate the best
management procedures to protect the site over the
long-term and also to acquire interpretive infor-
mation and artifacts for exhibit. Because of the
imminent threat of salvage operations, Biscayne
National Park’s 1982 Resource Management plan
gave its highest priority to archeological testing of
the so-called “Legare Anchorage Wreck.”!7®

Through these means, George Fischer, FSU stu-
dents Richard Johnson and Russell Skowronek,
and other NPS partners developed sufficient infor-
mation to identify conclusively that the wreck
known as BISC-UW-20 was not a Spanish galleon,
as the salvager had believed, but almost certainly
was HMS Fowey. A series of reports on the wreck
site followed as a result of the SEAC-FSU collabo-
ration, and in 1987, Fischer, Johnson, Skowronek,
and Richard Vernon published a definitive article in
the peer-reviewed Journal of Nautical Archaeology
and Underwater Ex}t)lcvrations.179 No less than the
issue of jurisdiction, this impressive research
helped convince the court of the NPS claim for
stewardship when the case went to trial in 1983.
Fischer served as the government’s sole expert
witness. Court documents specifically report
Fischer’s name, an unusual testimony to his effec-
tiveness as a witness. In fact, the HMS Fowey case,

178. Skowronek, “Archeological Testing and Evaluation of the Legare Anchorage Shipwreck Site,” 150 (106 Statement).

179. See Russell K. Skowronek, His Majesty’s Ship Fowey: Historical Research in Great Britain (Notes on file with SEAC, 1981);
Russell K. Skowronek, “A Review of National Park Service-Southeast Archeological Center Activities in Underwater
Archeology 1971-1982" (paper presented at the Conference on Underwater Archeology, Denver, Colorado, January 6-8,
1983), Copy re-printed in Fischer, Prospectus: Underwater Archeology at the Southeast Archeological Center (1984),
Appendix I, 13-17; Skowronek, “Archeological Testing and Evaluation of the Legare Anchorage Shipwreck Site,” 6-7; and
G. Fischer, R. Johnson, R. Skowronek, R. Vernon, “The Legare Anchorage Shipwreck Site - Grave of HMS Fowey,”
International Journal of Nautical Archaeology 16 (no. 4): 313-324. See also Advanced Diving Program web site, Florida
State University: http//www.adp.fsu.edu/fow_int.ntml (accessed October 18, 2004).
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FIGURE 42. This 45-foot NPS boat was used as a dive platform for the 1983 SEAC-FSU Legare Anchorage investigation of BISC-
UW-20. Top of cabin: Karen Hutchinson; Inside cabin: Mike Pomero%; On deck: Greg Toothman (blue shirt). Back of deck from
.ot

left: David Brewer, Kenneth Wild, Diana Barrera, Randy Bidwell

Klein versus Unidentified Wreck of Abandoned
Sailing Vessel (568 F. Supp. 1562) Southern District,
Florida, 1983, was precedent-setting and has been
cited in several additional rulings. According to
Michael W. Reed, an attorney with the U.S.
Department of Justice, Environment and Natural
Resources, who was involved with several court
cases relating to shipwreck litigation, Fischer’s tes-
timony established the fact that the removal of
artifacts by individuals without proper under-
standing of scientific methods from underwater
cultural sites resulted in the loss of their true
value.'” The Klein case essentially overturned a
previously long accepted legal bias that sunken
property was “in peril.” The court ruled that the

ers are unidentified. SEAC ACC. 641, Index 07-5041

Park Service owned all wrecks embedded within
Biscayne National Park and that these were not
“abandoned” or subject to the traditional law of
finds.'8! The Klein case was thus settled in favor of
the government on July 28, 1983. It became a key
instrument that later helped secure passage of the
Abandoned Shipwreck Act of 1987. This act sought
to ameliorate some of the jurisdictional issues
involved in the HMS Fowey case while strength-
ening protection of submerged cultural
resources.'®? Needless to say, the entire episode
pointed out the importance to NPS management of
having sound staff expertise as well as a good
understanding of what resources were beneath a
park’s waters, especially in Florida with its high

180. Fischer, "HMS Fowey - Redux,” April 22, 2002; and Herald Staff, “Judge: Diver Has No Right to Old Ship,” 5D; Paredes,

Discussion with Cameron Binkley, December 3, 2004.

181. David P. Howe, “Maritime Law and Historic Preservation - A Brief Review,” Maritime Archaeological and Histocial Society

News (MAHSNews) 11, no. 3 (2000): 1-4, 14.

182. The Abandoned Shipwreck Act of 1987, Public Law No: 100-298 (43 U.S.C. 39, Sections 2101-2106), asserts U.S. title or
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FIGURE 43. SEAC archeologists Richard Vernon and Kenneth Wild look on as Russell K. Skowronek prepares to dive. Skowronek,
an FSU student, was the field director for the 1983 Legare Anchorage investigation. SEAC ACC. 641, Index 07-5040

level of treasure-hunting activity. And, it confirmed
the fertile intellectual possibilities of SEAC’s uni-
versity-based operations.

To add one final twist to this case history, after the
field school project, Biscayne National Park Super-
intendent James A. Sanders decided to raise a
second of the nine-pounder cannons located at the
HMS Fowey site. He conducted this activity com-
pletely without archeological controls or
supervision.!®? In fact, the cannon was raised
against the explicit advice of SEAC archeologists
and its recovery only became known to SEAC after
the Archeological Research Laboratory of the
Florida Bureau of Archeology mistakenly informed
the center about the cannon, which the park had
sent to it for electrolysis, a technique to preserve
metal long-exposed to salt water. George Fischer
had told the superintendent, fearful that the cannon
might be stolen, “not to worry about it.” Salvager
Klein himself had attempted to raise the cannon but
was unable because it was too heavy and broke
from its strap. Moving the cannon was dangerous,
unnecessary, and expensive. “Nobody’s going to

pilfer a 4,000-pound block of iron,” Fischer told
Sanders. “It just is not practical.” Sanders, however,
organized a few divers from Biscayne and Ever-
glades National Parks and raised the cannon in
October 1983. Fischer disputed the propriety of the
superintendent’s action, creating more man-
agement headaches related to HMS Fowey.'%*

The HMS Fowey case thus helps to illustrate not
only how the SEAC-FSU cooperative agreement
was fulfilling its initial promise, but also why some
might have found it problematic to support SEAC’s
underwater archeology program. In the early 1980s,
underwater archeology was a relatively minor
aspect of SEAC’s overall prospectus, but it was a
high-profile activity, and it could be a bureaucratic
nuisance. Fischer became embroiled in disputes
with park superintendents and regional office man-
agers, some of whom likely thought that because
they could dive, they knew as much about archeo-
logical resource management as those at SEAC.
However, logistical arrangements and safety were
always at the forefront of administrative concern
whenever an underwater archeological project was

183. Skowronek, “Archeological Testing and Evaluation of the Legare Anchorage Shipwreck Site,” 35, 38.
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FIGURE 44. Two crew members collect a cutlass from the surface of site BISC-UW-20 in 1983. SEAC ACC. 641, Index 07-5078

(or is) proposed. Underwater archeology was (and
is) clearly more expensive than terrestrial arche-
ology. A glance at the equipment list and logistical
requirements for any underwater archeological
proposal testifies to this truth. In the earliest years,
Fischer did have trouble gaining substantial Wash-
ington office support to expand SEAC’s nascent
efforts in underwater archeology, quite possibly
because of his association with John Corbett and
Zorro Bradley and the archeologists” dispute with
Ernest Allen Connally. Fischer’s reliance upon the
cooperative NPS arrangement with Florida State
was not just desirable, it was essential. Another sig-
nificant hurdle to overcome was simply achieving a
basic scholarly and bureaucratic appreciation of
underwater archeology’s potential.

Nevertheless, by the mid-1980s, SEAC seemed
poised to move forward with the development of a
more mature underwater archeological program.
Some timely and spectacular finds in the Mediter-
ranean were helping illustrate how shipwrecks
opened discrete and penetrating windows into cul-
tural history. As serious papers began to be written,
the wide gap between the “pith-helmet archaeolo-

gists and the swimsuiters decreased.”®? Treasure
hunters, seeking potentially huge rewards by
finding and retrieving lost Spanish gold, began to be
countered by reputable investigators armed with
substantial research grants. At SEAC, Fischer
oversaw numerous studies designed to meet the
cultural resource management needs of national
parks in the Southeast Region, including several
relating to submerged park resources. ¢ He also
proved to be effective in marshaling the cooperative
involvement of other organizations. In the case of
HMS Fowey specifically, the 1983 investigation uti-
lized the services of an FSU Anthropology
Department field school, FSU’s Marine Lab, and
the university-wide Academic Diving Program,
which greatly reduced the expense to the gov-
ernment as was intended by the SEAC-FSU
cooperative agreement. Contributing to these
trends, the creation of SCRU in the Southwest sug-
gested an improving environment for federal
underwater archeology despite various man-
agement headaches. Indeed, the emergence of a
parallel program of underwater archeology in the
Southwest seemed to indicate nascent bureaucratic
recognition of the field’s unique importance for

185. Scott Armstrong, "Hoisting from the Deep,” Christian Science Monitor, December 11, 1989, 35-36.
186. Fischer, Prospectus: Underwater Archeology at the Southeast Archeological Center (1984), 10.
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NPS resource management. Unfortunately, the
existence of two separate efforts also positioned
NPS underwater archeology for high-level scrutiny
and potential consolidation under certain
circumstances.

“Realignment” and Underwater
Archeology in the Southeast

In 1983, under the administration of President
Ronald Reagan, the National Park Service
undertook a major “realignment” or reorganization
of its management operations.!®” The realignment
focused upon three important activities within the
Park Service where program and staff cuts
appeared possible: the Denver Service Center
(DSC), Harpers Ferry Center, and the three archeo-
logical centers. The main goal of this effort was to
reduce “FTEs,” that is, full-time equivalents or staff
positions to increase efficiency and reduce costs.
During the reorganization, the archeological
centers were never seriously considered for elimi-
nation. In fact, to reduce the cost of providing
archeological services to the DSC, which oversees
all major construction programs in the Park Service,
a proposal was pushed to create a new archeo-
logical center to serve the compliance needs of the
National Capital Region, the Northeast Region, and
the Mid-Atlantic Region. This proposal would have
resulted in the elimination of DSC’s direct oversight
of its archeological support function in these
regions. DSC head Deny Galvin supported this
measure because his experience in using the ser-
vices of MWAC and SEAC had demonstrated that
they had sufficient capacity and project supervision
capability to respond in a timely manner to DSC’s
schedule, thus protecting DSC’s.obligation rate for
project ﬁmding.188 The center was never created,
however, because the three regional directors

would not agree to share power or to allow a center
under the authority of another region to manage
resources in their own region.“']9 However, consid-
erable discussion regarding the archeological
centers did take place at this time and Director
Russell E. Dickenson established a special task
force 1o evaluate their role and function.

The report of the Regional Office Organization
Task Force reviewing the archeological centers, the
Denver Service Center, and Harpers Ferry Center
was drafted by Howard Chapman, Regional
Director of the Western Regional Office, after
receiving input from the appointed task force
members. The methodology of the task force was to
solicit the views of NPS archeologists, review the
structure and the various personnel costs of the
centers, and meet to hash out the issues in a two-
day conference held April 21-22,1983.190 A wide
variety of opinions were expressed on many issues,
but there were some fundamental conclusions.
Task force members agreed that the archeological
centers were extensions of their respective regional
offices because continuing year-to-year workload
and management concerns obviated general cen-
tralization. Chapman himself found no logic to the
geographic alignment of the centers but acknowl-
edged it would take “strong direction from top
management” to alter the current state, especially
given considerable resistance among the center
chiefs to changing the status quo. The task force
also acknowledged and affirmed the affiliation of
the centers with various universities. The august
body of regional and associate directors, center
managers, and archeologists, concluded that this
affiliation was an important part of the devel-
opment of these centers and that the costs incurred
were more than balanced by the gains. The task

187. Cal Cummings, Memorandum to Dan Lenihan, March 18, 1996, 8, in “Archeology Centers; Admin. History and
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force accepted the remote location of the centers
due to the “valid concept” of maintaining an aca-
demic association, although some members
stressed the need for a strong management rela-
tionship to ensure that the centers properly
supported regional management needs.

According to Chapman, the task force also dwelt
upon the “notable tendency on the part of the
archeologists to want to retain their identity as the
major emphasis of the centers.” In a summary of the
view of the NPS archeological community provided
by Chapman to the Director, two schools of
thought were noted. In one school, archeologists
were described as accepting interdisciplinary inte-
gration, especially regarding the possible
establishment of a Northeast Cultural Resource
Center because of its “heavy historical orientation.”
In the main school, however, the archeologists were
described as the “keep archeology separate” group,
whose adherents argued that archeology “loses
strength and visibility when attached to ‘historic
preservation’ and ‘cultural resource man-
agement’,” that is, it loses its “anthropological
character.” While Chapman did “not believe this is
appropriate to today’s needs in the broad range of
cultural resource needs,” task force members came
to no consensus on the issue of merging the archeo-
logical centers with their respective cultural
resource divisions. The agreement on the value of
academic affiliation helped mitigate the issue of
combining the centers into larger entities despite
Chapman’s insistence that management consider
the centers as focal points with functions beyond
archeology. Other acknowledged complications
involved in merging staffs included the basic cost,
the logistics of maintaining collections, and the
need to keep architectural historians, for example,
close to regional offices so that they could interact
with eng,ineers.191

While there were practical limits to what actions
could be taken, archeological exceptionalism, or
the inclination of NPS archeologists to maintain a
separate identity, virtually invited the task force, in
Chapman’s words, “to look more closely at what we
expect from the cultural resource centers.” Quite

explicitly, he spelled out his thinking behind a
major point that was to affect SEAC severely:

There are some activities carried out in
various centers that have applications in a
broad range of areas on a Servicewide basis.
These activities could very well be located at
one central location where this professional
capability is available for Servicewide assign-
ments. Those activities that are a full time
toad to be carried out in a specific region
would then be truly considered as an
extension of the Regional Director’s staff.
However, when a cultural resource prograrm
is one that is needed by many regions but
only one team or operating unit can handle
the program whether it is needed in Guam,
Isle Royale or Everglades, then the personnel
that make up this unit could best be assigned
to one central location. The underwater cul-
tural resource team would be such an entity.

“Logic would argue,” Chapman concluded, “that
much of what is in the various archeological centers
could be centralized.”?%?

It is not clear what criteria the task force on
realignment used to determine those activities or
programs suitable for centralization. In fact,
Chapman'’s remarks contradicted not only some of
his own comments, but comments of other task
force members, few of whom found meritin a
broad centralization of archeological functions
within the Park Service. No such broad restruc-
turing did take place. One member, Daniel R.
Kuehn, Pacific Northwest Regional Office, stated
his opinion that “since it was not possible to assess
the workload of any of the centers in the short time
the task force had, my recommendation is to leave
them alone.” The most often mentioned special-
ization that could be centralized was curation.
However, any action on this account was likely to
increase spending, not reduce it, and was left unre-
solved. Underwater archeology, an activity that
might be centralized without significant capital
expenditure, was singled out but only by Chapman
and, curiously, by Jack Nechels, Associate Regional
Director, Southwest Region. None of the other
seven task force members specifically discussed
consolidating underwater archeology in their task

191. Chapman, Memorandum to the Director, National Park Service, July 20, 1983, and attached anonymous memorandum
entitled "Interviews - Summary of Responses, Existing, Archeological Centers (SEAC, WAC, MWAC, SWAC, Cummings,
Legan),” in “Archeology Centers: Admin. History and Reorganizations” folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeclogy and
Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC,

192. Chapman, Memorandum to the Director, National Park Service, July 20, 1983,
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force comments and no one recommended one
program over another. Chapman’s remarks suggest
a bias toward SCRU, but he, too, did not indicate a
preference. 5till, Chapman and Nechels offered up
an unexamined assumption that underwater arche-
ology was ripe for consolidation. No arguments
were offered to explain this view. It might well have
been argued that underwater archeology was
increasingly needed, as with terrestrial archeology,
at the regional level to provide local managers with
essential regional expertise and capability.

At any rate, Deny Galvin of the DSC strongly
backed the archeological center model and made
no recommendations about underwater archeology
other than to stress that “if a region or a park con-
tains sufficient program activity to justify a
continuous program year after year. . .the services
are probably best delivered at the park or regional
level.” Task force member Marie Rust did “dis-
courage the development of similar programs in an
area of specialization unless the need is great,” but
also explicitly encouraged “some ‘specialty areas’ in
the centers,” which, she said, “creates the balance
of providing service and maintaining a creative
atmosphere.” As far as the archeologists themselves
were concerned, they offered no consensus on spe-
cialization and no recorded remarks on underwater
archeology.

Chapman’s summary of the findings of the
realignment task force acknowledged that it was a
“limited depth review.” As far as consolidating
underwater archeology was concerned, his
summary offered more opinion than fact. He
advanced an assumption that conducting under-
water archeology was a skill best performed by a
single centralized NPS team and that it was notan
inherently regional function. That idea was
debatable. Again, for some regions, it may well have
been an inherent function, like many other archeo-
logical responsibilities. In the Southeast Region, as
SEAC’s work on HMS Fowey made clear, there was
a need for a regional underwater archeological
program or at least the maintenance of some spe-
cialized expertise on historic shipwrecks. Logically,
a management study or cost-benefit analysis of NPS
underwater archeology was in order. Such key

analysis could have provided sound guidance on
the future development of underwater archeoclogy
within the Park Service. Unfortunately, no such
analysis was conducted.

Although there was no specific evaluation of under-
water archeology, Chief Anthropologist Douglas H.
Scovill released a general report in December 1983
that articulated several points for use in consoli-
dating park cultural resource functions. He spelled
out the central assumption of consolidation, “that
enlarging organizational units, expanding their area
of service and increasing the number of park units
served will result in operational efficiencies due to
economies of scale.” Such efficiencies were pre-
sumed to come from fewer administrative and
highly graded professionals, sharing of equipment
and support staff, more effective use of space, etc.
However, Scovill countered this assumption with
the notion that consolidation could also create
“diseconomies of scale,” which included “increased
staff time devoted to coordinating with an
increased number of park and regional units, more

- work time devoted to administrative and mana-

genal type tasks, increased interpersonal
complexities of larger staffs, the inefficiencies of
more complex decision making and conflict reso-
lution processes.”193

Scovill also noted the concerns of regional directors
worried that centralization would, in fact, nega-
tively affect existing abilities to identify park needs,
to provide equity of service to parks, and to provide
parks timely service or emergency responses. The
regional directors, after all, were the ones respon-
sible for the preservation of cultural resources
within their regions. He, too, noted the efficiencies
derived by having the archeologicai centers closely
associated with a major university, an issue that was
to help prevent the merger of SEAC with a proposed
SERO cultural resource management center.1%?
Because consolidation could as easily damage as
improve cultural resource management, Scovill
stressed that “consclidation of the park CRM
function will require thoughtful consideration and
should be based upon careful analysis and evalu-
ation to determine if the operational efficiencies
expected will occur.” In other words, would consol-

193. Douglas H. Scovill, “NPS Realignment Phase II: Review of Cultural Resource Management Program” (Washington, DC:
National Park Service, 1983), in “Archeclogy Centers-Realignment Studies 1983" folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeology
and Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC, 8.
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idating services cost more or less to provide the
same level of service or would that service simply be
lost?1%2

Again, despite this informed commentary, no con-
sidered evaluation was done regarding the
centralization of underwater archeology and
whether its consolidation would increase the cost
ar reduce the service then being provided at the
regional level. Perhaps the realignment task force
simply needed a sacrificial lamb to appease the
cost-cutting gods. Perhaps Chapman was con-
vinced by Nechels that SCRU was all the Park
Service needed in terms of underwater archeology.
What is certain is that Chapman highlighted the
desirability of consolidating underwater archeclogy
up front in his memorandum to the director. After-
wards, the only real decision was which regional
program to terminate, the one operated by the
SWCRC or the one operated by SEAC?

George Fischer’s well-reasoned prospectus on the
merits of continuing and expanding the program in
underwater archeology at SEAC, released in early
1984, may have had no bearing on the decision to
consolidate underwater archeology, which was
probably made in the fall of 1983. By that point,
word on the matter had leaked out. Rep. Don
Fuqua’s office briefly investigated the issue that
month to raise concerns in a letter received from
Zorro Bradley “protesting the removal of under-
water archeology from Florida to Santa Fe.”
Congressional staffer Don Allen wanted to know
what was going on and what could be done about it.
He was especially concerned whether it meant the
termination of NPS underwater archeology in
Florida and how this would affect Florida State
University. When Allen contacted SEAC, Fischer
explained the ongoing NPS realignment without
adding fuel to the fire, which he could easily have
done. Instead, as Fischer admitted to Faust, “con-
sidering the timing, it is unfortunate, since the

battles seem to be won and the way things are going
the war will win itself.”!*® He was right.

On February 17, 1984, Director Dickenson issued a
memorandum directing SEAC to phase out its
underwater archeological capability by September
30, 1984, and thereafter to acquire similar research
services from SCRU on a refundable basis.'*” The
director’s decision to terminate underwater arche-
ology at SEAC was made on the advice of the
realignment committee which, without serious
evaluation, simply reported the assumption that
SEAC’s “submerged cultural resource capability
unnecessarily duplicates the Servicewide capabil-
ities of the submerged cultural resources unit
stationed in the Southwest Regi(m.”“:’8 Faust
received a copy of the director’s memorandum
from the Southeast Regional Director. Although
national consolidation of the archeological centers
was off the table, he had expected that a man-
agement review would be directed to determine the
feasibility of merging SEAC with the Southeast Cul-
tural Resource Preservation Center (SECRPC),
then based at the Chattahoochee River National
Recreation Area in Atlanta. However, as he told
colleagues Fischer and John W. Walker, the
decision to terminate SEAC’s underwater archeo-
logical efforts “comes as a surprise.” Faust
consulted Scovill on the matter and reported being
told “it is a firm decision based upon Task Force rec-
ommendations.” %’ As discussed above, task force
records give no indication that the issue of consoli-
dating NPS underwater archeology was discussed
by anyone other than Chapman and the Southwest
Region’s Nechels.

In retirement, former SEAC Chief Faust said that
there was a high level of personal rivalry among the
underwater archeologists.*%® Any underwater
project that combined professionals from other
regions always ended with “a day or two days of lis-
tening to all the complaints about what happened
or what went on. Those guys were never happy
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FIGURE 45. George Fischer, holding a cutlass retrieved from
BISC-UW-20, identified by his research team as HMS Fowey.
This photo by FSU Photo Lab photographer Gil Lawhon
appeared in Florida State University's Research in Review
(September 1985). Photograph courtesy of University
Archives, Special Collections, Florida State University

campers, for some reason.” In his discussions with
Chief Anthropologist Scovill, Faust admits that the
idea of consolidating underwater archeology at
SEAC was broached, but rejected. “SEAC’s perfor-
mance was found wanting on the basis of a number
of criteria,” he stated, in his 2003 interview. “The
chief archeologist and I talked about it, about where
it needed to and how it needed to go. We had an
option to bring essentially what ended up at Santa
Fe to the Center, and we discussed it a long time and
both decided that it probably was not the best
idea.”?%! Be that as it may, a formal management
review was called for to achieve consensus and to
evaluate the objective merits of terminating SEAC’s
underwater archeological capability, precisely to
help avoid the type of problems that afterward
developed.

On April 8, 1984, Chief Faust recommended com-
pliance with the directive in two linked stages - a
phase-out stage eliminating SEAC’s underwater
capability and a phase-in stage in which an interre-
gional agreement would be forged with clear
responsibilities divided between the Southeast and
Southwest Regions so that effective management of
the Southeast Region’s submerged resources could
be maintained. Faust listed several recommenda-
tions, but especially noted that the director had
required SEAC to phase out its capability only, “and
we should pay close attention to the authority and
responsibility which should be retained by
Southeast Region in order to ensure quality control
and program responsiveness.” In this memo-
randum, Faust also noted the importance of
maintaining the contributions of “outside academic
interests such as have been secured from Florida
State University” and recommended that a new
cooperative agreement be developed to account for
the fact that program execution was being trans-
ferred to the Southwest Region.??? No such
protocol ever followed. In May 1984, Southeast
Associate Regional Director Carroll W. (Jack) Ogle
informed Bennie Keel, who was then Assistant
Director for Archeology, “that the Submerged
Resources unit has been phased out.”203

Unexpectedly, Fischer’s former student, Daniel
Lenihan, and peer Calvin Cummings had become
rivals promoting underwater archeology within the
Park Service. After getting his start at SEAC with
Fischer, Lenihan had developed a coterie of high-
level supporters first through his work with Calvin
Cummings and the National Reservoir Inundation
Study and later as head of SCRU. Besides Cum-
mings, his supporters included Everglades
Superintendent John M. Morehead, Southwest
Regional Directors John E. Cook and Robert 1.
Kerr, and others with strong ties to the Southwest.
Cummings in particular, as Robert Utley once
remarked, was an unusually aggressive Chief
Regional Archeologist.zm Naturally, Cummings
supported SCRU to promote SWCRC. Zorro
Bradley, from his post in Alaska, saw this devel-
opment as confirmation of a conspiracy theory he
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had developed centered upon SWCRC and NPS
archeology.’%® Whether or not that was true, it is
curious that the only time cultural resource func-
tions were ever fully integrated in the National Park
Service was in the SWCRC. Full integration of cul-
tural resource functions was a goal of many in the
Park Service, including, of course, Connally and
Utley. As OAHP experienced, such consolidations
required the backing of regional managers. SWCRC
had such backing, which made it an influential
entity in the Park Service during the 1980s.2% Troni-
cally, the one time NPS archeologists were
integrated in a truly multidisciplinary organization,
it led to the creation of SCRU, perhaps the most
extreme example of archeological separatism in the
Park Service.

Despite Scovill’'s own explicit advice about consoli-
dations, no serious evaluation was conducted to
compare the relative merits of the underwater
archeology programs of SWCRC and SEAC. As
further evidence that the decision was poorly
informed, the same memorandum from Director
Russell to Southeast Regional Director Robert
Baker instructing him to terminate underwater
archeology at SEAC is also the memorandum that
directed the initiation of a formal internal man-
agement study to determine the merits of combining
the operations of SEAC and SECRPC.?% The study
that followed carefully analyzed the cost factors
involved in consolidating the two operations by
moving SEAC to Atlanta. It is a curious
juxtaposition.

Incidentally, Regional Director Baker favored
efforts to consolidate archeological functions.
“There was a lot of thought that Baker wanted to do
away with the Center,” Faust remembered. “He
was,” as Faust recalled, “way out in front of
everybody else, but he was way out past where most
of the other regions were coming from.” Baker may

have taken a cue from the Southwest Region and its
unique combined cultural resources center. Despite
evidence that SEAC was doing a credible job, and
despite the realignment committee’s general rec-
ommendation to leave the archeological centers
alone, Baker deliberately continued to challenge
the need for an independent archeological center in
the Southeast Region. His argument was that com-
munications would be better if SEAC was based in
Atlanta.2% Baker took the opportunity presented by
the general NPS realignment to push for regional
consolidation. His willingness to give up SEAC’s
underwater archeological capability, seemingly
without a fight, is more logical in light of this intent.

As it turned out, however, the internal study on
consolidating SEAC and SECRPC once again criti-
cally attested to the numerous cost efficiencies
associated with university affiliation. The report
favorably noted how government costs were
reduced through the SEAC-FSU cooperative
agreement because of university-subsidized office
space, storage space, and utilities; low contract
overhead; and almost no-charge use of Anthro-
pology Department equipment. The study also
cited the important force-multiplying benefits to
SEAC of being easily able to obtain qualified
anthropology students to conduct or assist with
NPS-sponsored work and the general productivity
gains from having immediate access to such intel-
lectual resources as the university library and
various faculty experts. The first year charge for
moving SEAC to Atlanta was estimated to be nearly
a million dollars for the slight gain of being nearer
the Regional Office and its non-archeological cul-
tural resource professionals. Strikingly, it stated, “at
current lease rates, SEAC could remain at FSU for
84 years for the estimated cost of new construction
and renovation necessary to house SEAC activities
at CHAT.” The study even predicted an increase in
grade for the senior chief of the proposed consoli-

205. George R. Fischer, Letter to Pete Faust, September 16, 198[?], from Richard D. Faust files, in possession of the author.
206. SWCRC was itself deeply impacted by a major realignment In the 1990s that merged the Southwest and Intermountain

Regions.

207. National Park Service Director, Memorandum to Regional Director, Southeast Region, February 17, 1984, in "Southeast
Archeological Center (SEAC)” falder, SEAC files. The Director's memorandum mirrors the recommendations of the
realignment task force, which specified cutting SEAC's underwater archeology program and formally analyzing the

efficiencies of combining SEAC with SECRPC.

208. Faust, Oral History Interview, 31-32. Travel consideraticns posed another argument for consolidating SEAC in Atlanta - it
would be closer to the massive Hartsfield International Airport. Studies done by SEAC, however, showed that Tallahassee
was the closest location to the majority of large acreage parks. Regardiess, Tallahassee, the capital of Flarida, possessed a
not inconsequential airport. With security precautions put into place after the September 11, 2001, terrorists attacks, the
Tallahassee airport's smaller size prabably represented a bonus for SEAC, given the long security screening lines often

encountered by travelers at Hartsfield.
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dated center, which it did not considered desirable.
The study recommended no consolidation of SEAC
and SECRPC. As far as SEAC was concerned, the
study merely recommended more frequent consul-
tations between the SEAC chief and the Associate
Regional Director, increased use of computerized
office equipment, the transfer of a single archeol-
ogist to SEAC, and a return to contracting with
Florida State to provide curatorial services. The last
point was intended to reduce NPS staffing costs.?®
The determination of a Servicewide material defi-
ciency in curation, of course, outdated the last and
most important of these recommendations by 1990.
Although he had hoped to consolidate SEAC with
SECRPC, Regional Director Baker accepted the
recommendations of this formal evaluation. SEAC
remained secure in Tallahassee.?’? On January 11,
1985, Paul B. Hartwig assumed the duties of Deputy
Associate Regional Director for Cultural
Resources.?!! Hartwig continued some Baker-like
efforts to consolidate functions, but proved to be a
consistent advocate for SEAC.2'2 After his arrival,
SEAC no longer reported to Deputy Regional
Director Carroll W. (Jack) Ogle.213

To summarize, a thorough and well-considered
review of SEAC’s and SECRPC’s operations
between 1984 and 1985, mandated by Director
Dickenson himself, led NPS management to decide
against consolidating these operations. At the same
time, no study was conducted to evaluate the merits
of consolidating the enderwater archeology pro-
grams of SEAC and SWCRC. Hence, many
important questions were never seriously
addressed, among them:

B What were the repercussions, near- and long-
term, of abrogating the SEAC-FSU cooperative
agreement, forged with an explicit

understanding that underwater archeology
would be an important element of the SEAC-
FSU relationship?

m  How did George Fischer's prospectus on
underwater archeology at SEAC, which listed
obvious efficiencies and advantages for the
Park Service through studies jointly conducted
with Florida State, compare to SCRU’s
program or prospectus?

B How did SEAC’s and Florida State’s then
ongoing work with HMS Fowey compare to
SCRU’s achievements in terms of cost and
academic performance?

B What benefits and/or efficiencies could have
been obtained by transferring SCRU to SEAC,
whether it remained in Tallahassee or was
relocated to Atlanta?

B Was underwater archeology more
appropriately located within regional cultural
resource management centers, concentrated at
a national level, or divided between them?

B Can a national resource management unit
effectively and equitably meet the needs of all
regions while under the authority of a single
regional director?

Although no official review of these questions was
conducted, most of the answers have become
apparent with time, as further discussed below. As
far as this study can determine, underwater arche-
ology at SEAC was terminated for political and not
policy-relevant or efficiency reasons. Of the two
programs, SWCRC’s appears to have had better
connections and stronger regional support.

209. National Park Service, "Southeast Cultural Resource Preservation Center and Southeast Archeological Center
Consolidation: A Management Study” {Atlanta: Southeast Regional Office, 1985), 8-13.

210. At least one other report, a national task force review of the organizational structure of the National Park Service
recommended in 1987 that the Service “retain the center in Tallahassee pending the completion of the proposad
operations evaluation of all the archeological centers.” The only concern of this report was further consideration of the
option to combine SEAC with SECRPC in Atlanta, although it also noted that SEAC was too “top heavy with five GS-13son
the staff.” See National Park Service, Organizational Structure of the National Park Service: Task Force Report
(Washington, DC: National Park Service, tune 1987), 54. The high costs of maving SEAC pointed out in the 1985 Internal
Management Review and the 1987 return of SECRPC to the Southeast Regional Office ended further efforts to merge the

two entities, at least for several years (see footnote 212).

211, Historic Listing of National Park Service Officials (Washington, DC: National Park Service, 19%1), http/fwww.cr.nps.gov/
history/online_booksfolson/histlist14.htm#g (accessed December 29, 2004).

212. For example, as Associate Director for Cuitural Resources in 1994, Paul Hartwig drafted a report {discussed later)
proposing the consolidation of all NPS cultural resource centers into three or four mega centers located in major U.S.

cities, one being Atlanta.
213. Ehrenhard, Oral History Interview, 2.
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Consequences of the “Realignment”

The termination of underwater archeclogy at SEAC
left a legacy of bitter feelings. In 1988, after the
phase-out of underwater archeology at SEAC,
George Fischer retired. “I got out early for good
behavior,” he later said 214 Without stretching the
analogy too far, Fischer had attempted to do for
underwater archeology in the National Park Service
what Pinky Harrington had previcusly accom-
plished for historical archeology. Harrington is
credited with significantly advancing the sub-disci-
pline of historical archeology, a field especially
useful for the Park Service.2!” Fischer, like Har-
rington, sought to build institutional interest within
the Park Service for a promising area of archeology
that lacked crucial support in its early years. The
small group of early enthusiasts who supported
underwater archeology in the Park Service also
included John Corbett, Zorro Bradley, and Calvin
Cummings, but George Fischer stands out as the
central figure of the story until SEAC’s program was
cancelled. Before Fischer, the Park Service had no
capability in underwater archeology and very
limited knowledge of its submerged cultural
resources. As demonstrated by the case of HMS
Fowey, after Fischer, the Park Service had sufficient
knowledge to begin to understand, manage, and
defend these resources. Through Fischer and
SEAC, and the NPS-FSU cooperative agreement,
the Park Service made significant inroads in under-
water archeology and laid a foundation for later
accomplishments,

As regards SEAC in general, the termination of
underwater archeology was a critical juncture that
in a short time began to complicate its ability to
manage the region’s archeological resources.
Immediately, SEAC had difficulty implementing the
director’s order to phase out underwater arche-
ology. On the one hand, it was a fairly simple task.
Chief Faust counseled the Associate Regional
Director that there was little to transfer to SCRU
because so much of SEAC’s program was based
upon the SEAC-FSU cooperative agreement by
which the university provided much of the

equipment and logistical support as well as approx-
imately 40 percent of the required man hours
through uncompensated student labor. Moreover,
while George Fischer provided project oversight, it
was only one of the responsibilities of his position,
which was not to be transferred to SCRU. On the
other hand, the directive was not clear about its
scope. Faust interpreted the directive to mean that
SEAC was “to phase out capability only, and we
should pay close attention to the autherity and
responsibility which should be retained by
Southeast Region in order to ensure quality control
and program responsiveness.” Southeast Region
parks were behind in drafting approved cultural
resource management plans and it was difficult to
project how many underwater investigations would
be needed, but SEAC had identified approximately
ten projects that might eventually have high priority
(seventeen were identified in 1986). With no
projects planned for fiscal year 1985, Faust urged
regional authorities to use the interval “to structure
an inter-regional agreement with the Southwest
Regional Office in order to define the role, function
and responsibilities of the twa regions.”21® He
offered the following division of responsibilities:

Activity SERO SWRO
Program coordination X
Establishment of priorities X X
Preparation of cost estimates X
Approval of cost estimates X
Preparation of research plans X
Approval of research plans X

Project accounting X
Project execution X
Report preparation X
Report approval X
Preservation of artifacts; cataloging X

Artifact and information curation X

“In substance,” Faust wrote, “l am recommending
that the Southeast Region should attempt to
maintain program coordination and control in
order to ensure responsiveness to regional cultural
resource management requirements.” He was also
worried that the type of cost effectiveness and

214. George Fischer, “The History of Underwater Archaeology at Florida State University: A Retrospective of the Past and 3
Look to the Future,” in Underwater Archaeology 1999, eds. A. Askins-Neideinger and M. Russell (Society for Historical

Archaeclogy, 1999), 6.

215. See Anne Elizabeth Yentsch, “Man and Vision in Historical Archaeology,” 23-47, in Anne Elizabeth Yentsch, ed., The Art
and Mystery of Historical Archaeology: Essays in Honor of James Deetz (Boca Raton: CRC Press, 1992) for insight into the
influence of Jean C. Harrington, and incidentally, John W. Griffin, on histerical archeclogy.

216. Chief, Southeast Archeological Center (Faust), Memorandum to Associate Regional Director, Operations, SERO, April 23,

1984,
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quality enhancements gained through academic
participation through the NPS cooperative
agreement with Florida State would be lost if the
Park Service failed to work out supplemental
arrangements following the transfer of project exe-
cution to the Southwest Region.?!” He did succeed
in getting the Regional Office to help arrange a
meeting with Southwest Region officials to work
out his functional concerns related to pro-
gramming, planning, executing, and administering
projects and their results. Again, Faust emphasized
the need to make clear to the SWR that SEAC
should remain responsible for underwater arche-
ology in the Southeast Region. The only issue he felt
open was whether SEAC could contract needed
underwater research, if SCRU’s workload pre-
vented it from completing Southeast Region
projects in a timely manmer, a real concern given
SCRU’s mandate to operate Servicewide and for
other agencies. Faust’s key concern, however, was
that SCRU was under the line authority of SWR.28
Former Chief Historian Robert Utley shared
Faust’s concern. In a contemporaneous interview,
Utley said that historic bi-regional cooperation
between regional directors with regard to the
sharing of archeological services represented “an
untenable situation.” He disparaged any claim that
MWAC or the Western Archeological and Conser-
vation Center adequately met the needs of any other
region than the one that had authority over them.?1”
To assure that the Southeast Region would be able to
continue to manage its submerged resources it was
critical that good coordination and cooperation
with SWR be maintained. Similarly, flexibility in
implementing the director’s order was needed, as
with external contracting, to ensure timely program
execution.

Despite efforts to work out an equitable
arrangement with officials from the Southwest
Region, little progress was made. In July 1984, Asso-
ciate Director Jerry Rogers circulated a draft
Special Directive within the Park Service. Instead of
addressing SER concerns, however, the draft policy

sought to codify SCRU as “the sole unit authorized
to provide professional support services to park
managers throughout the Service.”?2% The many
problems inherent in the Special Directive could
not be better explained than by the responding
memorandum of the Acting Southeast Regional
Director, Carroll W. (Jack) Ogle, in which he stated:

1. Ifthe Submerged Cultural Resources Unit is the
sole authorized unit to provide assistance,
existing regional resource expertise and
formulation procedures will not have an
effective input into this segment of culturai
resources management.

Because the Unit is under the line authority of
the Regional Director, Southwest Region,
questions arise as to how individual regional
directors can exercise their line authority in
operational matters. This could become critical
in situations where the resources are National
Register nominated or eligible and involved the
authority, responsibility and coordination of
the NHPA compliance process.

If the Unit is to be solely responsible for project
formulation and action plans, once again the
question of regional line authority and staff
involvement presents itself.

If the Unit and WASO have direct
responsibility for program formulation, the
ability for individual regions to prepare and
execute total cultural resource management
programs will be impaired. The conceptof a
submerged cultural resource program separate
from a regional cultural program is
questionable.

We do not think it realistic to expect a small
unit such as the Submerged Cultural Resource
Unit to totally formulate and execute on a
Servicewide basis such a program, and

217. Chief, Southeast Archeological Center (Faust), Memorandum to Associate Regional Director, Operations, SERO, April 23,

1984,

218. Chief, Southeast Archeologicai Center {Faust), Memorandum to Deputy Regional Director, SERQ, June 14, 1984, in

“Southeast Archeological Center (SEAC)” folder, SEAC files.

219. Sellars and Webb, An Interview with Robert M. Utley, 88. Not all would agree, however. MWAC archeologist Thomas D.
Thiessen noted to the author that considable work was done by MWAC in the Rocky Mountain Region between 1974 and
1995 even while it reported directly to the Midwest Regional Office. MWAC had separate research divisions for each

region.

220. Assaciate Director Cultural Resources {terry L. Rogers), Memorandum to Directorate and Field Directorate, July 6, 1984, in

"Sautheast Archeclogical Center (SEAC}” folder, SEAC files.
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moreover, do it on a first-come, first-served
basis.

Ogle again reminded Rogers about the “under-
standing” that the Southeast Region was not to
phase out its responsibility for managing the
region’s submerged cultural resources and that the
Park Service would benefit overall if SCRU’s rele
was confined to project execution only, making
other assistance available upon a discretionary basis
as needed by a region. “Program formulation,” he
stated, “should remain a regional responsibility
with underwater projects being annually con-
sidered within a total program matrix.” To set
priorities for SCRU, he requested an annual meeting
with other regional directors or a working
committee.??!

No such meeting had taken place by the time, a year
later, that Acting Director Mary Lou Grier sought
to base-fund SCRU, a position strongly supported
by Southwest Regional Director Kerr and Ever-
glades Superintendent John M. Morehead.
However, others in the Southeast Region, increas-
ingly frustrated by the apparent refusal of
Washington or the SWR to cooperate in addressing
the submerged cultural resource management
process, disagreed. Review comments made in the
margin of a short paper explaining SCRU’s bud-
getary status, which was attached to the Acting
Director’s memo, suggest that at least one SER
official was worried that SCRU would become fully
base-funded (and perhaps autonomeous in its ability
to set its own priorities). If advance planning were
done, the commenter suggested, “project funding
could possibly be the best appmach.”222 Finally, by
1986, an operations evaluation confirmed the
validity of SER concerns. Stemming from this eval-
uation, Regional Director Baker forwarded a draft
task directive to Associate Director Rogers out-
lining a series of steps to be taken by the Southeast
and Southwest Regions respectively to coordinate
the identification, planning, prioritization, and exe-
cution of submerged cultural resource projects.

The task directive was “based upon our decision
that the investigation of submerged cultural
resources will continue to be an integral part of this
region’s cultural resource management programs.”
Baker recommended that Rogers coordinate the
implementation of the pr-:medmes.223

In December 1986, Chief Historian Edwin C. Bearss
wrote unexpectedly to Regional Director Baker to
protest “a turf battle between personnel in the
Southeast Archeological Center and the Submerged
Cultural Resources Unit.” Bearss had recently been
in contact with Buck Island Reef National Mon-
ument Superintendent Thomas A. Bradley who had
complained that he and the superintendent at Bis-
cayne were trying to arrange for SCRU to conduct
underwater archeological work in their parks “but
this has raised hackles at SEAC.” Bearss went on to
praise SCRU highly for its “impressive credentials”
and “can do’ drive.”??4 As it happened, SEAC had
reviewed Buck Island Reef’s resource management
plan and in a lengthy assessment made in June 1986
had found several faults in the document. SEAC
noted that statements made in the plan, such as
“archeological remains are so limited that visitors
do not notice them,” undermined hope the park
had for obtaining funds for further research.
SEAC’s review also included remarks about the
park’s single known shipwreck and strongly recom-
mended pursuit of historical research to determine
the vessel’s possible identity prior to archeological
investigations, which SEAC thought should come
only after this footwork. Moreover, SEAC
explained that “no historical suggestions exist to
our knowledge that the area is likely to yield major
shipwreck resources,” a notion SEAC thought sup-

- ported by the park’s high number of sport divers

who had apparently failed to uncover any such evi-
dence. However, SEAC concluded that compliance
with NPS mandates required an eventual under-
water archeological survey once an appropriate
historical research base was developed. In that
regard, SEAC evaluated SCRU’s more expensive
recommended magnetometer survey method

221. Acting Regional Director Southeast Region {Carroll W. (Jack) Ogle), Memorandum to Assaciate Director Cultural
Resources WASOQ, August 5, 1984, in “Southeast Archeological Center (SEAC)" folder, SEAC files.

222. See two-page summary entitled "Servicewide Submerged Cultural Resource Program” {May 3, 1985) attached to Acting
Director (Mary Lou Grier), Memorandum to Regional Directors, May 17, 1985, in "Southeast Archeclogical Center (SEAC)”

folder, SEAC files.

223. Regional Director Southeast Region (Robert Baker), Memorandum to Associate Director, Cultural Resources, WASO,
August 13, 1986, in “Southeast Archeological Center (SEACQ)" folder, SEAC files. Emphasis added.
224. Chief Historian (Edwin C. Bearss), Memorandum to Bob Baker, Regional Director, Southeast Region, December 3, 1986, in

“Southeast Archeological Center (SEAQ)" folder, SEAC files.
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(microwave positioning) and recommended a tech-
nologically “less sophisticated and more practical
[LORAN] approach.”??> These were reasonable
professional comments of the type that would be
expected from resource professionals. They indi-
cated that urgent underwater resource
management work was not necessary at the park.

In January 1987, Chief Faust wrote the Regional
Office about discussions he had had with Supt.
Bradley. He explained how SEAC had detailed to
the superintendent the “procedural problems”
arising out of the realignment. Faust defended
SEAC’s review of Buck Island’s management plan.
“I do not believe,” he wrote, “that this position nor
the Draft Task Directive ... should be viewed as a
turf battle between SEAC and the Submerged Cul-
tural Resources Unit.” That task directive had been
forwarded to Washington six months before. Faust
also discussed the Bearss memorandum with Chief
Anthropologist Scovill, who promised to start
reviewing the draft task directive.?® Acting
Regional Director Frank A. Catroppa then wrote
Associate Director Rogers about Bearss’s letter.
“After a thorough review,” he explained, “we
believe that what we are encountering is frustration
resulting from unresolved procedural questions,
and that no turf battle, as such, exists.” Catroppa
went on to say the “discontinuation decision” had
generated confusion at the field level and that the
best way to ameliorate the negative consequences
was to clarify the appropriate procedures needed to
manage underwater activities. “We look forward to
your staff’s comments on our recommendations,”
he concluded, “and to an early implementation of
appropriate directives.” He thanked the Chief His-
torian for his comments and “review of the
capabilities of the Submerged Cultural Resources
Unit, 2?7

Supt. Bradley was unhappy that SEAC had passed
unfavorably upon his desire to conduct the under-
water project favored by SCRU. Although the

Southeast Region was forced to cede its capability

to conduct underwater operations to SCRU, it
fought to maintain its authority over the basic
resource management process. As a result, there
arose two distinct and competing sources of NPS
autherity providing Southeast Region parks with
archeological management advice for submerged
cultural resources.

This predicament may alsc have exacerbated a ten-
dency of large parks to seek to exercise authority
over cultural resources without respect for estab-
lished procedures requiring SEAC’s participation.
For example, Chief Faust recalled an effort by the
Natchez Trace Parkway to gain control of funds
available for archeological purposes instead of
allowing it to go to SEAC. In the context of dis-
cussing underwater archeology, he recalled how
regional managers had to press constantly upon
superintendents that:

You have one instrumentality for arche-
ology: that’s SEAC. Use it. You don’t need to
budget. You don’t need to do anything. You
need to give them information so they can
budget. They’ll get the money, then they’ll
handie the archeoloﬁgy, eitherin staff or
through contract,2?

Generally, however, Faust found that most regional
directors and superintendents supported SEAC’s
role in the management process.’?? Underwater
archeology, both before and after its termination at
SEAC, presented the biggest concerns.

Confusion about responsibilities regarding under-
water resource managerment in the Southeast
Region continued. In the early 1990s, Associate
Southeast Regional Director Paul Hartwig and
SEAC Chief Faust met in Santa Fe with SCRU and
Southwest Regional officials at a meeting chaired by
Chief Anthropologist Douglas Scovill to hammer
out an understanding to obviate problems devel-
oping as a result of SCRU’s involvement in
underwater archeological work first relating to
HMS Fowey at Biscayne and later at Dry Tortugas

225. Chief, Southeast Archeological Center {Richard D. Faust), Memorandum ta Superintendent, Buck 1sland Reef and
Christiansted NHS, June 25, 1986, in " "Southeast Archealogical Center (SEAC)" folder, SEAC files.

226. Chief, Sautheast Archeological Center (Richard D. Faust), Memorandum to Associate Regional Director, Operations, SERO,
January 9, 1987, in “Southeast Archeological Center (SEAC)” folder, SEAC files.

227. Acting Regional Director, Southeast Region (Frank A. Catreppa), Memorandum to Associate Director, Cultural Resouces,
WASO, January 20, 1987, in "Southeast Archeological Center (SEAC)” folder, SEAC files,

228. Faust, Oral History Interview, 22. This policy was later changed. Director Roger Kennedy autherized parks to contract
independently with NP5 archeological centers, other agencies or qualified institutions, and private contractors for park

archeclogical needs.
229. Faust, Oral History Interview, 22-23.
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National Park. According to Faust, their “objective
was to get SCRU to follow SER compliance process
when working in SER parks.” They wanted SEAC
and the Southeast Regional Office to be fully
included in the consultation and review process
and were entirely opposed to SCRU’s efforts “to
remove underwater investigations from the process
SER was using, particularly the establishment of
priorities and the submission of annual funding
requests.” SCRU agreed to consultations, although
its view was that parks had the responsibility to
consult SEAC and the region on their operations.
Relations between the Southeast Region and SCRU
marginally improved after this meeting,.23 0

Whether or not SCRU has provided the same level
of underwater archeological services to the
Southeast Region as SEAC might have, per Chief
Anthropologist Scovill’s dictum on consolidation, is
impossible to know. SCRU provided Southeast
parks with some archeological services, but this
support appears to have declined over time.
Mareover, should the NPS underwater unit again
do work in the Southeast in the future, its inter-
action with SEAC and regional officials will again
become an issue. The consolidation of underwater
archeology in Santa Fe not only terminated that
capability at SEAC, but it abrogated an important
aspect of the NFS agreement with Florida State
University. The 1978 cooperative agreement specif-
ically called for NPS-FSU cooperation in
underwater archeology as a component of the
SEAC-FSU relationship. Moreover, interviews and
the documentary record clearly show that FSU
interest in underwater archeology remained high
and even increased after the capability was abol-
ished at SEAC. The department became involved in
State Archeologist Sonny Cockrell’s Warm Mineral
Springs project, for example. Moreover, faculty

tong-range plans of the late 1980s and early 1990s
called for:

the establishment of an Institute of Under-
water Archaeology which would enable the
department to make a unique contribution
among SUS [state university system] pro-
grams in anthropology through specialized
training in underwater archaeology, for
which FSU has some existing important
resources, e.g., marine lab, academic diving
program, Warm 5prings Archaeological
Research Project, and center for study of sea
level changes.??!

Moreover, George Fischer remained active in
underwater archeology after his retirement. He
became a founding member of the Advisory
Council on Underwater Archaeology and for years
taught underwater archeology for the FSU Anthro-
pology Department. He, J. Anthony Paredes, and
others, continued to push for a PhD track in under-
water archeology.2*? In 1997, their efforts led the
university to hire Michael K. Faught to direct its
Program in Underwater Archaeology. Faught
developed a certificate program that allowed FSU
students to do extra work to earn a credential in
underwater archeology.?3?

Despite the recommendation by Chief Faust and
other Southeast Region officials for SCRU to
develop a protocol to ensure continued Park
Service cooperation with Florida State, this never
happened. Indeed, when Hurricane Andrew
nncovered elements of HMS Fowey in 1993, SCRU
chose not to draw upon the site-specific experience
of George Fischer or the diving facilities of Florida
State through the NPS-FSU cooperative agreement
to help it survey the shipwreck and do any hur-
ricane-related mitigation work. Instead, SCRU
worked with the Department of Anthropology of

230. Richard P. Faust with annotations by Paul Hartwig, e-mail to Cameron Binkiey, May 4, 2004, National Park Service; Faust,

Oral History Interview, 23.

231. J. Anthony Paredes, Memorandum to B. Bickley, no date [ca. 1991], in “8015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992 (file
2)" folder, SEAC files. In this memorandum, entitled “Long-range Plans,” the Department sought by 2000 to develop a
PhD program, expand its teaching faculty, maintain the NPS-FSU relationship in CRM to provide student training, obtain
additional departmental space by encouraging the university to lease additional low-cost space to SEAC, and develop a
major underwater archeology center. Failing these goals, the department recommended merging or abolishing the
Anthropology Department altogether, if that is any indication of the seriousness with which at one time the department
viewed its relations with the Park Service and the importance of underwater archeclogy. Bruce Grindal also discussed the
department’s long-term goal to create a Program in Underwater Archaeology in a July 1991 memorandum to key FSU'
authorities. See, Bruce Grindal, Memorandum to Lawrence G. Abele, Dean, College of Arts and Sciences, et al., July 2,
1991, in "AB015: Space for Administrative Use Pre-1992 (file 3}” folder, SEAC files.

232. Paredes, Discussion with Cameron Binkley, December 3, 2004,

233. Larry Keough, "FSU Dives Deeper into Underwater Archaeology with Historic Pragram,” Permnocrat, 1996, http://
www.adp.fsu.edufuwarchtd.html (accessed October 14, 2004). Faught left the University in 2004. The Department also

offers a certificate in museum studies.
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FIGURE 46. Artistic impression of HMS Fowey drawn by FSU student Richard E. Johnson for SEAC. This image appeared on the
cover of Archeological Testing and Evaluation of the Legare Anchorage Shipwreck Site: Biscayne National Park, Summer 1983

(SEAC, 1984)

the University of Maryland, which had no compa-
rable experience. Afier SCRU failed to reference
previous SEAC and FSU reports relating to HMS
Fowey in new project funding proposals, the FSU
Anthropology Department voiced concerns to NPS
1'nanagement.23‘4 In the twenty years since the
underwater archeology program was terminated at
SEAC, the Santa Fe-based INPS underwater archeo-
logical unit never once participated in a cooperative
arrangement with Florida State te do underwater

archeology despite that university’s burgeoning
capacity in the field and significant experience with
submerged archeology in Florida.

In the short run, the collapse of underwater arche-
ology at SEAC did some harm to the university. As
John Ehrenhard noted, being able to participate in
NPS underwater archeology through SEAC, either
as a student intern or employee, was an attractive
aspect of the Anthropology Department’s academic
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program in archeology.3> The example of Danie
Lenihan illustrates that point. In the long run,
George Fischer’s work with the university helped to
replace that lost opportunity and FSU became
known as a good place for students who were inter-
ested in this field. However, the university’s access
to underwater archeology through the Park Service
was effectively terminated the NPS consolidation.
The failure of the Park Service to continue to coop-
erate with Florida State University in underwater
archeology undercut one of the pillars of the SEAC-
ESU relationship. It is another key reason why the

FSU Anthropology Department gradually con-
tinued to move away from public archeology and
therefore NPS interests. Underwater archeology
was an activity in which the university and the Park
Service continued to share a strong mutual interest,
and which afforded the Service one of the best
opportunities to influence the department’s philo-
sophical direction. As Anthropology Department
professor emeritus J. Anthony Paredes remarked,
had the National Park Service developed its FSU
underwater archeology connection, SEAC might
have turned out quite differently.*¢

234, Eventually, SCRU received funding to conduct underwater archeological work to mitigate the effects of Hurricane
Andrew upon HMS Fowey, but no NPS research reports have been published. A freelance writer with no NPS association
did publish an article about SCRU's work on HMS Fowey. See Eric Adams, "Hurricane Uncovers 18th-Century Wreck,”
Naval History, vol. 10, no. 5 {September/Octaber, 1996): 32-35. Adams’s article created a scandal, however, because
allegations of plagiarism were made. Both George R. Fischer and Russell K. Skowronek, an Assistant Professor of
Anthropology at Santa Clara University and a former FSU student who had worked with SEAC on HMS Fowey, wrote
protest letters regarding the article. Skowronek stated “when | finished reading it, the impression that | came away with
was that John Seidel [University of Maryland] and Larry Murphy [SCRU] had made the first map of the wreck site and
researched the vessel’s background in the four years since Hurricane Andrew. Your readers will be interested to learn that
this is far from true.” After listing various examples of the author's failure to cite previous work properly, Skowronek
catled the article “an abomination.” See Russell K. Skowronek, Naval Histary, vol. 11, ne. 1 {January/February 1997): 14,
and George R. Fischer, Naval History, vol. 11, no. 3 (MayfJune 1997): 3,

235. Ehrenhard, Oral History Interview, 16.
236. Paredes, Oral History Interview, 23.
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Chapter Five: SEAC and
Innovation Park (1987-2003)

In November 1987, the General Services Adminis-
tration, on behalf of the National Park Service,
notified Florida State University of its intent to
renew SEAC’s ten-year lease for the office space it
used in the Montgomery Gym on the FSU campus.
GSA invoked a special clause in the lease allowing
the government to execute a one-time renewal for a
ten-year period at the same rental rate. It gave 180
days notice, also in accordance with the lease
terms.’ Clearly, the lease had been written in a
manner sympathetic to SEAC’s special relationship
with Florida State. After withdrawing its offer to
rehouse the center in the old industrial arts facility,
the university had stood by that {ease. On this
occasion, however, FSU officials indicated to SEAC
that they would not renew it. NPS officials then
became concerned over their ability to continue to
house SEAC at the Montgomery Gym location.
Discussions ensued.”

On May 19, 1988, a few days before the lease’s expi-
ration, the university’s legal counsel, Patricia A.
Draper, advised GSA that the university would con-
tinue to lease the gym property to the Park Service
but anly for one more year at the current rental
rate. At the end of that period the Park Service
would have to negotiate a new rate. Although
Draper stated that the university valued the
presence of the Park Service on its campus, “cir-
cumstances do not permit the continuation of
terms so unfavorable to the university.”® GSA offi-

cials consulted with FSU contracting officials and
advised them to discuss the situation and the terms
of the contract with university officials, which GSA
asserted fully allowed the Park Service to renew its
lease at the same rate.? Still, the Park Service indi-
cated it was amenable to discussing the rate, if FSU
signed a one-year extension at the current rate,” In
fact, that rate remained unchanged until SEAC
moved off campus. By that time the leasing
agreement certainly represented a bargain for the
government, at least in terms of simple square feet
per dollar. The episode marked yet another crisis in
SEAC’s long-running quest to obtain and maintain
adequate facilities, Whatever the other benefits of
the SEAC-FSU cooperative agreement, it was
around this time that NPS officials probably began
to realize that they could not maintain SEAC indefi-
nitely on the FSU campus. SEAC’s housing
arrangements were inadequate, the rents were
going up, and the university was ever less enthusi-
astic about subsidizing SEAC’s presence.

Still Not Enough Space

After renewing the Montgomery Gym lease, Pete
Faust began to consider retiring. He had spent over
twenty years near or at the helm of SEAC.
However, the one important issue that had plagued
much of his NPS career still nagged to be resolved.
That issue, of course, was the persistent problem of
SEAC’s inadequate housing. The Park Service knew
the university wanted to and would eventually raise

1. M. E. Poole, Contracting Officer, GSA, Lease Renewal Notice to Flarida State University, Contracts and Grants, November
16, 1987, in "AB015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992" folder (2).

2. Michael E. Roper, Contracting Officer, GSA, Memorandum to Lori Greato, FSU Office of Facilities Management, May 24,
1988, in “AB015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992" folder (2).

3. Patricia A. Draper, Legal Counsel, FSU, Letter to M. E. Poole, Contracting Officer, GSA, May 19, 1988, in *AB01S: Space for

Administrative Use, Pre-1992" folder {2).
4.  Roper, Memorandum to Lori Greato, May 24, 1988.

5. Michael E. Roper, Contracting Officer, GSA, Memorandum to Patricia A. Draper, Legal Counsel, FSU, May 26, 1988, in
"AB015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992* folder (2), SEAC files.
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the rent for the dingy basement level offices in the
Montgomery Gymnasium, which Faust described

as “cramped” and “pitiful.” Nevertheless, Chief
Faust sensed that he could end his career on a high
note. He decided to delay his retirement. “One of
the things that I had pretty much committed to do,”
he said, “was to get the space problem solved.” As
an incentive, Southeast Regional Director Robert
Baker authorized a one-grade directed promotion
to persuade Faust to continue on as Chief of SEAC.®

In the years following the 1978 renegotiation of the
SEAC-FSU cooperative agreement, neither the
Park Service nor the Anthropology Department
had succeeded in convincing the University Space
Committee to alleviate their mutual problem
despite much effort and their continued growth.
Still, in June of 1987, as they prepared to renew the
Montgomery Gym lease, both Chief Faust and
Chairman Paredes still held out long-term hope, in
Paredes’s words, that the university would relocate
their organizations to a new facility “that will make
for even greater accessibility between the Center
and the Department than currently exists.” Indeed,
as he argued to FSU Vice President Robert
Johnson, “We in the Anthropology Department
have found the present arrangement most accom-
modating and very conducive to meeting the
intellectual objectives which were the incentive for
relocation of the Center to Florida State Uni-
versity.”7 Paredes, of course, was counting on
obtaining more space in any relocation. Neither
SEAC nor the Anthropology Department had ever
been satisfied with the situation that resulted from
SEAC’s move to Tallahassee and the prolonged
failure to address the space problem.

The Regional Office supported SEAC’s effort to
find more accommodating arrangements because it
expected to have increased funds for future leasing
and because it was committed to housing SEAC in
Florida. The basic story seems to be this: In 1985, an
internal management review concluded that
moving SEAC to Atlanta was too costly. Mean-
while, the Montgomery Gym lease, while

inadequate operationally, was a bargain. Through
the NPS-FSU cooperative agreement, the
department also provided free of charge 4365
square feet in six rooms of Bellamy Hall that the
Park Service estimated in 1990 to be worth a
minimum of $40,000 in annual lease value. That
space also provided access to expensive archeo-
logical equipment owned by the university but
available freely to SEAC, including x-ray facilities
and thin sectioning equipment. Finally, the
department also made available another 1160
square feet in the Bellamy building at no cost to
NPS for lab and administrative use. The Park
Service understood that this arrangement benefited
the govemnmnt.9 Indeed, it is hard to imagine how
less expensive arrangements could have been made.
For political as well as cost reasons, southeastern
NPS archeology was seemingly entrenched in
Florida where the Service was motivated to solve
SEAC’s long-term housing needs. Fortunately, a
major 1985 Interior Department audit, and subse-
quent reports, pointing out failings in the
management of museum and archeological collec-
tions, eventually galvanized Congress to increase
funding for NPS archeological needs. By 1987,
there were strong indications that more federal
funding would soon be available to help improve
the management and storage conditions of SEAC’s
archeological collections. Moreover, further con-
gressional mandates enacted under NAGPRA also
increased NPS focus upon curatorial issues. Never-
theless, the Park Service was interested in
maintaining the cost-efficiencies represented in its
cooperative arrangements with Florida State Uni-
versity. As the Service prepared to spend more to
update SEAC’s housing arrangements, it had every
incentive to work with the university to do so on
campus. Past-practice had clearly advantaged the
government, and NPS officials had obvious reason
to expect similar future cost-efficiencies. Main-
taining SEAC on campus was the clear preference
of the Service.

Uldmately, however, the fundamental question of
the NPS-FSU relationship was whether or not the

6. Faust, Oral History Interview, 34-35. Faust was promoted from GM13 to GM 14 sometime between October 1988 and

April 1992

7. Richard D. Faust, Chief, Letter to Dr. Paredes, lune 23, 1987; and J. Anthony Paredes, Professor and Chairman, Letter to
Vice President Johnson, June 26, 1987, both in “AB015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992" folder (1), SEAC files.

8. See National Park Service, “Southeast Cultural Resource Preservation Center and Southeast Archeclogical Center
Consclidation: A Management Study” {Atlanta: Southeast Regional Office, 1985).

9. NPS, Letter to Chief, Space Mangement Divisian, GSA, March 1990, in “A8015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992"

folder (1), SEAC files.
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FIGURE 47. SEAC offices in the Montgomery Gymnasium on the FSU campus. Working conditions were cramped. NPS
photograph by Janice Burke, no date (early 1990s); SEAC files

university was able or willing to provide more
space. As SEAC’s FTE authorization had gradually
grown to meet compliance and park-related
research needs over the years, the cramped and dis-
jointed administrative environment in which staff
operated was impeding work. The 1988 lease-flap
had notified NPS officials that the cost of housing
SEAC on campus was going to rise, but no one
assumed that necessarily meant booting SEAC off
campus. On the other hand, SEAC’s on-campus
housing situation was becoming quite complex.

One new problem was that any new lease would
have to meet then current federal standards for
office space set by the General Services Adminis-
tration, a test the Montgomery Gymnasium
undoubtedly failed. Similarly, the laboratory and
collections storage space provided to SEAC
without charge from the Anthropology Department
was increasingly out of compliance with NPS cura-
torial standards, despite many improvements in

collections management made with the
department’s help. Bellamy Hall, for example, was
afflicted with an insect infestation in 1987 brought
on by other occupants of the building that SEAC
had no control over and whose activities were too
close to the collections.!” More fundamentally,
however, SEAC needed a considerable increase in
space (4,000 square feet) to meet congressional
concerns and an NPS directive to concentrate more
of its archeological collections at the center. As
Faust described the initiative to department Chair
Paredes: “it is intended to place the Service in a
position to accomplish curatorial “housekeeping”
at standard and to facilitate research and cataloging
activities undertaken by the Department and by
Center staff.”!! In essence, SEAC wanted to store
many more artifacts on campus after years of strug-
gling already with inadequate space needs. A final
problem related to the contracting relationship
between SEAC and the department. An important
reason for co-locating the organizations was so that

10. Richard D. Faust, Chief, SEAC, Letter to Dr. J. Anthony Paredes, Chairman, Department of Anthropology, April 10, 1987, in
“A8015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992" folder (1), SEAC files.
11. R.D.F, Letter to Tony [J. Anthony Paredes], January 24, 1989, in “A8015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992" folder

(1), SEAC files.
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they could share lab space and so the department
could curate SEAC’s collections, which through the
cooperative agreement were technically adminis-
tered under a non-leased arrangement. This
arrangement allowed the university to charge for
overhead, a major incentive for it to host SEAC on
campus.!? If the two organizations were not co-
located, this arrangement would not work.
Moreover, revised curatorial practices were
beginning to mandate federal control over museum
and archeological collections (deemed “personal
property,” or to meet NAGPRA requirements). By
the end of the 1980s, the bottom line was that the
Park Service was going to have to pay more to
house SEAC while the complexity of administering
the on-campus situation was creating tremendous
headaches.

Drespite complex and at times problematic NP5S-
FSU relations, the cooperative accord appeared to
offer the best bet for the least expensive
arrangement. In September 1988, Deputy Associate
Regional Director Paul Hartwig conferred with
Chief Faust. The Regional Office had agreed to ask
GSA to approach Florida State University with a
request to provide SEAC with approximately 2,000
square feet. However, in clear recognition of
SEAC’s increasingly uncomfartable on-campus sit-
uvation, Hartwig acknowledged a new NPS mindset
regarding the relationship with FSU: “If they are
unable to provide that space on campus, GSA will
be instructed to seek a suitable location off campus
far the entire SEAC operation. This will include
curatorial as well as the other SEAC administrative
functions, all functions will move to the new
building”1?

Planning for an increase in space became a project
that would consume much more of Chief Faust’s
time than expected, however. He characterized the
situation as “nightmare.” The Park Service, he
asserted, had difficulty working with GSA because

of its inability to provide sustained assistance. !4

Frustrated FSU officials also investigated slow
progress regarding the NPS proposal to acquire
more space after months of inaction in September
1989, and determined that the GSA official assigned
to help the Park Service acquire more space had a
“greater priority” on another project.15 Repeatedly,
after Faust began to work with GSA, the main
person handling the NPS proposal would leave the
position, forcing him to begin the process anew.
Finally, GSA assigned Susan Alexander, a GSA
Realty Specialist, to work with the Park Service to
obtain the necessary space for SEAC, She made a
concerted effort to help SEAC through the process
of obtaining more appropriate facilities. She also
seemed to understand the goal of allowing the
Service to maintain important linkages to the uni-
versity, which was often difficult because of GSA
contracting rules,!®

Initially, NPS and FSU officials discussed re-
locating both the center and the department to a
new “science building” then under construction on
campus. After GSA submitted the NPS space
increase proposal, the university did commit to
moving the Anthropology Department from
Bellamy Hall. However, whether by design or hap-
penstance, this decision would also eliminate
SEAC’s non-leased space, perhaps the only way for
the university to address the department’s long-
standing plea for its own expansion. The decision
had two effects: it ensured an increased cost to
relocate SEAC and it greatly reduced the purpose
for SEAC to be located on campus. Regardless, in
April 1989, Florida State formally notified GSA that
it could not supply the space requested by the Park
Service an campus because it did not have adequate
facilities at the time to house SEAC’s expansion.
The Park Service had no alternative but to consider
off-campus housing for SEAC, at least as an interim

measure.l 7

12. ). A. Paredes, Letter to Bruce Bickley, Associate Dean, October 24, 1988, in AB015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992"

folder (1), SEAC files.

13. Deputy Associate Regional Director, Cultural Resources, to Chief, Southeast Archeological Center, September 19, 1988, in
“AB015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1892" folder {1), SEAC files.

14, Faust, Oral History Interview, 34-35.

15. Russell P. Kropp, Memorandum to Dr. Anthony Paredes, September 26, 1989, in” A8015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-

1992~ folder (1), SEAC files,
16. Faust, Oral History Interview, 35-36.

17. A. Fred Creighton Ir, Chief [GSA], Letter to Frank Catroppa, Associate Regicnal Director, April 19, 1989; Frank Catroppa,
Associate Regional Director, Letter to A. Fred Creighton Ir., Chief [GSA], [December 13, 19897]; and I. A. Paredes, Letter to
‘Bruce Bickley, Associate Dean, October 24, 1988; both in "A8015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992~ folder (1), 5EAC

files.
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SEAC investigated the use of surplus space already
controlled by GSA in the City Center Building in
downtown Tallahassee. Its sole virtue was imme-
diate availability. Allen Bohnert and Robert Wilson
inspected the site in November 1990. This option,
however, would have resulted in even further
splitting the number of SEAC work sites, compli-
cating management. In rejecting the City Center
site, Chief Faust complained to the Regional Office
that the options presented by GSA would not
accommodate SEAC’s twenty-four FTEs, positions
required to run the region’s archeological man-
agement program. Moreover, SEAC’s collections
were still stored in half the space needed and under
the authority of FSU. “If space problems are not
resolved in a timely manner,” he reported to the
regional office on November 28, 1990, “the Center
will be unable to meet its FY91 goals related to
completing the laboratory phases for field investi-
gations, participate fully in the congressionally
mandated backlog cataloging program, or comply
with standards for the cultural sites inventory and
for curation operations.”18

As SEAC considered near-term solutions for its
space needs, the University of South Florida (USF)
made an unexpected proposal to the National Park
Service. USF had learned about SEAC’s housing sit-
uation. It was interested in hosting the center itself,
On February 20, 1991, Chief Faust responded on
behalf of the regional office to inguiries made by
Roger T. Grange, Chairman of USF’s Department
of Anthropology. Faust detailed SEAC’s space
needs and began a dialogue with Grange, who pro-
vided details on USF’s University Tech Center,
which he said, could adequately house SEAC’s
needs on its Tampa, Florida, campus.!® The Park
Service did not seriously consider USF’s offer,
unlike an offer made by the Florida State Museum
several years before. Years of cohabitation with one
anthropology department and a dawning recog-
nition that many benefits of the NPS-FSU
cooperative agreement could be maintained by

housing SEAC in proximity to the FSU campus, if
not on it, perhaps deterred further interest.

After evaluating the City Center site, the Park
Service made a key decision - it decided tc move all
center operations off campus. Chief Faust
explained the move to department Chair Grindal in
July as an interim solution because “we are in des-
perate need of additional space now.” Faust laid out
SEAC’s projected long-term space requirements
and estimated that SEAC would need nearly 15,({)
square feet within ten years. He expressed hope to
Grindal that “our long term needs {year 2000}
hopefully can be met by space in the yet to be con-
structed Biology Unit 2 building” on the FSU
campus. In turn, Grindal proposed a similar short/
long term plan to the university. Whatever SEAC
did in the near term, he argued to FSU officials that
“the ideal future site for Anthropology and the con-
solidated operations of the Southeast Archeological
Center would be in the planned Biology Unit [T
Building.”2?

On August 11, 1991, Susan Alexander posted an
advertisement in the Tallahassee Democrat solic-
iting private bids for the lease of approximately 10,
500 square feet within an area whose boundaries
were determined by proximity to Florida State Uni-
versity.21 From then on, as Faust recounted, “the
problem was just finally getting something that was
decent. We'd get started, and we’d look at all kinds
of structures and be shown old grocery stores, and
we constructed a fairly strict criteria of what was
acceptable, from a security standpoint and
others.”?? These criteria had to be strict to allow
SEAC to implement required changes in curatorial
practice, as discuss above, relating to the Auditor
General’s “material deficiency” findings regarding
NPS museum and archeological collections man-
agement. SEAC’s new curator, Allen Bohnert,
assisted in the design of the new facility by
acquiring specifications for curatorial spaces that
helped make planning decisions regarding the func-

18. Chief, Southeast Archeological Center, Memorandum to Associate Regional Director, Administration, SERO, November
28, 1990; and Chief, Database Branch, SEAC, Memorandum to Chief, Southeast Archeclogical Center, November 6, 1990;
both in “AB015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992" folder (1), SEAC files.

19. Richard D. Faust, Chief, Letter to Dr. Roger T. Grange, Chairman, Dept. of Anthropaclogy [USF], February 20, 1991; and
Roger T Grange Ir., Professor and Chair, Letters to Richard D. Faust, Chief, March 22 and May 2, 1991; all in "ABO15: Space

for Administrative Use, Pre-1992~ folder {3), SEAC files.

20. Richard D. Faust, Chief, Letter to Dr. Bruce Grindal, Chair, July 1, 1291; and Bruce Grindal, Chair, Memorandum to
Lawrence G. Abele, Dean, College of Arts and Sciences, et al, July 2, 1991; both in “AB(15: Space for Administrative Use,

Pre-1992" folder (1), SEAC files.

21. “U.S. Government Wants to Lease Space in Tallahassee, Florida,” Taflahassee Demaocrat, August 11, 1991, 12F.

22. Faust, Oral History Interview, 67-68.
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| U.S. GOVERNMENT -
WANTS TO LEASE SPACE IN -
" TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

AMOUNT: Approximately 10,500 net usable square
feet of office, storage and special use space.
Bounded on the East by Monroe, North by

. Pullen Drive, West by Capital Circle, South by
Jackson BIuff and Gaines Strests. - - -

All services, supplies, ufilities, partitidning and

LOCATION:

REQUIRED:

required tenant atterations are Io be provided

~ -as part of the rental consideration. .
- Space is required by June 1, 1892, Lease

term will be for 10 years, with the L

TERM:

Government having canceliation privileges
- - after § years, '
OWNERS Ta submit a location for inspection, pleasé ) o
& AGENTS!- .. contac! the following office by August 19, 1991

GENERAL SERVICES ADMINISTRATION
, REAL ESTATE DIVISION, 4PEB-H-Ill . -
- 401 W. PEACHTREE STREET, STE.2500
ATLANTA GEORGIA, 30363-25350
" ATTENTION: SUSAN ALEXANDER

. (404) 331.7757

FIGURE 48. General Services Administration advertisement for
bids to provide leased space for SEAC. Ad appeared in the
Tallahassee Democrat on Sunday, August 11, 1997

tional relationships of spaces, and issues related to
the environment, security, and fire protection.?

In April 1992, GSA notified the Park Service that it
had received a number of potential offers and had
conducted initial market surveys to evaluate costs
in Tallahassee for new construction or existing
space of 10,455 net usable square feet. Based upon
the surveys and rates quoted by potential lessors,
GSA had determined the likely cost of annual rent
to house SEAC to be approximately $147,000.00.
This was a considerable leap from the per annum
cost of $3,298.00 to house SEAC on the FSU campus
(plus overhead relating to the collections).?* Rela-
tively speaking, the government would go from

paying $4.25 to $14.00 per square foot.2? Of course,
the Park Service had negotiated that good rate in
1974. SEAC had also never obtained satisfactory
housing arrangements on campus. By these stan-
dards, the large increase in annual rent, though
considerable, was long overdue. Apparently, for
reasons relating to vague concerns over the 1992
presidential race and a change of administration,
GSA delayed action until April 1993, It then notified
the Park Service that it was prepared to move
forward with a formal solicitation for offers to
provide SEAC 11,431 net usable square feet, the
amount having been revised upward during the
year. GSA estimated that up to 300 days would be
required to complete the process “if we receive all
requested information in a timely manner, and
maintain a high level of coordination.”?® It was an
optimistic assessment for GSA did not issue the
solicitiation until November.

By early 1994, the Park Service had considered
several proposals submitted to GSA for various
properties. It made a final decision to work in con-
junction with Florida State University to construct
anew facility in a residential industrial park located
nearby but off campus just south of downtown Tal-
lahassee. It was, in fact, a facility in the same
complex that SEAC had rejected a decade earlier
precisely because it was an off-campus site - Inno-
vation Park. Now, however, with funding available
and acute space needs impossible to meetin a
timely fashion on campus, the FSU-affliated
research park seemed an ideal selection. Tenants in
the park were required to meet certain specifica-
tions, including engagement in research, education,
testing, analysis, design, prototype development, or
pilot scale manufacturing. Park authorities
expected its tenants to be involved in basic
research, technology development, consulting,
training, or governmental liaisons. They also had to
have logical ties to the programs of nearby FSU or
Florida A&M University.” While the park was
planned primarily for businesses interested in

23. Allen Bohnert, Museum Curator, Letter to Richard Napoli, Chief, Executive Warehouse Divison [NPS], January 31, 1991, in
*ABQ15: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992" folder (1), SEAC files.
24. By 1994, space needs were 50 acute that 1080 square feet of self-storage space was being remted for equipment storage

at an additional per annum rate of $4,892.00.

25. William F. Norman, $Section Chief, Space Management and Acquisition [GSA], Letter to Mr. Larry Downing, Chief,
Contracting & Property [NPS], April 10, 1992, in “A8015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992" folder (1), SEAC files.

26. William F. Norman, $ection Chief, Space Management and Acquisition [G5A], Letter to Mr. Frank A. Catroppa, Associate
Regional Director, Administration [NPS], April 1, 1993, in “AB015: Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992" folder (1), SEAC

filas.

27. "General Criteria for Tenancy at Innovation Park,” brochure on Innovation Park, ca. 1992, in “AB015: Space for

Administrative Use, Pre-1992* folder (3), SEAC files.
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working in close to Tallahassee’s two major univer-
sities, SEAC easily met this criterion.

The designated NPS facility within Innovation Park
also easily met many of SEAC’s own most
important criteria. These included a sufficient
amount of single occupancy space, needed for
enhanced security of the center’s records on sen-
sitive archeological site location data (legally
protected from disclosure) and for the security and
preservation requirements of the collections them-
selves; first floor contiguous space for efficient
handling and load-bearing requirements; and a
loading dock sufficient to handle the occasional
thousand-pound cannon tube.?® The building,
under construction, was secheduled to be com-
pleted in 1995. The Park Service agreed to occupy
the facility for five years, given initial long-range
plans of returning to shared accommodations with
the Department of Anthropology. At some point
after SEAC moved to Innovation Park, however,
those plans quietly died. With the department’s
drift away from public archeology and SEAC’s
acute space needs finally met in a consclidated
location, the benefits of co-location failed to
balance against the required effort and cost for yet
another move. Once adequately housed, the expec-
tation soon became that NPS tenancy was
permanent. Thus, the Service signed a thirty-year
lease, automatically renewed every ten years unless
SEAC chose to move.

Florida State University was satisfied with the
federal lease payments for SEAC's occupancy at the
Innovation Park site, which served as a payback for
its construction cost. The Park Service was also
pleased because its new building was designed with
the center’s needs in mind. Builders laid out the
facility’s offices and square footage according to
specific GSA formulae for how much space needed
to be allotted for various positions, grades, and
functions, as well as for SEAC’s special archeo-
logical activities. Meanwhile, while SEAC was no
longer co-located with the Anthropology
Department, nothing prevented the parties from
continuing to pursue mutually beneficial cooper-

ative activities. The cooperative agreement was still
in effect.

It had taken over twenty years, but the Park Service
was finally able to place SEAC and its archeological
collections in their first fully suitable quarters.
Archeologists had struggled with this basic problem
since the work-relief projects of the 1930s. While
there was space to house the collections at
Ocmulgee National Monument, they were poorly
curated there. After John Griffin engineered the
move to the FSU campus, curatorial contracts
greatly improved collections care, but from
inception there was insufficient space available on
campus to base an effective NPS archeological
operation, which because of increasing legal and
administrative mandates, was a problem that grad-
ually grew worst until it became acute. While many
NPS archeologists lamented the loss of daily
contact with FSU faculty and students, the move
was not of primary importance in hiring students,
who have continued to work at SEAC, or in the
drifting relations between the center and Anthro-
pology Department. Most SEAC archeologists
appreciated how important it was to secure suitable
accommodations for the center. In the end, it can
be said that the critical issue of how and where to
house NPS southeastern archeological collections
and operations was finally and effectively solved
under the administration of Chief Faust. Once the
design phase of the process was well underway, and
there was a clear agreement between GSA and the
Park Service, Faust finally decided “happy day,”
and putin for retirement, effective April 30, 1994.%9
In fact, he had another incentive, a federal buy-out
offer made as the result of yet another major Park
Service reorganization.

A Further Realignment

One argument the General Services Administration
had used to justify delays in its process to rehouse
SEAC was uncertainty in federal policy regarding
the change over of presidential administrations. In
the 1992 election, presidential candidate Bill
Clinton defeated sitting President George Bush.
Clinton’s running mate, Albert Gore, was a pro-

28. Chief, SEAC, Memorandum to Deputy Associate Regional Director, Cultural Resources, SERQ, January 24, 1992, in “AB015:
Space for Administrative Use, Pre-1992" folder (1), SEAC files.

29. Faust, Oral History Interview, 36. After John Ehrenhard assumed responsibility for SEAC, GSA Realty Specialist Susan
Alexander transferred. Center frustration with the GSA process then renewed. Nevertheless, GSA, the Park Service, and
the university appear to have resolved the main relocation issues around the time of Faust’s retirement or soon

thereafter.
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FIGURE 49. A sad dutr faced many SEAC staff and friends in the fall of 1993 when the center’s first chief passed away. Recently
k

retired, John W. Wa

er and wife Jenny attend the memorial Service for John W. Griffin at his home in St. Augustine, Florida,

on September 11, 1993. Photo by Patricia C. Griffin and used by permission

ponent of reducing the size of the federal
government, including the Park Service. Thus, in
1993, NPS managers faced the prospect of yet
another major reorganization. This management
shake-up was reminiscent of earlier administrative
upheavals, especially the 1983 “realignment,”
though it was more extensive, and some might
argue disruptive. Likewise, it had some similarity to
the NPS reorganization that followed passage of the
National Historic Preservation Act and the creation
of the Office of Archeology and Historic Preser-
vation. President Clinton initiated the
reorganization by direct orders to the National
Park Service, then under the administration of
Roger Kennedy. The reorganization was an element
of Vice-president Gore’s National Performance
Review (later called the National Partnership for
Reinventing Government) and it was billed as a
program to decrease costs and increase federal gov-
ernment efficiency. In effect, however, the effort
boiled down to a strong thrust to push staff
expertise to the field and to -reduce FTEs by up to

25 percent. Tom Collier, Chief of Staff for the Sec-
retary of Interior, assured Director Kennedy that a
persuasive reorganization plan that improved effi-
ciency would prevent major staff cuts. According to
Kennedy, NPS effectiveness during the reorgani-
zation even led to some FTE gains for the Park
Service as cuts were made in other agencies.w
Senior Department of Interior officials attempted
to assure a nervous agency that no absolute cuts
were to be imposed, that resource protection was to
benefit, and that while decentralization was
expected some offices or programs would with-
stand decentralization and even grow. The
announced goal was “not FTE reductions,” but

to reposition the National Park Service for
the challenges of the 1990’s and beyond by
making it (a) a more efficient organization,
(b) focused on the increasing demands of
ecosystem management, cultural context,
and partnership-building, with (c) resources
and authority placed in locations near the
places where services are most effectively
and efficiently delivered.’!

30. Kennedy, Oral History Interview by Janet A. McDonnell, 30-31.
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Having undertaken major reorganizations before as
head of the Ford Foundation and the Smithsonian’s
Museum of American History, Kennedy objected
to “the lazy man’s way™ of reorganizing or simply
trimming leaves from the stem, as he described it,
which amounted to shrinking everything by some
percentage. Instead, he sought a more purposeful
reformation. His aim was to increase the ability of
the Park Service to be more resilient so that it could
survive as an entity in a changing world. He saw the
Park Service as a system with parks not like zoos or
isolated enclaves, but as parts of regions and com-
munities. Thus, he emphasized increased
professionalism, outreach, and integration of parks
in their communities as places where people came
not only for recreation but to learn. In fact,
Kennedy’s two fundamental tenets were simply his
belief “in the Park System as a functioning part of
society that has a redemptive role in that society,”
and his conviction in “the Service as a group of pro-
fessionals.” His credo was

that resource protection begins with visitor
services and work outside the park. You
can’t protect the place if nobody cares about
your protecting it. And in order to get people
to care about your protecting it, you really
have to go and participate in the larger com-
munity. That’s what you ought to do anyway
because the function of the parks is to teach
the population how te live in nature and with
history. That’s what the parks are for, not to
be primitive isolates or funeral monuments.’?

It is tempting to suggest that this management phi-
losophy helps explain how and why SEAC survived
the impending reorganization intact and, unlike the
1983 realignment, actually prospered from it,
However, a succession of official memorandums
consistently report that FTE reduction was a major,
if not the major, driving force behind the reorgani-
zation as it was actually implemented.

It is beyond the scope of this history to judge the
overall results of the NPS reorganization under
Director Kennedy. He had detractors from the
start. As with most major institutional reorganiza-
tions, there were accomplishments as well as
disappointments, some innovation as well as con-
fusion. While some emerged better off, many
organizations were substantially “reengineered”
and some NPS employees experienced involuntary
job loss or re-assignment. Others took the oppor-
tunity, as Chief Faust did, to avoid the exercise
entirely by retiring, perhaps prematurely. As Chief
Faust recalled, he had been around the reorgani-
zation rosebush several times over the years and
had a foot-thick file of paperwork related to various
iterations of the exercise.* Kennedy himself criti-
cized the buy-out program under which Faust
retired for encouraging good people to leave, but he
had little say in the matter. Congress authorized the
buy-out in March 1994 and it was implemented at
the department level soon thereafter 34

The overarching theme that emerged from the
1990s shake-up was an effort to organize parks into
clusters according to geographical proximity and/
or ecological region, a notion that sought to
redefine park, support, and regional office lines of
authotity and communication in league with
Kennedy’s credo to bring park managers closer to
their constituents and therefore “an affirming
direction.” As Kennedy said, “the interaction is
more intense on the ground than it is in a regjonal
office.”3? Whatever the impact on the system as a
whole, Kennedy’s reorganization occasioned a re-
evaluation of the role of cultural resource man-
agement within the Park Service, including
archeclogy, which, however, was primed for such a
review.

Indeed, in 1992, a year before Kennedy joined the
Park Service, NPS managers attending a regional
directors’ meeting had already raised questions
about the organization, operations, and especially

31. George T. Frampton Jr., Assistant Secretary for Fish and Wildlife and Parks, and Roger G. Kennedy, Director, National Park
Service, Memorandum to All National Park Service Employees, March 8, 1994, in "Archeological Centers-Streamlining
1994* folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeology and Ethnography Pregram, National Center for Cultural Resources,

Washington, DC.

32. Kennedy, Oral History Interview by Janet A. McDonnell, 33.

33. Faust, Oral History Interview, 31,

34. Kennedy, Oral History Interview by Janet A, McDonnell, 32-33; Memorandum to all employees, Rocky Mountain Region
and Denwver Service Center, from Deputy Associate Regional Director, Administration, Rocky Mountain Region and Denver
Service Center, March 25, 1994, in ”Archeological Centers-Streamlining 1994 folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeology and
Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC.

35. Kennedy, Oral History Interview by Janet A. McDonnell, 32.
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the funding of the archeological centers. Several
regional directors sought a study to resolve their
concerns. Associate Director for Cultural
Resources Jerry Rogers noted that the Park Service
had already studied the centers, especially during
the 1983 realignment. He attempted to restrain this
compulsion. Conceding the point, however, he
objected to any “prolonged study” and recom-
mended a “task force approach.” If there was to be
a new study, it should be based upon regional rec-
ommendations and not those of “WASQ,”3®

Whatever the regional directors’ concerns, NPS
archeologists were themselves hoping the new
Clinton Administration would dole out more funds
for archeology. Under the administrations of Pres-
ident’s Ronald Reagan and George H. W. Bush,
NPS archeology had sustained fifteen years of
annual budget/staff reductions. As Calvin Cum-
mings noted “the cumulative result of these
constant reductions is an existing Minimal Program
which [sic] already fails to meet legal and regulatory
mandates and which cannot maintain an appro-
priate level of Professionalism.”*? In December
1993, the new Director attended a meeting in
Denver and made a request to the archeologists for
their ideas about the future of archeology in the
National Park Service. They responded enthusiasti-
cally with a memorandum that provided an
authoritative statement on the status of NPS arche-
ology at the beginning of 1994. The national park
systern had grown from 287 parks covering thirty
one million acres in 1975 to 367 parks with over
eighty million acres in 1993, This rapidly increased
park acreage had changed the focus of NPS arche-
ology to concentrate on limited area surveys and
site-specific compliance needed to accommodate
legal mandates. Driven largely by funding for devei-
opment projects, this program had failed to
produce sufficient synthetic research for educa-

tional or scientific purposes, essential requirements
for maintaining a credible research program. As a
result, the memorandum concluded, “the NPS is
losing rapidly its scientific leadership and its profes-
sional credibi]ity.”38

To address these failings, NPS archeologists made
several recommendations to Director Kennedy,
including:

m Increase both base and project funding for the
Systemwide Archeological Inventory Program
“to effective levels” to enable a credible
research program.

®m DProvide strong management suppert at all
levels for NPS archeologists to participate in
various professional activities, such as
presenting papers, serving as officers in
professional societies, or on committees that
promote park archeology.

m  Provide strong management support for NP§
archeologists to prepare and publish the results
of NPS archeological research in professional
publications,

® Encourage the development of links between
NPS archeologists and interpreters and
between archeologists and rangers, especially
law enforcement.>”

Only one SEAC archeologist, David Brewer,
attended this meeting, probably because Chief
Faust was wrapping up SEAC’s plans to move to
Innovation Park and preparing to retire. However,
SEAC embraced these recommendations.
Moreover, if the ultimate outcome is any indi-
cation, these concerns were also taken seriously by
Southeast Regional managers. Most importantly,

36. Michelle Aubry (7], CR Staff Meeting Notes, July 14, 1992, in "Archeology Centers - Administrative History &
Reorganizations,” Michelle Aubry files, Archeology and Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural Resources,
Washington, DC; Regarding funding, Roland Bowers, Deputy Associate Director for Cultural Resources, noted that the
NPS archealogical centers were ranked third in NPS budget determinations behind regions and parks.

37. Cal Cummings, Memorandum to Dan Lenihan, March 18, 1996, in “Archeology Centers: Admin. History and
Reorganizations folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeology and Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural
Resources, Washington, DC; Cummings remarks were delivered originally at a meeting in Denver to discuss the future of

the NPS archeological centers on March 28, 1993.

38. NPS Archeologists in Attendance at the December 14-15 1993 Meeting in Denver, Memorandum to the Director, January
13, 1994, in "Archeological Centers-Streamlining 1994" folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeology and Ethnography
Program, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC,

39. NPS Archeologists in Attendance at the December 14-15 1993 Meeting in Denver, Memorandum to the Director, January
13, 1994, in "Archeclogical Centers-Streamlining 1994 folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeology and Ethnography
Program, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC.
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FIGURE 50. Florida Archeology Week event sponsored by SEAC. NPS archeologists wrote Director Roger Kennedy in 1994 with
concerns that too much park archeology was driven by development funding and had failed to produce research needed for
educational or scientific purposes. NPS photograph, no date; SEAC files

former Southeast Regional Director Robert Baker
was asked by James Coleman, who had just arrived
as the new Southeast Regional Director and who
was helping coordinate planning efforts for the
reorganization, to evaluate “how the ‘archeological
centers’ might be restructured and reduced to
support our overall FTE goals.”*’ Baker may have
been tapped for this task because of his long tenure
as Southeast Regional Director or because of his
previous efforts to reorganize Southeast Region
cultural resources, namely his push to merge SEAC
with the SECRPC in the mid-1980s. Incidentally,
Baker was soon able to return to Atlanta to resume
his former post as Southeast Regional Director after
Coleman retired in 1994. Before his own retirement
in the summer of 1996, Baker attempted to
implement Kennedy’s reorganization plans in the
Southeast Region.

In the meantime, Baker sounded out the NPS
archeological community. Working with NPS
center chiefs, regional archeologists, and others,

Baker solicited archeological reorganization pro-
posals and received three distinct designs prior to a
meeting scheduled in March. These proposals came
from the Southeast Region (Associate Regional
Director, Paul Hartwig), the Midwest Region
(Douglas Scott, Thomas Thiessen, and F.A. Cala-
brese), and the Pacific Northwest Region
(Stephanie Toothman, Chief, Cultural Resources
Division, and Jim Thomson, Chief Archeologist).

Hartwig proposed to consolidate cultural resource
functions in three or more centers in Massachu-
setts, Georgia, and California. The proposal greatly
reduced the size of regional office staff and claimed
to reduce FTEs and costs. It acknowledged the
virtue of organizing cultural resource centers along
ecological lines, but claimed that there were far too
few FTEs in the Park Service to accommodate all of
the “ecosystem management zones” wanted by
Director Kennedy. That was probably true.
Grouping cultural professions into three broad
regions would at least provide some cultural affinity

40. Bob Baker, Memorandum to Kate Stevenson, March 8, 1994, in “Archeological Centers-Streamlining 1994” folder,
Michele Aubry files, Archeology and Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC.
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for professionals while creating an interdisciplinary
environment, especially since Hartwig proposed to
take in the external and contracting functions. In
this scheme, the North Atlantic Preservation
Center, for example, would serve as the core for the
Northeast area while the various cultural resource
divisions of the Southeast Regional Office,
including SEAC in Tallahassee, could be merged in
Atlanta and used to support a wider region covering
“the Old South.” Regarding the Southeast Region
specifically, Hartwig’s proposal probably made
some sense given its similarity to Baker’s old pro-
posal to merge SEAC with the SECRPC in Atlanta a
decade before. There were three essential problems
with the proposal, however. First, a problem that
plagues many reorganizations is the absence of suf-
ficient funding to carry out the plan’s details.
Hartwig’s proposal entailed the already known high
cost of moving SEAC to Atlanta, a considerable
drawback despite any long-term sayings from FTE
reductions. It also said nothing about cultural pro-
fessionals in the Midwest Region, who presumably
were also to move to Atlanta. Second, the centers
were to be multi-regional and would therefore have
to report to Washington to avoid the recurrent
complications that result from sharing resources
between regions when the authority for the
resource is controlled by one regional director and
not another. Baker may have liked this plan, but the
proposal likely met resistance from other regional
directors. Finally, Hartwig's proposal undercut
Kennedy’s concurrent aim for reorganizing -
increasing professionalism in the Service. If the
Park Service moved SEAC to Atlanta, the SEAC-
FSU relationship would be entirely scrapped. And,
of course, the proposal went against the separatist

tradition in attempting to merge archeology with
other resource professions.

The Southeast Region’s proposal had failings, but
so did the proposal offered by the Pacific
Northwest Region, whose chief virtue was to point
out shortcomings in the SER proposal. The Pacific
Northwest Region objected to the “mega” service
centers-idea because it did not “represent logical
research and resource management units in terms
of cultural, natural and political ties,” and because
the costs of travel from San Francisco to the Pacific
Northwest, for example, would exceed any benefits
in savings in reduced overhead by eliminating the
park-focused program in Seattle. The Pacific
Northwest instead recommended utilizing the
existing groups, whether in regional offices or
centers, to build out a network of smaller satellite
service offices scaled to the needs of local parks.
The proposal failed to articulate this model,
however, or to explain the funding aspects for the
smaller offices. 1t also did not clarify the reporting
relationships.*?

The final proposal, from the Midwest Region,
offered the clearest strategy for reorganization.
Apparently, it or its authors’ views informed the
Director’s decision to issue a draft Task Directive
directing a formal study to reorganize NPS arche-
ology.*3 This directive took as a given that “there
already is a consensus that centers offer a nexus of
support to accomplish archeological research.”
Instead of focusing upon reorganizing the centers,
it sought to focus upon the archeological program
functions of the Washington office and how those
could be better organized.** The Midwest plan
included precise FTE reduction projections and

Paul B. Hartwig, A Proposal for Specialized Resource Centers for Cultural Resources Management, February 28, 1994, in
“Archeological Centers-Streamlining 1994" folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeology and Ethnography Program, National

Chief Cultural Resources Division and Regional Archeologist Pacific Northwest Region, Memorandum to Regional
Directors of Pacific Northwest and Rocky Mountain Regions, March 6, 1994, in “Archealogical Centers-Streamlining 1994
folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeology and Ethnography Pregram, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington,

National Park Service Director, Task Directive, [Late September], 1994, in "Archeological Centers-Streamlining 1994

folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeclogy and Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington,
DC; WASO Aide-de-Camp, e-mail to Jerry Rogers, September 27, 1994, in " Archeological Centers-Streamlining 1994

folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeslogy and Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington,
DC; Jerry Rogers, e-mail message attached to WASO Aide-de-camp e-mail dated September 27, 1994 forwarded to Roland
Bowers, Francis P. MaManamon, and Douglas Scovill, September 30, 1994, in "Archeological Centers - Streamlining 1994
folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeclogy and Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington,

41,
Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC,
42.
DC.
43.
DC.
a4,

Director National Park Service, Task Directive [draft]: Field Review of WASO Anthropology and Archeology, September,
1994, in " Archeological Centers - Streamlining 1994 folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeology and Ethnography Program,
National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC.
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cost savings. More importantly, however, it
adopted several ideas from the 1987 Organizational
Structure Task Force that comprehensively
reviewed the role and functions of NPS structures.
The Midwest Region thus offered up the archeo-
logical center as a model. Quoting from the task
force report, the authors noted that the “centers are
a viable and efficient way to accomplish the
Service’s archeological programs, and recom-
mended continuance of the existing centers plus
the establishment of two additional ones for
Regions not served by archeological centers.” Of
critical importance, the Midwest Region pointed
out an essential virtue of how the centers function
effectively within the NPS institutional envi-
ronment; that is, they report to officials who are
“hierarchically above park superintendents.” When
combined with the “pool” or center concept, the
Service had provided its archeologists not only
opportunities for professional collaboration and
economies of scale, but it allowed them to achieve
“a strong voice in advocating the interest of its
archeological resources.” The Midwest proposal
then offered several recommendations formerly
made by the 1987 task force. For example, the Park
Service should establish a center to serve the needs
of all parks in the northeastern United States. It
should also combine the archeological functions of
the Western and Southwestern centers while
devoting the Western Archeological and Conser-
vation Center responsibilities primarily to curation.
Finally, it argued that both the Midwest and
Southeast Archeological Centers should extend
their current capabilities across a greater number of
states.*?

Regarding SEAC specifically, the Midwest Region
recommended adding the state of Louisiana to
SEAC/Southeast Region’s portfolio, continuing to
use SEAC as a curation facility, and retaining the
SER Regional Archeologist at SEAC but separating

the research responsibility function from the
center’s chief function to clarify the reporting rela-
tionships. Curiously, one additional proposal was
also made - to “move underwater archeological
research team to SEAC to provide more logical and
economical location for activities.” ¢ What is
striking about this proposal, in the context of the
struggle over underwater archeology between the
Southwest and Southeast Regions, is that it came
from archeologists in the Midwest Region who pre-
sumably had no vested interest in assigning SCRU
to one place or the other. This proposal was taken
seriously. At some point, Chief Anthropologist
Douglas H. Scovill discussed the idea of moving
SCRU to SEAC with center Chief Faust, apparently
just before he retired. Faust turned away the sug-
gestion. He found the offer to acquire SCRU from
Santa Fe one of the “ironies” of the reorganization,
but his response to Scovill was basically “not inter-
ested.” Later, he recounted his reasoning: SCRU
“looks like it’s doing a good job from there.”

The Midwest approach for archeological reorgani-
zation was progressive, informed by the findings of
older reorganization studies, and made a concerted
effort both to defend archeological interests within
the Park Service and to promote them. However,
Associate Director Jerry Rogers tabled the Task
Directive by advising Director Kennedy that its
approach competed with an existing review of the
Archeological External Assistance and National
Register Programs. Moreover, the Restructuring
Plan called for a working group to study the cultural
resource centers, which was to cover all cultural
resource professions, and several regional directors
had already issued a memorandum volunteering to
take charge of a re-evaluation of the cultural
resource centers, presumably to ensure their say in
how these were restructured.*® Basically, Rogers
sided with the regional directors who sought to
study archeology in the overall context of reorga-

45, Midwest Region Acting Regional Director, Memorandum to the Regional Director, Western Region, February 18, 1994, in
“archeological Centers - Streamlining 13947 folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeology and Ethnography Program, National
Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC. While the virtue of the center concept is that it allows archeologists to
exercise their expertise independently from park management, MWAC's manager has reported, since the 1970s, directly
to the Midwest Regional Director, like park superintendents, while SEAC has generally reported to an assistant or

associate regional director.

46. Midwest Region Acting Regional Director, Memorandum to the Regional Director, Western Regicn, February 18, 1994, in
"Archeological Centers - Streamlining 1994" folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeclogy and Ethnography Program, National

Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC.
47. Faust, Oral History Interview, 27.

48, Associate Director Cultural Resources, Memorandum to the Director, October 7, 1994, in “Archeclogical Centers -
Streamlining 1994” folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeology and Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural

Resources, Washington, DC.
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nizing NPS cultural resource centers. The Midwest
Region had made a strong separatist push on behalf
of archeology, but was turned aside. Nevertheless,
several of its proposals eventually filtered through
the reorganization process, including the incorpo-
ration of Louisiana parks into the Southeast
Region.

In the meantime, Rocky Mountian Regional
Director Baker reviewed the various archeological
reform proposais and organized a meeting with
NPS archeologists in early March 1994. Afterwards,
he drafted a report for Washington that raised
serious concerns about the restructuring’s impact
upon NPS archeology. One concern of the NPS
archeological community was outsourcing. Most
agreed that some archeology could be effectively
conducted using contracts and/or cooperative
agreements with academic organizations and
museums. The Park Service, after all, had been
doing such cooperative work for decades. For small
projects, however, it was deemed more expensive
to administer them than to do them in-house, a
requirement that mandated a minimum capability.
Another related concern was the need to maintain
highly graded archeologists to ensure qualified
oversight of contract activity. Moreover, Baker
reported that with outsourcing “there will be a
reduction in ability to utilize archeological vol-
unteer and avocational Archeological Societies”
because contractors would not be able to use these
resources for insurance and cost reasons and
because students would be less willing to donate
their time to private companies. Finally, Baker dis-
cussed the proposed ecologically oriented
administrative boundary adjustments. These, he
wrote, might promote more efficient center arche-
ology, but “it was opinioned that traditional
territorial issues focusing on regional and park
boundaries [wouid] continue to be a barrier.” %’
Many of Baker’s concerns relating to contracting

would be revisited during the outsourcing initiative
of the George W. Bush Administration.

If the streamlining and FTE reduction took place as
outlined in the planning stage, Baker predicted a
general slowdown “in compliance, research,
NAGPRA support, and technical assistance to
parks.” This slowdown would have the effect of
forcing the Denver Service Center and parks to plan
further ahead for their needs. Baker’s “ultimate
concern was the potential diminishment of the
Service’s stature and leadership role in archeology
and historic preservation” if the restructuring failed
to account for recent strides made to improve the
management of NPS archeological resources. For
example, the Park Service had recently committed
itself to the Systemwide Archeological Inventory
Program and the Professionalization Program
adopted to help address the “material weakness”
determinations of various management control
reviews.

In organizing an NPS conference to address
streamlining and FTE reductions in NPS arche-
ology, Baker had warned the participants to “be
prepared to identify the most essential functions -
the most important things the program does for the
parks - and make some well-thought-out, if dif-
ficult, decisions.”>! With a 25 percent FTE
reduction imposed as planned, the overall NPS
“actual archeological FTE” of 151.4 was to be
reduced to 114.96. Of this percentage, SEAC faced a
staff loss of 7.35 FTEs from its 1994 Fiscal Year FTE
ceiling of 31.65.°2 Undoubtedly, this prospect was
not quite the outcome hoped for by the archeolo-
gists who had attended the December 1993 meeting
with Director Kennedy.

Another issue that undermined both archeological
and regional support for Kennedy’s 1994 “Restruc-
turing Plan” was its stated goal to create a “National
Program Center for Cultural Resource Man-

49. Bob Baker, Memorandum to Kate Stevenson, March 8, 1994, in “Archeological Centers - Streamlining 1994" folder,
Michele Aubry files, Archeclogy and Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC.

50. Bob Baker, Memorandum to Kate Stevenson, March 8, 1994, in *Archeological Centers - Streamlining 1994 folder,
Michele Aubry files, Archeology and Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC.

5t1. Regional Director Rocky Mountain Region (Bob Baker), Memorandum to Regional Directors, et al, March [?], 1994, in
“Archeological Centers - Streamlining 1994" folder, Michete Aubry files, Archeology and Ethnography Program, National

Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC.

52. Bob Baker, Memorandurn to Kate Stevenson, March 8, 1994, in “Archeological Centers - Streamlining 1994 folder,
Michele Aubry files, Archeology and Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC; the
five archeolegical/cultural centers facing a 25 percent FTE reduction were: Midwest Archeological Center, North Atlantic
Cultural Resource Center, Southeast Archeological Center, Southwest Cultural Resource Center, and Western

Archeological and Conservation Center.
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agement.” The national center was to be cobbled
together from the then existing NPS Washington
office divisions of curation, anthropology, park his-
toric architecture, and history. The problem was
that the new Washington center, reminiscent of the
Office of Archeology and Historic Preservaticen,
was to exert direct line authority over field cultural
resource centers, an anathema to the regional
directors as well as many archeologists. Wash-
ington soon backed off this proposal and the
centers remained under local control, supposedly as
an “interim measure,” but one that became
permanent.>3

Despite this accommodation, three regional
directors wrote to Deputy Director Denis Galvin in
October 1994. Although local control was to be
maintained, they were still concerned to know
“What the future roles, goals, functions and interre-
lationships of ‘Cultural Preservation Centers’
[including the archeological centers] should be in
the context of a restructured and reengineered
National Park Service.” >*

The regional directors focused upon the effi-
ciencies and diseconomies of national program
consolidation and how “to empower those at the
‘doer’ level to re-engineer how the NPS achieves its
mission.” Their views were reminiscent of Chief
Anthropologist Scovill’s formula for consolidating
the archeological centers a decade before. What,
for example, was to be the role of the centersin
ensuring NPS professionalism? Which specialties
and services should be provided at the field level,
which were inherent center functions, which could
be contracted or gained through cooperative rela-
tionships? What were the most effective reporting

relationships? The regional directors sought a more
inclusive involvement of the parties impacted by
the reorganization while agreeing that “that the
future of the centers merits serious study.” By
seeking a fuiler analysis of the role of the cultural
resource centers in the management of the National
Park Service, the regional directors were acting to
ensure that the cultural resource centers continued
to provide “leadership and technological support
for historic and archeological preservation.” >
Perhaps they also hoped to mitigate the impact of
the restructuring process on the diffusion of their
own authority and to slow down the process of
change.

In retirement, Kennedy has been generous in his
assessment of those who worked with him during
the reorganization for their willingness to coop-
erate in making the most out of the situation the
Park Service found itself in during the Clinton
Administration.® His reform efforts, however,
explicitly sought to reduce the power of the
Regional Directorate; quite likely, there was consid-
erable resistance. Kennedy may have seen a
National Program Center for cultural resources as
way to weaken regional office power. If so, it
neither succeeded in that effort nor represented a
fundamental transition in NPS$ cultural resource
management: the National Program Center did not
capture strong influence over the regional culturai
resource centers. And the strong advocacy by them
of their needs did much to dissuade the director
from radical action, MWAC and its regional office
advocates can be thanked for that. On the other
hand, Kennedy’s restructuring effort presented a
framework under which at least some of the centers

53. Regional Directors (North AtlantidRocky Mountain/Southwest Regions), “Cuhtural Preservation Centers,” in
" Archeological Centers - Streamlining 1994" folder, Michele Aubry fiies, Archeclogy and Ethnography Program, National
Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC, 1994; Associate Director Cultural Resources, Memorandum to the
Director, October 7, 1994, in “ Archeological Centers-Streamlining 1994" folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeclogy and
Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC.

54. Regional Directors (North Atlanti¢/Rocky Mountain/Southwest Regions),” Culturat Preservation Centers,” in
" Archeological Centers - Streamlining 1994~ folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeology and Ethnography Program, National
Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC, 19%4; Associate Director Cultural Resources, Memorandum to the
Director, Qctaber 7, 1994, in ~“Archeological Centers-Streamlining 1994” folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeology and
Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC. This memorandum is the one referenced
by lerry Rogers as a reason to cancel the 1994 draft Task Directive an NPS archeolagy.

55. Regional Directors (Narth Atlantic/Rocky Mountain/Southwest Regions), “Cultural Preservation Centers,” in
"Archeological Centers - Streamlining 1994" folder, Michele Aubry files, Archealogy and Ethnography Program, National
Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC, 1994; Associate Director Cultural Resources, Memorandum to the
Director, October 7, 1994, in "Archeological Centers-5treamlining 1994 folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeology and
Ethnagraphy Program, National Center for Cultural Resources, Washington, DC.

S6. Roger G. Kennedy, Oral Ristory Interview by Janet A. McDonnell, April 8, August 13, and June 4, 2002-2003, National
Program Center for Cultural Resource Management, National Park Service, 30.
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accrued even more power, which whether intended
or not, is what happened with SEAC.>7

During the reorganization of the mid-1990s, the
Regional Directorate had no choice but to reduce
the number of regional offices and the size of their
staffs. Under Director Kennedy ten NPS Regional
Directorates were consolidated into seven. Those
that survived did so, at least in part, by falling back
upon on an old strategy. In 1996, archeologist
Calvin Cummings, a veteran of several reorganiza-
tions himself, described this phenomenon and how
it related to archeology: “In the 196(’s, 197(s, and
1980's each of the Regional Directors with respon-
sibility for one of the Archeological Centers would
consider the Center a “Field Area” when political
and budget considerations favored the field areas.
Then, when central offices were favored, the
Regional Directors would consider the Center as
part of the Regional Office.”® Late in 1994, the Park
Service returned Robert Baker to the Southeast
Region just in time for him to begin to implement
some of the changes posed by Kennedy’s reorgani-
zation. Baker faced the political reality of a
prevailing strong prejudice against regional offices
and was required to reduce the size of his own in the
Southeast. Fortunately, Baker was also aware of the
virtues, or at least the strengths, of the archeological
centers because his experience in attempting to
merge SEAC with SECRPC in the 1980s and
because he had just served as the lead for Kennedy’s
early evaluations of NPS archeology.

“Out-House” Archeology Returns

On Wednesday, December 6, 1993, the Southeast
Archeological Center formally opened its doors at
its new off-campus digs in the Robert Merrill
Johnson Building at Innovation Park. A dedication
ceremony was held on that date with several digni-
taries from the Southeast Regional Office in
attendance. The Johnson building was the third
building constructed at the park’s Don Fuqua
Research Complex. The 39,000 square foot
Johnson Building is owned by the Leon County
Research and Development Authority, which leases

the facility to Florida State University Research
Foundation, Inc. The foundation, a non-profit, was
created in 1993 to promote the research and
training activities of FSU faculty, staff, and students
through contracts, grants, and the development of
commercially feasible products of their work. Don
Fuqua was a local congressman. Robert Johnson
was a former dean of the university. In fact, he was
the same Dean Johnson who helped negotiate
SEAC’s cooperative agreement in the late 1960s and
early 1970s. The Park Service did not eccupy the
entire facility, only about 11,431 square feet, all of it
located on the ground floor to accommodate an
archeological collection that had grown to over six
million artifacts by 1995 as well as a staff of approx-
imately forty employees and students. Along with
the Park Service, space was set aside in the facility
for the Center for Ocean Atmospheric Prediction
Studies, an interdisciplinary research group focused
upon climate studies. Space was also set aside for
NOAA’s International Climate Research Institute
and the Florida State University Research Foun-
dation, Inc. offices.””

Although Pete Faust had thought of extending his
leadership of SEAC long enough to spend at least a
single day in the new offices, he retired under the
buy-out program on April 30, 1994. Chief Faust
presided over the completion and planning for the
first and the initiation and planning for the second
of SEAC’s two major redeployments. He guided the
archeological center for twenty-three years while
grappling with the political and technical complex-
ities of curating a vast archeological collection
(whose disposition is still not yet fully resolved),
negotiated increasingly tight regulations governing
archeological resources management, and main-
tained cordial relations between the Park Service
and Florida State University even despite the
changing up-and-down nature of those relations.
NPS management also asked him to shepherd the
center through numerous minor and major bureau-
cratic reorganizations. In retrospect, SEAC
survived more or less intact, although the collapse
of the university’s Southeast Conservation Archae-

57. Ironically, the Southwest Cultural Resource Center was disrupted by the recrganization when its functions were split
between Santa Fe and Denver to accommodate the merger of the Southwest and Rocky Mountain Regions into the new
Intermountain Regional Office headquartered in Denver. The Southeast Region benefited by the recrganization, for
example, it acquired jurisdiction over National Park Resources in Louisiana.

58. Cal Cummings, Memgarandum to Dan Lenihan, March 18, 1996, in “Archeology Centers: Admin. History and
Rearganizations” folder, Michele Aubry files, Archeology and Ethnography Program, National Center for Cultural

Resources, Washington, DC.

59. Flyer announcing dedication ceremony, December 6, 1995, in possession of the author.
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FIGURE 51. Flyer announcing opening ceremonies for the Robert M. Johnson Building at Innovation Park in Tallahassee,
Florida. The building was named after the graduate studies dean whose support had helped forge an alliance between the
Park Service and Florida State University in 1972. NPS photograph, December 6, 1996, SEAC files

ology Center followed by the demise of SEAC’s
own underwater archeological effort were debili-
tating events. Perhaps Faust’s own statement offers
the best illumination upon his management of
SEAC. “I liked a clean program,” he explained,
“that emphasized what needed to be done in the
parks, because we had a helluva lot to do in terms of
writing resource management plans, even knowing,
trying to get a handle on what the resources were in
a park archeologically.” Under Faust SEAC sought
“to assist in writing resource management plans
that were directed toward what the park manager
needed and identified new information that had to
be done, whether it related to archaeology or
otherwise.”6"

Doing what was required, if not more, was a
hallmark of the Faust administration of SEAC.
While some have faulted his “beneath the radar
approach,” Faust should be credited with helping
to develop SEAC from a handful of archeologists in
1972, the availability of whose expertise was often
unrecognized by parks, into the formidable tech-
nical resource upon which Southeast Region
managers were heavily reliant by 1994 for archeo-
logical expertise. Under Faust, SEAC conducted
numerous projects that helped ensure resource

protection even if its contribution to archeological
scholarship was problematic. Again, Faust’s own
words are most valuable: “I believe our most signif-